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INTRODUCTION 

Competitors do not discuss their bids with each other.  This is a basic tenet of antitrust.  

Certainly, competitors who are acting unilaterally do not have discussions with each other about 

whether particular customers are the type of customer with whom they do business.  And 

competitors who are acting unilaterally do not communicate when they are uncertain whether to 

bid on particular customers, nor do they advise each other of their bids.  But all that, and more, is 

what Respondents did here. That is not unilateral action; that is conspiracy. 

None of Respondents’ arguments come remotely close to explaining why any of their 

actions are permissible under the antitrust laws.  Their constant refrain is that the three 

communicating competitors never reached a detailed agreement.  But even assuming this were 

true—and the record shows it is not—a mountain of case law states that antitrust conspiracies do 

not require detailed, flyspecked conspiracy agreements.  To the contrary, courts have repeatedly 

found per se illegal conspiracies on facts far less clear, and with terms of agreement far less 

detailed, than the record establishes here.   

Moreover, Respondents have never offered any legitimate business justification for their 

senior executives’ repeated assurances to each other—made by email, by text messages, and by 

phone calls—that they would not compete by discounting to buying groups.  Respondents can 

neither erase nor explain at least fifteen inter-firm communications about buying groups,1 

strategically shared with internal management, and countless instructions to employees to reject 

buying groups in order to thwart a “race to the bottom.”  They have offered no justification 

because there is none.  It is a bedrock antitrust principle that competitors should not be assuring 

1 (1) January 13, 2012, Schein’s Sullivan and Benco’s Cohen spoke on the telephone about a buying 
group.  (Complaint Counsel Post-Trial Proposed Findings of Fact (“CCFF”) ¶¶ 955-972); (2) February 8, 
2013, Cohen emailed Patterson’s Guggenheim about a buying group and about Benco’s no buying group 
policy.  (CCFF ¶¶ 474-490); (3) February 8, 2013, Guggenheim emailed Cohen about a buying group and 
Patterson’s no buying group policy.  (CCFF ¶¶ 491-502); (4) March 25, 2013, Cohen and Sullivan spoke 
on the telephone about a suspected buying group.  (CCFF ¶¶ 1022-1048, 1051); (5) March 25, 2013, 
Cohen and Sullivan exchanged text messages about a suspected buying group.  (CCFF ¶¶ 1045-1048, 
1051, 1057-1058); (6) March 26, 2013, Cohen texted Sullivan about a buying group.  (CCFF ¶¶ 944-
1004); (7) March 27, 2013, Cohen texted Sullivan about a suspected buying group.  (CCFF ¶¶ 1061-
1071); (8) June 6, 2013, Guggenheim emailed Cohen about a suspected buying group and Benco’s policy
on buying groups.  (CCFF ¶¶ 564-573); (continued on next page) 
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each other of their future plans for bidding, pricing, or customers to chase.  Respondents cite not 

a single case holding that such conduct is permissible.   

Respondents’ other arguments are equally feeble.  It does not matter that the executives at 

the center of the illegal communications claimed in after-the-fact, made-for-court testimony that 

they did not really mean what they said; nor does it matter that they denied having conspired. 

Conspirators usually deny their wrongdoing, and courts have no difficulty seeing through those 

denials.  While the executives may not call their conduct an “agreement,” the antitrust laws do. 

Such conduct is per se unlawful because it threatens “‘the central nervous system of the 

economy’ by creating a dangerously attractive opportunity for competitors to enhance their 

power at the expense of others.”2 

Respondents likewise cannot avoid liability by nitpicking Dr. Marshall’s opinions.  Dr. 

Marshall simply corroborated clear record evidence that, absent conspiracy, each Respondent 

would have had a unilateral incentive to discount to buying groups that presented attractive profit 

opportunities.  And, if there was any doubt about Dr. Marshall’s conclusion, Respondents’ own 

words resolve it.  They themselves said that their unilateral incentives to deal with buying groups 

could trigger a “price war.”3  They feared that unless they all stood together, one of them would 

be “the first company to open the floodgates to the dangerous world of GPOs.”4  This fear of a 

“race to the bottom”5 resulted in Respondents’ “conscious commitment to a common scheme”6 

of not discounting to buying groups.  Nothing more is needed for per se illegality. 

(9) June 8, 2013, Cohen emailed Guggenheim about its no buying group policy. (CCFF ¶¶ 574-579); (10) 
June 10, 2013, Guggenheim emailed Cohen about the no buying group policy. (CCFF ¶¶ 580-588); (11) 
October 1, 2013, Benco’s Ryan and Schein’s Foley spoke on the telephone about a buying group.  (CCFF 
¶¶ 1005-1019); (12) January 6, 2014, Patterson’s Misiak and Schein’s Steck spoke on the telephone about 
a buying group.  (CCFF ¶¶ 1123-1128); (13) January 21, 2014, Steck emailed Misiak about a buying 
group.  (CCFF ¶¶ 1129-1132); (14) April 16, 2014, Cohen emailed both Guggenheim and Sullivan about 
a buying group.  (CCFF ¶¶ 1133-1137); (15) Unspecified date(s) when Cohen informed Sullivan of 
Benco’s no buying group policy.  (CCFF ¶¶ 661-664). 
2 United States v. Apple, Inc., 791 F.3d 290, 326 (2d Cir. 2015) (quoting United States v. Socony-Vacuum 
Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 224 n.59 (1940)). 
3 CCFF ¶ 197 (quoting CX2113 at 001). 
4 CCFF ¶ 713 (quoting CX2458 at 001). 
5 CCFF ¶ 198 (quoting CX1149 at 002). 
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Finally, Respondents cannot take refuge in cases dealing with parallel conduct resulting 

from oligopolistic interdependence.  To the contrary, the whole theory underlying oligopolistic 

interdependence is that communications are not required for the oligopolists to act in parallel. 

Oligopolies that actually communicate and coordinate with one another are called cartels.  And 

that is precisely what the record establishes here.  Competitors watch each other like hawks, but 

conspirators, like Respondents, do more than watch: they call, text, email, and meet with each 

other to assure each other of how they are going to compete, and, most importantly, not compete.   

6 Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Serv. Corp., 465 U.S. 752, 764 (1984) (quoting Edward J. Sweeney & Sons, 
Inc. v. Texaco, Inc., 637 F.2d 105, 111 (3d Cir. 1980)). 
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COMPLAINT COUNSEL’S REPLY TO BENCO’S POST-TRIAL BRIEF 

The record shows that Benco’s CEO, Chuck Cohen, communicated repeatedly with the 

Presidents of its two largest rivals about a policy against discounting to buying groups; that 

internal company documents regularly referenced Respondents’ collective refusal to compete by 

discounting to buying groups; that Respondents’ executives confronted one another with market 

intelligence of deviations; that they communicated about whether an account qualified as a 

buying group; and that Benco abided by a no buying group policy at the same time as these 

competitor communications.  These facts are not based on inferences, but on the words of 

Respondents’ executives documented in trial exhibits.  Benco does not dispute that these events 

took place.  Instead, Benco asks this Court to ignore the contemporaneous words of its 

executives and its rivals, based solely on the executives’ ex post testimony that they did not enter 

into an unlawful agreement.  That is not how the antitrust laws work.  Numerous courts have 

already found that competitors violated the antitrust laws by communicating with their 

competitors and adhering to a common course of conduct.  When confronted with such evidence, 

courts often find the existence of an unlawful agreement even when defendants’ executives deny 

any such agreement, as Respondents do here.  As the Fifth Circuit found, “[w]here such 

testimony is in conflict with contemporaneous documents we can give it little weight.”7 

To this day, Benco has not explained why its top executives communicated directly with 

its rivals about a policy to refuse to discount to buying groups, why Respondents’ top executives 

confronted each other about deviations from that policy, or why they conferred with each other 

about whether an account qualified as a buying group.  Benco similarly offered no explanation 

for why it approached Burkhart on three separate occasions and invited Burkhart to refuse to 

discount to buying groups.  Complaint Counsel, on the other hand, has adduced testimony 

admitting to the lack of any legitimate business purpose for these communications.  Indeed, 

rather than offer a procompetitive explanation, Cohen testified that he communicated with his 

7 Gainesville Utils. Dep’t v. Fla. Power & Light Co., 573 F.2d 292, 301 n.14 (5th Cir. 1978) (quoting 
United States v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 333 U.S. 364, 396 (1948)). 
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competitors to “maintain a high level of credibility” and a desire to be “honest and open.”8  This 

is not how businesses in a competitive market operate.  Nor can Benco point to a single case that 

suggests that the antitrust laws permit a naked horizontal agreement untethered to any 

procompetitive purpose.  In the end, Benco’s Post-Trial Brief does nothing but expose its lack of 

any viable defense for its conduct. 

I. COMPLAINT COUNSEL’S EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES AN AGREEMENT 
AMONG RESPONDENTS NOT TO DISCOUNT TO BUYING GROUPS. 

Benco misstates the legal standard by arguing that this Court must begin by 

distinguishing between direct and circumstantial evidence.9  It is well established that “in Section 

1 cases, it is unnecessary for a court to engage in the exercise of distinguishing strong 

circumstantial evidence of concerted action from direct evidence of concerted action, for both are 

‘sufficiently unambiguous.’”10  And where Complaint Counsel’s theory is “not implausible,” as 

here, it is “doubly unnecessary” to distinguish between direct and unambiguous circumstantial 

evidence.11 More importantly, there is no requirement that conspiracies be proven only by 

“direct evidence”;12 thus, whether evidence is designated as “direct” or “circumstantial” is 

irrelevant.  Indeed, many cases have found a conspiracy without engaging in the exercise that 

8 CCFF ¶ 1076 (quoting Cohen, Tr. 723) (emphasis added); CCFF ¶ 278 (quoting Cohen, Tr. 553) 
(emphasis added). 
9 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 6, 8. 
10 Petruzzi’s IGA Supermkts. v. Darling-Del. Co., 998 F.2d 1224, 1233 (3d Cir. 1993) (internal citation 
omitted). 
11 Petruzzi’s IGA Supermkts., 998 F.2d at 1233 (distinguishing between strong circumstantial evidence 
and direct evidence “is doubly unnecessary because [plaintiff’s] theory [of conspiracy] is not 
implausible”). 
12 Petruzzi’s IGA Supermkts., 998 F.2d at 1230 (“[P]laintiff in a section 1 case does not have to submit 
direct evidence . . . but can rely solely on circumstantial evidence and the reasonable inferences drawn 
from such evidence.”).  The preponderance of the evidence standard can be met through the use of direct 
or circumstantial evidence.  See In re Trade Advert. Assocs., Inc., et al. trading as Trade Union News, 
Docket No. 8582, 1964 WL 72959, at *4 (FTC May 15, 1964); In re Wash. Crab Ass’n, Docket No. 7859, 
1964 WL 73029, at *8 (FTC July 10, 1964) (violation of Sherman Act, Section 2, and thus FTC Act, 
“established by a preponderance of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence and the fair and 
reasonable inferences drawn therefrom”). 
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Benco proposes.13  In the end, “‘[u]nambiguous evidence of an agreement to fix prices . . . is all 

the proof a plaintiff needs’ to establish a violation of Section 1.”14  That is exactly what 

Complaint Counsel has put forth in spades.  

A. Direct and Unambiguous Evidence Establishes Respondents’ Unlawful 
Agreement. 

Benco claims there is no evidence of agreement because none of the competitor 

communications or documents used the word “agreement,” and Benco never explicitly asked its 

competitors to refrain from taking any action.15  But “[t]he government . . . is not required to 

prove a formal, express agreement.”16  Instead, an agreement is found upon a showing of a 

“unity of purpose or a common design and understanding, or a meeting of minds in an unlawful 

arrangement,”17 or evidence that “reasonably tends to prove that the [defendants] . . . ‘had a 

conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to achieve an unlawful objective.’”18  It is 

13 United States v. Foley, 598 F.2d 1323, 1331-35 (4th Cir. 1979) (finding conspiracy where court’s 
analysis did not distinguish between direct and circumstantial evidence and noting that “[p]roof of a § 1 
conspiracy need not be direct”); Gainesville Utils. Dep’t v. Fla. Power & Light Co., 573 F.2d 292, 300-03 
(5th Cir. 1978) (same); Esco Corp. v. United States, 340 F.2d 1000, 1005-08 (9th Cir. 1965) (same); 
United States v. Apple Inc., 952 F. Supp. 2d 638, 691-94 (S.D.N.Y. 2013), aff’d, 791 F.3d 290 (2d Cir. 
2015) (analyzing evidence without distinguishing between direct and circumstantial evidence and finding 
that Apple engaged in a horizontal price-fixing conspiracy). 
14 Apple, 952 F. Supp. 2d at 689.  Notably, even where a plaintiff relies on ambiguous evidence to prove 
its claim, the plaintiff does not bear the burden of showing that the existence of a conspiracy is the “sole 
inference” to be drawn from the evidence.  Apple, 952 F. Supp. 2d at 690 (citation omitted).  “The 
plaintiff is only required to present evidence that is sufficient to allow the fact-finder ‘to infer that the 
conspiratorial explanation is more likely than not.’”  Apple, 952 F. Supp. 2d at 690 (internal citation 
omitted). 
15 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 2. 
16 United States v. MMR Corp., 907 F.2d 489, 495 (5th Cir. 1990); see also Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 300 
(“[P]roof of a conspiracy under [Section] 1 of the Sherman Act does not require the existence of an 
express agreement.  It is ‘enough that, knowing that concerted action was contemplated and invited, the 
distributors gave their adherence to the scheme and participated in it.”); Esco, 340 F.2d at 1006-07 (“Nor 
are we so naïve as to believe that a formal signed-and-sealed contract or written resolution would 
conceivably be adopted at a meeting of price-fixing conspirators in this day and age. . . . A knowing wink 
can mean more than words.”); In re Polyurethane Foam Antitrust Litig., 152 F. Supp. 3d 968, 978 (N.D. 
Ohio 2015) (“No formal agreement is necessary to constitute an unlawful conspiracy. . . . The essential 
combination or conspiracy in violation of the Sherman Act may be found in a course of dealings or other 
circumstances as well as in any exchange of words.”) (quoting Am. Tobacco Co. v. United States, 328 
U.S. 781, 809-10 (1946) (alteration in original). 
17 Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp., 467 U.S. 752, 771 (1984) (quoting Am. Tobacco Co. v. 
United States, 328 U.S. 781, 810 (1946)).   
18 Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Serv. Corp., 465 U.S. 752, 764 (1984) (quoting Edward J. Sweeney & 
Sons, Inc. v. Texaco, Inc., 637 F.2d 105, 111 (3d Cir. 1980)). 
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well established that “proof that the defendants got together and exchanged assurances of 

common action or otherwise adopted a common plan” constitutes an antitrust agreement.19  So 

too is evidence of “[a]cceptance by competitors . . . of an invitation to participate in a plan, the 

necessary consequence of which, if carried out, is restraint of interstate commerce.”20  Indeed, 

even without an exchange of assurances, an agreement is shown when a competitor follows 

conduct “suggested or outlined by a competitor in the presence of other competitors.”21  Further, 

“assent” to a conspiracy is shown when competitors “either confronted others about cheating on 

the cartel, or reassured others . . . that they were abiding by the agreement.”22 

The direct and unambiguous evidence shows that Benco engaged in not just one or two of 

the acts courts have found sufficient to establish an “agreement” that can give rise to antitrust 

liability.  Instead, Benco engaged in all of the above conduct to orchestrate an agreement with its 

two largest competitors, Schein and Patterson, to refuse to do business with buying groups.   

1. There is Direct and Unambiguous Evidence of an Agreement. 

Benco first argues that there is no direct evidence of an agreement, ignoring all of the 

direct and unambiguous evidence of an agreement in this case.23  Uncontroverted documentary 

evidence shows that when Benco discovered Patterson had partnered with a buying group called 

New Mexico Dental Coop (“NMDC”), Benco’s Chuck Cohen emailed Patterson’s Paul 

Guggenheim on February 8, 2013: “Just wanted to let you know about some noise I’ve picked up 

from New Mexico.  FYI: Our policy at Benco is that we do not recognize, work with, or offer 

discounts to buying groups (though we do work with corporate accounts) and our team 

understands that policy.”24  Guggenheim responded, “Thanks for the heads up.  I’ll investigate 

19 In re Flat Glass Antitrust Litig., 385 F.3d 350, 361 (3d Cir. 2004). 
20 Interstate Circuit v. United States, 306 U.S. 208, 227 (1939). 
21 Esco, 340 F.2d at 1007-08. 
22 United States v. Beaver, 515 F.3d 730, 738 (7th Cir. 2008). 
23 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 6-7. 
24 CCFF ¶ 483 (quoting CX0056 at 001) (emphasis added). 
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the situation.  We feel the same way about these.”25  Cohen and Guggenheim both admitted that, 

following this communication, they each understood that the other would not discount to buying 

groups as a matter of “policy.”26 A “policy” is defined as “a definite course or method of action   

. . . to guide and determine present and future decisions.”27 

As Benco acknowledges, direct evidence includes any “document or conversation 

explicitly manifesting the existence of the agreement in question.”28  But Benco ignores the 

February 2013 Cohen-Guggenheim exchange, which constitutes direct evidence of an agreement 

because it manifests the “meeting of the minds” and a “common design and understanding”29— 

not based on an inference, but directly on the words used by Respondents’ executives.  In 

addition, the February 2013 communication is direct evidence that Cohen and Guggenheim “got 

together and exchanged assurances of [the] common action”30 of refusing to discount to buying 

groups.  Further, courts have held that a memorandum describing the discussions from a 

competitor meeting constitutes direct evidence of conspiracy.31  Here, the record includes not 

just a memorandum describing the exchange of assurances between Benco and Patterson, but the 

competitor exchange itself. 

Within days of this exchange, Patterson ended negotiations with the NMDC buying 

group,32 and mere weeks later, Patterson implemented a no buying group strategy by instructing 

its sales representatives not to work with buying groups.33 

Benco also omits that Guggenheim confronted Cohen four months later upon hearing a 

rumor that Benco was discounting to a buying group.  In June 2013, Patterson received market 

25 CCFF ¶ 495 (quoting CX0090 at 001) (emphasis added).  
26 CCFF ¶¶ 489-490, 500. 
27 Merriam-Webster Dictionary, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/policy. 
28 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 6-7 (citing In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 324 n.23 (3d Cir. 
2010)). 
29 Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp., 467 U.S. 752, 771 (1984) (quoting Am. Tobacco Co. v. 
United States, 328 U.S. 781, 810 (1946)).  
30 In re Flat Glass Antitrust Litig., 385 F.3d 350, 361 (3d Cir. 2004). 
31 Arnold Pontiac-GMC, Inc. v. Budd Baer, Inc., 826 F.2d 1335, 1338 (3d Cir. 1987). 
32 CCFF ¶¶ 503-506. 
33 CCFF ¶¶ 630-631; see also CCFF ¶¶ 544-547, 549, 589-629, 632-652. 
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intelligence that Benco was discounting to an entity it believed to be a buying group—Atlantic 

Dental Care (“ADC”).34  Guggenheim testified that he viewed Benco’s arrangement with this 

buying group as a deviation from Cohen’s prior assurance of a no buying group policy.35 

Guggenheim went back to the February 2013 Cohen email and responded to it, asking Cohen to 

“shed some light” on Benco’s business arrangement with ADC and whether Benco would still 

abide by a no buying group policy.36  Cohen knew exactly why his competitor was asking these 

questions—he understood that Guggenheim wanted to know why Benco was doing business with 

ADC given Cohen’s prior assurance of a no buying group policy.37  In response, Cohen 

reassured Guggenheim that he was keeping his side of the agreement: “As we’ve discussed, we 

don’t recognize buying groups.”38  To assure Guggenheim of compliance, Cohen shared 

confidential and commercially sensitive information to prove that ADC was not a buying group, 

explaining that each of the individual practices of ADC had merged to form a single corporate 

dental account.39  And as Cohen and Guggenheim had discussed in the February 2013 email, 

corporate accounts were fair game for competition.40  Cohen proceeded to further allay 

Guggenheim’s suspicion that ADC was a buying group by promising to “ensure” that ADC 

merged its practices to become a corporate account.41 

“[D]irect evidence of conspiracy . . . removes any ambiguities that might otherwise exist 

with respect to whether the parallel conduct in question is the result of independent or concerted 

action.”42  The June 2013 exchange and the executives’ testimony do just that—they confirm the 

existence of a prior agreement, since “assent” to a conspiracy is shown when “the co-

conspirators either confronted others about cheating on the cartel, or reassured others . . . that 

34 CCFF ¶¶ 565-566. 
35 CCFF ¶¶ 572. 
36 CCFF ¶¶ 568-570. 
37 CCFF ¶ 573. 
38 CCFF ¶¶ 575 (quoting CX0062 at 001) (emphasis added). 
39 CCFF ¶¶ 574-577; CCFF ¶¶ 1062-1065; see also CCFF ¶¶ 580-581. 
40 CCFF ¶ 483 (CX0056 at 001) (“we do work with corporate accounts”). 
41 CCFF ¶¶ 575-579. 
42 In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 324 n.23 (3d Cir. 2010). 
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they were abiding by the agreement.”43  Following these exchanges, both companies repeatedly 

and consistently instructed their employees to reject buying groups.44 

The direct and unambiguous evidence of an agreement is not limited to Benco and 

Patterson.  Following a similar pattern, Benco’s Cohen and Schein’s President, Tim Sullivan, 

exchanged similar assurances that neither would work with buying groups.  As with Patterson, 

Cohen admitted that he informed Sullivan that Benco refused to discount to buying groups as a 

matter of policy.45  Again, Benco does not account for the direct evidence showing that Benco 

reached out to Schein to discuss buying groups on no fewer than six occasions.46  As the Sixth 

Circuit held, “An agreement . . . may ultimately be proven . . . by direct evidence of 

communications between the defendants.”47  These communications between Benco and Schein 

doubtlessly related to buying groups—the evidence in the record consists of text messages 

43 United States v. Beaver, 515 F.3d 730, 738 (7th Cir. 2008); see also United States v. Foley, 598 F.2d 
1332-33 (4th Cir. 1979) (finding evidence of competitors calling each other about failure to adopt a 
higher commission as probative of conspiracy to raise commission rate); United States v. Maloof, 205 
F.3d 819, 830-31 (5th Cir. 2000) (finding that defendant orchestrated an antitrust price-fixing conspiracy
by, inter alia, informing his competitor when “sales representatives from other companies deviated from
the agreed upon pricing”); United States v. Gravely, 840 F.2d 1156, 1161 (4th Cir. 1988) (“[T]he efforts 
of the conspirators to enforce their agreement, by policing and subsequent meetings, is further proof of 
the conspiracy.”); United States v. FMC Corp., 306 F. Supp. 1106, 1150 (E.D. Penn. 1969) (finding 
persuasive evidence of a conspiracy where “exchanges of assurances continued after the initial 
[agreement].”). 
44 CCFF ¶¶ 416-417, 422-424, 527-528, 540-546, 607-611, 622-625, 630-652. 
45 CCFF ¶¶ 661-664. 
46 CCFF ¶ 679.  As discussed in more detail in Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief, pages 29-35, the six 
communications consist of: (1) a communication during which Cohen informed Sullivan of Benco’s no 
buying group policy (CCFF ¶¶ 662-664); (2) an 11 minute and 34 second call between Cohen and 
Sullivan on January 13, 2012 (CCFF ¶¶ 968, 955-967, 969-972); (3) an 8 minute and 35 second call 
between Cohen and Sullivan on March 25, 2013 (CCFF ¶¶ 1028-1037, 1045-1047, 1051); (4) a text 
message between Cohen and Sullivan on March 27, 2013 (CCFF ¶¶ 1067-1070); (5) a text message 
between Cohen and Sullivan on March 26, 2013 (CCFF ¶¶ 994-997); and (6) an 18 minute call between 
Benco’s Ryan and Schein’s Foley on October 1, 2013 (CCFF ¶¶ 1009-1017).  In addition, Cohen planned 
to send a note in the mail to Sullivan about the buying group Smile Source in July 2012.  CCFF ¶¶ 979-
992.  And Cohen sent Sullivan and Guggenheim an email regarding the TDA buying group in April 2014, 
after which he spoke with Sullivan on the telephone.  CCFF ¶¶ 1133-1135. That is, of course, merely the 
evidence for which the two companies left a written trail.  Cohen and Sullivan spoke on the telephone 
dozens of other times (CCFF ¶ 351 (56 calls between 2011 and 2015)); attended numerous industry
events together (CCFF ¶¶ 355-356); and attended numerous private in-person meetings together during 
the relevant period (CCFF ¶¶ 357, 381, 383).  Moreover, Sullivan exchanged additional communications 
with Cohen, including written notes and voicemail messages that are not part of the evidentiary record.  
CCFF ¶ 353.  Sullivan testified that he may also have called Cohen from his office land line telephone, 
the records for which were not produced to Complaint Counsel.  CCFF ¶ 354. 
47 Erie Cnty. v. Morton Salt, Inc., 702 F.3d 860, 867–68 (6th Cir. 2012). 
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explicitly discussing buying groups, witness testimony confirming telephone calls relating to 

buying groups, and contemporaneous emails memorializing telephone conversations relating to 

buying groups.48  Through these communications, Benco gained the understanding that Schein, 

just like Benco, would adopt a policy against recognizing buying groups.49  As Cohen testified, 

he understood that “the policy that Henry Schein had was that they do not recognize GPOs.”50 

Consistent with Benco’s understanding, Schein adopted a no buying group strategy beginning in 

late 2011.51 

Shortly thereafter, Benco began confronting Schein about perceived deviations from a no 

buying group strategy, further evidencing a prior “meeting of the minds,” “unity of purpose,” 

and “common design and understanding.”  In January 2012, Benco’s Director of Sales, Patrick 

Ryan, forwarded to Cohen field intelligence about Schein working with a buying group, noting 

that it was specifically “for Timmy conversation,” referring to Tim Sullivan of Schein.52  After 

receiving this email, Cohen scheduled a call with Schein’s Sullivan and responded to Ryan: 

“Talking this AM.”53  Phone records indisputably show that Cohen did in fact speak to Sullivan 

for 11 minutes and 34 seconds that morning.54  A few months later, in July 2012, Ryan again 

forwarded information to Cohen that Schein was discounting to another buying group, Smile 

Source, again specifically for the explicit purpose of communicating with Schein’s Sullivan: 

“Better tell your buddy Tim to knock this shit off.”55  Cohen again responded in agreement: 

“Please resend this e-mail without your comment on top so that I can print & send to Tim with a 

48 CCFF ¶¶ 662-664, 955-971, 994-997, 1006-1017, 1028-1037, 1045-1047, 1069-1070, 1133.  
49 CCFF ¶¶ 665-684; see also CCFF ¶¶ 527, 1191, 1193. 
50 CCFF ¶¶ 676 (quoting Cohen, Tr. 583-584); see also CCFF ¶¶ 675-678.  Buying groups are also 
referred to as group purchasing organizations (“GPOs”), buying clubs, and buying cooperatives (or co-
ops) in the dental industry.  CCFF ¶¶ 68-71. 
51 CCFF ¶¶ 717-721, 729-731, 733-737, 743-860.  
52 CCFF ¶¶ 956-961. 
53 CCFF ¶¶ 964-967. 
54 CCFF ¶ 968. 
55 CCFF ¶ 982 (quoting CX0018 at 001) (emphasis added); see also CCFF ¶¶ 978-981, 983-986. 
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note.”56  Benco continued to confront Schein when it perceived cheating the following year.  In 

March 2013, Cohen received market intelligence that Schein was offering a 7% discount to a 

buying group, and Cohen immediately sent the information to Sullivan, noting that it could just 

be a “rumor” and “thank[ed]” Sullivan.57  In October of that year, Benco again contacted Schein 

out of concern that Schein was distributing discounted products to the buying group Smile 

Source.58   Benco’s brief omits all of this evidence. 

None of this evidence makes any sense in the absence of a prior agreement.  And 

Complaint Counsel has adduced admissions that there was no other explanation.  As Cohen 

testified: 
Q.  [W]hy were you and Mr. Sullivan discussing buying groups? 
We’ve now seen a couple of examples of that. . . .   

A.  I can’t imagine any specific reasons why we were or why we 
weren’t.  I suppose it looks like the topic came up in this 
conversation.59 

The evidence further shows that Benco contacted Schein for input on whether to bid on 

the ADC account because Benco was uncertain whether this account qualified as a buying 

group.60  When Benco could not determine whether ADC was a buying group, Benco’s Cohen 

created a reminder to “Call Tim Sullivan re: Buying Groups” on March 25, 2013, and then spoke 

with Sullivan that same day.61  At trial, Cohen admitted he contacted Sullivan so that Benco 

would know “how we would handle that account”62—a direct admission that Cohen was seeking 

his competitor’s input before bidding on an account.  Direct evidence is that which “removes any 

56 CCFF ¶ 990 (quoting CX0018 at 001) (emphasis added).  Cohen admitted he was planning to print the 
email with information about Schein’s involvement with a buying group and send it to Sullivan with a 
note. CCFF ¶¶ 991-992. 
57 CCFF ¶¶ 994-997. 
58 CCFF ¶¶ 1005-1017. 
59 CCFF ¶ 1004; see also CX0301 (Cohen, IHT at 287). 
60 CCFF ¶¶ 1022-1037, 1044-1048. 
61 CCFF ¶¶ 1028-1036.  Sullivan claims that during this call, he told Cohen they should not discuss ADC, 
but as discussed in more detail in Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § III.A.1, this claim
is contradicted by Cohen’s testimony and contemporaneous documents. CCFF ¶¶ 1054-1060. 
62 CCFF ¶ 1037 (quoting Cohen, Tr. 720).  Benco’s Cohen also communicated with Patterson’s 
Guggenheim about whether ADC was a buying group.  CCFF ¶¶ 569-579. 

12 

http:group.60
http:conversation.59
http:Source.58
http:Sullivan.57


 

 

 
 

 

 
   

 

PUBLIC 

ambiguities . . . with respect to whether the parallel conduct in question is the result of 

independent or concerted action.”63  Cohen’s admission removes any ambiguities that he was 

acting in concert rather than independently, for “independent” is defined as “not looking to 

others for one’s opinions or for guidance in conduct.”64 

Benco fails to mention that on an 8-minute phone call on March 25, 2013, Cohen and 

Sullivan “exchang[ed] information about whether Atlantic Dental Care was a [] group 

purchasing organization or a DSO [corporate account].”65  Sullivan testified that during that call, 

Cohen “basically said to me that they [Benco] don’t plan to, you know, bid on their – this 

group.”66 After getting the advice of outside legal counsel the next day, however, Benco 

concluded ADC was a corporate account rather than a buying group.67  Evidencing a conscious 

commitment to Schein, Benco’s Cohen immediately shared this confidential and privileged 

information with Sullivan, noting that Benco was “going to bid” because ADC was “not a buying 

group.”68  Cohen admitted that telling his top competitor that Benco was going to bid on ADC 

may be viewed as “counter-rational,”69 but he did so because he did not want Sullivan to think he 

was “duplicitous in [the] first call” or trying to “head-fake” Schein.70  Cohen testified that he did 

so out of an obligation to be truthful to his rival: he wanted to “maintain a high level of 

63 In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 324 n.23 (3d Cir. 2010).  
64 Merriam-Webster Dictionary, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/independent (emphasis 
added). 
65 CCFF ¶ 1036. 
66 CCFF ¶ 1038.  While Sullivan changed his testimony at trial, his trial testimony confirmed that he and 
Cohen discussed Atlantic Dental Care.  CCFF ¶ 1035 (Sullivan, Tr. 3946). 
67 CCFF ¶¶ 1062-1067. 
68 CCFF ¶¶ 1069 (quoting CX0196 at 010), 1068, 1070.  Following Sullivan’s receipt of Cohen’s March 
27, 2013 text message, Sullivan and Cohen tried to reach each other on the telephone several times.  On 
April 3, 2013, they finally connected and spoke for 5 minutes and 36 seconds.  CCFF ¶¶ 1079-1080, 
1088.     
69 CCFF ¶¶ 1073-1074. 
70 CCFF ¶ 1076.  Cohen’s testimony that he did not want to “head fake” Sullivan is in stark contrast to the 
facts of In re McWane where the competitors were trying to “head fake” their competitors to gain a 
competitive advantage.  In re McWane Inc., Docket No. 9351, 2013 WL 8364918, at *232 (FTC May 1, 
2013) (Initial Decision).  
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credibility,” and he wanted his competitor to know he was “honest.”71  In a competitive market, 

rivals do not strive to maintain credibility with their competitors.     

Further, Benco omits that there is direct evidence of explicit communications between 

Respondents about the Texas Dental Association (“TDA”) buying group, and whether each 

would continue to attend the TDA trade show in light of its creation of this buying group. 

Patterson’s VP of Sales, David Misiak, called Schein’s VP of Sales, David Steck, to inform him 

that “Patterson was withdrawing from the [following] TDA meeting.”72  In return, Steck “felt an 

obligation to get back to Mr. Misiak . . . regarding what Schein’s plans were” once Schein made 

a decision.73  Moreover, Benco’s Cohen emailed Schein’s Sullivan and Patterson’s Guggenheim 

with an article about the TDA buying group.74  Following inter-firm communications, all three 

Respondents withdrew from the next TDA trade show as a result of TDA’s creation of a buying 

group.75  This unambiguous evidence is yet another manifestation of Respondents’ coordination 

in response to the buying group threat. 

The evidence of agreement extends beyond the direct competitor-to-competitor 

communications about buying groups.  Benco does not account for the contemporaneous internal 

company documents demonstrating that the senior executives of the Big Three were confident 

that all three would reject buying groups:76 

 Benco: On February 23, 2013, the final day of an industry conference attended by the 
Big Three, “[A]ll of the major dental companies77 have said, ‘NO’ [to buying 

71 CCFF ¶ 1076; see also CCFF ¶ 1075. 
72 CCFF ¶¶ 1124-1125; see also Complaint Counsel’s Response to Benco’s Proposed Findings of Fact 
(“CCRF (Benco)”) ¶¶ 596-597 (quoting Steck, Tr. 3701). 
73 CCFF ¶¶ 1126, 1129; see also CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 596-597 (quoting Steck, Tr. 3702 (emphasis added)). 
74 CCFF ¶ 1133.  Following this email, Sullivan and Cohen spoke on the telephone the same day.  CCFF ¶ 
1135.  Guggenheim made himself a calendar entry task to call Cohen about the TDA Perks letter, and 
later marked the task 100% complete.  CCFF ¶ 1136. 
75 CCFF ¶¶ 1142-1146; see also CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 596-599. 
76 CCFF ¶¶ 1183-1195. 
77 Ryan testified that he was referring specifically to Benco, Schein, and Patterson through his statement 
“all of the major dental companies.”  CCFF ¶ 528. 
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groups], and that’s the stance we will continue to take.”78 

 Patterson: “Confidential and not for discussion . .our 2 largest competitors stay out of 
[buying groups] as well.”79 

 Patterson: “We don’t need GPO’s in the dental business.  Schein, Benco, and 
Patterson have always said no.  I believe it is our duty to uphold this and protect this 
great industry.”80 

 Benco: “I already KNOW that Patterson and Schein have said NO [to buying 
groups].”81 

 Benco: “We don’t allow [volume discount] pricing unless there is common 
ownership. Neither Schein nor Patterson do either.”82 

 Schein  “The good thing here is that PDCO, Benco and us are on the same page 
regarding these buying groups/consortiums.”83 

 Schein: “Schein, PDCO and Benco all refused to bid on their business when they 
entered the GPO/Buying Group world.”84 

Benco overlooks this evidence, but such knowledge of a collective refusal85 constitutes 

unambiguous evidence of an agreement.86  Indeed, at least one court identified such evidence as 

78 CCFF ¶ 527 (quoting CX1149 at 002) (emphasis added).  The date of this email is notable because it 
was a mere two weeks after the exchange of assurances between Benco and Patterson, and also the final 
day of the Chicago Dental Society industry meeting attended by the Big Three.  CCFF ¶¶ 518, 527.  
Guggenheim, Misiak, and Rogan for Patterson; Cohen and Ryan for Benco; and Sullivan for Schein all 
attended the Chicago Dental Society industry meeting held from February 21, 2013 through February 23, 
2013.  CCFF ¶¶ 519-526. While Ryan testified that he wrote this based on “what [he] could tell” in the 
marketplace (Ryan, Tr. 1083), no amount of observation of a competitor’s conduct could have confirmed 
for Ryan that the Big Three would “continue to take” that stand in the future. 
79 CCFF ¶¶ 549, 1187 (quoting CX0093 at 001) (bolded but not italicized in original). 
80 CCFF ¶¶ 603, 1190 (quoting CX0106 at 001) (emphasis added). 
81 CCFF ¶¶ 1191, 425 (quoting CX0012 at 001).  Again, Ryan testified that he wrote this based on 
“experience” that Benco gets approached after Schein and Patterson (Ryan, Tr. 1209-1210), the evidence 
in the record does not support that explanation. Kois, for example, had discussions with Schein and Benco 
nearly simultaneously.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 414.  NMDC approached Benco before Patterson refused them.  
CCRF (Benco) ¶ 414.  Likewise, Smile Source approached Benco when it was already working with 
Schein.  CCFF ¶¶ 532, 669 (CX1116: “We currently use Henry Schein for our services, but, want to see 
what sort of relationship could be established with Benco.”)).   
82 CCFF ¶ 1193 (quoting CX1185 at 002) (emphasis added). 
83 CCFF ¶¶ 1194, 1138 (quoting CX2106 at 001) (emphasis added). 
84 CCFF ¶¶ 1195, 947 (quoting CX2094 at 001) (emphasis added). 
85 Benco did not reference the majority of these documents in their Post-Trial submissions.  As discussed 
previously, Benco has, at times, claimed that this knowledge of collective refusal came from “market 
intelligence,” (e.g., Ryan, Tr. 1083), but it points to no record of such market intelligence.  The pre-
conspiracy market intelligence actually indicated the opposite—that Schein and Patterson were working 
with buying groups.  CCFF ¶¶ 533, 665-667, 669-670, 672-673, 682-684. 
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direct evidence of a conspiracy.87  In addition, these repeated statements of Respondents’ 

collective refusal were often uttered in the same breath as instructions to its employees not to 

discount to buying groups, showing that the collective refusal was relevant to Respondents’ 

decision not to do business with buying groups.  For example, immediately after Benco’s 

Director of Sales, Patrick Ryan, told the company’s sales team that “Benco does not recognize 

GPOs,” he assured them that “all of the major dental companies88 have said, ‘NO’ [to buying 

groups], and that’s the stance we will continue to take.”89  Similarly, immediately after 

Patterson’s VP of Sales, David Misiak, instructed his regional manager to say no to a buying 

group, he told the manager “[c]onfidential and not for discussion . .our 2 largest competitors stay 

out of these as well.”90 

Further, erasing any doubt of the conspiracy among the Big Three, when the regional 

distributor, Burkhart Dental, rebuffed Benco’s invitation to stop working with buying groups,91 

Benco’s Ryan asked Cohen to tell Schein and Patterson to stay the course on their no buying 

group position, just as Benco was maintaining its policy: “CHUCK---maybe what you should do 

is make sure you tell Tim [Sullivan of Schein] and Paul [Guggenheim of Patterson] to hold their 

positions as we are[.]”92  Cohen testified he understood that Ryan was suggesting he “reiterate” 

Benco’s no buying group policy to his competitors,93 proving that the Benco’s understanding of 

the Big Three’s collective refusal to discount to buying groups was based on none other than the 

competitors’ prior exchange of assurances.  This email is a further example of direct evidence 

manifesting Respondents’ prior agreement. 

86 B&R Supermarket, Inc. v. Visa, Inc., No. C 16-01150 WHA, 2016 WL 5725010, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 
30, 2016). 
87 B&R Supermarket, 2016 WL 5725010, at *6 (credit card company executive’s statement about the 
conduct of all competitors was “direct evidence of a conspiracy”). 
88 Ryan testified that he was referring specifically to Benco, Schein, and Patterson through his statement 
“all of the major dental companies.”  CCFF ¶ 528. 
89 CCFF ¶ 527 (quoting CX1149 at 002). 
90 CCFF ¶ 549 (quoting CX0093 at 001). 
91 CCFF ¶¶ 1208-1218, 1240. 
92 CCFF ¶ 1103 (quoting CX0023 at 001) (emphasis added); see also CCFF ¶ 1104. 
93 CCFF ¶ 1105. 
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Finally, Patterson’s executive, Neal McFadden, informed a potential customer that the 

reason Patterson could not engage with buying groups was that, “[W]e’ve signed an agreement 

that we won’t work with GPOs.”94  While there does not appear to be a signed agreement among 

the Big Three, McFadden’s statement explicitly referenced a prior commitment that constrained 

Patterson’s ability to work with buying groups.95  This statement requires no further inference of 

collusion and constitutes another piece of direct evidence of agreement.96 

While Benco argues that there is no evidence of an agreement,97 numerous precedents 

have found liability based on considerably less.98  Furthermore, the direct and unambiguous 

evidence discussed above is precisely the type of evidence that has led other courts to a find an 

unlawful agreement.99  In Gainesville Utilities Department v. Florida Power & Light Co., the 

Eighth Circuit found an unlawful market division agreement on evidence that the competitors 

informed each other that they would not serve customers in certain territories.100  The court 

found that the “exchange of letters between high executives . . . . points so strongly to the 

94 CCFF ¶ 657 (quoting CX0164 at 002) (emphasis added). 
95 Any claims that this statement was an innocent lie is contradicted by other contemporaneous evidence.  
CCFF ¶¶ 658-660.  Indeed, where “testimony is in conflict with contemporaneous documents [courts]
give it little weight, particularly when the crucial issues involved mixed questions of law and fact.”  
United States v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 333 U.S. 364, 395-96 (1948). 
96 Toledo Mack Sales & Serv. v. Mack Trucks, Inc., 530 F.3d 204, 222 (3d Cir. 2008). 
97 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 2, 7. 
98 See e.g., United States v. Maloof, 205 F.3d 819, 830-31 (5th Cir. 2000) (finding defendant orchestrated 
an antitrust price-fixing conspiracy by, inter alia, informing his competitor when “sales representatives 
from other companies deviated from the agreed upon pricing”); United States v. Gravely, 840 F.2d 1156, 
1161 (4th Cir. 1988) (“[T]he efforts of the conspirators to enforce their agreement, by pooling and 
subsequent meetings, is further proof of the conspiracy.”); In re Plywood Antitrust Litig., 655 F.2d 627, 
633-34 (5th Cir. 1982) (finding internal memoranda sufficient evidence to find an agreement); Foley, 598 
F.2d at 1332-33 (finding evidence of competitors calling each other about their failure to adopt a higher 
commission as probative of conspiracy to raise commission rate); Standard Oil Co. of Cal. v. Moore, 251 
F.2d 188, 209-12 (9th Cir. 1957) (finding evidence of parallel behavior and communications between 
defendants concerning practices not at issue in the case probative of an agreement to refuse to serve a 
customer); United States v. FMC Corp., 306 F. Supp. 1106, 1150 (E.D. Penn. 1969) (finding persuasive 
evidence of a conspiracy that “[t]hese exchanges of assurances continued after the initial [agreement].”). 
99 Although not every piece of evidence described constitutes direct evidence of an agreement, as 
discussed previously, “in Section 1 cases, it is unnecessary for a court to engage in the exercise of 
distinguishing strong circumstantial evidence of concerted action from direct evidence of concerted action 
for both are ‘sufficiently unambiguous.’”  Petruzzi’s IGA Supermkts. v. Darling-Del. Co., 998 F.2d 1224, 
1233 (3d Cir. 1993) (citation omitted). 
100 573 F.2d 292, 299 (5th Cir. 1978). 
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existence of a conspiracy that ‘reasonable men could not arrive at a contrary verdict.’”101  Here, 

just as in Gainesville, the direct evidence shows that Respondents’ senior executives informed 

each other they would not do business with or discount to buying groups.102  In United States v. 

Foley, the Fourth Circuit affirmed a per se criminal price fixing conviction where one defendant 

remarked to his competitors that his firm would charge a certain commission rate, and 

competitors “expressed an intention or gave the impression that his firm would adopt a similar 

change.”103  The court affirmed an agreement even though the defendant explicitly stated that 

“he did not care what the others did.”104  The direct evidence in this case shows Respondents 

behaved in the same way.  Further, just as Respondents confronted each other about deviations 

for a no buying group strategy and assured each other of compliance, in United States v. Beaver, 

the Seventh Circuit upheld a criminal price-fixing conviction in part because competitors 

“confront[ed] someone whom they believed was cheating” and “reassured others . . . that they 

were abiding by the agreement.”105 

None of these courts went through the exercise of parsing evidence as either direct or 

circumstantial, as Benco proposes.  Instead, the courts in these, and numerous other cases, 

looked to the totality of the evidence to find an agreement.106  Thus, regardless of whether each 

piece of evidence in the record is labeled “direct” or “circumstantial,” the above evidence 

constitutes unambiguous proof that Respondents entered into an unlawful agreement to refuse to 

do business with buying groups. 

101 Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 301 (quoting Boeing Co. v. Shipman, 411 F.2d 365, 374 (5th Cir. 1969)).  
102 E.g., CCFF ¶¶ 483-488, 495-496, 500, 661-664, 680-681, 958-969, 997, 1011-1017. 
103 598 F.2d 1323, 1332 (4th Cir. 1979). 
104 Foley, 598 F.2d at 1332. 
105 515 F.3d 730, 738 (7th Cir. 2008). 
106 Esco Corp. v. United States, 340 F.2d 1000, 1005-08 (9th Cir. 1965) (finding conspiracy where court’s 
analysis did not distinguish between direct and circumstantial evidence); United States v. Apple Inc., 952 
F. Supp. 2d 638, 691-94 (S.D.N.Y. 2013), aff’d, 791 F.3d 290 (2d Cir. 2015) (analyzing evidence without 
distinguishing between direct and circumstantial evidence and finding that Apple engaged in a horizontal 
price-fixing conspiracy). 
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2. Witness Denials Are Not Sufficient to Overcome the Overwhelming 
Unambiguous Evidence of Agreement. 

Benco argues that witness testimony denying the existence of a conspiracy is direct 

evidence of a lack of agreement, citing this Court’s decision in In re McWane, Inc.107  But this 

case is nothing like McWane, because here, unlike McWane, there is unambiguous evidence 

establishing that the competitors directly communicated about the subject matter of the 

conspiracy.108  After finding an absence of evidence showing an agreement, this Court held in 

McWane that witnesses denying that they discussed the alleged conspiracy or agreed “further 

weigh[ed] against a finding of an agreement.”109  By contrast, Respondents’ executives admit 

that they communicated directly with one another—through private emails and text messages— 

about a policy against discounting to buying groups.110  They admit that they communicated 

when they saw deviations from a no buying group policy.111  They admit that they communicated 

when uncertain whether an account qualified as a buying group.112  Moreover, Respondents’ 

contemporaneous documents manifest the agreement, expressly reference a joint refusal to 

discount and acknowledge a “duty to uphold” the collective refusal.113  In the face of this 

evidence, witness denials of an agreement are not credible. 

Furthermore, whether Respondents entered into an “agreement,” as defined by the 

Sherman Act and relevant case law, is a mixed question of law and fact based on the totality of 

107 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 7.  Schein and Patterson present the same argument.  Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 4; 
Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 38-41. 
108 In re Mcwane, Inc., Docket No. 9351, 2013 WL 8364918, at *265 (FTC May 1, 2013) (Initial 
Decision) (“There is no evidence showing what Mr. Tatman and Mr. Rybacki discussed . . . .”).  
109 McWane, 2013 WL 8364918, at *267. 
110 CCFF ¶¶ 483-484, 489-490, 495-496, 500, 662-664, 1000-1001, 1004, 1011, 1036-1040.  For 
example, a Schein executive testified: “I received a call from Pat Ryan at Benco Dental . . . he basically
was making a statement . . . that they didn’t like working with buying groups.”  CCFF ¶ 1011. Benco’s 
Cohen testified, “Q. You did communicate Benco’s no-buying group policy to Mr. Sullivan; correct? A. I 
believe I did. Yes.”  CCFF ¶ 662.  Benco’s Cohen testified: “Q. You’ve communicated Benco’s no-
buying group policy to Mr. Guggenheim? A. . . . [Y]es.”  CCFF ¶ 484.  Patterson’s Guggenheim testified: 
“It’s fair to say that you viewed Benco’s doing business with Atlantic Dental Care as a deviation from
what Chuck Cohen had told you before about Benco’s policy? A. Yes.”  CCFF ¶ 572; Guggenheim, Tr. 
1628. 
111 CCFF ¶¶ 568-573, 995-997, 999-1004. 
112 CCFF ¶¶ 1022-1037. 
113 CCFF ¶¶ 527, 549, 603, 1103, 1183, 1190-1191, 1193-1195.  
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the evidence.114  And because antitrust law “does not require the existence of an express 

agreement,”115 witness denials of an agreement are given little weight when contemporaneous 

documents and other evidence show an agreement.116  Contemporaneous documents represent 

the most reliable evidence,117 in part because witness memories fade over time, as many 

witnesses’ memories faded in this case.118  Thus, in Gainesville, the Fifth Circuit found the 

existence of a per se unlawful agreement based on competitor communications of a refusal to 

serve certain customers, even though the executives denied the existence of an agreement.119 

The court noted that “where such testimony is in conflict with contemporaneous documents we 

can give it little weight.”120  The court did the same in United States v. Capitol Service, Inc., 

which found an unlawful agreement even though the defendants denied the agreement, because it 

is “not necessary [] that the Government prove an express agreement.”121  Thus, even if the 

denials of an express agreement are credited, an unlawful conspiracy still exists under the 

114 United States v. General Motors Corp., 384 U.S. 127, 141 n.16 (1966) (“[T]he ultimate conclusion by
the trial judge [of whether] the defendants’ conduct . . . constitute[s] a combination or conspiracy in
violation of the Sherman Act . . . is not one of ‘fact,’ but consists rather of the legal standard required to 
be applied to the undisputed facts of the case.”); Gainesville Utils. Dep’t v. Fla. Power & Light Co., 573 
F.2d 292, 301 n.14 (5th Cir. 1978). 
115 Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 300. 
116 Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 301 n.14. 
117 United States v. Gen. Elec. Co., 82 F. Supp. 753, 844 (D.N.J. 1949) (The documents in the record 
“were never intended to meet the eyes of any one but the [executives] themselves, and were, as it were . . . 
cinematographic photographs of their purposes at the time when they were written.  They have, therefore, 
the highest validity as evidence of intention,” and should be afforded greater weight than witness denials 
of an agreement), decision supplemented, 115 F. Supp. 835 (D.N.J. 1953) (“[A]lthough in many instances 
[the witness] attempted to contradict [documents], his contradiction only served to affect the general 
credibility of his testimony.”); FTC v. Qualcomm, Inc., No. 17-CV-00220, 2019 WL 2206013, at *7 
(N.D. Cal. May 21, 2019) (“The Court finds Qualcomm’s internal, contemporaneous documents more 
persuasive than Qualcomm’s trial testimony prepared specifically for this antitrust litigation.”).     
118 Faded memories appear to plague this case.  For example, Ryan testified that he did not remember 
discussing Smile Source with Foley (Ryan, Tr. 1101), but documentary evidence clearly shows that they
did.  CCFF ¶ 1014 (Statement of Ryan to his boss: “[Smile Source is] is [v]ery familiar. . . Randy [Foley]
at Schein and I talked specifically about them. Buh-bye.”); see also CCFF ¶¶ 1011, 1017.  Additionally,
Sullivan testified that he first heard about the Unified Smiles buying group from a message from Cohen, 
but later backtracked saying he had misremembered.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 564 (citing CX8025 (Sullivan, 
Dep. at 393 (“Have you ever heard of a group called Unified Smiles? A. Only through a message I got 
from Chuck”)).  Sullivan also testified three times at his investigational hearing that Cohen informed him
that Benco would not bid on ADC (CCFF ¶¶ 1038-1040), but later changed his testimony again 
explaining that he had misremembered (CCFF ¶¶ 1041-1043).    
119 Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 301 n.14. 
120 Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 301 n.14 (citation omitted). 
121 United States v. Capitol Serv., Inc., 568 F. Supp. 134, 144-45 (E.D. Wis. 1983). 
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antitrust laws if the Court finds Respondents engaged in communications and conduct that shows 

a “conscious commitment to a common scheme.”122  As the First Circuit found, “[i]t is to be 

expected that [Respondents’] witnesses would deny that there was an agreement,” but that does 

not offset the “compelling documentary evidence of a planned common course of action or 

understanding.”123  Indeed, courts have regularly found the existence of an agreement despite the 

defendants’ denials of any agreement.124 

Additionally, while Benco claims 40 individuals denied the agreement, most of these 

individuals were not the ones responsible for forming and enforcing the agreement.125  Aside 

from the executives who participated in the inter-firm communications about buying groups, or 

were forwarded such inter-firm communications, or otherwise referenced the Big Three’s 

conspiracy, it is very likely that Respondents’ employees who testified at trial or in a deposition 

122 Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Serv. Corp., 465 U.S. 752, 764 (1984) (quoting Edward J. Sweeney & 
Sons, Inc. v. Texaco, Inc., 637 F.2d 105, 111 (3d Cir. 1980)); see also Capitol Serv., 568 F. Supp. at 145. 
123 Adver. Specialty Nat’l Ass’n v. FTC, 238 F.2d 108, 116-17 (1st Cir. 1956) (upholding Commission’s 
findings of an agreement where witnesses denied that an agreement took place and offered a different 
interpretation of the documentary evidence in the record). 
124 See, e.g., Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 301 n.14 (“The officials of the power companies deny the existence 
of a territorial agreement, but where such testimony is in conflict with contemporaneous documents we 
can give it little weight.”) (internal quotation omitted); In re High Fructose Corn Syrup Antitrust Litig., 
295 F.3d 651, 655 (7th Cir. 2002) (overturning summary judgment where plaintiff offered evidence of an 
agreement and noting that a reasonable trier of fact need not accept testimony “which is self-serving, 
uncorroborated, implausible [ ], and inconsistent with the overall evidence of conspiracy.”); United States 
v. Champion Int’l Corp., 557 F.2d 1270, 1273 (9th Cir. 1977) (upholding trial court finding of an 
agreement to eliminate competitive bidding for timber even though defendants asserted that meetings 
were innocent); Vitagraph, Inc. v. Perelman, 95 F.2d 142, 146 (3d Cir. 1936) (upholding the district 
court’s conspiracy finding even though defendants’ executive and manager witnesses testified “that there 
was no conspiracy or concerted action between the defendants”); United States v. Beachner Constr. Co., 
555 F. Supp. 1273, 1278-79 (D. Kan. 1983) (“Although witnesses denied any overall agreement or 
understanding or participation in a single conspiracy, there can be no doubt that bid rigging was a way of 
life in the industry in Kansas.”), aff’d, 729 F.2d 1278 (10th Cir. 1984).  
125 Benco claims that Complaint Counsel identified these individuals as having knowledge of the alleged 
conspiracy.  Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 8.  Benco is incorrect.  Complaint Counsel identified these individuals 
as having “knowledge of the facts supporting the allegations in Paragraphs 7, 8 and 36 and the finding of 
the agreement alleged in the Complaint.”  This includes witnesses with knowledge of any facts that go to 
the totality of the evidence of conspiracy, including Respondents’ dealings with buying groups, motive to 
conspire, unilateral self-interest, and opportunity to conspire.  Complaint Counsel’s Response to Joint 
Proposed Finding ¶ 82 (citing RX2958 at 010-011).  
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would not have been informed of the agreement.126  Indeed, it is well established that 

conspiracies tend to form in secret.127 Thus, the testimony of the victims of the conspiracy— 

buying groups—and employees who were not informed about the agreement, is not evidence of 

the lack of a conspiracy. Certainly, the Court does not need to find these witnesses are lying in 

order to find a conspiracy—denials of an agreement from witnesses without knowledge of the 

agreement are irrelevant. 

B. Additional Circumstantial Evidence Shows There Was an Agreement. 

Benco likewise claims that Complaint Counsel failed to introduce any “circumstantial 

evidence”128 of an agreement suggesting that the inter-firm communications among competitors 

regarding buying groups, and internal company documents evidencing coordination, constitute 

neither direct evidence nor circumstantial evidence of an agreement.129  This simply ignores the 

majority of the record in this case.     

Benco’s effort to address what it characterizes as Complaint Counsel’s circumstantial 

evidence, depends on three inapposite legal standards.  The Court should reject each of Benco’s 

suggestions, which are: (1) Respondents’ collective refusal to do business with buying groups 

may be the result of oligopolistic interdependence (or conscious parallelism) rather than 

collusion; (2) Matsushita limits the range of permissible inferences in this case; and (3) 

Complaint Counsel must prove its case by applying the Williamson Oil test.  None of these 

standards apply to this case. 

126 The conspirators (Cohen, Sullivan, and Guggenheim) of course had knowledge of the agreement. E.g., 
CCFF ¶¶ 483-484, 495-496, 570, 572, 575-577, 661-680, 958-972, 980-992, 996-997, 1029-1036, 1068-
1069.  There is also evidence that some individuals had knowledge of some of the underlying conduct that 
is the basis of the conspiracy.  For example, Benco’s Ryan (CCFF ¶¶ 958, 982, 527, 1191, 1193), 
Patterson’s Misiak, Rogan, and McFadden (CCFF ¶¶ 491, 549, 1188, 1190, 657), and Schein’s Foley
(CCFF ¶¶ 1009-1017, 1194, 1195).  
127 United States v. Apple Inc., 952 F. Supp. 2d 638, 689 (S.D.N.Y. 2013), aff’d, 791 F.3d 290 (2d Cir. 
2015); see also In re McWane, Docket No. 9351, 2013 WL 8364918, at *258 (FTC May 1, 2013) (Initial 
Decision) (“[I]t is unlikely that the existence of any unlawful agreement . . . would be known below the 
executive level.”). 
128 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 8-23. 
129 See Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 6-23 (discussing the direct and circumstantial evidence in the case). 
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1. This is Not a Case of Oligopolistic Interdependence. 

Benco argues that because Respondents operate in an oligopolistic market—in which the 

three of them collectively control more than 80% of the market130—collusion (which is illegal) 

may look the same as oligopolistic interdependence (which is legal).131  But this is not a case 

where the Big Three reached a non-competitive state by sitting back and watching each other.132 

They communicated with each other about a refusal to discount to buying groups, as Complaint 

Counsel has shown through direct evidence.  This fact definitively removes this case from 

oligopolistic interdependence.  In In re Text Messaging Antitrust Litigation, a case cited by 

Benco, the Seventh Circuit explained lawful interdependence as follows: “If any of these 

reflections [to follow the industry leader] persuaded the other firms—without any 

communication with the leader—to raise their prices, there would be no conspiracy, but merely 

tacit collusion [or “conscious parallelism”].”133  Indeed, the whole theory underlying 

oligopolistic interdependence is that inter-firm communications are not required for the 

oligopolists to act in parallel.134  Here, the record contains the key evidence missing in the 

oligopolistic interdependence cases cited by Benco—competitor communications on the subject 

matter of the agreement.  For example, Valspar Corp. v. E.I. Du Pont De Nemours & Co. is a 

conscious parallelism case in which the plaintiff relied solely on parallel behavior and 

130 CCFF ¶¶ 1458 (citing CX2742 at 032), 1450, 1455-1457. 
131 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 8-9. 
132 Complaint Counsel’s Response to Schein’s Proposed Findings of Fact (“CCRF (Schein)”) ¶¶ 1670-
1674. 
133 In re Text Messaging Antitrust Litig., 782 F.3d 867, 875 (7th Cir. 2015) (emphasis added).  Benco also 
claims that this case stands for the proposition that internal discussions about what other competitors 
might be doing does not give rise to an inference of agreement.  Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 9.  The case holds 
nothing of the sort.  Instead, the case simply states that, where the internal documents are literally
discussing “follow[ing] the leader,” that is not evidence of collusion.  Text Messaging, 782 F.3d at 874-
75.  In short, the case stands for the unremarkable proposition that if internal documents reflect only
oligopolistic interdependence, they are not evidence of collusion.  
134 See Valspar Corp. v. EI Du Pont De Nemours and Co., 873 F.3d 185, 191 (3d Cir. 2017). 
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opportunity to collude evidence;135 by contrast, there are fifteen instances of competitor 

communications about the subject matter of the conspiracy in this case.136 

Moreover, the suggestion that each firm’s refusal to discount to buying groups resulted 

from interdependence rather than an agreement is undermined by the fact that Schein began 

discounting to buying groups before entering into an agreement with Benco;137 Patterson was 

close to finalizing a buying group arrangement before joining the agreement;138 and all three 

firms realized it was in their self-interest to discount to buying groups after the conspiracy 

unraveled.139  Indeed, Schein’s Post-Trial Brief argues that it began discounting to buying groups 

in 2008 or earlier.140  And Patterson concedes that all three Respondents are today doing business 

with buying groups.141  Thus, the evidence conclusively shows that absent a conspiracy, 

Respondents would and now do discount to buying groups.142 

2. Matsushita Does Not Apply Here, and in Any Event is Easily Satisfied. 

Benco also argues that Matsushita limits the permissible inferences that may be drawn 

from Complaint Counsel’s circumstantial evidence and requires that such evidence “must tend to 

135 Valspar, 873 F.3d at 199 (“Valspar’s argument essentially begins and ends with opportunity . . . . 
[t]here is no evidence that there was any discussion of prices during these meetings”)).  The other cases 
that Benco cites to argue oligopolistic interdependence, Text Messaging and McWane, are equally 
inapposite because they are also parallel conduct cases with no direct and unambiguous competitor 
communications about the subject matter of alleged conspiracy.  Text Messaging, 782 F.3d at 878; In re 
McWane, Docket No. 9351, 2013 WL 8364918, at *253-54 (FTC May 1, 2013) (Initial Decision).  
Anderson News is also distinguishable because that case addressed efficiency-enhancing communications 
for which the defendants identified legitimate procompetitive justifications; thus, the meeting of the 
minds in that case, unlike here, was not to engage in an anticompetitive activity.  Anderson News L.L.C. v. 
Am. Media, Inc., 899 F.3d 87, 104-05 (2d Cir. 2018). 
136 See supra note 1. 
137 CCFF ¶¶ 432-453. 
138 CCFF ¶¶ 454-473. 
139 CCFF ¶¶ 1316-1387. 
140 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 24 (doing business with Smile Source since 2008). 
141 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 62 (“The record likewise shows that Patterson, Schein, and Benco today work 
with buying groups.”).  
142 Indeed, Patterson argues in its Post-Trial Brief that Respondents competed vigorously for the business 
of independent dentists and DSOs (Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 10-15) which further undermines any notion 
that the lack of competition between Respondents for buying groups was based on oligopolistic 
interdependence. See Petruzzi’s IGA Supermkts. v. Darling-Del. Co., 998 F.2d 1224, 1244-46 (3d Cir. 
1993) (rejecting defendants’ oligopolistic interdependence argument for collective refusal to bid on each 
other’s accounts where defendants’ did not also refuse to bid for new accounts). 
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rule out the possibility of independent action.”143  This standard is easily satisfied here because 

Respondents’ communicated directly about a refusal to do business with buying groups, which 

“rule[s] out the possibility of independent conduct.”  Indeed, liberal inferences of the 

circumstantial evidence are unnecessary in this case, as the most straightforward—and 

sometimes the only—reading of the evidence, consistent with the totality of the record, tends to 

exclude the possibility of independent conduct.  Furthermore, the cautions of Matsushita have no 

application to this case because “the challenged activities could not reasonably be perceived as 

procompetitive.”144 

3. Complaint Counsel Does Not Need to Prove its Case By Applying the 
Williamson Oil Test. 

Benco argues that absent direct evidence, the only way for Complaint Counsel to prevail 

is to meet the test articulated in Williamson Oil Co. v. Philip Morris USA (the “Williamson Oil 

test”), under which plaintiff must first prove parallel conduct and then plus factors to prevail.145 

As shown above, Complaint Counsel has adduced direct evidence of an unlawful agreement.146 

But even if the Court were to find that the evidence falls short of “direct evidence,” this does not 

mean, as Benco claims, that the mountain of evidence described above vanishes and Complaint 

Counsel must resort to parallel conduct and plus factors to prove its case.  “Parallel pricing is 

143 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 8 (citing Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 588 
(1986). 
144 In re Flat Glass Antitrust Litig., 385 F.3d 350, 358 (3d Cir. 2004) (citing Petruzzi’s IGA Supermkts., 
998 F.2d at 1232); accord In re Publ’n Paper Antitrust Litig., 690 F.3d 51, 63 (2d Cir. 2012) (“By
contrast, broader inferences are permitted, and the ‘tends to exclude’ standard is more easily satisfied, 
when the conspiracy is economically sensible for the alleged conspirators to undertake and the 
‘challenged activities could not reasonably be perceived as procompetitive.’”).  Further, the cautions of 
Matsushita do not apply where, as here, there is direct evidence of a conspiracy. In re Publ’n Papers 
Antitrust Litig., 690 F.3d 51, 63 (2d Cir. 2012); accord Toledo Mack Sales & Serv. v. Mack Trucks, Inc., 
530 F.3d 204, 220 n.10 (3d Cir. 2008) (“[I]n direct evidence cases, the plaintiff need not adduce 
circumstantial evidence that tends to exclude the possibility that the alleged conspirators acted 
independently, and there need not be an inquiry into the plausibility of defendants’ claim or the rationality 
of defendants’ economic motives.  This is because when the plaintiff has put forth direct evidence of 
conspiracy, the fact finder is not required to make inferences to establish facts, and therefore the Supreme 
Court’s concerns over the reasonableness of inferences in antitrust cases evaporate.”) (citation omitted); 
see also Complaint Counsel’s Response to Joint Proposed Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 27-29. 
145 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 9. 
146 See supra Section I.A (“Direct and Unambiguous Evidence Establishes Respondents’ Unlawful 
Agreement”); see also, e.g., CCFF ¶¶ 483, 495, 570, 575-576, 1103, 657. 
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merely ‘one such form of circumstantial evidence.’”147  Because parallel conduct standing alone 

falls short of establishing agreement,148 plaintiffs pursuing this theory must also show plus 

factors.149 

Where, as here, plaintiff’s case is not centered on parallel conduct as the starting point, 

the Williamson Oil test has no application: the test only “applies to plaintiffs who ‘rel[y] on 

circumstantial evidence of conscious parallelism to prove a § 1 claim.’”150 In Williamson Oil, 

where plaintiff’s price fixing case was premised on defendant’s parallel movement in prices,151 

the court “fashioned a test under which price fixing plaintiffs must demonstrate the existence of 

‘plus factors’ that remove their evidence from the realm of equipoise and render that evidence 

more probative of conspiracy than of conscious parallelism.”152  Of course, it is tautological that 

if a plaintiffs’ theory of the case is based upon parallel conduct, then the plaintiff must first show 

parallel conduct.153  As the court recognized in Fleischman, “Defendants cite to no case law that 

stands for the requirement that, to prevail, Plaintiffs must prove parallel pricing if they are not 

relying on conscious parallelism.”154  Indeed, courts have held that “Plaintiffs need not prove 

parallel pricing in order to prevail on per-se claim based on circumstantial evidence.”155  Nor are 

plaintiffs required to put forth plus factors to prevail, if the case is not premised on parallel 

conduct.  “Courts devised the requirement of ‘plus factors’ in the context of offers of proof of an 

agreement that rest on parallel conduct.”156 

147 Fleischman v. Albany Med. Ctr., 728 F. Supp. 2d 130, 158 (N.D.N.Y. 2010). 
148 Fleischman, 728 F. Supp. 2d at 158. 
149 Williamson Oil Co. v. Philip Morris USA, 346 F.3d 1287, 1301 (11th Cir. 2003). 
150 Cason-Merenda v. Detroit Med. Ctr., 862 F. Supp. 2d 603, 627 (E.D. Mich. 2012) (citation omitted) 
(emphasis added). 
151 346 F.3d 1287, 1294 (11th Cir. 2003). 
152 346 F.3d 1287, 1301 (11th Cir. 2003). 
153 Cason-Merenda v. Detroit Med. Ctr., 862 F. Supp. 2d 603, 627 (E.D. Mich. 2012); Fleischman, 728 F. 
Supp. 2d at 158. 
154 Fleischman, 728 F. Supp. 2d at 158. 
155 Fleischman, 728 F. Supp. 2d at 158 (emphasis added); see also Interstate Circuit, Inc. v. United States, 
306 U.S. 208, 227 (1939) (“It is elementary that an unlawful conspiracy may be and often is formed 
without simultaneous action or agreement on the part of the conspirators.”). 
156 In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 324 n.23 (3d Cir. 2010). 
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Far from asking the Court to infer an agreement from parallel conduct (as in Williamson 

Oil), the record here contains direct evidence of competitor communications about a refusal to 

discount, contemporaneous documents recognizing a collective refusal to discount, internal 

documents evidencing a conscious commitment to that collective refusal, and direct evidence of 

communications about deviations from the collective refusal.  Thus, the Williamson Oil test is 

not applicable to this case. 

Nonetheless, the record in this case shows Respondents did act in parallel to carry out the 

agreement.  And the record shows that plus factors further help support a finding of agreement. 

4. The Evidence Shows Respondents Acted in Parallel to Carry Out the 
Agreement. 

Benco claims there is no parallel conduct among the three Respondents, but even its co-

respondent, Schein, concedes that at a minimum Benco and Patterson acted in parallel.157  Schein 

admits that “Benco had a policy against doing business with buying groups, and systematically 

said no to each one” and “Patterson followed a practice of declining business with buying 

groups,” and “summarily rejected many groups based on the fact that they were buying 

groups.”158  The only question that remains, then, is whether Schein also refused to do business 

with buying groups between 2011 and 2015.  As detailed in Section II.A.1 below of Complaint 

Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Trial Brief, the record is replete with contemporaneous 

documents showing that Schein began implementing a no buying group strategy in 2011, 

continuing through 2015.159 

157 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 88.  According to Schein, “Neither Benco nor Patterson made sales to buying 
groups during the alleged conspiracy.”  Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 88. 
158 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 88; Schein Proposed Finding of Fact (“SF”) ¶ 349. 
159 See also Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 26-29; Attachment C to Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial 
Brief.  Benco attempts to argue that Schein worked with certain buying groups during the conspiracy
(Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 11-14), but the contemporaneous documents show that Schein categorically
rejected buying groups during the conspiracy as explained in Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-
Tr. Br. § II.A.1 (“Schein’s Contemporaneous Documents Show that During the Conspiracy Period 
Sullivan Began to Instruct Schein’s Salesforce to Categorically Reject Buying Groups”).  
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a. Respondents Instructed Their Sales Teams Not to Discount to 
Buying Groups. 

The long record of evidence illustrates that Respondents acted in parallel to refuse to do 

business with buying groups by instructing their sales teams not to discount to buying groups:160 

 Benco – September 11, 2011, Benco’s SW/SE Director of Sales Mark Rowe to a field 
sales consultant (“FSC”): “Chuck has always been extremely opposed to any hint of a 
buying group.”161 

 Benco – November 7, 2011, Benco’s McElaney to FSC Robert Kelly: “I spoke with 
Chuck over the weekend and he tells [me] this is a buying group which he 
opposes.”162 

 Schein – December 7, 2011, Schein’s Sullivan to Steck and other employees: Schein 
did “NOT want to lead in getting [buying groups] started in dental.”163 

 Schein – December 22, 2011, Schein’s Sullivan to Cavaretta, Steck, and Chatham: 
Sullivan did not want to “be the first company to open the floodgates to the dangerous 
world of GPOs.”164 

 Schein – December 21, 2011, Schein’s Foley rejected buying group Unified Smiles, 
stating, “[U]nless you have some ‘ownership’ of your practices Henry Schein 
considers your business model as a Buying Group, and we no longer participate in 
Buying Groups.”165 

 Schein – January 26, 2012, Schein’s Cavaretta wrote to sales representatives, “It is 
dangerously close but I told him we would not do business with a GPO.”166 

 Schein – February 20, 2012, Schein’s Foley wrote to his direct report, Debbie 
Torgersen-Foster, “Honestly, within Schein we have a few buying groups (BG) that 
we wish we didn’t have . . . So, this is a corporate decision, not to participate in 

160 Benco spends much of its argument on parallel conduct misrepresenting Dr. Marshall’s opinions.  
Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 12-14.  Dr. Marshall does not assume parallel conduct on the part of Respondents. 
CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 822-823.  In any event, Complaint Counsel is not relying on Dr. Marshall to establish 
parallel conduct and instead, proved this through fact witnesses and contemporaneous documents at trial 
as described in this section and in Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief at 15-16, 23-29.  While Benco 
attempts to rely on Schein’s expert, Dr. Carlton, for support, as described below in Complaint Counsel’s 
Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § II.D.1, Dr. Carlton’s opinions regarding parallel conduct are fundamentally
flawed. 
161 CCFF ¶ 401 (quoting CX1040 at 001). 
162 CCFF ¶ 401 (quoting CX1048 at 001). 
163 CCFF ¶ 709 (quoting CX2456 at 001). 
164 CCFF ¶ 713 (quoting CX2458 at 001). 
165 CCFF ¶ 719 (quoting CX2062 at 001). 
166 CCFF ¶ 750 (quoting CX0168 at 001). 
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these.”167 

 Schein – February 2, 2012, Schein’s Sullivan asked his employees Steck, Foley, and 
others “what we can do to KILL the buying group model!!”168 

 Schein – June 8, 2012, Schein’s Hight wrote to her boss, Foley and Titus: “I 
explained that we do not accommodate GPOs . . . .”169 

 Benco – July 9, 2012, Benco’s Ryan email to Regional Managers reminding them 
what constitutes one customer for purposes of doing business with Benco, and 
adding, “If you aren’t sure why buying groups/clubs are bad, call me.”170 

 Schein – July 17, 2012, Schein’s Meadows to FSC Patty Delikat discussing a prior 
decision to work with a buying group: “I have to tell you Ron and Dan made a 
decision that is against what Tim Sullivan has directed us to do in regards to 
supporting Buying groups.” 171 

 Benco – February 8, 2013, Benco’s Cohen to Patterson’s Guggenheim: “Our policy at 
Benco is that we do not recognize, work with, or offer discounts to buying groups . . . 
and our team understands that policy.”172 

 Patterson – February 27, 2013, Patterson’s Misiak to a Regional Manager: 
“Confidential and not for discussion . .our 2 largest competitors stay out of these as 
well.  If you hear differently and have specific proof please send that to me.”173 

 Patterson – February 27, 2013, Patterson’s Misiak to Guggenheim: “I’ve coached 
[Regional Manager Fruehauf] on how to stay out of this [buying group] with 
grace.”174 

 Benco – March 7, 2013, Benco’s Ryan to Territory Manager and another employee: 
“Benco does not recognize ‘buying groups.’ Cannot open this account.”175 

 Benco – March 21, 2013, Benco’s Ryan to an FSC: “We absolutely positively do 
NOT participate in GPOs. No if ands or buts.”176 

167 CCFF ¶ 754 (quoting CX0238 at 001). 
168 CCFF ¶ 729 (quoting CX0199 at 001). Sullivan claimed that he meant to write “KILL [their] buying 
group model,” referring to the buying group Smile Source.  (Sullivan, Tr. 4146.) 
169 CCFF ¶ 771 (quoting CX2423 at 004). 
170 CCFF ¶ 399 (quoting CX1146 at 001). 
171 CCFF ¶ 773 (quoting CX0170 at 001). 
172 CCFF ¶ 399 (quoting CX0090 at 001). 
173 CCFF ¶ 1187 (quoting CX0093 at 001) (bolded in original but not italicized). 
174 CCFF ¶ 1188 (quoting CX0092 at 001). 
175 CCFF ¶ 416 (quoting CX 1199 at 001). 
176 CCFF ¶ 417 (quoting CX1238 at 001). 
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 Schein – May 29, 2013, Schein’s Cavaretta wrote to two Schein employees, “We try 
to avoid buying groups at all costs and therefore don’t really recognize them.”177 

 Patterson – August 4, 2013, Patterson’s Rogan to McFadden: “We don’t need GPO’s 
in the dental business.  Schein, Benco, and Patterson have always said no.  I believe it 
is our duty to uphold this and protect this great industry.”178 

 Patterson – September 3, 2013, Patterson’s Misiak to CEO Scott Anderson and 
Guggenheim, describing the guidance he gave to Patterson sales representatives: “We 
have said no at every turn. . . . My guidance has been to politely say no [to buying 
groups] and w[ea]ther the storm with these.”179 

 Patterson – September 4, 2013, Patterson’s McFadden in a memo to Patterson 
regional and branch managers, defining Special Markets to work with large buying 
groups, but “[t]his definition will not include group purchasing organizations 
(GPOs).” 180 

 Benco – September 21, 2013, Benco’s Regional Manager Don Taylor to a vendor: 
“Chuck Cohen is adamantly against buying groups.  He will not let us participate 
because he doesn’t think everyone should get the same price.  It’s one of the only 
times I have seen him really get fired up.”181 

 Patterson – November 20, 2013, Patterson’s Rogan to Patterson’s Manager of 
Marketing Communications, Jennifer Hannon: “We don’t sell to buying groups. Let’s 
talk live.”182 

 Patterson – December 2, 2013, Patterson’s McFadden to Patterson Account Specialist 
Shelly Beckler: “[A]s of now we are not working with GPOs.”183 

 Schein – December 20 2013, Schein’s Foley told his counterpart at Colgate, one of 
Schein’s manufacturer partners: “It’s a buying group that we do not participate with, 
as with all buying groups.”184 

 Patterson – April 23, 2014, Patterson’s Guggenheim to McFadden: “Typical approach 
of an upstart buying group.  We pass on these as a matter of protecting our business 
model.”185 

177 CCFF ¶ 785 (quoting CX2509 at 001). 
178 CCFF ¶ 603 (quoting CX0106 at 001). 
179 CCFF ¶ 607 (quoting CX3116 at 001). 
180 CCFF ¶ 611 (quoting CX0158 at 002). 
181 CCFF ¶ 401 (quoting CX1234 at 001). 
182 CCFF ¶ 632 (quoting CX3168 at 001). 
183 CCFF ¶ 634 (quoting CX3010 at 001). 
184 CCFF ¶ 788 (quoting CX2073 at 001). 
185 CCFF ¶ 646 (quoting CX3080 at 001). 
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 Patterson – April 23, 2014, Patterson’s McFadden to a Patterson branch manager: 
“[A]s of this moment I am sure we should pass on these [buying] groups.”186 

 Patterson – May 19, 2014, Patterson’s McFadden to a Patterson Special Markets 
specialist: “For now – I am electing to not participate with these [buying] groups – we 
have said no to several already.”187 

 Benco – May 20, 2014, Benco’s Cohen microblog to the Benco senior team: “Models 
Benco does NOT currently recognize as a single customer…1. A group of offices 
under management contract to a single entity, but the management group has no 
ownership whatsoever of anything in and of the offices. . . . 2. Any kind of GPO 
whether they provide additional services or not.”188 

 Benco – July 8, 2014, Benco’s Ryan to Director of National Accounts, in response to 
a GPO request: “Be polite but tell them we don’t participate.”189 

 Schein – July 16-17, 2014, Schein’s Titus to Brady and Showgren: “Tim [Sullivan] 
was not in favor of” a buying group agreement.190  “It went to Tim and he shot it 
down.  I think the meta msg is officially, GPO’s are not good for Schein.”191 

 Schein – July 18, 2014, Schein Zone Manager Kevin Upchurch to Cavaretta: “[F]rom 
Tim S, HSD does not want to enter the GPO world.”192 

 Benco – August 7, 2014, Benco’s Director of Sales for the West, Brian Evans to FSC: 
“The Schulman Group is a buying group (of sorts) and we don’t participate in that 
business.”193 

 Benco – August 7, 2014, Benco’s Ryan to Evans: “Buying group.  Don’t put anything 
in front of them.”194 

 Schein – September 8, 2014, Schein’s Sullivan to Muller and his boss, Breslawski: “I 
still believe [buying groups are a] slippery slope . . . and don’t plan to take the lead 
role.”195 

 Schein – October 8, 2014, a Schein regional manager wrote to Titus: “I recently had a 
conversation with Kathleen regarding this group and they are nothing more than a 

186 CCFF ¶ 622 (quoting CX3016 at 001). 
187 CCFF ¶ 623 (quoting CX3004 at 001). 
188 CCFF ¶ 396 (quoting CX1372 at 002). 
189 CCFF ¶ 423 (quoting CX1205 at 001). 
190 CCFF ¶ 795 (quoting CX2219 at 001). 
191 CCFF ¶ 799 (quoting CX2235 at 001). 
192 CCFF ¶ 806 (quoting CX2211 at 002). 
193 CCFF ¶ 424 (quoting CX1206 at 001). 
194 CCFF ¶ 424 (quoting CX 1207 at 001). 
195 CCFF ¶ 809 (quoting CX2469 at 002). 
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GPO.  It is my understanding that this violates our policy as we do not engage with 
GPOs.”196 

 Patterson – October 23, 2014, Patterson’s McFadden wrote to another Patterson 
branch manager: “As a rule we are trying our best to steer clear of all buying 
groups.”197 

 Schein – November 5, 2014, Schein’s Meadows wrote to a regional manager: “We do 
not currently participate with GPOs . . . .”198 

 Schein – December 2014, Schein’s Sullivan to Cavaretta, “The Dec ‘offsite’ last year 
I left with a goal to see if we could get Hal [Muller] to shut [Dental Gator] down 
. . . .”199 

 Patterson – January 14, 2015, Patterson’s McFadden to yet another Patterson’s 
regional manager: “[D]oes he own all these offices—if not then he is a GPO—we 
don’t deal with GPOs.”200 

 Patterson – July 26, 2015, Patterson territory manager Bill Neal to McFadden: “I 
want to make sure that GPO’s are not something we as a company are choosing to 
partner with at this point. I know Dave [Misiak] has been clear about this in the past 
and I wanted to verify that this still is the case.”201 

 Schein – November 3, 2015, Schein’s Meadows to Cavaretta: “[Tim Sullivan] was 
going off about how we do not have any buying group agreements and that we will 
not do them.  Soap boxing about HSD and buying groups.” 202 

While this list is not exhaustive, it more than evidences parallel conduct among 

Respondents issuing directives not to discount to buying groups. Pursuant to these directives, 

Respondents rejected numerous buying groups.203 

196 CCFF ¶ 812 (quoting CX0260 at 002). 
197 CCFF ¶ 650 (quoting CX3128 at 001). 
198 CCFF ¶ 828 (quoting CX2358 at 001). 
199 CCFF ¶ 836 (quoting CX0246 at 001). Dental Gator was a buying group created by one of Schein’s 
largest DSO customers, even though Schein’s contract with the DSO prohibited the latter from forming a 
buying group.  CCFF ¶¶ 1769-1783. 
200 CCFF ¶ 648 (quoting CX3045 at 001). 
201 CCFF ¶ 635 (quoting CX3342 at 001). 
202 CCFF ¶ 850 (quoting CX0176 at 001). 
203 CCFF ¶¶ 404-425, 621-624, 637-652, 925-954.  
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b. Benco’s Attempt to Re-Label its No Buying Group Policy as a 
No “Middleman” Policy is Irrelevant and Futile in Light of the 
Record. 

Benco acknowledges that it followed its “longstanding policy . . . not to deal with buying 

groups” during the conspiracy.204  But Benco now attempts to escape antitrust liability by calling 

it a “no middleman” policy.205  Whether labeled as a “no middleman” policy or a “no buying 

group” policy, all parties agree that Benco instructed its sales team that Benco would not 

discount to buying groups as a matter of policy.   

Benco’s claim that its policy was a “no middleman” policy rather than a “no buying 

group” policy is nothing more than a post-hoc made-for-litigation tactic to confuse the issues. 

Benco does not cite a single document where it referred to the policy as a “no middleman” 

policy.206  Instead, contemporaneous Benco documents are replete with references to its no 

buying group policy: 

 “Our policy at Benco is that we do not recognize, work with, or offer discounts to 
buying groups.”207 

 “Benco does NOT currently recognize . . . [a]ny kind of GPO whether they provide 
additional services or not.”208 

 “[W]e don’t offer discounts to buying groups or similar groups of dentists.”209 

 “We do not participate in buying groups.  Ever.”210 

 “Benco doesn’t recognize GPOs as a single customer.”211 

 “Benco does not participate in group purchasing organizations.”212 

204 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 10. 
205 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 3-4. 
206 See Benco Proposed Finding of Fact (“BFF”) ¶¶ 166-189 (citing one document, RX1143, which makes 
no mention of a no middleman policy). Rather, Benco’s internal documents consistently refer to a no 
buying group policy.  CCFF ¶¶ 396, 399, 404-406, 410, 416, 419. 
207 CCFF ¶ 399 (quoting CX0090 at 001). 
208 CCFF ¶ 396 (quoting CX1372 at 002). 
209 CCFF ¶ 404 (quoting CX1120 at 001). 
210 CCFF ¶ 406 (quoting CX1242 at 001). 
211 CCFF ¶ 410 (quoting CX1219 at 002). 
212 CCFF ¶ 410 (quoting CX1138 at 001). 
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 “Benco does not recognize ‘buying groups’”213 

 “Benco has a firm policy of non recognition of GPOs as a single customer.”214 

Likewise during discovery, Benco witnesses referred to a policy of not working with 

buying groups: “Our no buying group policy has been very consistent since 1996;”215  “We have 

a policy that we don’t do business – we don’t recognize dental buying groups.”216  Similarly, 

during trial, Benco employees referred to a no buying group policy.217  The evidence is clear: 

throughout the conspiracy period, Benco instructed its employees to refuse to discount to buying 

groups.218 

5. Further Circumstantial Evidence Shows the Existence of an 
Agreement. 

While Benco claims that Complaint Counsel failed to introduce “circumstantial 

evidence,”219 Complaint Counsel introduced “plus factor” evidence, in addition to the direct and 

unambiguous evidence discussed previously, that tends to prove Respondents agreed not to 

discount to buying groups.220  Complaint Counsel introduced evidence establishing that 

Respondents acted against their unilateral self-interest and changed their conduct, as discussed 

infra Sections I.B.8 (“Complaint Counsel Established Respondents’ Change in Conduct”) and 

I.D.2 (“The Factual Record Shows That Benco Acted Against Its Self-Interest”).  This evidence 

213 CCFF ¶ 416 (quoting CX1199 at 001). 
214 CCFF ¶ 419 (quoting CX1226 at 001). 
215 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 166 (CX8015 (Cohen, Dep. at 341)). 
216 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 166 (CX8015 (Cohen, Dep. at 243)). 
217 CCFF ¶¶ 395, 484, 662; see also CCRF (Benco) ¶ 166 (Cohen, Tr. 870 (Benco counsel: “Q. . . .And 
that was consistent with your no-buying group policy? A: Yes.”)); CCFF ¶ 399 (citing Ryan, Tr. 1032 
(“And is it right that the no-buying group policy was communicated up and down the company? A. 
Yes.”)); CCRF (Benco) ¶ 166 (Ryan, Tr. 1027 (“Q. Benco has had a policy of not selling to buying 
groups; right? A. Yes.”)).  Ryan did not mention a “no middleman” policy during his entire trial 
examination.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 166. 
218 CCFF ¶¶ 395-425. 
219 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 8-23. 
220 Even if the Court were to find that the evidence discussed in Section I.A (“Direct and Unambiguous 
Evidence Establishes Respondents’ Unlawful Agreement”) above falls short of direct and unambiguous 
evidence, it is at a minimum circumstantial evidence that, together with the totality of the evidence, shows 
by a preponderance the existence of an agreement. 
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constitutes circumstantial evidence supporting the otherwise unambiguous evidence of concerted 

action.221 

In addition, it is well documented that each of Respondents feared the rise of buying 

groups out of concern that buying groups would lead to a price war and drive down margins 

across the entire industry.222  This fear led Benco to communicate with Schein, Patterson, and 

Burkhart about not working with buying groups.223  Benco believed that working alone, it would 

be impossible to prevent the rise of the buying group threat, but together, Respondents could 

keep the tide of buying groups at bay.224  This motive to conspire is another “plus factor” 

supporting the inference of an agreement.225 

Evidence of Respondents’ opportunity to collude is also probative of the finding of 

collusive behavior.226  Here, the evidence shows that Respondents regularly communicated with 

one another in private telephone calls and text messages,227 and attended industry events together 

multiple times per year.228 

221 In re Pool Prods. Distribution Mkt. Antitrust Litig., 988 F. Supp. 2d 696, 711 (E.D. La. 2013) 
(discussing “plus factors,” including actions against self-interest). 
222 CCFF ¶¶ 196-216; see also Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 12-14. 
223 E.g., CCFF ¶¶ 483-484, 661-663, 958-968, 997, 1007-1017, 1208-1214, 1221-1223, 1225-1228.  
224 See, e.g., CCFF ¶¶ 198-199 (citing CX1149 at 002); CCFF ¶ 261 (citing CX0016 at 002).  
225 See, e.g., United States v. Apple Inc., 952 F. Supp. 2d 638, 690 (S.D.N.Y. 2013), aff’d, 791 F.3d 290 
(2d Cir. 2015) (identifying common motive as plus factor evidence); Toys “R” Us, Inc. v. FTC, 221 F.3d 
928, 931-32, 935-36 (7th Cir. 2000) (affirming Commission’s findings of horizontal agreement where 
evidence of manufacturers’ common motive to join boycott of warehouse clubs was fear that “rivals who 
broke ranks and sold to the clubs might gain sales as their expense, given the widespread and increasing 
popularity of the club format”). 
226 See, e.g., C-O-Two Fire Equip. Co. v. United States, 197 F.2d 489, 493 (9th Cir. 1952) (finding 
evidence of defendants’ membership in same association and resulting opportunity for meeting, without
evidence of what occurred at meeting, contributed to evaluation of plus factors leading to conclusion of 
conspiracy). 
227 CCFF ¶¶ 327-354. 
228 CCFF ¶¶ 355-393; see also Attachment B to Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief.  
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6. The Evidence Shows that Benco and Schein Entered into the 
Agreement in 2011, and Patterson Joined in 2013.  

Benco argues that Complaint Counsel has not met its burden of establishing an agreement 

because it offered no evidence of precisely when the conspiracy formed.229  Benco does not cite 

a single case supporting the proposition that Complaint Counsel is required to present evidence 

of the precise start of the conspiracy,230 and there is no such requirement under the law.231 

Nevertheless, Complaint Counsel has established that Benco and Schein entered into an 

agreement in 2011, and Patterson joined in 2013.232 

The weight of the evidence shows that Benco’s agreement with Schein began in 2011.  

While Benco “had no doubt” that Schein was working with buying groups as of September 2011 

based on market intelligence,233 after that point, Benco gained the understanding that Schein had 

a policy against doing business with buying groups.234  Thus, despite market rumors that Schein 

was working with buying groups, Benco understood in 2012, 2013, 2014, and 2015 that Schein 

(like Benco) did not do business with these customers.235 As Benco’s Chuck Cohen testified, 

during this time frame, he “understood that Schein, Patterson and Benco all had a similar policy 

with respect to buying groups.”236 

Consistent with Cohen’s knowledge, 2011 was the year that Schein, at the direction of 

Tim Sullivan, changed its buying group strategy.  While Schein had discounted to buying groups 

229 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 14-16.  Benco also claims that Complaint Counsel “changed tracks” during the 
trial because Complaint Counsel showed that the conspiracy between Benco and Schein began in 2011 
whereas the Complaint alleged that the conspiracy began between Benco and Schein no later than July
2012.  (Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 14-15).  Complaint Counsel’s allegation in the Complaint and proof at trial 
are entirely consistent with each other: the evidence showed the agreement began in 2011 which is, by
definition, “no later than July 2012.” 
230 See Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 14-16 (arguing that Complaint Counsel could not establish the start of the 
alleged agreement but citing no cases requiring such evidence). 
231 United States v. Consol. Packaging Corp., 575 F.2d 117, 126 (7th Cir. 1978) (evidence sufficient to 
find a conspiracy where no evidence in the record of the “specific agreement, its embryo or history of its 
development,” noting “[t]he form or manner of making the agreement are not crucial.”).   
232 CCFF ¶¶ 483, 495, 661-684, 687-732, 958-968.  Benco does not appear to dispute the date on which 
Patterson joined the conspiracy.  See Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 14-16. 
233 CCFF ¶ 673; see also CCFF ¶¶ 665-672. 
234 CCFF ¶¶ 665-684. 
235 CCFF ¶¶ 665-684, 527, 1191, 1193. 
236 CCFF ¶ 677 (quoting Cohen, Tr. 590). 
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historically and profited from such arrangements,237 by late 2011, Sullivan informed his 

employees that he did “NOT want to lead in getting” the buying group initiative started in 

dental238 and did not “want to be the first company to open the floodgates to the dangerous 

world” of buying groups.239 

Further, it is undisputed that Benco’s Cohen and Schein’s Sullivan communicated on 

multiple occasions throughout 2011.  Between March and December 2011 alone—the period 

during which Sullivan’s buying group strategy shifted—Cohen and Sullivan called each other at 

least 13 times.240  The total duration of those calls was 50 minutes and 14 seconds.241  Cohen and 

Sullivan texted each other 89 times in 2011 (for 23 of which Respondents failed to produce the 

content).242  Cohen and Sullivan also attended at least six industry and private events together in 

2011, including a “Confidential Breakfast.”243  Benco tries to hide from these facts by arguing 

that Cohen and Sullivan communicated about a no-poach agreement.244  But even if the two 

executives did discuss the no-poach agreement, that does nothing to prove that these discussions 

237 CCFF ¶¶ 432-453, 687-696. 
238 CCFF ¶ 709 (quoting CX2456 at 001). 
239 CCFF ¶¶ 712-714; see also CCFF ¶¶ 715-716. 
240 CCFF ¶ 347.  Cohen and Sullivan called each other 23 times and spoke for one hour and 10 minutes in 
2011.  CCFF ¶ 348.  Benco argues that there were legitimate reasons for Benco and Schein to 
communicate in 2011, stating that “in late October, 2011, Benco recruited four or five Schein employees  
. . . and resulted in Benco and Schein renegotiating the terms” of a no-poach agreement between the two 
companies.  (Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 15-16).  There is no basis to believe that Cohen and Sullivan could not 
have discussed both a no-poach agreement and a no buying group agreement during these numerous 
conversations in 2011. 
241 CCFF ¶ 347. 
242 CCFF ¶ 350. 
243 The evidence shows Cohen and Sullivan attended: (1) the Chicago Dental Society Midwinter Meeting 
held February 24-26, 2011 (CCFF ¶ 358); (2) the American Dental Association Annual Session held 
October 10-13, 2011 (CCFF ¶ 380); (3) the Dental Trade Alliance Foundation Board Meeting held on 
October 10, 2011 (CCFF ¶ 379); (4) the “GC” party held on October 11, 2011 (CCFF ¶ 381); (5) the 
Dental Trade Alliance meeting held on November 1-3, 2011 (CCFF ¶ 363); and (6) a “Confidential 
Breakfast” between Schein and Benco executives on November 29, 2011 (CCFF ¶ 383). 
244 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 16.  Benco refers to this no-poach agreement as a “Competitive Hiring 
Agreement.”  While Benco now calls this hiring agreement “competitive,” the facts show that the 
agreement limited the number of employees that could move between the two companies and increased 
the non-compete periods for some employees.  CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 549, 551.  Such an agreement raises its 
own anticompetitive concerns. See, e.g., Deslandes v. McDonald’s USA, No. 17 C 4857, 2018 WL 
3105955, at *6 (N.D. Ill. June 25, 2018) (finding that a naked horizontal agreement not to hire
competitors’ employees is a per se violation of the antitrust laws).   
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did not also relate to buying groups, particularly in light of Cohen’s repeated testimony that he 

discussed a no buying group policy with Sullivan.245 

Further placing the start of the conspiracy in 2011, it is established that by January 2012, 

Benco began enforcing the agreement by confronting Schein with market intelligence that Schein 

was discounting to buying groups.246  Benco argues that there was no such enforcement in 

January 2012.247  It is undisputed, however, that in January 2012, Benco’s Ryan forwarded to 

Cohen field intelligence about Schein working with a buying group Unified Smiles, specifically 

“for Timmy conversation,” referring to Tim Sullivan of Schein.248  Cohen responded, “Talking 

this AM,” and then spoke to Sullivan for 11 minutes and 34 seconds.249  Notably, Cohen did not 

inform Ryan that he would not talk to Sullivan about the buying group, or otherwise express any 

confusion regarding the meaning of Ryan’s email.250  Instead, after Cohen received Ryan’s 

email, he texted Sullivan asking for a conversation, and then in fact had a conversation with 

Sullivan, just as Ryan had suggested.251  Cohen also admitted that just before his call with 

Sullivan, he “had buying groups on his mind” and sent an email to his team reinforcing Benco’s 

no buying group policy. 252  These undisputed facts show that Cohen and Sullivan discussed 

Unified Smiles on the January 2012 call.253 

While Benco argues that the January 2012 call was not about buying groups, but about 

the companies’ no-poach agreement,254 no evidence supports this suggestion.  As established at 

245 CCFF ¶¶ 662-664. 
246 CCFF ¶¶ 955-972.  Notably, this market intelligence was inaccurate as Schein had turned down 
Unified Smiles in December 2011 pursuant to the agreement.  CCFF ¶ 719. 
247 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 16. 
248 CCFF ¶¶ 955-963. 
249 CCFF ¶¶ 967-968. 
250 CCFF ¶ 962. 
251 CCFF ¶¶ 958-969. 
252 CCFF ¶¶ 971-972. 
253 CCFF ¶¶ 955-972. 
254 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 16. 
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trial, neither Cohen255  nor Sullivan256  has any independent recollection of what was discussed 

on that January 13, 2012 call.  In the absence of witness memories of the substance of the call, 

the contemporaneous documents about this call are the only evidence in the record of what 

transpired—and those documents show that Cohen had scheduled the call with Sullivan 

specifically to discuss Schein doing business with a buying group.257  Benco has no answer for 

these contemporaneous records, so it asks the Court to disregard this unambiguous evidence in 

favor of pure speculation.258  Indeed, these documents defeat Benco’s unsuccessful attempt to 

rely on McWane: where the contemporaneous documents explicitly reference a call with Sullivan 

to discuss a buying group and neither participant recalls the conversation, it is inappropriate 

speculation to assume that competitors did not discuss buying groups.259  Further, even if the 

255 Cohen testified that he did not “recall the contents” of the January 13, 2012 call (CCFF ¶ 970 (Cohen, 
Tr. 973); and he did not “have an independent recollection of” the January 13, 2012 call (CCFF ¶ 970).
See also CCRF (Benco) ¶ 564. This trial testimony is corroborated by deposition testimony, where Cohen 
testified, “I don’t know what we talked about or didn’t talk about.”  CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 564, 587 (quoting 
CX8015 (Cohen, Dep. at 211)). And he testified, “I do not recall what I spoke with Mr. Sullivan about.” 
CCRF (Benco) ¶ 564 (quoting CX8015 (Cohen, Dep. at 224)).  Benco cites to testimony from Cohen that 
he “can say with confidence” that he and Sullivan were discussing employee issues.  BFF ¶ 588.  Benco 
ignores that Cohen testified that he simply “assumed” the call was about an employment issue (CCRF 
(Benco) ¶ 588 (Cohen, Tr. 973)) and repeatedly testified that he did not recall the contents of the call 
(CCFF ¶ 970; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 564).  
256 Sullivan also testified that he did not recall the contents of the January 13, 2012 call.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 
564.  Indeed, Schein and Benco both acknowledge that Sullivan does not remember the call in their Post-
Trial papers.  BFF ¶ 592; Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 66.  Benco argues that Sullivan testified that he was 
certain that Unified Smiles was not discussed on the call.  Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 16.  This testimony is 
contradicted by Sullivan’s own trial testimony that he does not recall what he discussed with Cohen.  
(Sullivan, Tr. 4218 (“Q. Do you recall what you talked about? A. I don’t. . . .”)).  Sullivan also admits that 
he “assumed” that it related to merger or employment issues.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 592; Sullivan, Tr. 4218-
4220.  Notably, Sullivan’s testimony is contrary to prior testimony in which he testified that he heard of 
Unified Smiles through a message from Cohen.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 592 (CX8025 (Sullivan, Dep. at 393 
(“Have you ever heard of a group called Unified Smiles? A. Only through a message I got from Chuck”); 
see also Sullivan, Tr. 4346).  Sullivan later recanted his testimony.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 592.  See also 
Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § III.A.1. 
257 CCFF ¶¶ 955-968. 
258 Benco argues the call must have been about the company’s no-poach agreement simply because Cohen 
called his employment attorney before and after speaking with Sullivan.  But Cohen does not remember 
the calls with his attorneys.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 588 (Cohen, Tr. 974; CX8015 (Cohen, Dep. at 227-228)).
There is no evidence that Cohen scheduled the call with Sullivan in response to anything related to the no-
poach agreement, nor did he schedule the call after speaking with his employment attorney. CCRF 
(Benco) ¶¶ 588-589. 
259 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 16 (citing In re McWane).  Here, unlike in McWane, there is evidence showing 
that Cohen scheduled a call with Sullivan specifically to discuss a buying group.  In re McWane, Inc., 
Docket No. 9351, 2013 WL 8364918, at *265 (FTC May 1, 2013) (Initial Decision) (“[T]here is no 
evidence showing what Mr. Tatman and Mr. Rybacki discussed. . . .”).  

39 



 

 

 
 

 

PUBLIC 

Court were to credit Benco’s speculation that the executives discussed a no-poach agreement 

during the call, this does not establish that they did not also discuss buying groups.  A no-poach 

agreement neither erases nor explains the contemporaneous records indicating that Benco 

planned to confront Schein regarding buying groups.260  And absent a prior agreement, Ryan’s 

email and Cohen’s plan to confront Schein make no sense. 

7. Complaint Counsel Established that Benco Began Working With a 
Buying Group After the Agreement Began to Fall Apart.   

Benco also argues that Complaint Counsel has not proven its case because it did not 

establish the end of the conspiracy.261  But the lack of evidence that an agreement ended is 

certainly not evidence of the lack of an agreement.  As far as the record shows, there was no 

formal cessation of the agreement—Respondents themselves never affirmatively nullified the 

agreement.  That is, in part, the reason Complaint Counsel is seeking an injunction in this case.262 

Instead, Complaint Counsel established that Benco, just like Schein and ultimately 

Patterson, started discounting to a buying group in late 2015 or early 2016.263  Benco’s decision 

to discount to the buying group (Elite Dental Alliance or “EDA”) was made after Benco settled 

the Texas Attorney General’s antitrust investigation into Benco’s response to the TDA buying 

group, and was thereafter required to log all of its communications with Schein and Patterson. 264 

That logging requirement made the conspiracy difficult to maintain.265 

260 Whether or not Sullivan and Cohen actually spoke regarding a buying group on the January 13, 2012 
call, the contemporaneous evidence undeniably shows that Benco was planning to confront Schein about 
discounting to a buying group.  Benco offered no explanation as to why Ryan sent Cohen information 
about Schein discounting to a buying group for the stated purpose of a conversation with Sullivan.  CCFF 
¶ 963; see also CCRF (Benco) ¶ 565 (CX8037 (Ryan Dep, at 100 (“Q. Sitting here today, can you think 
of any reason why you said: “For Timmy conversation?” A. No.”)).  Absent a prior agreement, Ryan’s 
email and Cohen’s response of assent, are simply illogical.   
261 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 17-19. 
262 See Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Patterson Post-Tr. Br. § IV (“Basis for Injunctive Relief”) for 
further discussion of the need for an injunction and other remedies. 
263 CCFF ¶¶ 1367-1369, 1406; BFF ¶ 251. 
264 CCFF ¶¶ 1159-1161. 
265 See CCFF ¶¶ 1159-1164. 
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Benco does not dispute that it began discounting to EDA in late 2015 or early 2016. 

Instead, Benco argues that EDA is more like a DSO266 than a buying group,267 but this statement 

lacks factual support.  Indeed, Benco’s own findings state that EDA is closer to a GPO.268  And 

Benco’s assertion that EDA is not a buying group is contradicted by contemporaneous 

documents, as well as the testimony of its own witnesses: 

 Cohen admitted at trial that Benco changed its no buying group policy to 
accommodate EDA.269 

 Cohen identified EDA as an example of a buying group in the dental industry in prior 
testimony.270 

 Ryan also identified EDA as an example of an exception to Benco’s no buying group 
policy in prior testimony.271 

 Benco’s December 2015 Case Study refers to EDA as a “GPO founded by Cain 
Watters.”272  That document specified that the terms GPO and buying group were 
interchangeable.273 

Likewise, Benco’s post-trial brief admits that EDA is a buying group.274  Patterson also 

acknowledges that Benco is working with a buying group (EDA) today.275 

266 DSOs are large group practices that have multiple locations combined under a single ownership 
structure or management organization.  CCFF ¶ 60. 
267 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 18. 
268 BFF ¶ 261; see also Respondents’ Joint Proposed Conclusion of Law ¶ 162 (“And since 2015, it has 
offered discounts to a buying group on only one occasion – the Elite Dental Alliance.”).  The terms GPO 
and buying group are used interchangeably.  CCFF ¶¶ 70-71; see also CCRF (Benco) ¶ 261.  
269 CCFF ¶ 1370 (citing Cohen, Tr. 451).  
270 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 261 (citing Cohen, Tr. 448; CX0301 (Cohen, IHT at 107) (“Q. As you sit here today,
can you name any buying groups in the dental industry? A. Elite Dental Alliance . . . .”)).  
271 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 261 (citing CX0304 (Ryan, IHT at 117-118 (“Q. Is the no-GPO policy still in effect 
today? A. Yes, with two exceptions. Q. And what are the two exceptions? A. The Elite Dental Alliance     
. . .”); CX0304 (Ryan, IHT at 256 (“Is EDA a group purchasing organization? A. I would consider it 
one.”)). 
272 CCFF ¶ 1372; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 261 (CX1084 at 001 (“Elite Dental Alliance (EDA): A GPO founded 
by Cain Watters . . . .”)).  
273 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 261 (citing CX1084 at 001; Cohen, Tr. 458). 
274 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 11 n.4 (only exception to Benco’s no buying group policy was EDA). 
275 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 32. 
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In any event, Benco’s attempt to distinguish EDA from other buying groups is irrelevant 

and superficial.  EDA is significant because (1) throughout the conspiracy period, Benco rejected 

all buying groups as a matter of policy, regardless of whether any buying group had “unique” 

characteristics;276 then (2) in late 2015, for the first time, Benco evaluated the individual 

characteristics of the EDA buying group, and entered into a discounting arrangement.277  Further, 

Benco’s contemporaneous analysis refers to EDA as a GPO and does not identify EDA as being 

closer to a DSO or having “unique” characteristics as Benco’s Post-Trial Brief now claims.278 

Benco also admits that EDA does not own the practices,279 meaning it fits squarely within 

Benco’s definition of a buying group.280  In fact, EDA had the precise characteristic that Benco 

now claims was the reason it stayed away from buying groups—the buying group customers 

were not required contractually to purchase from Benco;281 and discounting to this buying group 

risked cannibalization (i.e., selling to the same customers at lower margins) and that customers 

would sign up for EDA but then simply use the arrangement to negotiate a similar deal with their 

incumbent supplier and then stay with the incumbent.282 

8. Complaint Counsel Established Respondents’ Change in Conduct. 

Benco next argues that Complaint Counsel improperly used its economic expert, Dr. 

Marshall’s “structural breaks” (or change in conduct) analysis to prove its case.283  Contrary to 

Benco’s claim, however, Complaint Counsel has established a change in conduct based on the 

276 CCFF ¶¶ 395-396, 404; see also CCRF ¶¶ 246, 262 (citing Ryan, Tr. 1028-1029). 
277 CCFF ¶¶ 1367-1384. 
278 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 246 (CX1084 at 001, 003, 005-006 (EDA Case Study referring to EDA as a GPO and 
similar to Kois)).   
279 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 18; BFF ¶ 245 (acknowledging EDA has no common ownership). 
280 CCFF ¶ 404 (citing CX1372 at 002 (“Benco does NOT currently recognize as a single customer . . . 
Any kind of GPO whether they provide additional services or not.”); CCFF ¶ 413 (citing CX1198 at 001 
(“to recognize a group as a single customer, they must meet one of the following ownership definitions.”). 
281 CCFF ¶ 1381. 
282 CCFF ¶ 1382 (quoting CX1084 (Cohen recognizing the risk that “Customers sign up for EDA, and 
then go back to their incumbent supplier and negotiate a similar deal, and stay with the incumbent.”)).   
283 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 19-21.  

42 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

PUBLIC 

facts in the record, not based on Dr. Marshall’s expert opinion.284  While evidence of changed 

conduct is not required here because the evidence goes beyond mere parallel conduct,285 the 

changes are an additional “plus factor” in favor of an agreement.286 

In fact, Benco made the most drastic change of all—after years of strictly enforcing its no 

buying group policy, in late 2015 it began discounting to the buying group EDA out of fear that 

the buying group would sign up with Patterson and Schein.287 

The evidence shows that Patterson, too, changed its conduct pursuant to the conspiracy. 

Within just three days of joining the conspiracy in February 2013, Patterson did an about-face 

and reneged on its discount arrangement with the NMDC buying group.288  Similarly, while 

Patterson “steer[ed] clear of all buying groups” “[a]s a rule,”289 and did not pursue a single 

buying group during the conspiracy, its conduct changed in late 2015.  Patterson admits in its 

Proposed Findings of Fact that it “hired a business development director . . . in late 2015 with the 

instruction to explore working with buying groups.”290  Further, Patterson hired a consulting firm 

284 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 64-66.  Further, Benco misrepresents the purpose of Dr. 
Marshall’s expert opinions related to structural breaks.  Dr. Marshall looked at observed structural breaks 
for purposes of determining whether the time period for the alleged conspiracy was reasonable.  CCRF 
(Benco) ¶¶ 1243-1248, 1251-1253 (Marshall, Tr. 2889-2890 (looking at structural breaks to determine 
reasonableness of the start and end of conspiracy)).  In addition, Dr. Marshall examined structural break 
evidence as one indicator supporting collusive behavior rather than oligopolistic interdependence.  CCFF 
¶ 1625 (citing CX7100 at 190 (¶ 427) (Marshall Expert Report); CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1243-1248). 
285 Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 556 n.4 (2007); United States v. N.D. Hosp. Ass’n, 640 F. 
Supp. 1028, 1036-37 (D.N.D. 1986) (Even though the defendants did not change their preexisting policies 
after entering into the agreement, the court nonetheless found the existence of an agreement and a 
meeting of the minds.); United States v. Champion Int’l Corp., 557 F.2d 1270, 1272-73 (9th Cir. 1977) 
(“[D]espite the innocent beginnings of the noncompetitive bidding, the trial court found collusion in its 
continuation.”).  Cf. In re Graphics Processing Units Antitrust Litig., 540 F. Supp. 2d 1085, 1092-95 
(N.D. Cal. 2007) (finding that when allegations of parallel conduct are the basis of a Section 1 claim, 
plaintiff must allege facts to suggest preceding agreement, such as unprecedented change in behavior). 
286 B&R Supermarket, Inc. v. Visa, Inc., No. C 16-01150 WHA, 2016 WL 5725010, at *7 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 
30, 2016) (Defendants’ coordinated, rather than staggered, roll-out of term regarding chargebacks was 
deemed a “deviation from prior rollouts [which] points a finger of plausible suspicion, and tends to show 
that the lock-step rollout in the United States flowed from conspiracy, not parallel conduct.”); In re 
Domestic Drywall Antitrust Litig., 163 F. Supp. 3d 175, 255-56 (E.D. Pa. 2016) (finding defendants’ 
decision to eliminate job quotes, a feature in the drywall industry for decades, was shift in behavior 
sufficient to qualify as “traditional conspiracy evidence” pointing towards an agreement). 
287 CCFF ¶¶ 1379-1380; see also 1366-1378, 1381-1384, 1406. 
288 CCFF ¶ 503-506. 
289 CCFF ¶ 650 (quoting CX3128 at 001). 
290 Patterson Proposed Finding of Fact (“PFF”) ¶ 760; see also CCFF ¶¶ 1343-1345. 
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to do a “deep dive” into the buying group market segment at around the same time frame.291 

Moreover, Patterson admits that it entered into contracts with two buying groups in May 2018.292 

In addition, Patterson bid for the business of Smile Source in 2017, which it refused to do during 

the conspiracy.293  Smile Source’s business model was the exact same during the conspiracy 

when Patterson refused it, and after the conspiracy when Patterson changed course.294 

Finally, Schein worked with several buying groups prior to the conspiracy, but that 

practice ended during the conspiracy due to Sullivan’s instruction to his employees.  In late 2011 

and early 2012, Sullivan instructed his employees that he did not want to “lead” in getting 

buying groups started, did not want to be the first company to “open the floodgates” to buying 

groups, and wanted to “KILL” the buying group model.295  Following these statements, 

Sullivan’s employees understood that Schein did not work with buying groups.296  Employees at 

all levels of the sales chain repeatedly stated in contemporaneous documents that Schein did not 

work with buying groups during the conspiracy period.297  Following the end of the conspiracy, 

Schein began working with buying groups again, including resuming work with the valuable 

Smile Source account.298 

291 CCFF ¶¶ 1327-1342. 
292 PFF ¶ 761; see also CCFF ¶ 1364. 
293 CCFF ¶¶ 1347-1350. 
294 CCFF ¶¶ 1347-1351, 1353-1357, 1717-1721. 
295 CCFF ¶ 709 (quoting CX2456 at 001); CCFF ¶ 713 (quoting CX2458 at 001); CCFF ¶ 729 (quoting 
CX0199 at 001 (emphasis in original)).  
296 CCFF ¶¶ 709-716, 734, 743-860; see also Attachment C to Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief.  
297 CCFF ¶¶ 743-860; see also Attachment C to Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief.  Benco alleges that 

 and submitted a bid to Smile Source during the conspiracy.  
Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 20.  As discussed in more detail in the Schein portion of this brief, supra Complaint 
Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § III.B.1, imperfect compliance does not negate the existence of a 
conspiracy ( , 515 F.3d at 739 (“[E]vidence of cheating certainly does not, by itself, prevent the 
government from proving a conspiracy.”), and in any event, Sullivan instructed his team against a 

Beaver

relationship with  (CCFF ¶¶ 712-714). See also Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-
Tr. Br. § II.B.2.d.  
298 CCFF ¶¶ 1317-1320, 1681, 1710-1712, 1722-1725. 
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9. Benco Misconstrues Dr. Marshall’s Opinions Regarding Market 
Structure. 

Benco next claims that the court should not infer collusion based on Dr. Marshall’s 

opinions regarding market structure.299  Benco misconstrues the purpose of Dr. Marshall’s 

opinions on market structure.  Complaint Counsel is not relying on market structure to establish 

the conspiracy. 300  Benco also misconstrues the substance of Dr. Marshall’s opinion.  Dr. 

Marshall did not opine that a conspiracy can be inferred from industry characteristics alone.  

Rather, he opined that the industry was “conducive to effective collusion.”301  Dr. Marshall’s 

opinions are consistent with that of Patterson’s expert, Dr. Wu, who described the industry 

structure in this case as having “the potential for strategic interaction.”302  Moreover, Dr. 

Marshall’s opinion is well supported.303 

299 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 21-23. 
300 While courts sometimes look to evidence of a market concentration as one of many relevant pieces of 
evidence to finding a conspiracy (Gainesville Utils. Dep’t v. Fla. Power & Light Co., 573 F.2d 292, 303 
(5th Cir. 1978) (“Economists recognize that when a market is concentrated it is easier to coordinate 
collusive behavior.”); HM Compounding Servs., Inc. v. Express Scripts, Inc., No. 4:14–CV–1858 JAR, 
2015 WL 4162762, at *5 (E.D. Mo. July 9, 2015) (the highly concentrated nature of the PBM industry
supports an inference of conspiracy); Todd v. Exxon Corp., 275 F.3d 191, 208 (2d Cir. 2001) (“Generally
speaking, the possibility of anticompetitive collusive practices is most realistic in concentrated 
industries.”)), this evidence is certainly not the basis for this case. 
301 CCFF ¶ 1601 (citing CX7100 at 011 (¶ 12) (Marshall Expert Report)).   
302 CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 787-788, 820-821 (citing RX2833 at 017 (¶ 27) (Wu Expert Report)).  Benco also 
claims that the same set of characteristics that Dr. Marshall cites as conducive to collusion would 
undermine the ability of a cartel to form at all, relying on testimony from Dr. Johnson.  CCRF ¶ 791.  Dr. 
Johnson did not opine about the characteristics conducive to collusion, however, and his testimony at trial 
about the characteristics undermining the ability of the cartel to form are beyond the scope of Dr. 
Johnson’s expert report in this matter.  CCRF ¶ 791. 
303 Dr. Marshall identified the following factors as relevant to his conclusion that the market structure was 
conducive to collusion: (1) high market concentration, (2) the low price elasticity of independent dentists’ 
demand, (3) barriers to entry in full-service distribution, (4) low bargaining power of individual 
independent dentist buyers, and (5) manufacturers’ low bargaining power.  CCFF ¶¶ 1601-1623.  Further 
bolstering Marshall’s opinions, Respondents’ own executives admit to their high market share.  CCFF ¶¶ 
1450, 1455-1458.  Complaint Counsel has responded in more detail to Benco’s unfounded criticisms of 
Dr. Marshall’s analysis in CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 787-821. 
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C. Inter-firm Communications Establish That Benco Exchanged Assurances 
With Both Schein and Patterson That Respondents Would Not Discount to 
Buying Groups. 

Benco argues that “[t]he limited communications concerning buying groups are 

insufficient to find an agreement among Respondents.”304  Yet, Benco’s arguments further help 

to prove Complaint Counsel’s case.      

1. February 2013 Email Exchange Between Cohen and Guggenheim 
Constitutes an Exchange of Assurances. 

In an attempt to explain away Cohen and Guggenheim’s February 2013 exchange, Benco 

argues that when one of its regional managers discovered that Patterson had entered into a 

discounting arrangement with the NMDC buying group, he sent the information to Benco’s 

Chuck Cohen “for help on what to do to compete” against this new market development.305  But 

instead of telling his team how to compete, Cohen assured his team that he would contact his 

“counterpart at Patterson to let him know what’s going on in NM.”306  This is precisely the type 

of conduct the antitrust laws were enacted to squelch—competitors communicating directly 

through private means in order to avoid competition in the marketplace.  It is undisputed that 

Cohen then contacted Guggenheim letting him know about the “noise” he picked up in New 

Mexico, and assured Guggenheim that Benco abided by a no buying group policy.307  And it is 

further undisputed that Guggenheim responded that he would investigate the New Mexico 

situation and that Patterson “feel[s] the same way” about a no buying group policy.308  As a 

result, neither Benco nor Patterson worked with NMDC.309  As discussed supra Section I.A.1, 

this is direct evidence of an exchange of assurances between competitors that they will not 

compete. 

304 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 23. 
305 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 24. 
306 CCFF ¶ 479 (quoting CX0055 at 001); see also CCFF ¶ 478. 
307 CCFF ¶¶ 483-484. 
308 CCFF ¶¶ 495-496. 
309 CCFF ¶¶ 414, 503-506. 
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Benco argues that this evidence is not indicative of agreement because Benco’s no 

buying group policy was “widely known” and not confidential.310 Guggenheim, however, 

testified that he was not previously aware that Benco had a policy against discounting to buying 

groups; and Guggenheim did not believe this was public information.311  And if Benco’s policy 

was actually a matter of public knowledge, it would have been unnecessary to communicate this 

policy to Guggenheim. 

More importantly, Benco errs in suggesting that an exchange of publicly known 

information cannot evidence a meeting of the minds.  In United States v. FMC Corp., the court 

found a horizontal agreement to refuse to recognize a certain city as a basing point, even though 

the information exchanged by the competitors “was a matter of public knowledge.”312  The court 

rejected the defendant’s argument that it informed competitors of its refusal to recognize the city, 

“not to exchange assurances of joint conduct,” but simply to share information.313  The court 

reasoned that the public nature of the information was indicative of an agreement because “it 

should have been unnecessary to communicate an obvious fact.”314  The court found that the 

competitor communications showed that “[w]hat was important was for [defendant] to receive 

assurances that [its] competitors would not recognize Linden, and for each of them to recognize 

that others likewise would not recognize Linden.”315  Just as in FMC, what Benco sought was an 

assurance from Patterson that they would similarly follow a no buying group policy.  Indeed, but 

for this purpose, it would have been against Benco’s unilateral self-interest to share its policy, 

which dictated its future bidding behavior, with its top competitor. 

310 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 25. 
311 CCFF ¶¶ 489-490. 
312 306 F. Supp. 1106, 1150 (E.D. Penn. 1969). 
313 FMC, 306 F. Supp. at 1131, 1150. 
314 FMC, 306 F. Supp. at 1150. 
315 FMC, 306 F. Supp. at 1150; see also United States v. Champion Int’l Corp., 557 F.2d 1270, 1273 (9th 
Cir. 1977) (affirming a bid-rigging conspiracy even though the information exchanged “could have been 
predicted by anyone,” yet “the defendants did not leave the exchange of this information to chance”). 
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Next, Benco argues that the competitor communications are not probative of conspiracy 

because Benco did not ask Patterson to do anything, but simply announced its own policy.316 

Courts have routinely rejected this defense.317  For example, in Esco Corp. v. United States, the 

Ninth Circuit refused to overturn a price fixing conviction based on appellant’s argument that the 

competitor “called the meeting ‘not to ask for agreement, but simply to announce’ its own 

pricing plans.”318  The court noted, “Were we triers of fact, we might well ask if this were so, 

what purpose was to be served by a meeting of competitors.”319  Tellingly, here, Benco cannot 

explain why it informed its top competitor of a policy against competing by discounting to 

buying groups:320 

Q.  So just to be clear, is it your testimony that you cannot think of 
any business reasons for you to tell Mr. Guggenheim Benco’s no-
GPO policy, as you sit here today? 

A.  Yes.321 

Benco suggests that the Court can ignore Benco and Patterson’s emails surrounding the 

NMDC buying group absent evidence that the exchange had any impact on Patterson’s 

conduct.322  But this argument fails, because just three days after this exchange, Patterson ended 

its close-to-final discounting arrangement with NMDC.323  Moreover, following this exchange of 

316 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 25. 
317 United States v. Foley, 598 F.2d 1323, 1332 (4th Cir. 1979) (affirming a price-fixing conviction based 
on competitor communications about a commission rate increase, even though the defendant explicitly
said to his competitors “that he did not care what others did.”); FMC, 306 F. Supp. at 1150 (rejecting 
defendant’s argument that sales manager’s “purpose in meeting with each of his competitors was not to 
exchange assurances of joint conduct, but was done only for the purpose of informing them” of publicly
available information). 
318 340 F.2d 1000, 1006 (9th Cir. 1965). 
319 Esco, 340 F.2d at 1006. 
320 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 25 (“Mr. Cohen did not recall why he included an FYI about Benco’s policy in 
his email . . . .”). 
321 CCFF ¶ 488; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 419 (citing CX0301 (Cohen, IHT at 243)). 
322 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 25. 
323 CCFF ¶¶ 503-505.  When Cohen alerted Guggenheim to Patterson’s discounting arrangement with 
NMDC, Guggenheim informed Cohen that he would “investigate the situation.”  CCFF ¶ 495.  In other 
instances where Cohen asked Guggenheim to investigate a matter of mutual interest, Guggenheim
complied.  CCFF ¶¶ 298, 307. 
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assurances, Patterson began to implement a no buying group policy, whereby it instructed its 

employees not to discount to buying groups.324 

Next, Benco argues that the February 2013 exchanges are simply evidence of competitors 

monitoring one another, which “is common and to be expected in competitive markets.”325  But 

the evidence in this case does not reflect mere “monitoring.”  The February 2013 exchange is not 

an internal company document tracking a competitor’s behavior; rather, it is a direct 

communication between the top executives assuring each other of a no buying group policy.  

And as explained earlier, Guggenheim subsequently confronted Cohen about deviating from a no 

buying group policy.  The facts in the cases Benco cites in support of its argument are easily 

differentiated from this case.  There was no evidence that the competitors communicated at all 

about the topic of the alleged conspiracy in In re Text Messaging Antitrust Litigation,326 and 

there was no evidence of an exchange of assurances or confrontations of cheating by high-level 

executives in In re Baby Food Antitrust Litigation.327  Indeed, in contrast to the exchange of 

policies by the Presidents and CEO of rivals in this case, Baby Food involved only “chit-chat 

during chance encounters in the field” by local sales people without pricing authority.328  Courts 

have held that it is a “far different situation where upper level executives have secret 

conversations about price.”329 

Finally, Benco claims that the antitrust laws permit competing firms to exchange 

information of common interest.330  But each of the cases that Benco cites are limited to 

competitor communications that served a procompetitive end—something wholly absent in this 

324 CCFF ¶¶ 534-563, 611, 621-652.  Benco also cites evidence that Dr. Mason was a member of the 
Dental Cooperative in Utah, but that does not refute the fact that Patterson refused to offer discounts to 
the NMDC buying group.  Dr. Mason’s NMDC never got off the ground because Schein, Patterson, and 
Benco would not supply it.  CCFF ¶¶ 505-506 (Patterson refused to supply NMDC); CCFF ¶ 509 (Schein 
refused to supply NMDC); CCFF ¶¶ 414, 510 (Benco refused to supply NMDC); CCFF ¶¶ 511-512. 
325 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 26. 
326 782 F.3d 867, 878 (7th Cir. 2015). 
327 166 F.3d 112, 126 (3d Cir. 1999).  
328 166 F.3d at 125-26. 
329 In re Polyurethane Foam Antitrust Litig., 152 F. Supp. 3d 968, 983 (N.D. Ohio 2015). 
330 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 26. 
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case. Michelman v. Clark-Schwebel Fiber Glass Corp. held that, absent an agreement, 

competitors exchanging information concerning the “credit-worthiness of customers” did not 

violate antitrust laws because such exchanges provide the procompetitive benefit of allowing 

companies to protect themselves against insolvent customers.331  In fact, Micheleman expressly 

distinguished information exchange concerning credit-worthiness of customers from exchanges 

on prices, which “usually serve no purpose other than to suppress competition.”332  Similarly, 

Interborough News Co. v. Curtis Publishing Co. found no antitrust violation where a company 

encouraged its competitors to sell through a new wholesaler to compete with an existing 

wholesaler.333  In that case, liability did not turn on whether rivals had formed an agreement, but 

instead on whether the agreement was an output-enhancing cooperative effort to foster a new 

wholesaler, which might otherwise lack the scale to effectively enter the market.334 

2. Communications Regarding Atlantic Dental Care (“ADC”) Evidence 
an Agreement Among the Big Three. 

Benco argues—in five pages of its brief devoid of any legal citation—that the Big 

Three’s communications surrounding the customer Atlantic Dental Care (“ADC”) do not show 

an agreement.  Yet, Benco’s arguments again help prove the existence of the conspiracy. 

Benco argues that Cohen contacted Sullivan about ADC “to gather facts that might help 

Benco make its own independent evaluation of ADC.”335  But the evidence indicates otherwise.  

When ADC requested a bid from Benco, Patterson, and Schein in February 2013, all three 

331 534 F.2d 1036, 1048 (2d Cir. 1976). 
332 Michelman, 534 F.2d at 1048. 
333 225 F.2d 289, 293 (2d Cir. 1955).  
334 Interborough News, 225 F.2d at 293.  Benco also cites Ross v. Citigroup, Inc., but that case simply
held an agreement could not be inferred from the mere fact that there was an opportunity to collude based 
on a high level of inter-firm communications.  630 Fed. Appx. 79, 82 (2d Cir. 2015); see also Ross v. 
American Exp. Co., 35 F. Supp. 3d 407, (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (District court in same case held that “[w]hile a 
private meeting among competing banks provided an opportunity to conspire, there is no evidence to 
suggest that a meeting of the minds to implement and maintain arbitration clauses actually took place.”), 
aff’d sub nom. Ross v. Citigroup, Inc., 630 Fed. Appx. 79 (2d Cir. 2015). 
335 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 28.  Cohen admitted at trial he was seeking “facts, knowledge, conjecture” from
Sullivan to “help us form an opinion and a ruling on how we would handle that account.” CCFF ¶ 1037; 
CCRF (Benco) ¶ 492 (citing Cohen, Tr. 720). 
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initially reacted in exactly the same way—they refused to bid because they believed ADC was a 

buying group.336  Despite Benco’s initial reaction, ADC “was adamant that they [were] not a 

buying group,” but a DSO.337  Uncertain whether Benco could bid on this customer under the no 

buying group agreement, Cohen contacted Sullivan to discuss ADC.338  The admission that 

Cohen contacted Sullivan for “help” to decide whether it could bid on ADC proves that the 

conduct here was not “independent.”339 

Benco also admits that after Cohen and Sullivan communicated by phone and text 

messages about whether ADC qualified as a buying group, Cohen then revealed his future 

bidding plan to his competitor—Cohen sent another text message to inform Sullivan that, upon 

further research, ADC was not a buying group, but a corporate customer, and thus, Benco was 

going to bid.340  It is immaterial that Cohen did not explicitly refer to a “pre-existing agreement” 

in this message, as the purpose of the message was abundantly clear: Cohen was informing 

Sullivan that ADC was fair game for competition because it was not a buying group, and 

Benco’s plan to bid on ADC would not violate the conspiracy. 

Benco fares no better in its attempt to explain away its communications with Patterson 

about ADC.  Patterson had refused to bid on ADC with the understanding that Schein and Benco 

would act similarly,341 but Guggenheim learned that Benco bid on and won the ADC account.342 

Guggenheim testified that he viewed Benco’s bid on ADC as a deviation from the prior 

assurance of a no buying group policy,343 and thus, asked Cohen for reassurance that it would 

336 CCFF ¶¶ 1022-1024 (CX0021 at 002 (Benco’s initial response to ADC: “We’re out”)); CCFF ¶¶ 534-
549 (CX0092 at 001 (Patterson’s initial response to ADC: “I’ve coached Anthony on how to stay out of
this with grace”)); CCFF ¶ 1097 (CX2021 at 013 (Schein: “Our first reaction to this was it was simply a 
buying group and we were going to walk away.”); CCRF (Benco) ¶ 477 (citing Ryan, Tr. 1093-1094 
(middle of day on March 25, 2013, Ryan concluded that ADC was a buying group)). 
337 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 477 (citing CX0021 at 001 (He Zhao told Patrick Ryan that ADC “is adamant that 
they are not a buying group and that ADC owns all the practices involved.”)). 
338 CCFF ¶¶ 1028-1037. 
339 “Independent” means “not looking to others for one’s opinion or for guidance on conduct.”  Merriam-
Webster Dictionary, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/independent (emphasis added). 
340 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 29-30. 
341 CCFF ¶¶ 548-552, 1187-1189 (citing CX0092 and CX0093). 
342 CCFF ¶¶ 565, 567.  
343 CCFF ¶ 572. 
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abide by the policy: “I’m wondering if your position on buying groups is still as you articulated 

back in February?”344  Absent a prior understanding between Guggenheim and Cohen, there is 

no conceivable reason for this exchange.  Guggenheim even admitted he could think of no 

legitimate business reason for him to ask about Benco’s policy.345  Nor was there any legitimate 

business reason for Cohen’s elaborate response to Guggenheim, explaining exactly why ADC 

was not a buying group and reassuring his competitor of Benco’s commitment to the no buying 

group policy.  Benco argues, however, that Guggenheim contacted Cohen simply to “gain 

information that would allow [Patterson] to compete for this business.”346  Here, again, Benco’s 

argument proves coordination.  If Patterson were acting independently, there would have been no 

need to check with Benco before competing for ADC.  Indeed, immediately after Cohen 

informed Guggenheim that ADC was not an entity subject to the no buying group agreement, 

Guggenheim directed his team to “aggressively get after [ADC’s] business and compete.”347 

Competitors communicating to determine whether each is free to bid on a customer is the 

antithesis of independent conduct. 

3. Benco Misrepresents the Number of Competitor Communications 
about Buying Groups. 

Benco blatantly misrepresents facts by stating “the only communications that Chuck 

Cohen has ever even had with anyone at Schein about buying groups is limited to the one 

exchange with Tim Sullivan regarding Atlantic Dental Care.”348  Benco claims that Cohen’s 

communications with Sullivan about ADC did not contain a discussion of Benco’s no buying 

group policy.349  And yet Cohen testified repeatedly that he “communicate[d] Benco’s no-buying 

344 CCFF ¶ 570 (quoting CX0095). 
345 CCFF ¶ 1169; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 535 (CX0314 (Guggenheim, IHT at 299 (“Q. Can you think of any
reason why you would want to know whether Benco . . . still had a policy against selling to buying 
groups? . . . A. No.”)). 
346 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 31. 
347 CCFF ¶ 586. 
348 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 31. 
349 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 29. 
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group policy to Mr. Sullivan,”350 which demonstrates that there was at least one other discussion 

during which Cohen shared Benco’s policy with Sullivan.  Benco also inexplicably omits 

Cohen’s messages to Sullivan about the buying groups Dental Alliance (where he confronted 

Sullivan about market intelligence that Schein was discounting to this buying group, and assured 

Sullivan that Benco had rejected this customer)351 and TDA Perks (where he shared information 

about the development of this new buying group with Sullivan and Guggenheim).352  Nor does 

Benco even mention that Cohen assured his team that he would send Tim Sullivan a note about 

market intelligence that Schein was discounting to the buying group Smile Source.353  Benco 

also fails to account for the fact that Benco’s Director of Sales, Patrick Ryan, called his 

counterpart at Schein to share Benco’s refusal to bid on Smile Source and to ask whether Schein 

was planning to bid on this buying group.354 

350 CCFF ¶¶ 662-664. 
351 CCFF ¶¶ 996-997.  Though Cohen contacted Sullivan about discounting to a buying group, Cohen 
acknowledges that he would have no business reason to contact his competitors on matters related to other 
clients like corporate accounts.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 548 (citing CX0301 (Cohen, IHT at 105 (“Have you 
ever contacted Mr. Sullivan after learning that Schein may be bidding on a corporate account? I can’t 
recall a specific instance. Q. Can you think of any business reason for you to contact Mr. Sullivan after 
learning that Schein was going to bid on a corporate account? A. No. Q. Same question for Mr. 
Guggenheim.  Can you think of any business reason for you to contact Mr. Guggenheim after learning 
that Patterson was going to bid on a corporate account? A. No.”)). 
352 CCFF ¶¶ 1133-1134; see also CCFF ¶¶ 1135-1137.  
353 CCFF ¶ 990.  While Benco’s brief ignores this document, its proposed findings point to Cohen’s 
testimony that he did not recall sending the note in the mail (BFF ¶ 403); but Cohen did not testify that he 
did not do so.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 403 (Cohen, Tr. 838, 886).  Cohen’s failure to recall whether he sent the 
note does not establish he did not send it.  Cohen admits that he planned to send the note; and both 
Sullivan and Cohen admit that Cohen sent notes to Sullivan in the mail on other occasions.  CCFF ¶¶ 991-
992; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 403.  Nor does the lack of a note in the record establish that it was not sent because 
Sullivan admitted that he did not save the notes that he received from Cohen.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 403 
(citing Sullivan, Tr. 4253).  Finally, Benco’s proposed findings argue that Ryan never re-forwarded his 
email to Cohen.  BFF ¶ 402.  Not true; Ryan complied with Cohen’s instruction and re-forwarded his 
email one minute later.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 402. 
354 CCFF ¶¶ 1006-1017.  Again, Benco’s brief ignores this communication, but its proposed findings 
argue that Ryan does not recall discussing Smile Source or buying groups during the call.  BFF ¶ 409.  
Ryan’s own emails and other documentary evidence clearly shows that they did.  CCFF ¶ 1014 
(Statement of Ryan to his boss: “[Smile Source is] is [v]ery familiar. . . Randy [Foley] at Schein and I 
talked specifically about them. Buh-bye.”); CCFF ¶ 1017; see also CCFF ¶¶ 1011-1013.   
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D. Complaint Counsel Established Actions Against Self-Interest. 

While evidence of action against self-interest is not required where, as here, the evidence 

goes beyond parallel conduct, 355  Benco acted against its self-interest by (1) communicating their 

internal company policies and future bidding plans with its competitors, and (2) passing up the 

opportunity to gain incremental profits by doing business with buying groups.356  Benco has no 

answer to the first point—it has no explanation for the repeated competitor communications 

about their policies against bidding on buying groups.  Cohen himself acknowledged that 

informing competitors of its bidding position was against his business interests and “more . . . 

than a rational business owner would give.”357  On this basis alone, Complaint Counsel has 

shown conduct against self-interest.358  As to the second point, Benco argues that it could not 

have been against Benco’s self-interest to reject buying groups because it independently decided 

to do just that before the conspiracy started.359  Benco further argues Complaint Counsel failed to 

show conduct against self-interest because its economic expert’s data analysis is flawed.  Neither 

argument withstands scrutiny. 

1. Benco’s Pre-Existing No Buying Group Policy Does Not Refute 
Existence of a Conspiracy. 

Benco first claims that because it decided not to work with buying groups before the 

conspiracy started, it could not have entered into an agreement with its largest rivals that they 

would all take the same approach.360  This is contrary to the law and common sense.  Courts have 

repeatedly found a conspiracy where a defendant acted the same before and after joining the 

355 See United States v. Apple Inc., 952 F. Supp. 2d 638, 690 (S.D.N.Y. 2013), aff’d, 791 F.3d 290 (2d 
Cir. 2015) (explaining that plus factor evidence, including that of common motive, acts against economic 
self-interest, inter-firm communications, and change in conduct, is necessary if alleging parallel conduct);
In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 323 (3d Cir. 2010) (“[P]lus factors need be pled only 
when a plaintiff’s claims of conspiracy rest on parallel conduct.”). 
356 Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 62-64. 
357 CCFF ¶ 1074.  
358 Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 62-64.  
359 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 32. 
360 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 31-32. 
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conspiracy.361  In United States v. North Dakota Hospital Association, the court found an 

unlawful agreement among hospitals not to grant discounts to Indian Health Services and “to 

adhere to [the hospitals’] existing independent policies against voluntarily giving discounts.”362 

The court rejected defendant’s argument—identical to Benco’s argument here—that there was 

no agreement because the evidence showed they “merely contemporaneously expressed their 

preexisting, independently developed policies.”363  Similarly, in Advertising Specialty National 

Association v. FTC, the First Circuit rejected the argument that the policy of “list pricing” was 

not unlawful because it was used in the industry long prior to the period covered by the 

complaint.364  “[E]ven if the practice of list pricing started legally, it could nevertheless have 

become the subject of a conspiracy if . . . there was an improper agreement to keep prices at an 

elevated level.”365 

2. The Factual Record Shows That Benco Acted Against Its Self-
Interest. 

The factual record shows that Benco’s no buying group policy deprived Benco of 

profitable sales opportunities and risked losing market share to its rivals, thus establishing the 

plus factor of actions against self-interest. 366  And as noted above, Benco cannot cast these profit 

sacrifices as strategic oligopolistic interdependence, because it communicated directly with its 

competitors.  Benco’s post-trial brief does not seriously engage with the factual record that 

361 Advert. Specialty Nat. Ass’n v. FTC, 238 F.2d 108, 117 (1st Cir. 1956); United States v. N.D. Hosp. 
Ass’n, 640 F. Supp. 1028, 1036-37 (D.N.D. 1986); United States v. Champion Int’l Corp., 557 F.2d 1270, 
1274 (9th Cir. 1977).  
362 640 F. Supp. 1028, 1036-37 (D.N.D. 1986). 
363 N.D. Hosp., 640 F. Supp. at 1036. 
364 Advert. Specialty Nat. Ass’n v. FTC, 238 F.2d 108, 117 (1st Cir. 1956). 
365 Advert. Specialty Nat. Ass’n, 238 F.2d at 117; see also United States v. Champion Int’l Corp., 557 F.2d 
1270, 1273 (9th Cir. 1977) (“[A] new bidding pattern had thus developed by ‘normal economic forces’, 
presumably in a noncollusive evolution . . . . But despite the innocent beginnings of the noncompetitive 
bidding, the trial court found collusion in its continuation.”).  
366 See Re/Max Int’l, Inc. v. Realty One, Inc., 173 F.3d 995, 1009 (6th Cir. 1999); see also In re Pool 
Prods. Distribution Mkt. Antitrust Litig., 988 F. Supp. 2d 696, 713 (E.D. La. 2013) (finding that evidence 
of acts that “risk a loss of market share to the other manufacturers” are acts against economic self-interest 
supporting claim of conspiracy); Toys “R” Us, Inc. v. FTC, 221 F.3d 928, 935 (7th Cir. 2000) (noting that 
an act that “deprive[s] itself of a profitable sales outlet” is evidence supporting a conspiracy). 
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shows Benco acted against self-interest, instead it attacks Dr. Marshall’s profitability analysis. 

But Benco’s tactic fails, as the factual record standing alone is sufficient to establish this plus 

factor; Dr. Marshall’s analyses merely corroborate the factual record. 

The fact that Benco began working with the buying group, EDA, after the conspiracy 

began to fall apart establishes that Benco acted against its self-interest during the conspiracy.367 

Benco believed that EDA could bring Benco more than 250 customers and gain more than $25 

million in sales,368 and EDA has in fact delivered by providing new customers and new sales.369 

The evidence also shows that before and after the conspiracy, Schein and Patterson profited by 

discounting to buying groups.370  Indeed, Patterson’s post-trial brief concedes that “Patterson is 

today indisputably working with buying groups, as are Schein and Benco.”371  These 

indisputable market facts belie Benco claims that its policy made business sense because buying 

groups do not lead to incremental sales.372 

Moreover, the factual record shows that buying groups do drive new business to a 

distributor.373  For example, 

.374  Similarly, other full-service 

distributors like Nashville Dental and  gained sales by partnering with buying 

groups.375 

.376  During the conspiracy, Benco knew 

367 CCFF ¶¶ 1367-1370.  
368 CCFF ¶¶ 1376-1377. 
369 CCFF ¶¶ 1385-1386. 
370 CCFF ¶¶ 446-453, 894, 1260-1266, 1316, 1319-1321, 1347-1349, 1364, 1700, 1722-1724; see also 
PFF ¶ 761. 
371 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 32. 
372 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 32. 
373 CCFF ¶¶ 1297-1299, 1301, 1306, 1313-1312, 1685-1687, 1689, 1694-1697, 1700, 1718, 1723-1725, 
1730; see also 1652-1654, 1656, 1644, 1666, 1673, 1681, 1727, 1729. 
374 CCFF ¶¶ 1306, 1301, 1653, 1664, 1695. 
375 CCFF ¶¶ 1312-1313, 1672-1673. 
376 CCFF ¶¶ 1314-1315. 
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that, due to its no buying group policy, it was losing customers who switched to competitors 

supplying buying groups.377  Courts have found such facts to be evidence of collusion.378 

Tellingly, Benco’s sales representatives viewed buying groups as a profitable sales 

channel and sought to do business with them.379  In fact, the incentive to do business with buying 

groups was so strong that Respondents’ senior management had to instruct its sales team 

repeatedly against such actions.380  For example, when a regional manager advocated working 

with a group, noting “[t]hat’s a total of 5 to 8 million dollars in merch business that his clients 

will buy from us that currently are buying from [S]chein and [P]atterson,” Benco’s Cohen 

responded: “we don’t offer discounts to buying groups.”381  Another Benco regional manager 

noted that discounting to a buying group “would be a great opportunity to win some business 

from Schein,” to which Benco’s Ryan responded: “We do not participate in buying groups.”382 

Similarly, when Schein’s upper management learned that its team was “putting a buying group 

together,” it sent the message that such deals were “against what Tim Sullivan has directed us to 

do.”383 

Further, the contemporaneous documents and testimony show that each Respondent was 

concerned about its rivals discounting to buying groups—evidence that is utterly at odds with 

Respondents’ claim that no distributor had a unilateral incentive to discount to buying groups.384 

377 CCFF ¶ 53; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 414 (citing Ryan, Tr. 1129-1130, CX0013 at 001).  See also CCFF ¶¶ 
1294-1295, 1655, 1658-1661, 1665, 1667, 1674, 1678-1679. 
378 In re Text Messaging Antitrust Litig., 782 F.3d 867, 876 (7th Cir. 2015) (“Circumstantial evidence of 
such collusion might be a decline in the market shares of the leading firms in a market, for their agreeing 
among themselves to charge a high fixed price might have caused fringe firms and new entrants to . . .
take sales from the leading firms.”). 
379 CCFF ¶¶ 1291-1294. 
380 CCFF ¶¶ 404, 406, 773, 1293; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 414 (citing CX1120, CX1242, CX0170). 
381 CCFF ¶ 404 (quoting CX1120 at 001); CCRF (Benco) ¶ 414.  
382 CCFF ¶ 406 (quoting CX1242 at 001-002); CCFF ¶ 1293. 
383 CCFF ¶ 773 (quoting CX0170 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 776-777. 
384 CCFF ¶ 217 (Cohen, Tr. 470 (“A.  I’m concerned with any change in the strategy at Schein and 
Patterson.  Q.  Including patnering with a buying group?  A.  Yes.”)); CCFF ¶ 253 (CX0314 
(Guggenheim, IHT at 266 (“Q.  And what’s the concern if Schein and Benco bid on this group?  A.  The 
potential that we could lose the business.”)); CCFF ¶ 240 (Sullivan, Tr. 3912 (“Q.  If Schein does not 
work with a buying group . . . there’s a potential that the buying group could shift Schein’s customers to a 
competitor, right?  A.  Correct.  Q.  That would be a risk to Schein’s business? A.  That is correct.”)). 
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Patterson’s contemporaneous SWOT analysis identified the threat of “Emergence of GPOs and 

our competitors [sic] willingness to negotiate with these groups”;385 

;386 and Schein’s internal 

analysis tried to determine if buying groups would “be successful in baiting a Dental company 

into working with them.”387  In addition, Respondents’ executives expressed the same concerns 

in contemporaneous emails, with statements such as “I’m concerned that Schein and Benco 

sneak into these [buying group] bids and deny it”388 and “Better tell your buddy Tim to knock 

this shit off.”389  These documents only make sense if Respondents believed that they each had 

an incentive to discount to buying groups.390  Further, if buying groups stood for nothing but a 

losing proposition, Respondents would not have been concerned about competitors doing 

business with these entities (indeed, they should have been happy to let their competitors enter 

into unprofitable arrangements), and would certainly have had no incentive to alert the 

competitors to market intelligence that the competitors were discounting to buying groups.     

Even if it were within Benco’s unilateral self-interest to refrain from discounting to 

buying groups until Schein and/or Patterson sufficiently “open[ed] this door,” the evidence 

shows that Benco believed it would have been forced to discount to buying groups as its largest 

rivals began discounting to buying groups: 

 “If this door is ever opened in dental, it[’s] all over for all of us.  . . . [P]icture a day 
when every single customer of yours is in some kind of buying club and all margins 
are now 12% over cost and it[’s] a race to the bottom.”391 

385 CCFF ¶ 227 (quoting CX3283 at 010) (emphasis added). 
386 CCFF ¶ 232 . 
387 CCFF ¶ 242 (quoting CX0193 at 014) (emphasis added). 
388 CCFF ¶¶ 540, 1188 (quoting CX0092 at 001). 
389 CCFF ¶ 982 (quoting CX0018). 
390 See In re Benco Dental Supply Co., Docket No. 9379, 2018 WL 6338485, at *10 n.10 (FTC Nov. 26, 
2018) (finding that Patterson VP of Sales, Misiak’s email stating “I’m concerned that Schein and Benco 
sneak into these co-op bids and deny it” “makes sense only if he believed that Schein and Benco had an 
incentive to sell to buying groups”). 
391 CCFF ¶ 527 (quoting CX1149 at 002). 

58 



 

PUBLIC 

 “Once a national dealer opens this door [to buying groups], in less than 5 years, we 
will turn into medical and be working for 10 percent over cost.”392 

These documents show that even though Benco maintained a no buying group policy, it 

was concerned that it would need to lower its prices as its competitors increased their 

discounting to buying groups.393  Again this contradicts Benco’s argument that buying groups 

did not lead to incremental sales.  If that were true, it would never have feared that it would need 

to lower prices if a competitor worked with a buying group. 

3. Dr. Marshall’s Profitability Analysis Is Well Supported.   

While the documentary evidence alone establishes Respondents acted against their self-

interest in agreeing to a no-buying group policy, supra Section I.D.2, Dr. Marshall’s profitability 

analysis further corroborates that Respondents’ policies against discounting to buying groups 

were contrary to their unilateral economic interest.394  Benco’s critiques of Dr. Marshall’s 

analysis do nothing to undermine the otherwise convincing evidence of conduct against self-

interest, explained above. 

392 CCFF ¶ 266 (quoting CX0016 at 002). 
393 While Benco’s conduct during the conspiracy was against its unilateral self-interest, that same conduct 
prior to the conspiracy was not necessarily contrary to its unilateral self-interest.  Oligopolistic 
interdependence explains Benco’s pre-conspiracy conduct.  Once Benco’s biggest competitors, Patterson 
and Schein, began pursuing buying groups, Benco’s refusal to bid became an action against self-interest, 
and this is precisely what motivated Benco to organize the conspiracy in the first place.   
394 To the extent Dr. Marshall considered the factual record in preparing his report, it was appropriate to 
do so.  “It is consistent with sound economic practice to review the factual record and formulate a 
hypothesis that can then be tested using economic theory—the examination of the factual record is 
necessary to determine which tests to run and to confirm that the stories drawn from the data and from the 
factual record are consistent.”  In re Processed Egg Products Antitrust Litigation, 81 F. Supp. 3d 412, 424 
(E.D. Pa. 2015). 
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Benco first criticizes Dr. Marshall for analyzing only two buying groups, Kois and Smile 

Source, and not studying 36 others.395 First, Benco is incorrect that Dr. Marshall only offered an 

opinion with respect to two buying groups.396  On the contrary, Dr. Marshall testified at trial that 

it was against Respondents’ self-interest to “make[] a blanket statement []: We don’t do business 

with buying groups.”397 Second, Dr. Marshall reviewed Kois and Smile Source because they 

were representative of the market in that they covered a broad geography of the country, a broad 

time span from 2012 through 2017, and they were varied in terms of size and stage of 

existence.398  Like all buying groups, Kois and 

This characteristic was important because Respondents claim it was against their self-interest to 

discount to buying groups because buying groups do not drive compliance and thus, cannot lead 

to incremental profits. 400  Dr. Marshall’s profitability analyses showed that Kois and Smile 

Source .401  That 

Dr. Marshall did not study 36 other buying groups does not diminish his results from the Smile 

Source and Kois natural experiments.402  Many of these groups were never fully formed because 

they could not secure supply discounts from Respondents, precluding any data analysis.403 

395 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 36. See also Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 59; Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 78. 
396 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 36. 
397 CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1038-1039; see also Complaint Counsel’s Response to Patterson’s Proposed 
Findings of Fact (“CCRF (Patterson)”) ¶¶ 713-714; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1689-1690, 1695. 
398 CCFF ¶¶ 1642-1643; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1038-1041; CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 716; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1689-
1690. 
399 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1040 (Kois, Sr., Tr. 181 (“[T]hey’re free to purchase from whoever they want to.”); 

; see also CCRF 
(Benco) ¶¶ 1039-1042, 1044-1046, 1049, 1060; CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 716; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1689-1690. 
400 See Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 33 (arguing that buying groups cannot guarantee volume). 
401 CCFF ¶¶ 1647-1684. 
402 Tellingly, Respondents do not argue that Dr. Marshall’s numbers are wrong, nor do their own experts 
calculate lost sales and profits from any of the 36 other buying groups.  As discussed, infra Section I.D.3, 
studying natural experiments is a widely accepted method of analysis in antitrust cases.  See, e.g., In re 
NCAA Athletic Grant-in-Aid Cap Antitrust Litig., No. 14-md-02541 CW, 2019 WL 1747780, at *13 (N.D. 
Cal. Mar. 8, 2019) (expert analysis based on natural experiments “reliable and persuasive”).    
403 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 997 (citing CX7101 at 064 (¶ 163) (Marshall Expert Rebuttal Report)); see also 
CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 713; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1689-1690. 
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Nor is Dr. Marshall’s analysis unreliable as applied to Benco 

.404  The purpose of Dr. Marshall’s profitability 

studies was to assess whether buying groups drive incremental business to the contracted 

distributor, and thus, whether it was against Benco’s self-interest to implement an across-the-

board no buying group policy.405  In other words, Dr. Marshall’s studies analyze the switching 

behavior of independent dentists upon joining a buying group.  It is irrelevant that the studies 

analyzed data of other distributors, since all the distributors sell to the same customer base.406 

Moreover, Dr. Marshall’s analysis studied the effects of cannibalization and showed that, even in 

a market in which it enjoyed a high market share, Burkhart benefitted incrementally by 

discounting to buying groups.407 

408 . 

Benco next claims Dr. Marshall’s analysis proves too much by demonstrating that Benco 

acted contrary to its self-interest before joining the conspiracy and after the conspiracy fell 

apart.409  Benco attempts to put the onus on Dr. Marshall’s profitability analyses to prove all 

aspects of Complaint Counsel’s case.  The analyses do no more than corroborate that buying 

404 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 37; CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1063-1065. 
405 CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1002, 1063-1064. 
406 Indeed, it was impossible to analyze Benco’s sales to buying groups during the conspiracy period 
because of the conspiracy.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1064 (citing Marshall, Tr. 3373 (Dr. Marshall explaining 
that he could not specifically study Benco’s relationship with Kois because “Benco was not a supplier to 
Kois buying group.”)). 
407 CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1074-1075; see also CCRF (Patterson) ¶¶ 696-697; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1748-1752. 
408 CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1074-1075. 

.  CCFF ¶ 1996; see also CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1190-1193. 
409 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 34-35.  Patterson and Schein make similar arguments.  Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 
60; Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 95. 
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groups provide opportunities for incremental sales.410  As explained above, Benco may have 

adopted a no buying group policy pursuant to its self-interest before the conspiracy, but knew 

that it could not maintain the policy if its largest rivals began working with buying groups,411 

which became a reality and prompted the conspiracy.412  Additionally, following the conspiracy, 

Benco worked with buying group EDA, and sought to get the Kois Buyers Group to join EDA.413 

Benco spends pages arguing that, rather than the natural experiments Dr. Marshall 

conducted, he should have done a “counterfactual” analysis to identify the actual sales and 

profits from dealing with buying groups.414  Yet, Benco cites to no authority requiring a plaintiff 

to do such an analysis to show conduct against self-interest,415 and Complaint Counsel is aware 

of none.  Further, it was not possible to reconstruct a hypothetical marketplace absent the 

conspiracy because, as a result of Respondents’ conduct, no such data exists; Respondents 

cannot destroy the counterfactual world and then gripe when Dr. Marshall fails to study non-

existent data.416  Moreover, Dr. Marshall used the well-recognized method of analyzing natural 

experiments to determine the impacts on price, margin, and customer switching when 

distributors begin and/or stop working with a buying group, as well as the price and margin 

410 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1662-1669 (explaining that Dr. Marshall’s analyses are consistent in demonstrating 
that it was against Respondents’ unilateral economic self-interest to have a no buying group policy
whereby Respondents instructed their employees to categorically reject all buying groups, irrespective of 
the time period). 
411 CCFF ¶¶ 214-218, 232, 246-249. 
412 CCFF ¶¶ 432-473. 
413  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 242 (CX1084 at 003 (“JLR and I convinced [EDA] that . . . we should bring in 
Seattle Study Club and Kois as additional partners, because of their broad market reach and strong 
brands.”). 
414 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 37-40.  Schein puts forward the same unwarranted critique but uses different 
terminology, arguing that Dr. Marshall should have done a “but for” analysis.  Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 95. 
415 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 38-40.  Neither does Schein or Patterson.  Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 94-95; Patterson 
Post-Tr. Br. at 59-61.  
416 Cf. United States v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 79 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (“To require that Section 2 
liability turn on a plaintiff’s ability or inability to reconstruct the hypothetical marketplace absent a 
defendant’s anticompetitive conduct would only encourage monopolists to take more and earlier 
anticompetitive action. . . . [N]either plaintiff nor the court can confidently reconstruct a product’s 
hypothetical technological development in a world absent the defendant’s exclusionary conduct. To some
degree, ‘the defendant is made to suffer the uncertain consequences of its own undesirable conduct.’”) 
(quoting Areeda & Hovenkamp ¶ 651c). 
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impacts on independent dentist buying group members.417  Studying natural experiments is a 

widely accepted method of analysis in antitrust cases.418  Even Respondents’ experts concede the 

value of natural experiments: Patterson’s economic expert Dr. Wu employed a natural 

experiment in conducting a product market analysis in his expert report.419  Similarly, Schein’s 

economic expert, Dr. Carlton, has recognized natural experiments as “convincing evidence.”420 

Benco also criticizes Dr. Marshall for not studying a broader percentage of the total 

number of dentists nationwide.421  To analyze the profitability of discounting to buying groups, 

however, Dr. Marshall needed to study sales for dentists who were buying group members; 

examining sales of independent dentists who were not members of buying groups would have 

been irrelevant.422  Dr. Marshall’s studies analyzed the purchasing behavior of all dentists who 

were members of Smile Source and Kois who purchased from the buying group distributor.423 

417 CCFF ¶¶ 1637-1684; CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1023-1025; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1715-1717 (contrasting Dr. 
Marshall’s natural experiments with Dr. Carlton’s unreliable and unsupported “formula” that Schein 
attempts to use to buttress its but-for world arguments); see also Bruce D. Meyer, Natural and Quasi-
Experiments in Economics 13 J. BUS. &  ECON. STAT. 152-158 (1995) (discussing the validity of natural 
experiments involving before and after designs with various comparison and treatment groups) (attached 
hereto as Attachment B); Proving Antitrust Damages: Legal and Economic Issues, ABA SEC. ANTITRUST 
L., 89-99, 179, 186-187, 227-235 (3d ed. 2017) (discussing the validity of before-during-after and 
yardstick models) (attached hereto as Attachment C); Issues In Competition Law and Policy, ABA SEC. 
ANTITRUST L. 2331, 2335-2339 (2008) (same) (attached hereto as Attachment D); Econometrics Legal, 
Practical, and Technical Issues, ABA SEC. ANTITRUST L. 301-324 (2d ed. 2014) (same) (attached hereto 
as Attachment E).  
418 See, e.g., In re NCAA Athletic Grant-in-Aid Cap Antitrust Litig., No. 14-md-02541 CW, 2019 WL 
1747780, at *13 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 8, 2019) (expert analysis based on natural experiments “reliable and 
persuasive”); FTC v. ProMedica Health Sys., Inc., No. 3:11 CV 47, 2011 WL 1219281, at *14 (N.D. 
Ohio Mar. 29, 2011) (relying on “real-world natural experiments in the marketplace” to confirm that 
merging parties competed for significant number of patients in the marketplace); FTC v. Penn State 
Hershey Med. Ctr., 838 F.3d 327, 345 (3d Cir. 2016) (relying on results of natural experiment); U.S. 
Dep’t of Justice & FTC Horizontal Merger Guidelines (“Merger Guidelines”) § 2.1.2 (2010) (“The 
[antitrust enforcement] Agencies look for historical events, or ‘natural experiments,’ that are informative 
regarding the competitive effects of the merger.”); FTC v. Foster, No. CIV 07-352 JBACT, 2007 WL 
1793441, at *38 (D.N.M. May 29, 2007) (“Where available, the antitrust agencies rely extensively on 
natural market experiments to provide the relevant evidence.”). 
419 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1023 (RX2833-050, at ¶ 122 (Wu Expert Report) (“I also looked at this natural 
experiment to determine whether dentists are turning to full-service distributors to discipline the prices 
charged by online distributors like Darby.”).  
420 United States v. AT & T Inc., 310 F. Supp. 3d 161, 215 (D.D.C. 2018) (“Professor Carlton recognize[s] 
that empirical analysis of prior, similar transactions can be ‘convincing evidence.’”). 
421 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 38. See also Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 61-62. 
422 CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1026-1028; see also CCRF (Patterson) ¶¶ 733-740; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1689-1690. 
423 CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1026-1028; see also CCRF (Patterson) ¶¶ 733-740; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1689-1690. 
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This entailed the analysis of hundreds of dentists across the country— 

.424  There is nothing to suggest that the purchasing behaviors of these 

dentists are not representative of other buying group members.  Indeed, given Respondents’ 

conspiracy, buying groups remained a small segment of the market, thus significantly limiting 

the number of dentists appropriate for these studies.  If followed, Respondents’ attempt to 

gerrymander the biggest possible denominator to include all dentists in the country creates an 

absurd result that is of no use to this Court.425 

Finally, Benco argues that Dr. Marshall did not undertake any analysis of how much 

profit Benco could have earned by deploying its resources elsewhere.426  First, this argument is 

based on a false premise because Benco’s no buying group policy was unrelated to resource 

constraints.427  Second, while Benco relies on Dr. Johnson, 

.430  Dr. Marshall, on the other hand, 

424 CCFF ¶¶ 1642-1643; CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1026-1028, 1038-1041; CCRF (Patterson) ¶¶ 733-740; CCRF 
(Schein) ¶¶ 1689-1690. 
425 Benco also quibbles with Dr. Marshall’s analysis, arguing that he failed to consider the cost to 
distributors of paying administrative fees and rebates.  These costs did not change Dr. Marshall’s overall 
opinions, however, so they are irrelevant.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1126 

.  Dr. Marshall’s profitability analysis demonstrated that the end of Schein’s relationship with 
Smile Source was unprofitable for Schein and that it was 

.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1126.  
426 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 40. 
427 CCFF ¶ 397 (Benco always had the ability to sell to buying groups); CCRF (Benco) ¶ 189 (Ryan, Tr. 
1031 (“So in other words, it has not been a matter of resources restraining Benco from selling to buying 
groups? A. No.”)).  
428 CCFF ¶ 1996; CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1190-1193 (responding to Benco’s proposed findings on this point). 
429 CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1190-1193. 
430 CCFF ¶¶ 1999-2003; CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1190-1193, 1197-1198, 1200-1203, 1207-1208, 1210-1213, 
1237-1242. 
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examined the complete data across all MSAs.  For example, 

431 . 

In sum, Dr. Marshall’s profitability analysis bolsters the record evidence establishing that 

Respondents’ coordinated policies against discounting to buying groups was contrary to their 

unilateral economic interest. 

4. A Finding that Respondents Acted In Accordance with Individual 
Self-Interest Does Not Defeat a Conspiracy Finding. 

Benco claims that, where Respondents acted in accordance with their individual self-

interest, it defeats the inference of a conspiracy.432  But none of the cases that Benco cites says 

anything of the sort.  Instead, Benco’s cases simply stand for the unsurprising proposition that no 

conspiracy can be found in the absence of acts against self-interest, if there is insufficient other 

evidence to support a finding of conspiracy.433  Thus, while evidence of conduct against self-

interest is a plus factor tending to show the existence of a conspiracy, the lack of this evidence 

does not detract from other evidence of conspiracy. 

431 CCFF ¶¶ 2002-2003; CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1207-1208, 1210-1213; see also CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1190-1193, 
1197-1198, 1200-1203 

, and CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1237-1242 

. 
432 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 31. 
433 Orson Inc. v. Miramax Film Corp., 79 F.3d 1358, 1362-65 (3d Cir. 1996) (vertical restraint of trade 
case holding no conspiracy where plaintiff failed to establish motive to conspire and conduct was in 
defendants’ self-interest); Todorov v. DCH Healthcare Authority, 921 F.2d 1438, 1455-59 (11th Cir. 
1991) (plaintiff produced no direct or unambiguous evidence of a conspiracy and identified no motive to 
conspire, and the defendant provided “amply supporte[d]” procompetitive reasons for its behavior); 
Merck-Medco Managed Care, LLC v. Rite Aid Corp., No. 98-2847, 1999 WL 691840, at *2, 9-15 (4th 
Cir. 1999) (unpublished) (group boycott case resting entirely on parallel behavior and “plus-factor” 
circumstantial evidence where no evidence of actions against self-interest, nor an utter failure to negotiate 
with the boycotted entity); In re Citric Acid, 191 F.3d 1090, 1093 (9th Cir. 1999) (no direct 
communications between defendant and co-conspirators on the subject matter of the conspiracy); Valspar 
Corp. v. E.I. Du Pont De Memours and Company, 873 F.3d 185, 194-95 (3d Cir. 2017) (parallel conduct 
case without any evidence of inter-firm communications on the subject matter of the conspiracy); Wilcox 
Development Co. v. First Interstate Bank of Oregon, N.A., 605 F. Supp. 592 (1985) (parallel conduct case 
without any evidence of inter-firm communications on the subject matter of the conspiracy).  
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Indeed, Courts have explicitly rejected Benco’s argument.  In United States v. Apple, 

Inc., the Second Circuit rejected Apple’s claim that evidence of conduct consistent with business 

interests undermined a finding of conspiracy.434  Likewise, in Gainesville, the Fifth Circuit 

upheld a finding of conspiracy despite defendants’ claims that they based their conduct on valid 

economic considerations.435  As the Supreme Court held in United States v. General Motors 

Corp., “[i]t is of no consequence . . . that each party acted in its own lawful interest.”436 

II. RESPONDENTS’ COORDINATED REFUSAL TO DISCOUNT TO BUYING 
GROUPS WAS A PER SE VIOLATION OF ANTITRUST LAWS, MEANING 
PROOF OF ACTUAL HARM IS NOT REQUIRED. 

A. Respondents’ Agreement was Per Se Unlawful. 

Neither Patterson nor Schein contest that Respondents’ agreement, if established, is 

anything but per se unlawful.  Benco, on the other hand, claims that Respondents’ agreement 

was not per se unlawful.  Tellingly, Benco concedes that agreements that “always or almost 

always tend to restrict competition” are per se unlawful,437 yet it fails to explain how an 

agreement preventing the three largest dental products distributors from discounting to buying 

groups—entities comprised of independent dentists seeking lower prices by aggregating 

purchasing power—is not an agreement that restricts competition.438 

Instead of addressing the countless cases that have already held an agreement among 

competitors not to discount is per se unlawful,439 Benco argues that Complaint Counsel must 

present “empirical” evidence of “demonstrable economic effect” to establish that this is a per se 

case.440  The entire purpose of the per se rule, however, is to avoid precisely the type of 

empirical analysis that Benco urges for agreements, like the one at issue here, that are inherently 

434 791 F.3d 290, 316 (2d Cir. 2015). 
435 Gainesville Utils. Dep’t v. Fla. Power & Light Co., 573 F.2d 292, 301 (5th Cir. 1978). 
436 United States v. Gen. Motors Corp., 384 U.S. 127, 142 (1966). 
437 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 44. 
438 See Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 43-48. 
439 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 40-41, 67-70. 
440 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 44-45. 
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anticompetitive.441 Per se unlawful agreements are condemned without “inquiry as to the precise 

harm they have caused” to avoid “economic investigation . . . to determine at large whether a 

particular restraint has been unreasonable.”442  To support its argument, Benco quotes inapposite 

language from Continental T.V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania Inc., where the Supreme Court held that 

vertical restrictions are subject to the rule of reason standard unless there are “demonstrable 

economic effect” to justify applying the per se rule.443  The reason was that vertical restrictions 

have “economic utility” and stimulate “interbrand competition,” and thus, could not be deemed 

per se unlawful.444 GTE Sylvania has no application here—where Respondents have entered into 

a horizontal agreement to eliminate a form of competition that has no conceivable “economic 

utility.”445 

Benco also argues that this case is not subject to per se condemnation because courts do 

not have considerable experience with this type of challenged conduct.446  Contrary to Benco’s 

assertion, the Supreme Court has long recognized that “an agreement to eliminate discounts . . . 

falls squarely within the traditional per se rule against price fixing.”447  And a long line of lower 

441 Denny’s Marina, Inc. v. Renfro Prods., Inc., 8 F.3d 1217, 1222 (7th Cir. 1993) (overturning district 
court’s ruling that plaintiff must first establish potential impact on market before establishing the 
agreement is per se unlawful, noting “one of the purposes of the per se rule is that in cases like this such a 
potential [for impact on the market] is so well-established as not to require individualized showings”). 
442 Northern Pac. R. Co. v. United States, 356 U.S. 1, 5 (1958); Denny’s Marina, 8 F.3d at 1221 (“As far 
back as 1940, it has been clear that horizontal price-fixing is illegal per se without requiring a showing of 
actual or likely impact on a market.”).  
443 433 U.S. 36, 58 (1977). 
444 Cont’l T.V., 433 U.S. at 51, 58. 
445 Benco also attempts to twist the Supreme Court’s words in NCAA v. Board of Regents of University of 
Oklahoma, claiming that the Court held that the “essential inquiry” under both rule of reason and per se is 
“whether there is an impact on competition.”  Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 44.  Instead, the Supreme Court held 
that the essential inquiry was “whether or not the challenged restraint enhances competition.”  NCAA v. 
Bd. of Regents of Univ. of Okla., 468 U.S. 85, 104 (1984).  Benco does not even attempt to argue that 
Respondents’ agreement “enhance[d] competition.” 
446 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 44-45.  
447 Catalano, Inc. v. Target Sales, Inc., 446 U.S. 643, 647 (1980). 
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court cases further affirm this holding.448  It is of no consequence that these cases did not involve 

the dental products industry, or buying groups, for “it is experience with the types of agreement 

at issue” that determines whether application of the per se rule is appropriate.449  It is well 

established that the type of agreement here—horizontal agreement to limit discounting—is 

subject to per se condemnation. 

None of the cases advanced by Benco addressed a “naked” horizontal price fixing 

conspiracy, untethered from any procompetitive justification, as is the case here.  Continental 

T.V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania Inc. addressed an alleged vertical restriction, noting that vertical 

restrictions sometimes contain ‘redeeming virtues’ that promote competition and overruling per 

se application to vertical restrictions.450 National Collegiate Athletic Ass’n v. Board of Regents, 

addressed a unique case “involv[ing] an industry in which horizontal restraints on competition 

are essential if the product is to be available at all.”451  In that case, therefore, the procompetitive 

justification was obvious.452  Here, no such restraints are essential and not a single 

procompetitive justification has been identified.  Broadcast Music, Inc. v. Columbia 

Broadcasting System, Inc. addressed the issue of blanket licensing of copyrighted music, in 

which the restraint at issue offered substantial procompetitive benefits including reducing costs, 

providing necessary resources for blanket sales and enforcement of copyrighted music.453 

448 Freeman v. San Diego Ass’n of Realtors, 322 F.3d 1133, 1146 (9th Cir.2003) (“Agreements not to 
offer discounts are per se violations of section 1.”); United States v. Beaver, 515 F.3d 730, 737 n.3 (7th 
Cir. 2008) (“[N]et-price-discount limit constituted an illegal price-fixing arrangement, and thus was . . . 
per se illegal”); United States v. Olympia Provision & Baking Co., 282 F. Supp. 819, 828 (S.D.N.Y. 
1968) (“The uniform minimum discounts . . . constituted illegal price fixing under the circumstances 
herein. . . . It is also elementary that boycotts and attempted boycotts are illegal.”); TFWS, Inc. v. 
Schaefer, 242 F.3d 198, 210 (4th Cir. 2001) (“volume discount ban is . . . a per se violation of the 
Sherman Act”). 
449 United States v. Kemp & Assocs., Inc., No. 2:16CR403 DS, 2019 WL 763796, at *4 (D. Utah Feb. 21, 
2019). 
450 Cont’l T.V., 433 U.S. at 54, 58-59.  
451 NCAA, 468 U.S. at 101. 
452 NCAA, 468 U.S. at 102 (“In performing this role, [NCAA’s] actions widen consumer choice . . . and 
hence can be viewed as procompetitive.”).  
453 Broad. Music, Inc. v. Columbia Broad. Sys., Inc. (“BMI”), 441 U.S. 1, 21-23 (1979). 
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Finally, Texaco Inc. v. Dagher dealt with a joint venture in which competitors pooled their 

capital and were thus viewed as a single firm under antitrust laws.454 

Unlike the cases Benco cites, Respondents have not come up with a shred of evidence to 

suggest that the agreement here could foster competition, nor have they even argued that the 

agreement is not anticompetitive.  Witness after witness acknowledged at trial that there are no 

procompetitive justifications for the communications at issue.455  In fact, Patterson’s own expert 

admits that an agreement not to discount to customers is anticompetitive.456 

Next, Benco alleges that Respondents’ agreement was not per se unlawful, claiming that 

there is no allegation that “Respondents discussed anything having to do with prices.”457  But it 

is well-settled law that per se treatment is not limited to agreements that literally set or fix 

prices.458  Instead, any agreement that raises or stabilizes the price of a commodity is per se 

illegal, even where there is “no direct agreement on the actual prices to be maintained.”459 

The Supreme Court held in Catalano that an agreement among competing wholesalers to 

refuse to sell unless retailers made payments in cash was a per se price-fixing agreement.460  In 

United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil, the Court held that an agreement among competitors to 

engage in a program of buying surplus gasoline on the spot market in order to prevent prices 

from falling was a price-fixing agreement.461  Similarly, in United States v. Apple, Inc., the 

Second Circuit found that an agreement among publishers to shift the model of the ebook 

industry to eliminate Amazon’s low pricing “comfortably qualifies as a horizontal price-fixing 

454 547 U.S. 1, 5-6 (2006).  
455 CCFF ¶¶ 1167-1177. 
456 CCFF ¶ 1175 (Wu: “As an economist, if there is an agreement among competitors to, not to discount 
to customers, then I would view that as being anticompetitive.”).  Wu testified that he was not offering 
any opinion that “an agreement among respondents not to do business with buying groups would have 
any pro-competitive benefits.”  CCFF ¶ 1175. 
457 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 46. 
458 BMI, 441 U.S. at 8-9 (“But this is not a question simply of determining whether two or more potential 
competitors have literally ‘fixed’ a ‘price.’”); United States v. Apple, 791 F.3d 290, 327 (2d Cir. 2015). 
459 Catalano, Inc. v. Target Sales, Inc., 446 U.S. 643, 647 (1980). 
460 Catalano, Inc. v. Target Sales, Inc., 446 U.S. 643, 650 (1980). 
461 United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 222 (1940). 
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conspiracy.”462  Thus, contrary to Benco’s claim, Complaint Counsel need not introduce 

evidence that Respondents discussed “prices.”463  Respondents conspired to prevent a “huge 

price war”464 and a “race to the bottom,”465 based on knowledge that buying groups could result 

in dramatic industry-wide reduction in margins.466 

Nor is Respondents’ agreement saved from per se condemnation simply because 

Respondents competed for individual dentists467 and the agreement was limited to buying 

groups.468  While Respondents competed for individual dentists, the purpose of the conspiracy 

was to deprive dentists the opportunity to aggregate their business to increase their bargaining 

power.469  Buying groups, as defined by Respondents’ executives, “aggregate the purchase 

volume” of independent dentists “in order to leverage price.”470  Indeed, Benco’s 

contemporaneous 

.471  Further supporting these facts, Dr. Marshall’s analysis of 

distributors’ transactional data showed that dentists pay less for dental products upon joining a 

462 791 F.3d 290, 327 (2d Cir. 2015) (citing United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 223 
(1940)). 
463 Benco claims that the conspiracy did not cause harm because Respondents still competed aggressively
for the business of dentists.  Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 52-53.  Yet, Dr. Marshall’s evidence shows that 
distributors sold products for lower margins and reduced profits to individual buying group members.  
CCFF ¶¶ 1423-1433; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1377-1378. 
464 CCFF ¶¶ 197, 689 (quoting CX2113 at 001). 
465 CCFF ¶ 198 (quoting CX1149 at 002). 
466 CCFF ¶¶ 198, 261, 690. 
467 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 46. 
468 See, e.g., United States v. Kemp & Associates, Inc., No. 2:16CR403, 2019 WL 763796, at *2 (D. Utah 
Feb 21, 2019) (finding that per se rule applies to customer allocation agreement even though the 
agreement implicated only 3-5% of Defendant’s business). 
469 CCFF ¶¶ 1439-1441, 125-132. 
470 CCFF ¶ 67 (quoting CX1156 at 001). 
471 CCFF ¶ 1441 (citing 

. 
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buying group.472  Thus, Respondents’ competition for dentists on an individual basis is 

irrelevant.473 

Finally, Benco argues that this is not a “group boycott” case, citing FTC v. Indiana 

Federation of Dentists (“IFD”).474  Benco’s argument is based on an incorrect legal standard.  

IFD addressed a professional association’s concerted refusal to deal on particular terms with 

third-party insurers.475  In that case, the Court declined to apply per se treatment noting that 

courts have been “slow to condemn rules adopted by professional associations as unreasonable 

per se.”476  Benco rests its entire argument on dicta from IDF citing to the standard articulated in 

Northwest Wholesale Stationers, Inc. v. Pacific Stationary and Printing Co.477  In that case, the 

Court noted that group boycotts “generally” involved joint efforts by a firm or firms to 

disadvantage competitors by cutting off access to a supply, facility, or market necessary to 

compete.478  Nowhere did the Court in IFD or Northwest hold that only agreements targeting a 

competitor constitute a group boycott, however.479  The Fifth Circuit rejected just such an 

argument: “Nothing in Northwest Wholesale Stationers or the Supreme Court’s later cases [] 

establishes a bright-line rule limiting the application of the per se rule to cases in which the 

victim is a competitor.”480  In fact, four years after IFD, the Supreme Court held that an 

472 CCFF ¶¶ 1423-1433, 1441. 
473 Benco also appears to argue that Respondents’ agreement is not per se unlawful because buying 
groups are not “customers.”  Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 47.  But Respondents did view buying groups as 
customers.  CCFF ¶ 404 (citing CX1372 at 002 (Cohen: “Benco does NOT currently recognize as a single 
customer . . . Any kind of GPO.” (emphasis added); CCFF ¶ 410 (citing CX1219 at 002 (Ryan: “Benco 
doesn’t recognize GPOs as a single customer”)); see also CCRF (Benco) ¶ 903 (citing CX0305 
(Cavaretta, IHT at 119 (“A buying group would be . . . a customer of Henry Schein.”); CX0312 (Fields, 
IHT at 77 (“Q. So you viewed GPOs or buying groups as customers? A. I do.”)).  In addition, whether 
Benco labeled buying groups customers or not, it is beyond dispute that buying groups negotiate 
discounts on behalf of independent dentists, who are undeniably customers.  See CCFF ¶ 148 (Cohen, Tr. 
432-33 (“A buying group is a group of dentists who . . . get together to negotiate a lower price on the 
products and services that they buy.”)). 
474 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 47-49.  
475 FTC v. Ind. Fed’n of Dentists (“IFD”), 476 U.S. 447, 459 (1986). 
476 IFD, 476 U.S. at 459. 
477 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 47-49. 
478 Nw. Wholesale Stationers, Inc. v. Pac. Stationary and Printing Co., 472 U.S. 284, 294 (1985).  
479 See IFD, 476 U.S. 447, 459 (1986); Nw. Wholesale Stationers, 472 U.S. 284, 294 (1985).  
480 Tunica Web Adver. v. Tunica Casino Operators Ass’n, 496 F.3d 403, 413 (5th Cir. 2007). 
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agreement among a group of lawyers to refuse to compete for new clients was per se unlawful in 

FTC v. Superior Court Trial Lawyers Association.481  The Court noted that “[p]rior to the 

boycott [] lawyers were in competition with one another . . . . The agreement . . . was 

implemented by a concerted refusal to serve an important customer in the market for legal 

services.”482  So too, here, Respondents concerted refusal to deal with buying groups should be 

condemned as per se unlawful. 

B. Respondents’ Failure to Offer Any Justification for the Agreement Means 
This Case Should Not Be Removed From the Ambit of the Per Se Rule. 

Benco claims that Complaint Counsel offered alternative counts under the truncated rule 

of reason because it recognized the agreement here is not per se unlawful.483  In reality, 

Complaint Counsel included these additional counts in the event that Respondents came forth 

with some plausible and cognizable procompetitive justification for their agreement.  In BMI, the 

Supreme Court held that an agreement to fix prices may be removed from the ambit of the per se 

rule if the agreement is designed to “increase economic efficiency and render markets more, 

rather than less, competitive.”484  As explained in the Commission’s opinion in Polygram, the 

truncated rule of reason was developed as an “intermediate approach[]” for conduct that 

resembled per se agreements but “also appeared to promote the attainment of valuable 

efficiencies.”485  Respondents’ post-trial briefs fail to offer any efficiency or procompetitive 

481 493 U.S. 411, 418 (1990). 
482 Superior Court Trial Lawyers Ass’n, 493 U.S. at 422-23.  
483 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 49. 
484 Broadcast Music, Inc. v. Columbia Broadcasting System, Inc., 441 U.S. 1, 20 (1979); see also NCAA v. 
Bd. Of Regents of Univ. of Okla., 468 U.S. 85, 100-01 (1984) (removing price fixing case from ambit of 
per se rule because “this case involves an industry in which horizontal restraints on competition are 
essential if the product is to be available at all”). 
485 In re Polygram Holding, Inc., Docket No. 9298, 2003 WL 25797195, at *9 (FTC July 24, 2003) 
(Comm’n Op.), aff’d sub nom. PolyGram Holding, Inc. v. FTC, 416 F.3d 29 (D.C. Cir. 2005). 
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justification for their agreement not to discount to buying groups, thus obviating the need to look 

past per se condemnation.486 

C. Even if Per Se Treatment is Inapplicable, Respondents’ Agreement was 
Unlawful Under a Truncated Rule of Reason Analysis. 

1. Respondents’ Agreement Should Be Analyzed Under a Truncated or 
“Inherently Suspect” Analysis. 

Even if the Court does not find the agreement per se unlawful, it is unlawful under a 

truncated or “inherently suspect” rule of reason analysis.  Benco’s argument that the truncated 

rule of reason does not apply boils down to a single case, California Dental Association 

(“California Dental”) v. Federal Trade Commission, but that case supports Complaint Counsel.  

California Dental affirmed the application of a truncated rule of reason where “the great 

likelihood of anticompetitive effects can easily be ascertained,” including horizontal agreements 

to refuse to discuss prices with potential customers (National Society of Professional Engineers) 

and horizontal agreements to refuse to provide a service to customers (Indiana Federation of 

Dentists).487  The facts here compel the same conclusion.  Discounting to, and doing business 

with, buying groups is undeniably one form of competition among dental distributors.  For 

example, as demonstrated by contemporaneous records and witness testimony, Schein gained 

$1.5 million in business from its competitors by doing business with the buying group, Smile 

Source, pre-conspiracy;488 

;489 Benco gained new customers and sales by discounting to the EDA buying group post 

486 These per se rules against price fixing and group boycotts are not mere suggestions for administrative 
convenience, but rather have the “same force and effect as any other statutory commands.”  FTC v. 
Superior Court Trial Lawyers Ass’n, 493 U.S. 411, 432-33 (1990).  Indeed, “the law does not permit an 
inquiry into their reasonableness.  They are all banned because of their actual or potential threat to the 
central nervous system of the economy.”  United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 224 n. 
59 (1940) (emphasis added). 
487 California Dental Association v. FTC, 526 U.S. 756, 770 (1999) (citing Nat’l Soc’y of Prof’l Eng’r v. 
United States, 435 U.S. 679, 692 (1978); FTC v. Indiana Federation of Dentists, 476 U.S. 447, 459 
(1986)). 
488 CCFF ¶¶ 447, 1702 (citing CX2469 at 001). 
489 CCFF ¶¶ 1246, 1303, 1311; see also CCFF ¶¶ 1301-1302, 1304-1310. 
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conspiracy,490 including stealing customers from Schein and Patterson.491  Respondents’ 

agreement preventing competition by discounting to buying groups eliminated one form of 

competition between the co-conspirators, and thus, was plainly anticompetitive.  Indeed, the 

Commission has already held in Polygram I that “restraints on price discounting . . . are 

inherently suspect because experience and economic learning consistently show that restraints of 

this sort dampen competition and harm customers.”492  Indeed, the anticompetitive effects here 

are even more obvious than in Polygram because Respondents conspired to prevent a “huge 

price war”493 and a “race to the bottom,”494 based on knowledge that buying groups could result 

in dramatic industry-wide reduction in margins.495 

Benco relies on California Dental’s refusal to apply the truncated rule of reason to the 

association’s restrictions on dentists’ ability to advertise because defendants offered the plausible 

claim that the advertising restrictions had the procompetitive purpose and effect of preventing 

misleading or false advertising claims that distort the market.496  The Court held the “likelihood 

of anticompetitive effects” was far less “obvious” in comparison to prior truncated rule of reason 

cases.497  Unlike the restriction to limit advertising in California Dental, Respondents have not 

even attempted to argue (let alone offer evidence) that an agreement to refuse to discount to 

buying groups is procompetitive.  Thus, California Dental has no application here. 

490 CCFF ¶¶ 1385-1387.  
491 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 263 (citing CX1016 at 001, CX1086 at 008, CX1087 at 001).  Dr. Marshall’s 
profitability analysis further corroborates the factual record, demonstrating that distributors that do 
business with buying groups gain shares at the expense of other competitors.  CCFF ¶¶ 1637-1684.  
492 PolyGram Holding I, 2003 WL 25797195, at *31; see also N.C. State Bd. of Dental Exam’rs v. FTC, 
717 F.3d 359, 374 (4th Cir. 2013), aff’d, 135 S. Ct. 1101 (2015) (“It is not difficult to understand that 
forcing low-cost teeth-whitening providers from the market has a tendency to increase a consumer’s price 
for that service.”). PolyGram applied the truncated rule of reason rather than the per se rule because the 
agreement limiting discounting was tied to a joint venture rather than a naked restraint.  PolyGram 
Holding I, 2003 WL 25797195, at *16-17. 
493 CCFF ¶¶ 197, 689 (quoting CX2113 at 001). 
494 CCFF ¶ 198 (quoting CX1149 at 002). 
495 CCFF ¶¶ 198, 261, 690. 
496 526 U.S. at 776-79. 
497 526 U.S. at 771. 
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2. Respondents’ Agreement Harmed Competition.   

Benco next claims that the record fails to support the allegation of harm.498  Benco puts 

the cart before the horse.  Under a truncated analysis, a defendant must first offer some plausible, 

cognizable justification for the restraint at issue to shift the burden to the plaintiff to show 

likelihood of harm.499  Benco has not produced one iota of evidence of procompetitive 

justification to necessitate a more detailed showing that the restraint is likely to harm 

competition.500 

Although no additional showing of harm is necessary, the record shows that 

Respondents’ conspiracy harmed competition by preventing discounts to buying groups— 

entities that negotiate discounts off dental supplies for independent dentist members.501 

Benco makes a half-hearted attempt to argue that there was no harm to competition 

because Respondents competed aggressively against each other for the business of individual 

dentists.502  In effect, Benco suggests that the conspirators, rather than the individual dentists 

themselves, are entitled to determine whether the dentists would benefit from participating in 

buying groups.  This argument fails.  The Supreme Court has long held that competitors are “not 

entitled to preempt the working of the market” by eliminating competition, even if that 

competition has not been proven to have a significant impact on customers.503  For example, in 

IFD, the Court held that a coordinated refusal to provide service to customers would be unlawful 

even if the service “were in fact completely useless,” as an antitrust defendant “would still not be 

498 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 51-53. 
499 PolyGram Holding I, 2003 WL 2579715, at *15 (“If the challenged restrictions are of a sort that 
generally pose significant competitive hazards . . . then the defendant can avoid summary condemnation 
only by advancing a legitimate justification . . . .”). 
500 Respondents have adduced no evidence to show that their coordinated refusal had no effect on 
competition, and such a showing would be irrelevant in any event.  See infra note 503. 
501 CCFF ¶¶ 1391-1445. 
502 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 52-53. 
503 FTC v. Indiana Federation of Dentists, 476 U.S. 447, 462 (1986).  
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justified in deciding on behalf of its members’ customers that they did not need” the service.504 

Further, as explained above, and in Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief, the very purpose of 

buying groups is to increase individual dentists’ bargaining power by leveraging their collective 

purchasing volume.505  Respondents’ continued competition for individual dentists does nothing 

to diminish the harm to competition of an agreement that prevents individual dentists from 

aggregating their purchasing power to obtain better terms. 

Benco next argues that Complaint Counsel must show “dentists paid more for dental 

products” to show harm to competition.506  Benco confuses harm to competition for injury-in 

fact.507  In IFD, applying the truncated rule of reason, the Court explicitly rejected the 

defendant’s argument that the Commission was required to show higher prices to prove that the 

agreement was an unreasonable restraint of trade.508  The Court held the concerted refusal to 

offer a service to customers was “likely enough to disrupt the proper functioning of the price-

setting mechanism of the market that it may be condemned even absent proof that it resulted in 

higher prices.”509 

504 476 U.S. 447, 462 (1986).  For the same reason, Benco cannot shift the burden back to Complaint 
Counsel to demonstrate the effects of an inherently suspect conspiracy by attempting to show that the 
agreement had “no effect” on certain customers.  See also Nat’l Soc. of Prof. Eng’rs, 435 U.S. 679, 694-
95 n.21 (1978) (“[A]n individual purchaser’s decision not to seek lower prices through competition does 
not authorize the vendors to conspire to impose that same decision on all other purchasers.”); Catalano, 
Inc. v. Target Sales, Inc., 446 U.S. 643, 649 (1980) (“[W]hen a particular concerted activity entails an 
obvious risk of anticompetitive impact with no apparent potentially redeeming value, the fact that a 
practice may turn out to be harmless in a particular set of circumstances will not prevent its being 
declared unlawful per se.”).  
505 Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 9-11; see also supra Section II.A (“Respondents’ Agreement was 
Per Se Unlawful”). 
506 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 52. 
507 Indeed, even the elimination of the “risk of competition” between the Big Three for buying groups 
“constitutes [a] relevant anticompetitive harm.”  See FTC v. Actavis, Inc., 570 U.S. 136, 157 (2013). 
508 IFD, 476 U.S. at 461-62; see also Catalano, Inc. v. Target Sales, Inc., 446 U.S. 643, 649 (1980) 
(“[W]hen a particular concerted activity entails an obvious risk of anticompetitive impact with no 
apparent potentially redeeming value, the fact that a practice may turn out to be harmless in a particular 
set of circumstances will not prevent its being declared unlawful per se.”); In re Flat Glass Antitrust 
Litig., 385 F.3d 350, 362-63 (3d Cir. 2004) (a horizontal agreement to fix prices is unlawful even if prices 
declined); see also In re High Fructose Corn Syrup, 295 F.3d at 656 (“An agreement to fix list prices is    
. . . a per se violation of the Sherman Act even if most or for that matter all transactions occur at lower 
prices.”). 
509 IFD, 476 U.S. at 461-62. 
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The record shows that Respondents’ (which together control over 80% of the market for 

dental supplies)510 agreement to refuse to discount to buying groups harmed competition.  Before 

the conspiracy, Respondents each decided independently whether to compete by discounting to 

buying groups, which resulted in Schein discounting to several buying groups, and Patterson 

nearly completing a buying group arrangement.511  During the conspiracy, however, Respondents 

systematically instructed their respective sales forces to reject buying groups.512  As a result, 

Respondents refused to discount to at least 29 buying groups.513  After the collapse of the 

conspiracy, all three Respondents started competing by doing business with buying groups.514 

Further, while the law does not require a showing of elevated prices, the record shows 

that buying groups obtain lower prices for dentists than they can on their own.  Before and after 

the conspiracy, Respondents provided discounts to buying groups in the range of 

,515 while many individual dentists paid catalog price.516  Indeed, Schein argues in 

its post-trial brief that a 7% discount is “beyond what [dentists] could individually realize.”517 

Similarly, 

510 CCFF ¶¶ 1458 (citing CX2742 at 032), 1450, 1455-1457. 
511 CCFF ¶¶ 432-453 (Schein sold to buying groups before 2011); CCFF ¶¶ 454-473 (Patterson was 
negotiating with the New Mexico Dental Cooperative). 
512 CCFF ¶¶ 394-431 (Benco); CCFF ¶¶ 589-656 (Patterson); CCFF ¶¶ 717-860 (Schein); see also 
Complaint Counsel Post-Tr. Br. at 15-16, 23-24, 26-29. 
513 Complaint Counsel Post-Tr. Br. at 74-75; CCFF ¶¶ 935-939, 1750 (Academy of General Dentistry
Buying Group); CCFF ¶ 418 (American Academy of Cosmetic Dentistry); CCFF ¶ 1750 (Business 
Intelligence Group); CCFF ¶ 645 (Catapult Group); CCFF ¶¶ 422, 646 (Dental Purchasing Group); CCFF 
¶ 419 (Dental Visits LLC); CCFF ¶ 425 (Dentistry Unchained); CCFF ¶ 415 (DDS Group); CCFF ¶ 411 
(Dr. David Carter); CCFF ¶ 417 (Erie Family Dental Equipment); CCFF ¶¶ 925-927 (Florida Dental 
Association); CCFF ¶ 750 (IDA); CCFF ¶ 423 (Insight Sourcing Group); CCFF ¶¶ 421, 639, 928-929, 
1750 (Kois Buyers Group); CCFF ¶ 648 (Dr. Narducci Buying Group); CCFF ¶¶ 414, 643, 930 (New 
Mexico Dental Cooperative); CCFF ¶ 409 (Nexus Dental); CCFF ¶¶ 931-933, 1750 (Pacific Group 
Management Services); CCFF ¶¶ 948-951, 1750 (Pearl Network Buying Group); CCFF ¶¶ 412, 934, 1750 
(Unified Smiles); CCFF ¶ 649 (UOBG); CCFF ¶¶ 410, 641 (Smile Source); CCFF ¶¶ 420, 644 (Dr. 
Stephen Sebastian); CCRF ¶ (Benco) ¶ 262 (CX1208 at 001, CCFF ¶ 404) (Save Dentists, Inc.); CCFF ¶ 
424 (Schulman Group); CCFF ¶¶ 408, 952-954, 1750 (Synergy Dental Partners); CCFF ¶¶ 942-945 
(Tralongo); CCFF ¶ 416 (WheelSpoke LLC); CCFF ¶ 413 (XYZ Dental).   
514 CCFF ¶¶ 1316-1387. 
515 CCFF ¶¶ 1391-1395, 1398-1410. 
516 CCFF ¶ 1415. 
517 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 40. 
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.518  In fact, Respondents’ concern that the entry of buying groups 

would dampen their prices and margins prompted the conspiracy in the first place—each of the 

Big Three knew that growth of the buying group model in dental would result in lower 

margins.519  Thus, the agreement to refuse to deal with buying groups deprives independent 

dentists of the ability to obtain those lower prices.  Benco has no response to this factual record. 

In addition, Dr. Marshall’s analysis of dental distributors’ transactional data further 

confirmed the evidence in the record.520  Dr. Marshall’s analysis tracked the prices and margins 

that buying group members (i.e., individual dentists) paid to a distributor before and after the 

distributor began working with the buying group.521 

.523  Benco does not even attempt to address the latter, which further 

confirms the record evidence that buying group members pay less for dental products than non-

buying group members: 

518 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 383 

. 
519 Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 12-14. 
520 CCFF ¶¶ 1412-1445. 
521 CCFF ¶¶ 1416-1422. 
522 CCFF ¶¶ 1419, 1421, 1423-1441. 
523 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1377. 
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Benco argues the Court should ignore the results of Dr. Marshall’s analysis because he 

failed to properly define a relevant market.525  But market definition is not relevant to Dr. 

Marshall’s analysis—which examined the distributors’ transactional data— 

.526  This result does not change no matter 

how one defines the market.527 

524 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1377 (citing ). 
525 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 52. 
526 CCFF ¶¶ 1419, 1421, 1423-1441. 
527 Furthermore, as discussed in Complaint Counsel’s opening brief, relevant market definitions are not 
necessary here because Respondents put forward no cognizable procompetitive justification for the 
restraint at issue and there is otherwise proof of anticompetitive harm.  Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. 
at 79-80. 

79 



 

 
 

PUBLIC 

528  Even if it were true, this happenstance would be completely 

irrelevant, as discussed above.  Moreover, Benco’s claim is unsupported in any event.  

.531  Dr. Marshall looked across multiple geographic regions, multiple distributors, 

and multiple time periods to confirm his finding that dentists paid lower prices and margins upon 

joining a buying group.532  By aggregating data—a standard economic tool that has been 

identified as one of the pillars of statistical analysis533—Dr. Marshall’s analysis provides a much 

528 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 53. 
529 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1377. 

. 
530 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1373; see also CX 7101 at 061 (¶ 156) (Marshall Rebuttal Expert Report). 
531 CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1373, 1377. 
532 CCFF ¶¶ 1416-1441. 
533 Stephen M. Stigler, The Seven Pillars of Statistical Wisdom 4, 13-44 (2016) (attached hereto as 
Attachment A).    
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more robust conclusion than the two MSAs cherry-picked by Dr. Johnson.534  More importantly, 

Dr. Marshall’s conclusions confirm the factual record (while Benco’s argument contradicts the 

record), including 
535 . 

III. BENCO’S INVITATION TO COLLUDE VIOLATED SECTION 5.  

A. The FTC Has Authority to Bring Invitation to Collude Cases. 

Benco first challenges the FTC’s ability to bring any invitation to collude case, ignoring 

binding Supreme Court precedent.536  It is well-settled law that the FTC has authority to 

challenge behavior that “conflict[s] with the basic policies of the Sherman and Clayton Acts even 

though such practices may not actually violate those laws.”537  This authority enables the FTC to 

534 CCRF (Benco) 1373; see also CX 7101 at 062 (¶ 159) (Marshall Rebuttal Expert Report).  

  Dr. Wu’s analyses also suffer from numerous 
other fundamental flaws that make it impossible for the Court to rely on them.  See CCRF (Benco) ¶ 1373 
(identifying additional flaws in Dr. Wu’s analysis). 
535 CCFF ¶ 1406 

; Cohen, Tr. 
449 (same)). 
536 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 54-55. 
537 FTC v. Brown Shoe Co., 384 U.S. 316, 321 (1966); see also Fashion Originators’ Guild v. FTC, 312 
U.S. 457, 466 (1941); FTC v. Motion Picture Advertising Servs. Co., 344 U.S. 392, 394-95 (1953) (“It is 
also clear that the Federal Trade Commission Act was designed to supplement and bolster the Sherman 
Act and the Clayton Act to stop in their incipiency acts and practices which, when full blown, would 
violate those Acts.”) (internal citations omitted); FTC v. R.F. Keppel & Bro., 291 U.S. 304, 425 (1934)
(“It would not have been a difficult feat of draftsmanship to have restricted the operation of the Trade 
Commission Act to those methods of competition in interstate commerce which are forbidden at common
law or which are likely to grow into violations of the Sherman Act, if that had been the purpose of the 
legislation.”). 
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stop behavior, which could otherwise ripen into a Sherman Act violation, at its incipiency.538  In 

Fashion Originators’ Guild v. FTC, the Supreme Court held that the petitioner need not succeed 

in achieving a complete monopoly to find a violation of the FTC Act.539  “It was, in fact, one of 

the hopes of those who sponsored the [FTC Act] that its effect might be prophylactic and that 

through it attempts to bring about complete monopolization of an industry might be stopped in 

their incipiency.”540 

Benco relies on a single case, Boise Cascade, to argue that Section 5 of the FTC Act does 

not reach invitations to collude because invitations “involve[] no actual harm to competition.”541 

Boise Cascade held that, where the Commission challenged an industry’s use of a delivered 

pricing systems without any evidence of collusive behavior, the plaintiff must establish the effect 

of price fixing to make out a Section 5 violation.542  Benco ignores that the court expressly 

limited its holding to allegations related to delivered pricing systems in the absence of any 

evidence of collusive behavior.543  The court never held that the FTC Act does not extend to 

invitations to collude, and it certainly does not limit invitations like this one where there is 

attempted overt collusion.544 

Benco next argues that an August 13, 2015 Commission statement somehow reflects a 

change in the Commission’s long held views545 that invitations to collude are “the quintessential 

538 Fashion Originators’ Guild v. FTC, 312 U.S. 457, 466 (1941); FTC v. Cement Institute, 333 U.S. 683, 
693 (1948) (“All of the committee reports and the statements of those in charge of the Trade Commission 
Act reveal an abiding purpose to vest . . . the Commission . . . with adequate powers to hit at every trade 
practice . . . which restrained competition or might lead to such restraint if not stopped in its incipient 
stages.”); id. at 708 (“A major purpose” of FTC Act is “to enable the Commission to restrain practices as 
‘unfair’ which, although not yet having grown into Sherman Act dimensions would, most likely do so if 
left unrestrained.”). 
539 312 U.S. 457, 466 (1941). 
540 Fashion Originators’ Guild, 312 U.S. at 466. 
541 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 54-55. 
542 Boise Cascade Corp. v. FTC, 637 F.2d 573, 576-77 (9th Cir. 1980). 
543 637 F.2d 573, 582 (9th Cir. 1980) (“[T]he law of delivered pricing is well forged . . . . [T]he 
Commission must find either collusion or actual effect on competition to make out a section 5 violation 
for use of delivered pricing.”) 
544 637 F.2d 573, 576-77 (9th Cir. 1980). 
545 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 55. 
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example” of conduct that should be challenged.546  On the contrary, that Commission statement 

confirmed its view that it has authority over invitations to collude and other cases “that 

contravene the spirit of the antitrust laws” and “if allowed to mature or complete, could violate 

the Sherman or Clayton Act.”547  As to anticompetitive effects, Benco’s argument ignores that, 

had Burkhart accepted the invitation to collude, it would have been an anticompetitive agreement 

resulting in harm to competition without a shred of a procompetitive benefit.548  That Burkhart 

declined the invitation does not immunize Benco from liability—the FTC Act is broader than the 

Sherman and Clayton Acts to deter just such pernicious behavior.549  Indeed, a solicitation to 

engage in an anticompetitive agreement is dangerous “because of its potential to cause harm to 

consumers if the invitation is accepted.”550 

Finally, Benco argues that because invitations to collude have not been litigated in federal 

court, they must be rejected.551  Benco ignores Supreme Court precedent establishing that the 

FTC has authority to bring cases that threaten antitrust principles even though they have not 

ripened into a Sherman Act or Clayton Act case.552  Benco likewise ignores that the First Circuit 

explicitly recognized the FTC’s authority to bring an invitation to collude as a standalone Section 

546 In re McWane, Inc., Docket No. 9351, 2012 WL 4101793, at *17 (FTC Sept. 14, 2012) (Comm’n Op.) 
(internal quotation omitted).   
547 Statement of Enforcement Principles Regarding “Unfair Methods of Competition” Under Section 5 of 
the FTC Act (Aug. 13, 2015).  The Commission continues to bring new invitation to collude cases even 
where the solicitee rejects the invitation. See, e.g., In re Oregon Lithoprint Inc., File No. 161-0230, 2018 
WL 1314915, at *1-2 (FTC Mar. 9, 2018) (Complaint). 
548 As established, supra, Respondents’ agreement not to discount to a customer segment is per se
unlawful (and unlawful under the truncated rule of reason analysis) because it causes harm to competition 
without a single procompetitive benefit. See supra Section II.A and II.C.  As discussed in more detail 
infra Section III.B, had Burkhart accepted Benco’s invitation to join the conspiracy, it too would cause 
harm to competition without any procompetitive benefit.  CCFF ¶ 1250. 
549 See In re Fortiline, Inc., No. 151-0000, 2016 WL 4379041, at *11 (FTC Aug. 9, 2016) (citing In re 
Valassis Commc’ns, No. C-4160, 2006 WL 6679058, at *8 (FTC Apr. 19, 2006) (Analysis of Agreement 
Containing Consent Order to Aid Public Comment)); see also Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 104 
(discussing three policy rationales for the Commission’s prosecution of invitations to collude). 
550 Liu v. Amerco, 677 F.3d 489, 494 (1st Cir. 2012) (emphasis added); see also In re Valassis Commc’ns, 
2006 WL 6679058, at *8 (Analysis of Agreement Containing Consent Order to Aid Public Comment)). 
551 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 55. 
552 Fashion Originators’ Guild v. FTC, 312 U.S. 457, 466 (1941); FTC v. Motion Picture Advertising 
Servs. Co., 344 U.S. 392, 394-95 (1953); FTC v. Brown Shoe Co., 384 U.S. 316, 321 (1966). 
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5 violation;553 leading scholars have endorsed the Commission’s use of Section 5 to challenge 

unaccepted invitations to conspire;554 and federal courts have upheld complaints alleging similar 

claims of attempted monopolization555 and attempted price-fixing.556 

B. The Evidence Establishes that Benco Invited Burkhart to Refuse to Discount 
to Buying Groups. 

1. Benco Invited Burkhart on Three Occasions to Refuse to Discount to 
Buying Groups. 

Benco next argues that the facts here fail to establish an invitation to collude.  Benco is 

incorrect.  The evidence shows that Benco invited Burkhart on three separate occasions to stop 

discounting to buying groups.557  Benco’s McElaney warned Reece over two telephone 

conversations to “be really careful”558 working with buying groups because they were “not 

favorable to the dental industry.”559  Benco’s Cohen also pressured Reece to stop working with 

buying groups, informing Reece that buying groups would cause “declining margins,” “threaten 

profitability,” and were unhealthy for the dental distribution industry.560  Reece testified that over 

the course of the three unsolicited communications: 

Benco [ ] encouraged Burkhart not to engage in group purchasing 
organizations based on the fact that that was going to be 
detrimental to our business and certainly to the business in the 
dental industry.561 

553 Liu v. Amerco, 677 F.3d 489, 494 (1st Cir. 2012). 
554 Philip Areeda & Herbert Hovenkamp, Fundamentals of Antitrust Law (“Areeda”) ¶ 1419d (4th ed. 
2011); Stephen Calkins, Counterpoint: The Legal Foundation of the Commission’s Use of Section 5 to
Challenge Invitations to Collude is Secure, 14 Antitrust 69 (Spring 2000). 
555 United States v. American Airlines Inc., 743 F.2d 1114, 1122 (5th Cir. 1984). 
556 Liu v. Amerco, 677 F.3d 489, 494, 496 (1st Cir. 2012). 
557 CCFF ¶¶ 1199-1252. 
558 CCFF ¶¶ 1211, 1238; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 640 (quoting Reece, Tr. 4377). 
559 CCFF ¶ 1211 (quoting Reece, Tr. 4377). 
560 CCFF ¶ 1232; see also ¶¶ 1227-1231, 1234. 
561 CCFF ¶ 1237 (quoting Reece, Tr. 4391); see also CCFF ¶¶ 1211-1214, 1222, 1228, 1231-1232, 1234, 
1238. 
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Burkhart declined Benco’s advances and continued to work with new buying groups.562 

The year following Benco’s invitation, Burkhart entered into a discounting arrangement with the 

Kois Buyers Group, offering members savings of at least off catalog price.563  Had 

Burkhart accepted Benco’s offer, the impact would have been an increase in the price of dental 

supplies.564 

Benco’s argument boils down to three points, none of which refutes the existence of an 

invitation to collude.  First, Benco claims that there was no invitation because Benco did not 

specifically inform Reece of its policy, and at the time of the conversations, Reece believed that 

Benco was selling to buying groups.565  Benco misinterprets the underpinnings of an invitation to 

collude.  It is the state of mind of Benco—the solicitor—that is relevant to establishing an 

invitation to collude.566  Benco acted with the intent to facilitate collusion by encouraging 

Burkhart to match Benco’s no buying group policy.567  Benco’s repeated emphasis on the harm 

to the industry as a whole568 reflects its goal of collective action.  Confirming Benco’s intent, 

Benco sought to shore up the agreement with Schein and Patterson following the first telephone 

call in which Reece rebuffed McElaney’s invitation.569 

Furthermore, just as no magic words are required for an agreement, solicitors are not 

confined to any particular formula in making their solicitation.570  As stated in the Areeda & 

Hovenkamp treatise, “The solicitation may appear ambiguous, such as when a competitor merely 

562 CCFF ¶ 1240; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 641. 
563 CCFF ¶ 1240; CCFF ¶ 138 ; CCFF ¶ 1728; CCFF ¶ 164 (Kois 
Buyers Group started in 2014). 
564 CCFF ¶ 1250. 
565 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 57. 
566 See In re Valassis Commc’ns, Inc., Docket No. C-4160, 2006 WL 6679058, at *3 (FTC Apr. 19, 2006) 
(Complaint) (respondent’s statements on an earnings call were made with “intent to facilitate collusion 
and without a legitimate business purpose.”) 
567 CCFF ¶¶ 1217-1218.  Following the first communication, Benco’s McElaney reported that “I spoke 
with Jeff Reece at length late Friday about buying groups.  JEFF [Reece] DOES NOT GET IT!!!”  CCFF 
¶ 1218. 
568 CCFF ¶¶ 1211-1214, 1227-1229, 1231-1234, 1237-1238. 
569 CCFF ¶ 1103. 
570 See Esco Corp. v. United States, 340 F.2d 1000, 1007 (9th Cir. 1965) (“A knowing wink can mean 
more than words.”); Areeda ¶ 1419a.  
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complains to its rival about the latter’s ‘low price.’”571  A solicitor need not inform the solicitee 

of its own prices to invite collusion; complaining about the competitor’s pricing is action enough 

because “the only business rationale for complaining is to induce a higher price.”572  Likewise, 

here, that Benco did not inform Burkhart of its specific policy is of no consequence.573  Benco 

complained about Burkhart’s discounting to buying groups, imploring Burkhart to stop working 

with buying groups—the only conceivable purpose for Benco’s repeated overtures was to induce 

Burkhart to match Benco’s no buying group policy.574 

Second, Benco argues that Reece did not speak with Cohen at the 2013 DTA meeting, 

citing Cohen’s testimony that he did not recall the conversation and relying on the absence of a 

note in Cohen’s files to suggest that the meeting did not occur.575  But Cohen’s failure of 

recollection cannot erase Benco’s concession in its Answer that Cohen and Reece spoke at the 

October 2013 DTA meeting.576  Additionally, Benco ignores contemporaneous documents and 

testimony from its own witness (Ryan) supporting Reece’s testimony that the meeting 

occurred.577 

Third, Benco argues that its executives did not tell Reece about the unlawful agreement 

between Schein, Patterson, and Benco.  This is both legally irrelevant and completely 

unsurprising: most conspirators are not foolish enough to inform their non-conspiring 

competitors of an anticompetitive agreement, nor does the law require such specificity to find an 

571 Areeda ¶ 1419a.  
572 Areeda ¶ 1419a.  
573 See, e.g., In re Precision Moulding Co., Docket No. C-3682, 1996 WL 33412156, at *2 (FTC Sept. 3, 
1996) (Complaint) (respondent told competitor that its prices were “ridiculously low” and the competitor 
need not “give the product away”); In re YKK (USA) Inc., Docket No. C-3445, 1993 WL 13009644, at 
*1-2 (FTC July 1, 1993) (Complaint) (respondent sought to urge competitor to desist from offering free 
installation equipment). 
574 See Areeda ¶ 1419a.  
575 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 57. 
576 CCRF (Benco) ¶ 646; see also CCRF (Benco) ¶ 647 (citing CX1112 at 028-029 (Benco’s Answer to 
Complaint ¶ 59). 
577 CCFF ¶¶ 1244-1245; CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 646-647 ; Cohen, 
Tr. 584-585; Ryan, Tr. 1107-1108).  Benco also argues that Reece testified inconsistently in a deposition 
in a completely unrelated lawsuit.  Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 57; BFF ¶ 646.  Benco’s cited testimony is in 
response to an unrelated line of questioning in a proceeding in which the FTC was neither present nor a 
party, and as such, it should not be considered.  CCRF (Benco) ¶ 646. 
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antitrust violation.578  The evidence shows that Benco approached Burkhart and encouraged 

Burkhart to refuse to engage with buying groups based on the collective threat to the dental 

industry as a whole579—no additional words are required.580  In soliciting an anticompetitive 

agreement, “a knowing wink can mean more than words.”581 

2. The Three Communications At Issue Were Not Vague.   

Benco next claims that the communications were too vague to meet the standard set out 

in E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. v. FTC (“Ethyl”). 582 Ethyl is inapposite because the court’s 

holding related to challenged practices that are “not collusive, coercive, predatory or 

exclusionary in character.”583  By contrast, the challenged practice in this case—i.e., inviting 

Burkhart to refuse to discount to a customer segment—was an invitation to “collusive” behavior. 

While Ethyl is irrelevant to the facts here, the conduct at issue meets the Ethyl standard. 

Ethyl directed that there must be some indicia of “anticompetitive intent or purpose” or absence 

of a “legitimate business reason” for the conduct.584  The indicia here confirms both.  Benco 

invited Burkhart three times to refuse to discount to buying groups for the purpose of keeping 

buying groups out of the dental industry.585  Benco does not provide any procompetitive business 

reason for its competitor communications. 

578 In re Wholesale Grocery Prods. Antitrust Litig., 752 F.3d 728, 734 (8th Cir. 2014) (“Perhaps there are 
aspiring monopolists foolish enough to reduce their entire anticompetitive agreement to writing, which 
would make the answer easy.  But most would-be monopolists probably can be expected to display a bit 
more guile, jotting down only a few seemingly common terms while sealing their true anticompetitive 
agreement with a knowing nod and wink.”). 
579 CCFF ¶ 1237 (quoting Reece, Tr. 4391); see also CCFF ¶¶ 1211-1212, 1222, 1227-1232, 1234, 1238, 
1241. 
580 See Wholesale Grocery Prods., 752 F.3d at 734; Esco, 340 F.2d at 1007 (“A knowing wink can mean 
more than words.”). 
581 Esco, 340 F.2d at 1007. 
582 729 F.2d 128, 130 (2d Cir. 1984). 
583 729 F.2d at 138.  In Ethyl, the court addressed non-collusive behavior, in which firms independently
and unilaterally adopted three business practices: delivered pricing, advance notice of price increases, and 
“most favored nation” clauses in customer contracts.  729 F.2d at 138. 
584 729 F.2d at 139. 
585 CCFF ¶¶ 1212-1213; see also CCFF ¶¶ 1214, 1227-1229, 1231-1234, 1237-1238, 1241. 
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Benco next argues that the communications at issue do not violate Section 5 because they 

do not involve an “explicit invitation specifying the details of a proposed unlawful 

agreement.”586  As discussed previously, an antitrust conspiracy does not require an exchange of 

specific words.587  Moreover, this is not a case of vague and ambiguous indirect 

communications—Reece testified to three direct competitor communications in which Benco 

encouraged Burkhart to refuse a customer segment.588  The Commission’s consent agreements 

cited by Benco establish that no formal words are required to find an invitation to collude, much 

less the “explicit invitation specifying the details” of the agreement that Benco urges.589 

586 Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 59. 
587 See Am. Tobacco Co. v. United States, 147 F.2d 93, 107 (6th Cir. 1944); Esco, 340 F.2d at 1007; see 
also In re Wholesale Grocery Prods. Antitrust Litig., 752 F.3d 728, 734 (8th Cir. 2014) (“Perhaps there 
are aspiring monopolists foolish enough to reduce their entire anticompetitive agreement to writing, 
which would make the answer easy.  But most would-be monopolists probably can be expected to display 
a bit more guile, jotting down only a few seemingly common terms while sealing their true 
anticompetitive agreement with a knowing nod and wink.”). 
588 CCFF ¶¶ 1211-1214, 1227-1229, 1231-1234, 1237-1238, 1241. 
589 In re Quality Trailer Prods. Corp., Docket No. C-3403, 1992 WL 12011079, at *1 (FTC Nov. 5, 1992) 
(Complaint) (respondent complained to competitor that its price was “too low”); In re AE Clevite, Inc., 
Docket No. C-3429, 1993 WL 13009628, at *1 (June 8, 1993) (Complaint) (respondent advised 
competitor that its prices were “ruining the marketplace” because they were too low); In re Valassis 
Commc’ns, Inc., Docket No. C-4160, 2006 WL 6679058, at *3 (FTC Apr. 19, 2006) (Complaint) 
(respondent stated on earnings call that it would “quote all [competitor’s] first right of refusal customers 
at the floor price”); see also In re Precision Moulding Co., Docket No. C-3682, 1996 WL 33412156, at 
*2 (FTC Sept. 3, 1996) (Complaint) (respondent told competitor that its prices were “ridiculously low” 
and the competitor need not “give the product away”); In re YKK (USA) Inc., Docket No. C-3445, 1993 
WL 13009644, at *1-2 (FTC July 1, 1993) (Complaint) (respondent sought to urge competitor to desist 
from offering free installation equipment).   
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COMPLAINT COUNSEL’S REPLY TO PATTERSON’S POST-TRIAL BRIEF 

INTRODUCTION 

Patterson’s post-trial brief fails to explain away the unambiguous evidence showing that 

from 2013 to 2015: (1) Patterson and Benco exchanged assurances about not discounting to 

buying groups, then Patterson confronted Benco over perceived cheating on the agreement;590 (2) 

Patterson demonstrated a conscious commitment to a policy of not discounting to buying 

groups;591 and (3) Patterson’s executives confidently predicted its competitors’ conduct and 

acted in reliance on that prediction.592  This is direct evidence that the competitors formed a 

“conscious commitment to a common scheme.”593  Patterson alleges that this is not direct 

evidence, but even if construed as circumstantial evidence, when considered in conjunction with 

the totality of the evidence including parallel conduct and plus factors, it constitutes proof of a 

meeting of the minds between Patterson and its competitors to refuse discounts to buying groups.   

Patterson’s internal communications establish its conscious commitment to a policy of 

not discounting to buying groups from 2013 to 2015.594  Patterson’s co-conspirators agree.595 

Likewise, contemporaneous documents authored by Patterson executives prove Patterson’s 

590 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 17-22 (filed Apr. 11, 2019); United States v. Beaver, 515 F.3d 
730, 738 (7th Cir. 2008) (confrontation about cheating); In re Flat Glass Antitrust Litig., 385 F.3d 350, 
361 (3d Cir. 2004) (exchange of assurances of common action); United States v. FMC Corp., 306 F. 
Supp. 1106, 1149-50 (E.D. Pa. 1969) (“mutual exchanges of assurances of joint action constituted an 
illegal agreement in violation of the Sherman Antitrust Act.”).   
591 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 23-25.  
592 See id. at 19-20.  
593 See Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Serv. Corp., 465 U.S. 752, 764 (1984) (citation omitted). 
594 See, e.g., Complaint Counsel’s Proposed Finding of Facts (“CCFF”)  ¶¶ 630, 635 (filed Apr. 11, 2019) 
(quoting CX3168 at 001 (“We don’t sell to buying groups.”)), 544 (quoting CX0093 at 001 (“[C]urrently
we do [not] participate with group purchasing organizations.”)), 635 (quoting CX3342 at 001 (“I want to 
make sure that GPO’s are not something we as a company are choosing to partner with at this point.  I 
know Dave has been clear about this in the past and I wanted to verify that this is still the case.”)), 635 
(quoting CX3128 at 001 (“As a rule we are trying our best to steer clear of all buying groups.”)), 607 
(quoting CX3074 at 001 (“We have said no at every turn” in response to buying groups)). 
595 See, e.g., Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 88 (filed Apr. 11, 2019) (“Patterson followed a practice of declining 
business with buying groups.  Neither Benco nor Patterson made sales to buying groups during the 
alleged conspiracy, or made serious attempts to negotiate with them.”); Schein F ¶ 349 (“In practice, 
Patterson summarily rejected many groups based on the fact that they were buying groups or GPOs, 
which did not fit Patterson’s strategy.”) (emphasis added). 
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compliance with the agreement.  These include VP of Sales David Misiak’s, “[c]onfidential and 

not for discussion” assurance that “our 2 largest competitors stay out of these [buying groups] as 

well,”596 and VP of Marketing Tim Rogan’s exhortation that “[w]e don’t need GPO’s in the 

dental business.  Schein, Benco, and Patterson have always said no.  I believe it is our duty to 

uphold this and protect this great industry.”597  Finally, the exchange of assurances with Benco, 

and Patterson confronting Benco about cheating on their common scheme, is exposed through 

six unambiguous emails, to which Patterson has no serious response.   

First, on February 8, 2013, Cohen informed Guggenheim of Benco’s policy to “not 

recognize, work with, or offer discounts to buying groups.”598  As Cohen himself admitted, he 

had no business reason to make his competitor aware of non-public information599 of significant 

strategic importance. 

Second, approximately twenty minutes after receiving it, Guggenheim forwarded 

Cohen’s email to Misiak and Rogan.600  Guggenheim admitted that he promptly sent Cohen’s 

email to these two men because it was relevant to their positions as VP of Sales and head of 

pricing,601 and the relevance is clear: Patterson could refuse to discount to buying groups, secure 

in the knowledge that Benco adhered to the same policy.   

Third, more than two hours after he forwarded Cohen’s assurance to his two key pricing 

and sales executives, Guggenheim crafted and sent a response to Cohen,602 assuring him that 

“We feel the same way about these.”603  Patterson’s brief dismisses this critical communication 

as “a 10-second email,”604 but the length of time it took to type out the words is irrelevant.  What 

596 CCFF ¶¶ 549 (quoting CX0093 at 001) (emphasis in original), 1187. 
597 CCFF ¶ 603 (quoting CX0106 at 001). 
598 CCFF ¶ 483 (quoting CX0056 at 001); see also CCFF ¶ 484. 
599 CCFF ¶¶ 488-490 (quoting Guggenheim, Tr. 1597; citing CX0301 (Cohen, IHT at 243)). 
600 CCFF ¶ 491. 
601 CCFF ¶¶ 494 (citing Guggenheim, Tr. 1607), 1944-1945, 1947, 1951-1952; Complaint Counsel’s 
Response to Patterson Proposed Finding of Fact (“CCRF (Patterson)”) ¶ 272 (citing CX0314 
(Guggenheim, IHT at 256)). 
602 CCFF ¶¶ 491, 493, 1938. 
603 CCFF ¶ 495 (quoting CX0090 at 001). 
604 See Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 5-6, 26, 28-29, 57-58, 63 (filed Apr. 11, 2019). 
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matters is the words themselves and the meaning they conveyed.  Patterson’s statement to Benco 

that it “fe[lt] the same way” about “not recognize[ing], work[ing] with, or offer[ing] discounts to 

buying groups”605 was an assurance that the two competitors would not offer discounts to 

specific customers, with no procompetitive justification.  Indeed, Guggenheim admitted that he 

had no legitimate business reason for sharing this information with Benco.606 

Fourth, on June 6, 2013, Guggenheim confronted Cohen upon learning Benco was 

discounting to an entity it believed to be a buying group (Atlantic Dental Care), and to confirm 

that his competitor had not abandoned its policy not to discount to buying groups, asking Cohen: 

“Reflecting back on our conversation earlier this year . . . I’m wondering if your position on 

buying groups is still as you articulated back in February.”607  Patterson’s brief provides no 

explanation for this confrontation, which required Guggenheim to remember Cohen’s February 

email (he admitted he never forgot it608), locate it in his email inbox four months after the fact, 

and blind-copy the key executives in his organization who had previously been assured of 

Benco’s policy (Misiak, Rogan, and Nease). 

Fifth, on June 8, 2013, Cohen reassured Guggenheim of Benco’s policy (“As we’ve 

discussed, we don’t recognize buying groups”), and explained in point-by-point detail that Benco 

had not changed its policy or cheated on the agreement with respect to Atlantic Dental Care.609 

Sixth, on June 10, 2013, Guggenheim confirmed to Cohen that the common policy was 

still understood (“Sounds good Chuck, Just wanted to clarify where you guys stand”),610 and then 

forwarded the exchange of assurances to another Patterson executive responsible for refusing 

discounts to buying groups (McFadden).611 

605 CCFF ¶ 495 (quoting CX0090 at 001). 
606 CCFF ¶ 1168 (citing Guggenheim, Tr. 1612; CX0314 (Guggenheim, IHT at 248)). 
607 CCFF ¶¶ 569-570 (quoting CX0095 at 001).  
608 CCFF ¶ 567 (citing Guggenheim, Tr. 1627). 
609 CCFF ¶ 575 (quoting CX0062 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 574, 577, 579. 
610 CCFF ¶ 582 (quoting CX0062 at 001). 
611 See CCFF ¶¶ 585 (citing CX0098; CX0062), 624; CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 58 (McFadden, Tr. 2685 (“I 
believe pretty much every inquiry I received from buying groups or GPOs and such, I always told them
thank you, but no thanks.”)). 
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These documents provide direct evidence that Patterson and its competitors reached a 

meeting of the minds that each would refuse to discount to buying groups.612  Patterson’s post-

trial brief does not seriously address this evidence.  Instead, to evade liability, Patterson attempts 

to impose a heightened legal standard for proving an antitrust conspiracy, such as a requirement 

that Patterson use the word “commit,” or that the agreement be “written” or “signed.”  These 

suggestions fail as a matter of law.613 

Patterson’s post-trial brief fails to confront additional inter-firm communications 

establishing a conspiracy among competitors.  For example, Patterson ignores the exchange 

between Patterson and Schein about attending the Texas Dental Association (“TDA”) annual 

meeting in response to TDA’s creation of a buying group.614  This direct communication 

establishes that Schein and Patterson discussed a shared approach to TDA after it sponsored a 

buying group, and that Patterson considered confronting Schein with a phone call when it 

appeared that Schein reneged.615  The evidence does not lose its probative value simply because 

the Complaint does not allege a separate count of boycotting TDA’s 2014 meeting.616 

612 Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp., 467 U.S. 752, 771 (1984) (“[A]greement may be 
found when ‘the conspirators had a unity of purpose or a common design and understanding, or a meeting 
of minds in an unlawful arrangement.”) (citation omitted).   
613 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.A & n.16; Complaint Counsel’s Post-
Tr. Br. at 38-40. 
614 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 36-37.  In January 2014, Steck emailed Misiak: “I’ll be 
calling you to let you know about our decision on the matter we recently discussed in the next couple of 
days,” referring to Schein’s decision on whether to pull out of the TDA annual meeting.  CCFF ¶ 1130 
(quoting CX0112 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 1123-1132.  By this point, Patterson had already withdrawn 
from the meeting, and Misiak forwarded this email to his colleague Rogan, with the note: “He already
told me they were out. Full blown!”  CCFF ¶ 1131 (quoting CX0112 at 001).  Rogan responded, “That 
sucks.  You should call him.  ‘Thought I could trust you’ type of conversation.”  Id. 
615 Further direct evidence of communications regarding TDA is provided by Benco’s Texas regional 
manager’s admission: “I have been talking to the directors of Schein and Patterson.  We are going to be 
taking a stand together against [TDA].”  CCFF ¶ 1119 (quoting CX1278 (Excel worksheet “Chats” tab at 
row 9)); see also CCFF ¶¶ 1118-1119. 
616 Patterson attempts to dodge the entire TDA episode with a footnote claiming Complaint Counsel has 
conceded it is not alleging a boycott of the TDA.  Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 27 n.28.  While Complaint 
Counsel is not alleging that Respondents’ actions with respect to the TDA are a boycott of the TDA, 
Respondents communications and conduct in response to TDA’s buying group demonstrates a conscious 
commitment to a common scheme.  These communications are highly relevant and should be considered 
along with totality of the record.  In re High Fructose Corn Syrup Antitrust Litig., 295 F.3d 651, 655-56 
(7th Cir. 2002) (“The question for the jury in a case such as this would simply be whether, when the 
evidence was considered as a whole, it was more likely that the defendants had conspired to fix prices 
than that they had not conspired to fix prices.”). 
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Patterson’s own executives could not think of any other way to interpret this exchange,617 

leaving Patterson no recourse other than to attempt to sweep this episode under the rug. 

Nor does Patterson have a response to inculpatory internal Patterson communications, 

such as Misiak’s statement: “I’m concerned that Schein and Benco sneak into these co-op bids 

and deny it.”618  Patterson fails to explain (1) how this “concern” makes sense absent a prior 

agreement not to discount to buying groups; (2) why Schein or Benco have to “sneak” around to 

bid on a buying group when they should be in open competition with Patterson for customers; or 

(3) why would they “deny it” to Patterson.  Like Patterson’s post-trial brief, Misiak himself 

could not come up with a justification for what he meant.619  Patterson’s “concern” about its 

competitors “sneaking into bids” (cheating) establishes a conscious commitment to a common 

scheme not to discount to buying groups.  The conspiracy is confirmed by Misiak’s other efforts 

to monitor Benco’s and Schein’s compliance with the common scheme.  For example, he wrote: 

“Confidential and not for discussion . . our 2 largest competitors stay out of these as well.  If you 

hear differently and have specific proof please send that to me.”620  This statement shows that 

Misiak confidently predicted what his biggest rivals will do in a competitive situation, which is 

unambiguous evidence of conspiracy.621  Such information was not based on mere market 

intelligence, as Misiak testified that market intelligence is neither “confidential” nor “not for 

discussion.”622  In addition, Misiak’s statement indicates that Patterson contemplated action if it 

detected a rival failing to adhere to the agreement – e.g., confronting its co-conspirators in an 

effort to enforce the agreement, just as Patterson did in the June 2013 Guggenheim-Cohen email 

(blind-copied to Misiak).623 

617 CCFF ¶ 1132; (quoting Misiak, Tr. 1414; CX8038 (Misiak, Dep. at 290-93)). 
618 CCFF ¶¶ 540 (quoting CX0092 at 001), 549 (quoting CX0093 at 001), 555, 1187. 
619 CCFF ¶ 1189 (citing Misiak, Tr. 1370, 1372). 
620 CCFF ¶ 1184 (quoting CX0093 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 549, 552. 
621 See B&R Supermkt., Inc. v. Visa, Inc., No. 16-01150, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 136204, *20-22 (N.D. 
Cal. Sept. 30, 2016) (MasterCard’s representative “could not speak so confidently on behalf of all 
networks save and except for her knowledge of collusion, for true competition would have driven one or 
more networks to break ranks and offer more competitive terms.”) 
622 CCFF ¶ 553 (citing Misiak, Tr. 1363-1364). 
623 CCFF ¶¶ 569 (quoting Guggenheim, Tr. 1628), 564-568, 570-571. 
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Likewise, Patterson fails to address incriminating admissions of Patterson’s co-

conspirators, notably the statement by Benco’s Ryan: “CHUCK—maybe what you should do is 

make sure you tell Tim and Paul to hold their positions as we are.”624  Such blatant exhortations 

to naked collusion provide compelling evidence of conspiracy. 

RESPONSE TO PATTERSON’S ASSERTIONS REGARDING “THE FACT RECORD” 

I. PATTERSON’S COMPETITION FOR INDEPENDENT DENTISTS’ BUSINESS 
IS IRRELEVANT TO THE VIOLATION COMPLAINT COUNSEL ALLEGES 

Patterson spends several pages arguing that Respondents competed for independent 

dentists and DSOs.625  Whether Respondents competed for other customers is irrelevant to 

whether Respondents conspired to restrict competition for buying groups.626  No matter how 

vigorous, Patterson’s competition for independent dentists and DSOs does not absolve it from 

Respondents’ illegal agreement not to discount to buying groups.627  “There is no requirement 

under Section 1 of the Sherman Act that all avenues of competition be eliminated . . . .”628 

Patterson emphasizes the number of price class change forms it located, but its own 

executives conceded that the price class change forms reveal not a single discount to a buying 

624 CCFF ¶ 1103 (quoting CX0023 at 001). 
625 See Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 10-15.  
626 See In re Benco Dental Supply Co., Docket No. 9379, 2018 WL 6338485, at *15 (FTC Nov. 26, 2018) 
(Patterson’s claims of competition for independent dentists and DSOs is “not material” as it is “outside 
the scope of the alleged conspiracy.”). 
627 See Fashion Originators Guild of Am. v. FTC, 312 U.S. 457, 461 (1941) (“While continuing to 
compete with one another in many respects . . .”); In re Yarn Processing Patent Validity Litig., 541 F.2d 
1127, 1136 (5th Cir. 1976) (“[I]t has been uniformly held that competition on one or more terms of a 
contract does not obviate a combination among competitors to fix a different term.”); Plymouth Dealers’ 
Ass’n of N. Cal. v. United States, 279 F.2d 128, 132 (9th Cir. 1960) (“The fact that there existed 
competition of other kinds between the various [] dealers, or that they cut prices in bidding against each 
other, is irrelevant.”) (emphasis added); In re PolyGram Holding, Inc. (“PolyGram Holding I”), Docket 
No. 9298, 2003 WL 25797195, at *354 (FTC July 24, 2003) (Comm’n Op.) (“Moreover, it does not 
matter that, as Respondents argue, the moratorium applied ‘only’ to two products and ‘only’ for a period 
of ten weeks.”), aff’d sub nom. PolyGram Holding, Inc. v. FTC, 416 F.3d 29 (D.C. Cir. 2005). 
628 Yarn Processing, 541 F.2d at 1137. 
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group during the conspiracy period.629  Indeed, this evidence only highlights the sharp contrast 

between Respondents’ ordinary course competitive efforts and their striking refusal to compete 

for buying groups, underscoring how their unusual behavior towards buying groups is something 

other than interdependent oligopoly conduct.630 

II. PATTERSON’S COMPETITION FOR DSO BUSINESS IS IRRELEVANT TO 
THE VIOLATION COMPLAINT COUNSEL ALLEGES 

Like its efforts to compete for independent dentists, Patterson’s efforts to compete with 

Schein and Benco for DSO business are beside the point.  Normal, healthy competition for 

certain customers does not disprove, and is not relevant to, a conspiracy to deny discounts to 

buying groups. 

III. DURING THE CONSPIRACY PERIOD, PATTERSON HAD A POLICY OF NOT 
DISCOUNTING TO BUYING GROUPS, CONTRARY TO PATTERSON’S 
CLAIM THAT “PATTERSON DENTAL” MADE INDEPENDENT DECISIONS 
REGARDING BUYING GROUPS 

Patterson claims that “Patterson Dental” (unlike “Patterson Special Markets”) has always 

evaluated buying groups one-by-one and made independent decisions regarding whether to work 

with them.631  This assertion is contradicted by its internal documents, its co-conspirators 

629 See, e.g., CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 18 (citing Rogan, Tr. 3669; Misiak, Tr. 1516).  However, Complaint 
Counsel has discovered one price class change form that pre-dates the conspiracy (May 2010) for a group 
of dentists “who have gathered together to boost purchasing power.”  CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 18 (quoting 
RX0010 at 001). 
630 Benco, 2018 WL 6338485, at *15; see also Petruzzi’s IGA Supermkts. v. Darling-Del. Co., 998 F.2d 
1224, 1245 (3d Cir. 1993) (“[D]efendants’ argument [that abstaining from bidding on new accounts was 
due to interdependent oligopolistic behavior] makes no sense for there is no reason that bidding on each 
other’s accounts should start a price war any[]more than bidding on new accounts.”); CCRF (Patterson) 
¶¶ 48-49 (quoting CX7100 at 203 (¶ 475) (Marshall Expert Report) (“I describe how Respondents 
behaved toward customers other than buying groups and how Benco entered Southern California.  The 
behavior underlying both these episodes contrasts with Respondents’ non-competitive behavior toward 
dental buying groups.  This contrast suggests that the Respondents’ non-competitive behavior toward 
buying groups is not the result of the Respondents acting as they typically do.  In other words, this 
contrast in conduct is an indicator that Respondents’ parallel conduct with respect to buying groups is 
driven by something other than non-competitive oligopoly behavior.”)). 
631 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 15-23. 
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arguments,632 and even Patterson’s post-trial brief.  Remarkably, Patterson concedes that 

Guggenheim’s June 2013 email to Cohen “shared Patterson’s existing feeling or policy.”633  A 

corporation (e.g., Patterson) is a legal construct incapable of possessing or expressing a 

“feeling.”  However, a corporation can adopt or demonstrate a “policy,” which as noted above is 

“a definite course or method of action . . . to guide and determine present and future 

decisions.”634  Patterson’s claimed existing policy not to work with buying groups is the 

antithesis of its simultaneously claimed one-by-one approach to evaluating buying groups. 

Numerous contemporaneous documents confirm Patterson’s concession that it maintained a 

policy of not discounting to buying groups, and that this policy was not restricted to Special 

Markets.635 

Patterson attempts to deny its policy by citing two instances in which McFadden rejected 

buying groups on behalf of Special Markets but supposedly did not prevent the local branches 

from taking action.636  This effort fails, however, because McFadden did not oversee the local 

branches and had no authority to permit them to discount to buying groups;637 during the 

conspiracy, Misiak did638 and his guidance to the branches was “clear”639—“stay out of” buying 

groups.640  Indeed, in the very documents Patterson cites for this point, McFadden confirmed, “I 

will follow Dave Misiak’s lead here.  We have said no many times in order to remain pure in our 

intent and consistent across the company.”641  It is impossible to square this contemporaneous 

632 See, e.g., Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 88 (“Patterson followed a practice of declining business with buying 
groups.  Neither Benco nor Patterson made sales to buying groups during the alleged conspiracy, or made 
serious attempts to negotiate with them.”); SF ¶ 349 (“In practice, Patterson summarily rejected many 
groups based on the fact that they were buying groups or GPOs, which did not fit Patterson’s strategy.”) 
(emphasis added). 
633 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 37. 
634 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.1.  
635 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 24-25.  
636 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 16-17. 
637 See CCFF ¶¶ 589, 591, 1941 (McFadden was President of Special Markets from July 2013-2017.  
Special Markets focused on large group practices.). 
638 CCFF ¶¶ 1944-1945. 
639 CCFF ¶ 635 (quoting CX3342 at 001). 
640 CCFF ¶ 543 (quoting CX0093 at 001). 
641 Patterson Proposed Finding of Fact (“PFF”) ¶ 668 (quoting RX0451 at 001). 
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statement that McFadden (Special Markets) was following the lead of Misiak (Patterson Dental, 

who oversaw the local branches) by saying “no” many times with Patterson’s unsupported 

assertion that local branches were free to pursue buying groups.  Certainly, a goal “to remain 

pure in [] intent and consistent across the company” contradicts the notion that Special Markets 

and local branches had different buying group policies, or that the branches evaluated buying 

groups one-by-one.  Moreover, and tellingly, Patterson proffers zero evidence that the relevant 

local offices—or any of its local offices—actually evaluated the buying groups or offered 

discounts to them.642 

Patterson further attempts to deny its clear policy by claiming it said “yes” to Jackson 

Health and OrthoSynetics during the conspiracy period, which Patterson claims “it thought” 

were buying groups.643  The factual record undermines this assertion, and reveals that Patterson’s 

employees knew that neither of these entities were buying groups.  Rogan testified that Jackson 

Health is a hospital system, and contemporaneous documents confirm that Patterson viewed it as 

such in 2014.644  Indeed, the very emails Patterson quotes in its brief show that Patterson knew 

Jackson Health to be a hospital system, not a buying group: Patterson’s brief quotes Rogan’s 

statement in RX0271: “This is a GPO.  They are taking 2% off the top.  This is a very slippery 

slope.”645  Patterson’s brief omits mention of Rogan being corrected by his colleague, Alain 

Carles: “this is not a GPO, this is the Jack[s]on Health system that owns and manages several 

hospitals in the area,”646 as well as Mr. Carles’s next-day email on the same email chain: “The 

Branch has been selling to the Jackson system of hospitals and clinics for over 10 years . . . I sent 

it up to corporate to read before I sign on behalf of the company . . .”647 

642 One of Patterson’s two instances has nothing to do with discounting pricing or selling to a buying 
group, it indicates only that McFadden did not prohibit a local branch from paying $5,000 to attend a 
“sponsorship event for Tralongo Management.”  Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 16. 
643 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 16. 
644 CCFF ¶ 656 (citing Rogan, Tr. 3534; RX0270 at 001).   
645 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 17. 
646 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 175 (quoting RX0270 at 001; quoting CX0107) (emphasis added). 
647 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 175 (quoting RX0271) (emphasis added). 
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Likewise, Patterson’s contemporaneous documents indicate that it viewed OrthoSynetics 

as a DSO, not a buying group, in 2013 and 2014,648 and McFadden testified that OrthoSynetics is 

a specialty group for orthodontists that is “not like a buying group.”649 

Patterson also lists a number of buying groups that it rejected during the conspiracy 

period and attempts to provide an individualized justification for not doing business with the 

groups.  But that Patterson may have had other reasons for refusing to discount to individual 

buying groups does not rebut the unambiguous evidence that Patterson adopted and maintained a 

policy to not discount to buying groups.  Moreover, Patterson’s after-the-fact explanations are 

unsupported by the contemporaneous documents and amount to no more than pretext.  For 

example, Patterson alleges that it rejected a couple of buying groups because they sought a 

“vig,”650 but the word “vig” appears nowhere in the documentary evidence, much less in 

Patterson’s cited documents.  Patterson claims to have turned down the Dental Purchasing Group 

in April 2014 because the individual who contacted it was a veterinarian.651  But the 

contemporaneous documents indicate that Patterson rejected the request not because it objected 

to the veterinarian at issue, as Guggenheim wrote: “Typical approach of an upstart buying group. 

We pass on these as a matter of protecting our business model.”652 

Likewise, Patterson contends that it “turned down United Orthodontic Buying Group” in 

March 2014 because the buying group sought to buy only one x-ray machine,653 but the cited 

documents fail to support this assertion.  Instead, the documents suggest an entirely different 

situation: this was not a buying group requesting a discount or seeking a partnership with 

Patterson, but an existing independent dentist customer inquiring whether Patterson had access to 

648 CCFF ¶¶ 611, 654-55 (citing CX3014 at 023-24; RX0342 at 001). 
649 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 174 (quoting RX0342; citing McFadden, Tr. 2728-2730). 
650 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 16, 18. 
651 Id. at 18. 
652 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 168 (quoting CX3080) (emphasis added).  Patterson makes much of the fact that 
the request came from a veterinarian, but Guggenheim’s email demonstrates that he was indifferent to 
this: “Nothing unusual here.  Typical approach of an upstart buying group.”  Id. 
653 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 18. 

98 



 
 

  
 

 

 

PUBLIC 

UOBG discounts for a Sirona x-ray machine.654  There was nothing for Patterson to “turn down,” 

and indeed, Patterson appears to have contacted Sirona to request special pricing for the 

customer.655 

Nor are Patterson’s arguments assisted by its claim that it rejected some buying groups 

before and after the conspiracy period.656  The offense of conspiracy consists of a conscious 

commitment to a common scheme during the conspiracy period.  Patterson’s behavior outside 

the conspiracy period does not transform unmistakable and unambiguous evidence of a 

conspiracy between 2013 and 2015 into ambiguous evidence.657 

654 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 663. 
655 Id. (quoting RX0227 at 001 (“They have moved on with contacting Sirona to see if they would have 
any special pricing they would be able to offer this Dr . . . .”)). 
656 See Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 19-22.  Patterson discusses most of these buying groups multiple times in 
its brief.  To avoid repetition, Complaint Counsel responds to these arguments infra Complaint Counsel’s 
Reply to Patterson Post-Trial Brief §§ II.A. (Argument) (2013 Smile Source bid and Kois bid), II.B.1 
(Argument) (NMDC and Dentistry Unchained), II.B.2 (Argument) (Smile Source cannibalization risk). 

Patterson also erects a strawman argument by misconstruing Complaint Counsel’s discovery
responses about opportunities to collude and the uncharacteristically friendly nature among rivals.  
Patterson’s Post-Tr. Br. at 4-5, 19-23.  Patterson attaches more significance to these responses than 
warranted to generate unjustified prejudice and cast aspersions of perjury.  Any suggestion that this 
evidence forms the heart of Complaint Counsel’s case on Respondents’ agreement is dead wrong. 
657 Patterson also insinuates that it provided discounts to Steadfast Medical during the conspiracy period, 
based on pre-conspiracy sales.  Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 20 n.11.  Yet, the document that it cites stops 
reporting in February 2013 and provides no data for the conspiracy period.  CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 637 
(citing RX0072 at Sales Data tab, Row 230).  Moreover, Patterson erroneously claims “there is no 
evidence Patterson stopped [selling to Steadfast] after February 2013,” Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 20 n.11, 
as it has admitted that it did not do business with buying groups during the conspiracy period.  CCRF 
(Patterson) ¶ 637 (citing CX3504 at 004; Misiak, Tr. 1392). 
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IV. WITNESSES’ DENIALS DO NOT DEFEAT COMPLAINT COUNSEL’S 
EVIDENCE OF A CONSCIOUS COMMITMENT TO A COMMON SCHEME 

Like Benco, Patterson argues that multiple witnesses denied the conspiracy’s existence.  

But this does not render “ambiguous” Complaint Counsel’s direct evidence that Patterson 

communicated assurances and confrontations with its competitors, and consciously adhered to a 

common scheme.  “Unambiguous” does not mean “uncontested.”  Executives accused of illegal 

agreements routinely deny them, but that does not mean their denials outweigh contemporaneous 

documents that render it more likely than not that an agreement was reached.  As previously 

discussed,658 Patterson misstates governing precedent in suggesting that Complaint Counsel can 

only carry its burden if conspirators straightforwardly admit their wrongdoing, or provide 

exhaustive documentation of the terms of their common scheme.  

V. PATTERSON INCORRECTLY INSISTS THAT “ONLY TWO 
COMMUNICATIONS” RELATE TO BUYING GROUPS 

As discussed above, the conspirators’ common policy of not discounting to buying 

groups was explicitly discussed in communications between competitors, as well as numerous 

Patterson internal communications.659  Patterson’s quibble with the precise number of these 

communications does nothing to diminish their significance.  Nor can Patterson diminish the 

importance of these communications by selectively citing testimony and ignoring inconvenient 

evidence, as it attempts to do in its brief.   

For example, with respect to the February 2013 Cohen-Guggenheim exchange of 

assurances, Patterson cites Guggenheim’s trial testimony and represents that he did not 

investigate the NMDC situation or talk to anyone in Patterson’s Albuquerque branch,660 ignoring 

Guggenheim’s contradictory same-day trial testimony that he could not recall one way or the 

658 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.; see also Complaint Counsel’s 
Post-Tr. Br. at 90-91. 
659 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.1.  
660 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 26. 
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other whether he investigated the NMDC situation.661  Guggenheim’s trial testimony that he 

could not recall whether he followed up on Cohen’s request is more credible than his blanket 

denial of taking any action, in light of both his deposition testimony (“It’s possible that I called 

[Patterson’s New Mexico branch manager] and looked into it, but I don’t remember that 

specifically”662) and his history of investigating other matters of mutual interest raised by 

Cohen.663  Guggenheim’s confident denial in response to a leading question from Patterson’s 

counsel at trial cannot be squared with his failure to recall on cross-examination earlier in the 

day,664 nor establishes that Guggenheim, Misiak, or Rogan failed to react to Benco’s overture. 

And regardless of who communicated with the New Mexico branch, there is no dispute that three 

days after Cohen’s request, Patterson informed NMDC (to its surprise) that Patterson had 

reneged on its earlier enthusiasm for partnering with the buying group.665 

Patterson likewise fails to detract from the significance of the February 8, 2013 Cohen-

Guggenheim exchange by arguing “Guggenheim forwarded Cohen’s [Feb. 2013] email but not 

his own response to David Misiak and Tim Rogan.”666  This statement is irrelevant, as there can 

be no dispute that Misiak was well aware of Patterson’s no buying group policy when he 

confirmed to his colleagues on February 27, 2013 that Patterson did not “participate with group 

purchasing organizations,” and that “our 2 largest competitors stay out of these as well.”667 

While Guggenheim may not have “forwarded” his own response on that date, he kept both 

661 CCRF (Patterson) ¶¶ 275 (citing Guggenheim, Tr. 1611).  See also CCRF ¶¶ 188, 195. 
662 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 275 (quoting CX8023 (Guggenheim, Dep. at 121)); see also FTC v. Qualcomm 
Inc., No. 5:17-cv-00220, 2019 WL 2206013, at *9 (N.D. Cal. May 21, 2019) (“It is odd that [defendant’s 
executive] had better recall during the January 2019 trial than nearly a year earlier at his March 2018 
deposition.”). 
663 CCFF ¶¶ 297-298 (Guggenheim promised Cohen he would investigate Proctor & Gamble product 
pricing issues, and he did so), 301-305 (citing CX1055), 307 (citing CX3222; Guggenheim, Tr. 1562-
1564 (Guggenheim told Cohen he would investigate a clause in a manufacturer contract, and reported 
back to Cohen what he learned)). 
664 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 275. 
665 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 19 (citing CCFF ¶¶ 503-506, 465).  
666 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 27. 
667 CCFF ¶¶ 549 (quoting CX0093 at 001), 543, 545; see also CCFF ¶ 550. 
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Misiak and Rogan in the loop when he confronted Cohen about Benco’s bid to ADC, as he blind 

copied them on the June 2013 email reply.668 

Nor is it persuasive to assert that Guggenheim’s statement to Cohen was “not a 

commitment to do anything.”669  It is sufficient where competitors provide one another with 

assurances and have a meeting of the mind that each will pursue a common policy.  As discussed 

above,670 precedents such as Gainesville and Foley impose liability where a firm assures a 

competitor that it will pursue a specific policy, even if there is no enforceable “commitment” to 

do so.671 

Patterson’s attempts to downplay the June 2013 Guggenheim-Cohen ADC 

communications are even less persuasive.  Notably, Patterson does not attempt to provide an 

innocent or procompetitive explanation for this exchange; and the relevance is inescapable: 

absent an understanding between Guggenheim and Cohen, there is no conceivable reason for 

Guggenheim to reach out to his competitor.  Indeed, Guggenheim could not recall any other 

instance where he reached out to Cohen to gain information on lost business,672 and could not 

provide any business reason for Cohen to share this information with Guggenheim.673 

Considered in the context of each Respondents’ desire to win ADC’s business in 2013, 

the episode confirms each Respondents’ adherence to a common scheme.  In February 2013, 

ADC approached Patterson’s Chesapeake, Virginia branch office requesting a bid for its 

business.674  The branch feared that if it did not bid, it would “lose a big chunk of business.”675 

668 CCFF ¶ 571 (citing CX0095 at 001). 
669 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 27. 
670 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.1. 
671 United States v. Foley, 598 F.2d 1323, 1332 (4th Cir. 1979) (liability imposed where a firm “expressed 
an intention or gave the impression that his firm would adopt a similar change,” even though the 
defendant explicitly stated “he did not care what the others did”); Gainesville Utils. Dep’t v. Fla. Power 
& Light Co., 573 F.2d 292, 301 (5th Cir. 1978) (“[E]xchange of letters between high executives of 
[competing firms] . . . points so strongly to the existence of a conspiracy that ‘reasonable men could not 
arrive at a contrary verdict.’” “[T]here was no reason for communicating with a competitor about the 
refusal” to serve customers.). 
672 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 195 (citing CX0314 (Guggenheim, IHT at 297-298)). 
673 CCFF ¶ 1168 (citing CX0314 (Guggenheim, IHT at 235)). 
674 CCFF ¶ 534. 
675 CCFF ¶ 547 (quoting CX0092 at 001). 
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Believing ADC to be a buying group, Misiak instructed the branch not to compete and assured it 

that Benco and Schein would not bid: “Confidential and not for discussion . . [.] our 2 largest 

competitors stay out of these as well.”676 

Benco and Schein—like Patterson677—initially mistook ADC for a buying group and thus 

did not plan to bid.678  Their first reaction was the same as Patterson’s.  Benco and Schein 

decided to bid only after multiple direct communications (that Patterson’s post-trial brief ignores 

entirely) eventually satisfied Benco and Schein that ADC was not an off-limits buying group.679 

Patterson did not have the benefit of Benco and Schein’s exchanges on ADC before 2013 

bids were due.  After Guggenheim confronted Cohen about winning ADC’s business and Cohen 

justified how ADC was not a buying group, Guggenheim directed the Chesapeake branch to 

compete aggressively for ADC’s business.680  He also forwarded Cohen’s email to McFadden 

(the head of Patterson’s Special Markets), informing McFadden that winning ADC’s business 

did not violate the agreement to refrain from discounting to buying groups.681 

676 CCFF ¶¶ 549 (quoting CX0093 at 001) (emphasis in original), 1187. 
677 CCFF ¶ 566. 
678 CCFF ¶¶ 1022-1025 (CX0021 at 002 (Benco’s initial response to ADC: “We’re out”)), 1097 (CX2021 
at 013 (Sullivan (Schein) admission that “Our first reaction to this was it was simply a buying group and 
we were going to walk away.”)). 
679 CCFF ¶¶ 1028-1060. 
680 CCFF ¶¶ 586-587 (citing Guggenheim, Tr. 1634). 
681 CCFF ¶ 585 (quoting CX0098 at 001); see also CCFF ¶ 586 (citing Guggenheim, Tr. 1634). 
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Thus, Benco, Schein, and Patterson reacted identically: First, believing ADC to be a 

buying group, none planned to bid.  Then, upon realizing that it was not a buying group, Benco, 

Patterson, and Schein each wanted to aggressively pursue ADC’s business.  Most telling from 

this episode is that upon Respondents agreeing that ADC was outside the scope of the conspiracy 

and there was no obligation to refrain from bidding, each found it in their economic interest to 

pursue ADC. 

VI. PATTERSON’S ATTACKS ON DR. MARSHALL REPRESENT AN 
INAPPROPRIATE EFFORT TO TRANSFORM EXPERT TESTIMONY INTO 
FACT TESTIMONY 

Patterson’s brief discusses Dr. Marshall’s testimony in its section regarding “The Fact 

Record” for an obvious reason: rather than attack the opinions Dr. Marshall actually offered, it 

attempts to put words into his mouth to influence the Court’s interpretation of documentary 

evidence.  This is an impermissible attempt to use expert testimony to establish facts.682  The 

documentary evidence speaks for itself.   

To the extent Patterson’s discussion of “The Fact Record” relates to the expert opinions 

Dr. Marshall actually offered, rather than irrelevant soundbites about the facts that Respondents 

tried to extract, Patterson’s assertions are addressed below.683 

VII. DANGER OF RECURRENCE 

As discussed,684 entry of an order is necessary as there exists a danger of recurrence.  The 

conspiracy began to unravel after Benco was required to log its inter-firm communications as 

part of its settlement with the Texas Attorney General.  Patterson eventually settled with the 

Texas Attorney General in April 2018.  Its settlement decree also required a log of competitor 

682 See Scheduling Order ¶ 20 (Mar. 14, 2018) (“Unless an expert is qualified as a fact witness, an expert 
witness is only allowed to provide opinion testimony; expert testimony is not considered for the purpose 
of establishing the underlying facts of the case.”). 
683 See infra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Patterson Post-Tr. Br. § III.B (Argument). 
684 See infra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Patterson Post-Tr. Br. § IV (Argument). 
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communications for one year, which recently expired.685  As Respondents will soon be free from 

reporting their competitor contacts,686 there exists a danger that they may again begin to 

coordinate their conduct. 

RESPONSE TO PATTERSON’S “ARGUMENT” 

I. CONTRARY TO PATTERSON’S SUGGESTION, THE EVIDENCE 
ESTABLISHES AN AGREEMENT 

A. Explicit Competitor Communications Establish Patterson Reached An 
Unlawful Agreement With Benco. 

As Patterson acknowledges, competitors violate the antitrust laws where they have “a 

unity of purpose or a common design and understanding, or a meeting of minds” that each will 

refuse to discount to certain classes of customers: this constitutes an unlawful “agreement.”687 

Here, Patterson shared a unity of purpose with its competitors to refuse discounts to buying 

groups.  The evidence that establishes this unity of purpose consists of Guggenheim and Cohen’s 

February and June 2013 exchanges of assurances not to discount to buying groups.688  Such 

“assurances of common action” provide a sufficient basis for liability.689  No signed contract is 

required in antitrust cases.  Moreover, an agreement exists “when the co-conspirators either 

confronted others about cheating on the cartel, or reassured others . . . that they were abiding by 

the agreement.”690  The unambiguous evidence shows this is precisely what Patterson and Benco 

did in June 2013: Guggenheim confronted Cohen when he was concerned that Benco’s sales to 

ADC constituted cheating on the no buying group policy, and Cohen reassured Guggenheim that 

685 CCFF ¶¶ 1159-1162 (citing CX6021, April 9, 2015 Benco Final Judgment); CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 764 
(citing CX6021 at 012-013 (Benco); CX6023 at 006-007 (Schein); CX6024 at 005-007 (Patterson)). 
686 CCFF ¶¶ 1161-1164; CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 764. 
687 Am. Tobacco Co. v. United States, 328 U.S. 781, 810 (1946) (quoted in Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 33). 
688 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.A. 
689 Flat Glass, 385 F.3d at 361 (3d Cir. 2004) (“[E]vidence may involve . . . ‘proof that the defendants got 
together and exchanged assurances of common action or otherwise adopted a common plan even though 
no meetings, conversations, or exchanged documents are shown.’”) (citation omitted). 
690 Beaver, 515 F.3d at 738 (“[A]ssertion that ‘no person voiced their assent to the supposed conspiracy’ 
rings hollow.  Such assent was voiced when the co-conspirators either confronted others about cheating 
on the cartel, or reassured others . . . that they were abiding by the agreement.”).   
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Benco was abiding by the agreement.  Additionally, Patterson acted in reliance on Respondents’ 

agreement: Patterson refrained from bidding for ADC’s business when it believed ADC was an 

off-limits buying group, and immediately reversed course once Patterson received assurances 

that ADC fell outside the scope of the agreement.691 

Patterson’s attempts to avoid this unambiguous evidence rest on significant 

mischaracterizations of what is required to violate the antitrust laws.   

First, Patterson argues that “direct evidence” of conspiracy means evidence that requires 

zero inferences – in effect, a written contract spelling out the parameters of the conspiracy (and 

presumably defining the terms used in the contract).692  That is not the law, as “[a]ll evidence, 

including direct evidence, can sometimes require a factfinder to draw inferences to reach a 

particular conclusion, though ‘perhaps on average circumstantial evidence requires a longer 

chain of inferences.’”693  Instead, direct evidence is that which “removes any ambiguities . . . 

with respect to whether the parallel conduct in question is the result of independent or concerted 

action.”694  The February and June 2013 emails constitute direct evidence of exchanges of 

assurances695 and a confrontation about perceived cheating followed by reassurance of 

691 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.C.2; CCRF ¶ 309. 
692 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 35-36.  As explained in Section I.A of Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco 
Post-Trial Brief , it is well established that “in Section 1 cases, it is unnecessary for a court to engage in 
the exercise of distinguishing strong circumstantial evidence of concerted action from direct evidence of 
concerted action, for both are ‘sufficiently unambiguous.’”  Petruzzi’s IGA Supermkts., 998 F.2d at 1233 
(internal citation omitted).  Whether evidence is designated as “direct” or “circumstantial” is irrelevant at 
this stage—there is no requirement that conspiracies be proven by “direct evidence.” Id. at 1230.  In the 
end, “‘[u]nambiguous evidence of an agreement to fix prices . . . is all the proof a plaintiff needs’ to 
establish a violation of Section 1.”  United States v. Apple Inc., 952 F. Supp. 2d 638, 689 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) 
aff’d, 791 F.3d 290 (2d Cir. 2015) (internal citation and emphasis omitted). 
693 In re Publ’n Paper Antitrust Litig., 690 F.3d 51, 64 (2d Cir. 2012) (internal citation omitted); accord 
Apple., 952 F. Supp. 2d at 689 (“In fact, even direct evidence in antitrust cases ‘can sometimes require a 
factfinder to draw inferences to reach a particular conclusion.’”) (citation omitted); see also Sylvester v. 
SOS Children’s Villages Ill., Inc., 453 F.3d 900, 903 (7th Cir. 2006) (“[A]ctually all evidence, even 
eyewitness testimony, requires drawing inferences; the eyewitness is drawing an inference from his raw 
perceptions. ‘All evidence is probabilistic, and therefore uncertain; eyewitness testimony and other forms 
of ‘direct’ evidence have no categorical epistemological claim to precedence over circumstantial . . . 
evidence.’ . . . Perhaps on average circumstantial evidence requires a longer chain of inferences, but if 
each link is solid, the evidence may be compelling—may be more compelling than” sworn testimony.) 
(citation omitted). 
694 In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 324 n.23 (3d Cir. 2010).  
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conduct,696 either of which removes any ambiguity as to whether there was an agreement.  

Numerous precedents have found liability based on considerably less.697 

Second, Patterson asserts that assurances must specify “future, concerted action” in order 

to establish conspiracy.698  Assuming, arguendo, these limitations are accepted, they do not help 

Patterson’s position.  The February 2013 and June 2013 communications in fact referenced 

future actions.  Indeed, Patterson remarkably concedes that Guggenheim’s February 2013 

statement to Cohen communicated to Cohen Patterson’s then-existing “policy.”699  As explained 

above, a “policy” is necessarily forward-looking, as it will “guide and determine present and 

future decisions.”700  So by informing Benco of its “policy,” Patterson communicated its future 

actions to its competitor.   

Likewise, by informing Benco that Patterson’s policy was “the same” as Benco’s, 

Patterson assured its competitor that its future actions would be “concerted.”  Patterson does not 

make clear what it means by suggesting a communication must relate to “concerted action,”701 

but precedent establishes that “[t]he phrase ‘concerted action’ is often used as shorthand for any 

695 Flat Glass, 385 F.3d at 361 (Agreement is shown upon ‘proof that the defendants got together and 
exchanged assurances of common action or otherwise adopted a common plan even though no meetings, 
conversations, or exchanged documents are shown.’”). 
696 Beaver, 515 F.3d at 738 (“[A]ssertion that ‘no person voiced their assent to the supposed conspiracy’ 
rings hollow.  Such assent was voiced when the co-conspirators either confronted others about cheating 
on the cartel, or reassured others . . . that they were abiding by the agreement.”).   
697 See e.g., United States v. Maloof, 205 F.3d 819, 830-31 (5th Cir. 2000) (finding defendant orchestrated 
an antitrust price-fixing conspiracy by, inter alia, informing his competitor when “sales representatives 
from other companies deviated from the agreed upon pricing”); United States v. Gravely, 840 F.2d 1156, 
1161 (4th Cir. 1988) (“[T]he efforts of the conspirators to enforce their agreement, by pooling and 
subsequent meetings, is further proof of the conspiracy.”); In re Plywood Antitrust Litig., 655 F.2d 627, 
633-34 (5th Cir. 1982) (finding internal memoranda sufficient evidence of agreement); Foley, 598 F.2d at 
1332-33 (finding evidence of competitors calling each other about their failure to adopt a higher 
commission as probative of conspiracy to raise commission rate); Standard Oil Co. of Cal. v. Moore, 251 
F.2d 188, 209-12 (9th Cir. 1957) (evidence of parallel behavior and communications between defendants 
concerning practices not at issue in the case probative of an agreement to refuse to serve a customer); 
FMC Corp., 306 F. Supp. at 1150 (finding persuasive evidence of a conspiracy that “[t]hese exchanges of 
assurances continued after the initial [agreement].”). 
698 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 37. 
699 Id. 
700 See supra at Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.1. 
701 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 37. 
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form of activity meeting the Section 1 ‘contract . . . combination or conspiracy’ requirement.”702 

Antitrust conspirators engage in “concerted” action when they act pursuant to a meeting of the 

minds.  The action need not be jointly undertaken.703  In a paradigmatic case, each conspirator 

that agrees to a geographic market allocation scheme engages in “concerted” action when it 

restricts its sales efforts to its assigned region.  The sales efforts need not be joint or 

simultaneous – indeed, the whole point of the conspiracy is to avoid overlapping sales efforts in 

the first place.  In this case, Respondents violated the antitrust laws when each refused to 

discount to buying groups, pursuant to a shared understanding that the others would do the same.   

Whether Respondents refused discounts to buying groups before their agreement was 

formed is immaterial, as an agreement to adhere to a pre-existing course of action nonetheless 

constitutes an agreement.704  For example, in United States v. North Dakota Hospital Ass’n, the 

court found an unlawful agreement where rival hospitals agreed not to discount to Indian Health 

Services and “to adhere to [the hospitals’] independently developed, preexisting policies against 

granting [such] discounts.”705  While the hospitals’ policies predated the agreement, the 

agreement nonetheless had the effect of “foreclose[ing] any potential competition” among the 

hospitals.706  Assuming Patterson had a long-standing policy against discounting to buying 

groups, Guggenheim’s agreement with Cohen to continue such a policy nonetheless violated the 

antitrust laws (and reduced the risk of future competition for buying groups).707 

702 In re Baby Food Antitrust Litig., 166 F.3d 112, 117 n.3 (3d Cir. 1999) (quoting Bogosian v. Gulf Oil 
Corp., 561 F.2d 434, 445-46 (3d Cir. 1977)).  
703 See Interstate Circuit, Inc. v. United States, 306 U.S. 208, 227 (1939) (“It is elementary that an 
unlawful conspiracy may be and often is formed without simultaneous action or agreement on the part of 
the conspirators.”). 
704 See, e.g., United States v. N.D. Hosp. Ass’n, 640 F. Supp. 1028, 1036-37 (D.N.D. 1986) (an agreement 
among rival hospitals to adhere to their existing policies against discounting to Indian Health Services 
was a Section 1 violation); see also United States v. Champion Int’l Corp., 557 F.2d 1270, 1273 (9th Cir. 
1977) (A bidding pattern among defendants that “developed by ‘normal economic forces’” was 
condemned as part of an illegal agreement after defendants discussed their preferred auctions and had an 
understanding about bidding, with the court noting: “defendants did not leave the exchange of this 
information to chance”). 
705 640 F. Supp. at 1039. 
706 Id. 
707 FTC v. Actavis, 570 U.S. 136, 157 (2013) (preventing “the risk of competition . . . constitutes the 
relevant anticompetitive harm”). 
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In response, Patterson cites Blomkest Fertilizer, Inc. v. Potash Corp. of Saskatchewan708 

for the proposition that sharing existing policies does not constitute direct evidence of an 

agreement.  This supposed rule of law appears nowhere in Blomkest.  Instead, Blomkest was a 

conscious parallelism case where plaintiffs attempted to prove plus factors through inter-firm 

communications of price verifications on completed sales.709  The court held that based on the 

facts of the industry, after-the-fact price verifications bore no relationship to future market prices 

and lacked any causal link to defendants’ parallel pricing, rendering insufficient evidence to infer 

an agreement.710  Here, the facts are more akin to North Dakota Hospital Ass’n than to Blomkest, 

as in this case Patterson concedes that the conspirators did not exchange facts about events that 

occurred in the past (i.e., sales prices), and instead exchanged assurances of policies that would 

apply in the future.711 

Patterson also quibbles with the timing of the June 2013 email, asserting that the email 

cannot constitute direct evidence of conspiracy because Benco and Patterson had already taken 

action regarding ADC at the time the email was sent.  But Patterson fails in its effort to stretch 

Blomkest into a rule that “discussions of decisions already made” can never violate the antitrust 

laws.712  Confrontations over perceived cheating constitute unambiguous evidence of 

conspiracy,713 and such confrontations will inevitably occur after decisions have been made.  

Patterson and Benco’s confrontations and assurances provide unambiguous evidence of 

conspiracy where there is no procompetitive explanation for communications that relate to 

708 203 F.3d 1028, 1033-34 (8th Cir. 2000). 
709 Id. 
710 Id. 
711 Indeed, Blomkest is even more inapposite where the price verifications may have led to defendants 
competing more aggressively. Id. at 1334 (“There is no evidence to support the inference that the 
verifications had an impact on price increases.  The only evidence is that prices were possibly cut as a 
result.”).  The same is not true here, where horizontal communications about buying groups led 
Respondents not to do business with buying groups.  See, e.g., CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 278 (Patterson rejected 
NMDC after the Guggenheim-Cohen February 2013 exchange). 
712 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 37. 
713 Beaver, 515 F.3d at 738 (confrontation about cheating constitutes direct evidence of conspiracy).  
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policies that will be applied in the future, such as Cohen’s June 10, 2013 assurance to 

Guggenheim that “[a]s we’ve discussed, we don’t recognize buying groups.”714 

Finally, Patterson inaccurately claims that no internal Patterson document “expressly 

references the alleged agreement.”715  This is transparently false, as McFadden wrote “[W]e’ve 

signed an agreement that we don’t do business with [buying groups].”716  This documented 

admission provides direct evidence of the agreement’s existence. 

B. Compelling Evidence of Conspiracy Is Not Outweighed by Executives’ 
Denials. 

As explained in Complaint Counsel’s opening brief, the Court need not credit executives’ 

denials of conspiracy where contemporaneous documents establish a meeting of the minds.717 

Nor, contrary to Patterson’s suggestion, is it necessary for the Court to determine that anyone 

“lied under oath” or “committed perjury”718 to credit the contemporaneous documents over 

executives’ trial testimony.  Antitrust liability is a mixed question of law and fact, and a common 

scheme violates the FTC Act even if an executive truthfully testifies that he would not label his 

course of action as an “agreement.”719 

Patterson discounts Complaint Counsel’s direct evidence and declares its executives’ 

denials as definitive on the question of agreement.  Yet the cases that it cites do not support such 

a proposition.  In Benton v. Blair, the Fifth Circuit found it was error to reject “uncontradicted” 

denials.720  In Chesapeake & Ohio Railway Co. v. Martin, the Supreme Court valued employee 

testimony “in the absence of conflicting proof or of circumstances justifying countervailing 

714 See CCFF ¶¶ 575 (quoting CX0062 at 001), 1169-1170.  
715 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 38.  
716 CCFF ¶ 657 (quoting CX0164 at 002). 
717 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 90-91 (citing, inter alia, Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 301 n.14).  
718 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 41. 
719 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.1 (citing United States v. Gen. 
Motors Corp., 384 U.S. 127, 141 n.16 (1966); Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 301 n.14); see also United States 
v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 333 U.S. 364, 395-96 (1948) (“On cross-examination most of the witnesses denied 
that they had acted in concert . . . . Where such testimony is in conflict with contemporaneous documents 
we can give it little weight, particularly when the crucial issues involve mixed questions of law and fact”). 
720 228 F.2d 55, 61 (5th Cir. 1955) (emphasis added). 
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inferences.”721  Here, executives’ denials are contradicted by Respondents’ own 

contemporaneous documents.  In re McWane is likewise distinguishable, as in that case 

Complaint Counsel lacked evidence that the rivals discussed the alleged conspiracy.722  Here, 

Respondents’ executives have admitted that they communicated directly with one another— 

through private emails and text messages—about their shared policy against discounting to 

buying groups and when they saw deviations from that policy.723  Moreover, Respondents’ 

contemporaneous documents manifest the agreement, explicitly reference a joint refusal to 

discount, and acknowledge a “duty to uphold” the collective refusal.724 

Patterson relies heavily on City of Moundridge v. Exxon Mobil Corp.,725 but that is an 

inapposite case involving conscious parallelism, in which plaintiffs failed to produce evidence of 

parallel pricing, inter-firm communications about pricing, or pricing decisions based on such 

communications.726  As the Commission has already concluded, Patterson’s reliance on 

Moundridge is misplaced.727  Here, the record includes evidence that Respondents “discussed 

their refusal to deal with buying groups and made decisions based on these communications.”728 

Patterson also cites Williamson Oil Co. v. Philip Morris USA,729 though the issue of 

defendant denials appears nowhere in the opinion.  Instead, Patterson cites a portion of the case 

discussing public statements and industry reports that were too ambiguous to constitute a plus 

721 283 U.S. 209, 214 (1931) (emphasis added). 
722 Docket No. 9351, 2013 WL 8364918, at *253 (FTC May 1, 2013) (Initial Decision) (referring to such 
a conclusion as “unsupported speculation”). 
723 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.A. 
724 Id. 
725 429 F. Supp. 2d 117 (D.D.C. 2006), aff’d, 409 F. App’x 362 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (unpublished decision). 
726 Id. at 132-33. 
727 Benco, 2018 WL 6338485, at *18 n.17.  Similarly, the Commission concluded Lamb’s Patio Theater, 
Inc. v. Universal Film Exchanges, Inc., 582 F.2d 1068 (7th Cir. 1978), another case cited by Patterson, is 
distinguishable.  Benco, 2018 WL 6338485, at *18 n.17.  
728 Id. 
729 346 F.3d 1287, 1305 (11th Cir. 2003). 
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factor for agreement.  In contrast, the record here contains unambiguous evidence of explicit, 

direct, and secret discussions between Respondents regarding buying groups.730 

Patterson has cited no case, as none exists, that Respondents’ ex post claims of innocence 

are sufficient to overcome contemporaneous documents evidencing a conscious commitment to a 

common scheme, including Respondents’ own admissions that they engaged in the very conduct 

that numerous courts have found constitute an unlawful agreement. 

II. THE EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATES THE BIG THREE’S AGREEMENT WAS 
MORE LIKELY THAN NOT AND TENDS TO RULE OUT THE POSSIBILITY 
OF INDEPENDENT ACTION 

The circumstantial evidence in the record, viewed in light of the totality of the evidence, 

tends to exclude the possibility that Respondents acted independently and proves that 

Respondents’ conspiracy was more likely than not.  Like Benco, Patterson misstates the test for 

evaluating circumstantial evidence by arguing that Complaint Counsel can prevail only by 

satisfying the Williamson Oil test (first prove parallel conduct, then prove plus factors).731  But in 

a case that does not rest on conscious parallelism, the court assigns the appropriate inferences to 

circumstantial evidence, consistent with the context and totality of the record, and determines 

whether the evidence as a whole proves an agreement was more probable than not.732  “Plaintiffs 

need not prove parallel pricing in order to prevail”733 and need not prove plus factors in a case 

730 In re Polyurethane Foam Antitrust Litig., 152 F. Supp. 3d 968, 984 (N.D. Ohio 2015) (“A direct and 
secret price discussion between competitors is more probative of a conspiracy than are indirect and public 
communications, ostensibly undertaken by the conspiring competitors to ‘signal’ to one another.”). 
731 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.B.3. 
732 See Esco Corp. v. United States, 340 F.2d 1000, 1007 (9th Cir. 1965) (describing circumstantial 
evidence of an agreement consisting of a round-robin exchange of price information among rivals, and 
noting that the trier of fact is to determine the logical inferences after hearing the full context of the 
evidence); In re Ethylene Propylene Diene Monomer Antitrust Litig. (“EPDM I”), 681 F. Supp. 2d 141, 
168 (D. Conn. 2009) (“As Judge Posner notes, evidence that is ‘susceptible of differing interpretations’ is 
not ‘devoid of probative value’ . . . and it is the role of the jury to determine ‘whether, when the evidence 
is considered as a whole, it is more likely that the defendants had conspired to fix prices than that they
had not conspired to fix prices.”) (quoting High Fructose Corn Syrup, 295 F.3d at 655-56). 
733 Fleischman v. Albany Med. Ctr., 728 F. Supp. 2d 130, 158 (N.D.N.Y. 2010); see also Interstate 
Circuit, 306 U.S. at 227 (“It is elementary that an unlawful conspiracy may be and often is formed 
without simultaneous action or agreement on the part of the conspirators.”). 
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that is not premised on parallel conduct.734  Here, given the direct and unambiguous evidence of 

agreement, there is no need to resort to the Williamson Oil test.  Thus, contrary to Patterson’s 

attempt to twist the legal standard, whether Respondents engaged in parallel conduct is not “Step 

One” in the Court’s analysis.  Rather, “Step One” entails an analysis of Respondents’ inter-firm 

communications about a no buying group policy and internal documents evidencing a conscious 

commitment to a common scheme.   

Nonetheless, the evidence also supports a finding of agreement from parallel conduct and 

plus factors, beginning with Patterson’s drumbeat of instruction not to discount to buying groups 

following the Cohen-Guggenheim February 2013 communication, which was similar to those of 

Benco and Schein.735 

A. The Big Three Acted in Parallel. 

Patterson mistakenly argues that parallel conduct must be “identical.”736  To the contrary, 

parallel conduct need only be similar.737  Here, Respondents similarly instructed their sales teams 

to reject buying groups, and, as a result, rejected buying groups.738  That they used different 

words or rejected different buying groups on different dates is of no consequence.739 

It is clear that Respondents’ conduct was similar during the conspiracy period.  While 

before and after the conspiracy, Respondents may have reacted to buying groups differently, 

during the conspiracy, each adhered to a policy of categorical rejection.740  Patterson argues that 

three buying groups—Kois Buyers Group, Smile Source, and Georgia Dental Association— 

734 Ins. Brokerage, 618 F.3d at 324 n.23 (“Courts devised the requirement of ‘plus factors’ in the context 
of offers of proof of an agreement that rest on parallel conduct.”). 
735 Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 57-67. 
736 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 42.  
737 See SD3, LLC v. Black & Decker Inc., 801 F.3d 412, 429 (4th Cir. 2015) (“[P]arallel conduct must 
produce parallel results. . . . [P]arallel conduct ‘need not be exactly simultaneous and identical in order to 
give rise to an inference of agreement.’”) (citation omitted); Petruzzi’s IGA Supermkts., 998 F.2d at 1234. 
738 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.B.4; CCFF ¶¶ 404-425, 621-624, 637-
652, 925-954. 
739 See, e.g., Vitagraph, Inc. v. Perelman, 95 F.2d 142, 146 (3d Cir. 1936). 
740 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.B.4. 
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demonstrate Respondents engaged in non-parallel behavior, but an examination of the relevant 

facts for each group reveals Respondents reacted similarly in each instance.   

For example, contemporaneous documents demonstrate identical refusals to discount to 

Kois.  Benco did not bid for Kois in 2014, explaining to Dr. Kois: “At Benco, our policy is that 

we don’t support, or work with, buying groups, so we’ll decline your request.”741  On August 18, 

2014, a month before Patterson was scheduled to meet with Kois, Guggenheim already decided 

against working with the group, writing to Rogan, “Agreed . . . I’ll kill it.”742  True to his word, 

Patterson did not bid for Kois in 2014,743 despite Patterson losing “high quality / high producing” 

customers and feeling a “deep” cut to its business as a result.744  A few weeks later, on 

September 8, 2014, Schein’s Sullivan explained regarding Kois: “I still believe this is a slippery 

slope and have yet to see a successful one in dental and don’t plan to take the lead role.”745  Like 

Benco and Patterson, Schein refused to work with Kois.746  From the vantage of the Kois Buyers 

Group, Respondents certainly seemed to act in parallel.747  When this evidence is placed in 

context of Respondents’ parallel directives against discounting to buying groups, the evidence of 

agreement outweighs any attempt by Patterson to use Qadeer Ahmed as its scapegoat. 

Likewise, Patterson argues that its response to Smile Source in 2013 was different from 

Benco and Schein, but minor variances between Benco and Patterson’s rejection of Smile Source 

are not material.748  Both Benco and Patterson refused to provide a discount to Smile Source 

because it was a buying group.  Benco rejected Smile Source every year from 2011 through 

741 CCFF ¶ 421 (quoting CX1240 at 001). 
742 CCFF ¶ 638 (CX0116 at 001; Guggenheim, Tr. 1676-1678). 
743 CCFF ¶ 639 (CX3086 at 001). 
744 CCFF ¶ 1738 (CX3089 at 001). 
745 CCFF ¶ 809 (quoting CX2469 at 002; CX8025 (Sullivan, Dep. at 295)). 
746 CCFF ¶ 928. 
747 CCFF ¶ 928 (citing Kois Sr., Tr. 190, 196 (Respondents all refused to work with Kois)).  
748 See SD3, 801 F.3d at 428-29 (citing Am. Tobacco, 328 U.S. at 800-01, for the proposition that co-
conspirators may use “a variety of different methods to achieve the same ultimate objective,” and noting 
it was not fatal that SawStop never alleged a common manner for the conspirators to effectuate the 
anticompetitive agreement). 
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2013.749  Contrary to Patterson’s suggestion, Benco’s interest in Smile Source did not change in 

2014, as Benco’s Patrick Ryan then described Smile Source as “terrifying.”750  Patterson also 

rejected Smile Source in 2013: “[W]e have said no to smile source.  They are [a] buying 

club.”751 

.752  Patterson points out that 

Schein reacted differently to Patterson and Benco in 2014.  As addressed infra,753 Schein’s 

attempt at cheating on the conspiracy by negotiating with Smile Source does not negate 

Respondents’ otherwise parallel conduct.  Indeed, at the same time Schein was allegedly 

working on a bid for Smile Source, it was instructing its team not to do business with buying 

groups: “Just for clarity, we are NOT participating in any GPOs regardless of what they promise 

to bring us.”754 

Regarding the Georgia Dental Association, Patterson misstates the date that the 

conspiracy ended to claim that parallel conduct post-conspiracy negates the existence of the 

conspiracy.  As discussed,755 Complaint Counsel did not allege that the conspiracy came to a 

hard stop in April 2015.  Instead, after Benco was forced to log its competitor communications, 

the conspiracy became harder to manage and began to unravel.  Patterson’s attempt to put too 

precise an end date on the conspiracy does not controvert Respondents’ parallel conduct.  And 

even if the conspiracy had ended prior to the GDA bid, according to Patterson’s reasoning, 

749 CCFF ¶ 410 (quoting CX1138 at 001 (2011: “Unfortunately, I don’t think we would be able to help 
you.  Your structure meets our definition of GPO, and Benco does not participate in group purchasing 
organizations”); quoting CX1219 at 002 (2012: “Benco doesn’t recognize GPOs as a single customer”)); 

751 CCFF ¶ 642 (quoting CX3009 at 001) (emphasis added). 

754 See, e.g., CCFF ¶ 816 (quoting CX2354 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 788 (quoting CX2073 at 001 (Dec. 
20, 2013 email from Schein’s Foley: “It’s a buying group that we do not participate with, as with all 
buying groups.”)), 799 (quoting CX2235 at 001 (July 17, 2014 email from Schein’s Titus: “We had a 
GPO prospect called PGMS.  Very intriguing, willing to be exclusive . . . . It went to [Sullivan] and he 
shot it down.  I think the meta msg is officially, GPO’s are not good for Schein.”)). 
755 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.B.7; Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. 
at 37-38. 

CCFF ¶ 1020 ( 
). 

750 CCFF ¶ 1021 (quoting CX0015 at 001; Ryan, Tr. 1045). 

752 CCFF ¶ 642 . 
753 See infra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § II.B.3.b. 
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Respondents would have to act differently from one another in every instance upon the 

conclusion of the conspiracy.  Neither law nor economics requires such an absurd result. 

Patterson cites a number of cases for the obvious and tautological proposition that 

parallel conduct is required for conscious parallelism cases.756  As noted earlier, the record 

evidence goes beyond conscious parallelism, but nonetheless, Respondents acted in parallel.757 

B. Plus Factor Evidence Proves the Agreement. 

Complaint Counsel has proffered unambiguous evidence of Respondents’ agreement.  In 

addition, Respondents’ agreement is corroborated by parallel conduct and the presence of plus 

factor evidence.  Patterson mistakenly claims that plaintiffs relying on circumstantial evidence 

must meet a heightened burden of proof,758  but this is incorrect: Complaint Counsel need only 

prove that Respondents’ agreement was more likely than not.759  Patterson cites InterVest, Inc. v. 

Bloomberg, L.P.,760 but InterVest merely repeats the Matsushita standard,761 noting that courts 

apply “special considerations so that only reasonable inferences are drawn” from circumstantial 

756 See Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 44. 
757 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.B.4. 
758 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 45. 
759 Apple, 952 F. Supp. 2d at 690 (“Even where a plaintiff relies on ambiguous evidence, however, to 
prove its claim, the plaintiff does not bear the burden of showing that the existence of a conspiracy is the 
‘sole inference’ to be drawn from the evidence.  The plaintiff is only required to present evidence that is 
sufficient to allow the fact-finder ‘to infer that the conspiratorial explanation is more likely than not.’”) 
(quoting Publ’n Paper, 690 F.3d at 63); Phillip Areeda & Herbert Hovenkamp, Fundamentals of Antitrust 
Law, ¶ 14.03(b) (4th ed. 2011) (“It is important not to be misled by Matsushita’s statement . . . that the 
plaintiff’s evidence, if it is to prevail, must ‘tend . . . to exclude the possibility that the alleged 
conspirators acted independently.’  The Court surely did not mean that the plaintiff must disprove all 
nonconspiratorial explanations for the defendants conduct.’  Not only did the Court use the word ‘tend,’ 
but also the context made clear that the Court was simply requiring sufficient evidence to allow a 
reasonable fact finder to infer that the conspiratorial explanation is more likely than not.”). 
760 340 F.3d 144 (3d Cir. 2003). 
761 Matsushita does not apply to this case, but its standard is nonetheless easily satisfied here.  See supra 
Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.B.2. 
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evidence.762  Nowhere does InterVest instruct that circumstantial evidence elevates a plaintiff’s 

burden to clear proof or proof beyond a reasonable doubt.763 

In what is presumably an attempt at being glib, Patterson repeatedly dismisses relevant 

evidence and announces that because it does not qualify as a plus factor, it must be a “minus 

factor.”  But this is contrary to law.  Just as no single plus factor is always determinative of an 

agreement, the absence of any particular plus factor does not render less probable the existence 

of an agreement.764  Instead, plus factors are incremental units that tip the evidentiary scale from 

ambiguous into probable agreement,765 and are required only when a case rests on parallel 

conduct.766  The lack of any particular plus factor does not tip the scale the other way.767  Here, 

evidence of Patterson’s change in conduct, actions against self-interest, motive to conspire, and 

inter-firm communications, combined with the totality of the evidence, further tip the scale 

towards probable agreement. 

762 340 F.3d at 160. 
763 See also Toys “R” Us v. FTC, 221 F.3d 928, 934-35 (7th Cir. 2000) (“When circumstantial evidence is 
used, there must be some evidence that ‘tends to exclude the possibility’ that the alleged conspirators 
acted independently.  This does not mean, however, that the Commission had to exclude all possibility
that the manufacturers acted independently. . . . [T]hat would amount to an absurd and legally unfounded 
burden to prove with 100% certainty that an antitrust violation occurred.  The test states only that there 
must be some evidence which, if believed, would support a finding of concerted behavior.”) (internal 
citations omitted). 
764 Baby Food, 166 F.3d at 122. 
765 See Apple, 952 F. Supp. 2d at 690 (noting that the change of conduct plus factor may strengthen the 
inference of agreement). 
766 Ins. Brokerage, 618 F.3d at 323 (“[P]lus factors need be pled only when a plaintiff’s claims of 
conspiracy rest on parallel conduct.”). 
767 See, e.g., Gen. Motors, 384 U.S. at 142 (finding an agreement even though there was no conduct 
against self-interest, because “[i]t is of no consequence, for purposes of determining whether there has 
been a combination or conspiracy under  § 1 of the Sherman Act, that each party acted in its own lawful 
interest.”); United States v. Apple, Inc., 791 F.3d 290, 317-18 (2d Cir. 2015) (finding an agreement even 
though there was no conduct against self interest, reasoning “the fact that Apple’s conduct was in its own 
economic interest in no way undermines the inference that it entered an agreement to raise ebook 
prices.”); Champion, 557 F.2d at 1272-73 (finding an agreement even though defendants acted the same
before and during the conspiracy, reasoning “despite the innocent beginnings of the noncompetitive 
bidding, the trial court found collusion in its continuation.”); N.D. Hosp., 640 F. Supp. at 1036-37 
(finding an agreement even though the defendants did not change their preexisting policies after entering 
into the agreement, and thus, did not exhibit the “change in conduct” plus factor). 

117 



 

 
   

PUBLIC 

1. Patterson’s Change in Conduct is Evidence of the Agreement. 

As with all plus-factor evidence, change of conduct evidence is not required where 

Complaint Counsel does not rely solely on parallel conduct to prove agreement.  Nonetheless, 

Patterson’s change of conduct corroborates the evidence of agreement.768  Patterson claims that 

its approach to buying groups did not vary over time, but the evidence it cites contradicts this 

proposition. 

Patterson’s executives testified under oath at various times that Patterson “didn’t have a 

policy” regarding buying groups prior to February 2013.769  But, at a minimum, Patterson 

considered working with buying groups until February 2013.  For example, in 2010, a Branch 

Manager sought approval for a discount to a “group of dentists who have gathered together to 

boost purchasing power.”770  And in 2012, Rogan authorized a discount to Smile Source’s 

Hawaii chapter.771  Indeed, Patterson was on the cusp of partnering with NMDC on February 7, 

2013.772  This willingness to discount to buying groups disappeared following the February 8, 

2013 Guggenheim-Cohen exchange of assurances, which prompted Patterson executives to begin 

instructing sales representatives to stay out of buying groups, and insisting that internal 

communications regarding this new policy be conducted “live” rather than documented in e-

768 Patterson cites Cosmetic Gallery, Inc. v. Schoenman Corp., 495 F.3d 46, 54 (3d Cir. 2007), and claims 
that it stands for the proposition that pre-conspiracy actions, if continued, cannot be actions in furtherance 
of the conspiracy.  However, courts recognize that an agreement on an existing course of action is no less 
an agreement.  See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.1.  To the extent that 
Patterson’s authority is contrary, it is disputed. 
769 CCFF ¶¶ 498-499 (quoting, inter alia, CX8023 (Guggenheim, Dep. at 134 (Q. “At the time you 
received Mr. Cohen’s e-mail on February 8, 2013, did Patterson have a company policy with respect to 
buying groups?  A.  No.  Each of these evaluated individually, largely in the markets with the salespeople 
and the managers in those branches.”)); CX8023 (Guggenheim, Dep. at 137 (“don’t have . . . a uniform
way to deal with [buying groups].”))), 627-628. 
770 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 18 (quoting RX0010 at 001). 
771 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 130 (citing CX3422 at 001). 
772 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 278 (quoting CX4090 (Patterson’s NM branch manager’s Feb. 7, 2013 email, 
noting the NMDC partnership “has the opportunity to be huge . . . I am hoping Patterson can be a partner 
you trust and that will always do the right thing for you. . . . I definitely want to keep this moving forward 
. . . .”)). 
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mails.773  The consistent instruction to sales personnel to avoid exploring opportunities with 

buying groups notably contrasts with Patterson’s approach to other customer segments, such as 

dental schools and prisons; even though such segments were not a strategic focus for Patterson 

executives, sales employees remained free to explore such opportunities.774 

Patterson mentions three emails that pre-date its joining the conspiracy to suggest that its 

position towards buying groups was the same prior to and during the conspiracy period.775 

Specifically, Patterson cites two 2009 documents, neither of which concern buying groups for 

independent dentists: one involves a GPO aimed at corrections facilities,776 the other addresses 

partnering with insurance companies.777  Finally, Patterson cites the March 2012 email exchange 

in which Patterson’s McFadden wrote Misiak, “I get these [contacts from buying groups] more 

often than I like.  This stuff scares me. I’m gonna tell him thanks but no thanks.  Your 

thoughts?”778  These pre-conspiracy emails confirm that Patterson feared the implications of 

buying groups but considered them on a one-by-one basis, and are distinctly different from 

McFadden’s during-conspiracy declarations, such as: “we don’t deal with GPO’s,”779 “as of now 

we are not working with GPO’s,”780 and “[a]s a rule we are trying our best to steer clear of all 

buying groups.”781 

Patterson likewise attempts to downplay the significance of Patterson’s pre-conspiracy 

willingness to explore a relationship with NMDC.  First, Patterson attempts to obscure 

Guggenheim’s testimony that Patterson was open to working with NMDC as of February 7, 

773 See CCFF ¶ 630. Compare CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 130 (citing CX3422 at 001 (June 26, 2012 Rogan 
email re Smile Source Hawaii: “Just tell us what discount you want to go with and we will get it 
loaded.”)), with CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 150 (citing CX3117 at 001 (Nov. 20, 2013 Misiak email re Smile 
Source: “We are currently not interested.”)), and CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 150 (citing CX3168 at 001 (Nov. 
20, 2013 Rogan email: “We don’t sell to buying groups.  Let’s talk live.”)). 
774 CCRF (Patterson) ¶¶ 86-87 (citing Guggenheim, Tr. 1587-1589); see also CCFF ¶¶ 616-617, 620. 
775 See Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 47.  
776 See id. (citing PFF ¶ 126 (RX0401 at 002-003)); see also CCRF (Patterson) ¶¶ 119, 126. 
777 PFF ¶ 122 (CX3114 at 001-002); see also CCRF (Patterson) ¶¶ 122, 125. 
778 See Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 47 (discussing CX0084).   
779 CCFF ¶ 630 (quoting CX3045 at 001 (Jan. 2015)).  
780 CCFF ¶ 630 (quoting CX3010 at 001 (Dec. 2013)).  
781 CCFF ¶ 650 (quoting CX3128 at 001 (Oct. 2014)) (emphasis added). 
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2013, arguing that Guggenheim’s testimony related to the date of the investigational hearing.782 

This implausible interpretation ignores the question to which Guggenheim responded, which 

directly addressed the time prior to Guggenheim’s response to Cohen’s February 2013 NMDC 

email: “What do you mean at that time you hadn’t formed a full opinion?”783  More importantly, 

Patterson claims that the proposed partnership between NMDC and Patterson was falling apart 

before the February 8, 2013 email.  Not so.  Contemporaneous documents reveal that on 

February 7, 2013, Patterson’s New Mexico branch manager, Scott Belcheff, was on track to 

finalize the partnership with NMDC on February 11.  He asked NMDC to cancel a meeting it 

had scheduled with manufacturers in part because Patterson wanted to handle manufacturer bids 

on NMDC’s behalf.784  At the same time, Belcheff was excited about partnering with NMDC: 

“This has the opportunity to be huge and is moving fast and I want to make sure we are doing 

this right from the beginning. . . . I am hoping Patterson can be a partner you trust and that will 

always do the right thing for you. . . . I definitely want to keep this moving forward.”785  Belcheff 

and Dr. Mason from NMDC scheduled a dinner meeting for February 11, where they would “get 

guidelines in place” for the new relationship.786  The Cohen-Guggenheim exchange occurred on 

February 8.  With no contact since the February 7 email, Dr. Mason was surprised to discover at 

the February 11 dinner meeting that Patterson was refusing to work with NMDC, as NMDC was 

“well on our way” to partnering with Patterson.787 

Patterson has no substantive response to the compelling evidence that during the 

conspiracy Patterson refrained from bidding on ADC when it believed ADC was subject to the 

agreement, and then immediately competed for the ADC business once Benco informed 

Patterson that ADC was not covered by the agreement.  Patterson’s only assertion is that it would 

782 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 48-49. 
783 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 134 (citing CX0314 (Guggenheim, IHT at 246) (emphasis added)). 
784 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 289 (citing CX4090 at 002 (“If Patterson is going to be your preferred vendor then 
we handle the bid process for you.)). 
785 CCFF ¶¶ 469-471 (quoting CX4090 at 001-002); CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 289 (quoting CX4090). 
786 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 278 (quoting CX4090 at 002); accord CCFF ¶ 472 (quoting Mason, Tr. 2350). 
787 CCFF ¶¶ 504-506; CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 284 (citing CX8035 (Mason, Dep. at 51)). 
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have made no sense for Patterson to compete for ADC business once Benco won ADC’s 2013 

bid.  But this ignores Patterson’s own testimony and evidence on this topic.  Guggenheim 

instructed the Chesapeake regional office that he wanted to aggressively pursue this business.788 

And he forwarded his email exchange with Cohen to McFadden (who oversaw Special Markets) 

to inform him that the account was not out-of-bounds.789  Whether the competition Guggenheim 

envisioned was to take place immediately in 2013 or at the next available opportunity is beside 

the point.  The point is that Patterson (like Benco and Schein) refrained from competing for an 

account that it believed to be covered by the conspiracy, and then aggressively pursued its own 

economic self-interest and competed for the account once Patterson understood from Benco that 

the account was not off-limits.790 

And Patterson’s post-conspiracy willingness to work with buying groups differs 

markedly from its during-conspiracy refusal to do so.  Patterson pretends that Complaint Counsel 

is alleging the conspiracy ended at a particular moment in 2015.  But as explained above, the 

conspiracy was not snuffed out on a particular date, instead Respondents’ common 

understanding became more difficult to enforce as a result of Benco’s 2015 settlement with the 

Texas Attorney General, and thus the agreement began to lose force beginning in 2015.791  This 

is entirely consistent with the evidence regarding Dentistry Unchained, despite Patterson’s effort 

to obfuscate the dates.  In July 2015, Dentistry Unchained offered to convert 80% of its 226 

members to Patterson.792  The assigned Territory Manager believed it to be a valuable 

opportunity but had to be “honest with [Dentistry Unchained] that [Patterson had] not elected to 

788 CCFF ¶ 586 (citing CX0314 (Guggenheim, IHT at 303); Guggenheim, Tr. 1634). 
789 CCFF ¶¶ 585. 
790 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Patterson Post-Tr. Br. § V (Facts).  Contrary to Patterson’s 
suggestion, at least one document indicates that Patterson indeed competed for ADC’s business in 2013.  
CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 309 (quoting RX0095 at 001 (June 28, 2013 email: “[ADC’s representative] admitted 
[Benco’s] overall proposal was better than Schein’s and Patterson’s.”)). 
791 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.B.7.  
792 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 516 (citing CX3006 at 001-002).  In response to the same request from Dentistry
Unchained, Benco’s Ryan bragged: “The best part about calling these guys is I already KNOW that 
Patterson and Schein have said NO.” CCFF ¶ 1191 (quoting CX0012 at 001). 
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participate [with buying groups],”793 which is consistent with the continued force of the 

conspiracy.  In January 2016, the same Territory Manager informed Dentistry Unchained that 

Patterson was “not going to participate in a GPO type program at th[at] point,”794 yet within five 

weeks from that message, the Territory manager was ready to launch a discount program with 

Dentistry Unchained.  McFadden recommended that the Territory Manager “go for it,” as 

Patterson needed to “start stretching,” suggesting buying groups were new to Patterson at the 

time.795  Thus, this was a significant change in conduct vis-à-vis Dentistry Unchained within a 

very short period, consistent with the conspiracy’s loss of force. 

Likewise, Patterson’s bid for Smile Source is a perfect example of Patterson’s change of 

course before joining the conspiracy and after it ended.  In 2012, Rogan authorized a discount to 

Smile Source’s Hawaii chapter, telling the local manager “Just tell us what discount you want to 

go with and we will get it loaded.”796  In 2013, Smile Source reached out to Patterson multiple 

times seeking a partnership.797  Despite Smile Source’s growth and its members’ $14 million 

dental supplies spend, Patterson declined the opportunity because Smile Source was a buying 

group.798  Then, in 2017, Patterson bid for Smile Source’s business for the first time.799 

Importantly, Smile Source’s business model had not changed between 2013 and 2017, and 

Patterson faced the same risk of cannibalizing some of its existing sales.800  Patterson’s attempt 

793 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 516 (citing CX3006 at 001-002). 
794 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 516 (quoting CX0137 at 001). Of note, this was around the time that Wesley
Fields was hired to handle buying groups and group purchasing organizations.  CCFF ¶¶ 1343-1344.
Indeed, McFadden forwarded the January 2016 Dentistry Unchained email to Fields.  CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 
516 (CX0137 at 001). 
795 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 516 (quoting CX3018 at 001). 
796 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 130 (quoting CX3422 at 001). 
797 See, e.g., CCFF ¶¶ 641-642 (citing CX0147 at 001; CX0297 at 001). 
798 See CCFF ¶ 642 (CX3009 at 001 (“[W]e have said no to smile source. . . . They are [a] buying club . . . 
.”)). Notably, Benco and Schein also refused to do business with Smile Source during this period.  See, 
e.g., CCFF ¶ 1014 (CX0019 at 001).  Benco’s Patrick Ryan reporting that he and Schein’s Randy Foley
specifically talked about Smile Source, allowing him to arrive at the ominous pronouncement: “Buh-
bye”). 
799 CCFF ¶¶ 1347-1349. 
800 CCFF ¶¶ 1353, 1718. 
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to diminish this episode as an anecdote lacking probative value flouts clear precedent focusing 

on the totality of the evidence.   

Finally, Patterson has no answer for the fact that after the conspiracy ended, Patterson 

engaged in a serious exploration of buying groups in late 2015801 

802 .

2. Patterson’s Actions Against Self-Interest Support the Agreement. 

Patterson’s actions against self-interest add support to an inference of agreement.  

Patterson does not acknowledge its most obvious action against self-interest: divulging a (what 

should be confidential) business strategy on buying groups to a rival.  Guggenheim admitted he 

had no business reason for doing so,803 and this action against self-interest remains wholly 

unexplained. 

Patterson argues that its decision not to pursue buying groups with its newly created 

Special Markets division was independent, but the Cohen-Guggenheim communications make 

the conclusion of coordinated activity impossible to resist.  Patterson rolled out its Special 

Markets division shortly after the competitor exchanges.  Patterson’s news garnered a lot of 

attention from buying groups.804  McFadden wanted to explore working with buying groups.805 

Despite this interest, however, Guggenheim placed an “extreme amount of pressure” on 

McFadden to stay away from buying groups.806 Patterson continued to abstain from buying 

group opportunities even after its new group was not profitable for more than a year.807 

801 PFF ¶ 760 (“Patterson hired a business development director, Wesley Fields, in late 2015 with the 
instruction to explore working with buying groups.”); CCFF ¶¶ 1327-1342 (Patterson hired a consulting 
firm to do a “deep dive” into the buying group market segment), 1343-1345.  
802 CCFF ¶ 1364 

. 
803 CCFF ¶ 1168 (citing Guggenheim, Tr. 1612; CX0314 (Guggenheim, IHT at 248)). 
804 CCFF ¶ 597 (CX0315 (citing McFadden, IHT at 116-117)) 
805 CCFF ¶¶ 597-602 (citing CX0106 at 001 (“I know in the past we have said no[.]  Is it worth it to 
explore GPO???????”)), 1272. 
806 CCFF ¶ 604 (quoting CX0315 (McFadden, IHT at 240)). 
807 CCFF ¶ 626. 
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Patterson attempts to provide a list of excuses for not working with a number of buying 

groups.  But as discussed,808 these reasons amount to pretext that is not supported by the record 

evidence. 

When Smile Source approached Patterson at the end of 2013, it had roughly 145 member 

locations,809 with approximately $14 million in spend.810  Patterson claims that it opted not to bid 

for Smile Source in 2013 because “every Smile Source member appeared to already be a 

Patterson customer.”811  This statement dramatically overstates the cited document and the 

underlying facts.  A Patterson Corporate Collections Manager looked up some of the doctors on 

Smile Source’s website and found that they were Patterson customers.812  To insinuate that every 

Smile Source member was buying from Patterson ignores the fact that Smile Source worked with 

Schein prior to 2013.813  Moreover, even were it true, Patterson would earn incremental revenue 

as members shifted more of their spend to Patterson were it Smile Source’s preferred vendor. 

For example, 

.  Patterson suggests that fears about cannibalization 

stopped it from competing for Smile Source in 2013, yet it did not harbor the same fears under 

similar circumstances in 2017.815  Moreover, the totality of the evidence confirmed by 

Patterson’s internal communications, suggest that Smile Source was rejected not based on 

808 See supra Complaint Counsel Reply to Patterson Post-Tr. Br. § III (Facts). 
809 CCFF ¶ 183. 
810 CCFF ¶ 642 (CX0147 at 001).  
811 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 53. 
812 PFF ¶ 153 (quoting CX0148 at 001 (“I checked out some of the names, mainly out of Texas and 
Denver, and we do conduct business with all that I looked up.”)). 
813 CCFF ¶¶ 532, 443 (Schein worked with Smile Source in 2011, and began doing so as early as 2008); 
CCFF ¶¶ 447, 451 (Smile Source account was profitable to Schein). 
814 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 152 (citing CX7100 (Marshall Report) at 164 ; see CCFF ¶ 
642 (noting Smile Source’s 2013 member spend of $14 million). 
815 CCFF ¶¶ 1353-1354.  Indeed, contrary to Patterson’s stated excuse, Rogan testified that the risk of 
cannibalization alone was not justification for Patterson to avoid partnering with a buying group.  CCFF ¶ 
1354 (citing Rogan, Tr. 3548-3549). 
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cannibalization concerns grounded in an analysis of Smile Source’s membership, but instead 

based on a blanket policy of refusing to work with a “buying club.”816 

Moreover, as discussed infra,817 Dr. Marshall’s analysis demonstrates that Patterson 
818 sacrificed . 

3. Patterson’s Motive Constitutes a Clear Plus Factor Supporting 
Agreement. 

Patterson’s fear that buying groups were a “slippery slope” and “a race to the bottom in 

terms of pricing”819 provided compelling motive to conspire.  Patterson’s unpersuasive efforts to 

contradict this plus factor are based entirely on the fiction that the only evidence showing 

Patterson feared buying groups consists of two SWOT analyses.820  Patterson simply ignores its 

own executives’ testimony that buying groups posed a threat, and their contemporaneous 

documentation of their fears.  For example, McFadden wrote in 2012 that buying groups were a 

threat that “scares me,”821 and confirmed at trial that he was referring to buying groups and their 

potential to disrupt Patterson’s sales force: “[s]o yes, this stuff scares me.”822  Patterson’s brief 

unpersuasively pretends this evidence does not exist, just as it pretends that Guggenheim did not 

admit buying groups posed a threat because “often [they] come with reduced pricing.”823 

816 CCFF ¶ 642 (quoting CX3009 at 001). 
817 See infra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Patterson Post-Tr. Br. § III.B (Argument). 
818 CCFF ¶¶ 1658-1659 (CX7100 at 156  (Patterson losing 

 and . 
819 CCFF ¶ 201 (quoting CX3016 at 001; CX8004 (McFadden, Dep. at 105-106)). 
820 See Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 54 (“Complaint Counsel’s evidence consists of two SWOT PowerPoint 
slides”). 
821 CCFF ¶ 237 (quoting CX0084 at 001). 
822 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 178 (quoting McFadden, Tr. 2684-2685).  
823 CCFF ¶ 228 (CX8023 (Guggenheim, Dep. at 221-222)). 
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4. Patterson’s Inter-firm Communications Satisfy the Traditional 
Hallmarks of Conspiracy. 

The factual record has evidence consistent with traditional hallmarks of conspiracy in 

spades.824  These communications, which are uncharacteristic of communications among rivals, 

place significant weight on the side of agreement.  Patterson makes an entirely unsupported 

assertion that every communication is explained, but it has offered no justification that explains 

away its intra-firm communications. 

III. DR. MARSHALL’S ANALYSIS CORROBORATES RESPONDENTS’ 
CONSPIRACY 

Patterson’s brief largely fails to engage with the expert opinions Dr. Marshall offered to 

the Court.  For example, it does not address his methodologies or opinions regarding product 

market,825 geographic market,826 market shares,827 or market power,828 yet Patterson insists that 

the Court should give “no weight” to them.829  The opinions Dr. Marshall has offered to the 

Court are helpful on each of those points, and his profitability analysis tends to corroborate one 

of the relevant plus factors – Patterson’s actions against its self-interest.  Beyond those matters, 

Patterson’s attack on Dr. Marshall’s reading of documents constitutes nothing more than an 

effort to distract from the plain language of the documents – which the Court is capable of 

interpreting for itself.   

Patterson’s opening attack on Dr. Marshall relies on a red herring: a damages calculation 

Dr. Marshall offered in United States v. Birkart Globistics GmbH & Co.,830 an unrelated False 

Claims Act case.831  Patterson’s characterization of Birkart is not only incomplete and 

824 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.A., for a discussion of Respondents’ 
inter-firm communications. 
825 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 84-86.  
826 See id. at 87-88.  
827 See id. at 88-89.  
828 See id. at 79-80, 88-90. 
829 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 55-56.  
830 89 F. Supp. 3d 778 (E.D. Va. 2014). 
831 See Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 56.  
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inaccurate,832 it is irrelevant: Birkart simply has nothing to do with Dr. Marshall’s opinions in 

this case, or the weight the Court should afford them.  Patterson’s other attempts to diminish Dr. 

Marshall’s analyses in this case likewise fail, as discussed below. 

A. Patterson Uses Dr. Marshall as a Strawman to Avoid Inconvenient Facts. 

Patterson’s attacks on Dr. Marshall’s reading of the documentary evidence repeat 

Respondents’ efforts at trial to extract soundbites about the meaning of documents the Court can 

(and will) interpret for itself.  For example, Dr. Marshall’s role is not to explain basic English 

words to the Court, and his reading of the definition of the word “feel” is not relevant to the 

Court’s interpretation of the February 2013 Cohen-Guggenheim email exchange related to 

NMDC.833 

Patterson’s counsel’s painful attempt to induce Dr. Marshall to agree that it is a “tragedy” 

when entities are charged with conspiracy based on a one-hour conversation is irrelevant to Dr. 

Marshall’s opinions and useless to the Court.834  Setting aside that conspiracy can be based on a 

wink and a nod,835 Patterson’s stunt came up short at trial.836  Despite being set straight by Dr. 

Marshall, Patterson’s brief repeats this mischaracterization of Dr. Marshall’s book.837 

832 Patterson suggests Dr. Marshall “cherry-picked” information (Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 56), but this 
term appears nowhere in the opinion.  Instead, the Birkart court acknowledged Dr. Marshall’s “high level 
of expertise” and “the well-recognized and accepted underlying principles of multiple regression analyses 
he used.”  89 F. Supp. 3d at 801.  Ultimately, however, the court found a lack of industry data made it too 
difficult for a regression analysis to predict but-for prices, given “the opaque, unusual and complex price 
setting mechanism” at issue.  Id. 
833 See Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 57. 
834 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 690.   
835 Meyer v. Kalanick, 174 F. Supp. 3d 817, 825 (S.D.N.Y. 2016) (“Sophisticated conspirators often reach 
their agreements as much by the wink and the nod as by explicit agreement.”). 
836 Dr. Marshall consistently testified his use of the word “tragedy” does not refer to a scenario where a 
company is accused of colluding over a “one-hour lunch” or “eight second email.”  CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 
690 (citing Marshall, Tr. 3327-3330 (“Q. It is a tragedy, according to you, . . . when a company gets 
accused of colluding during a one-hour lunch; right? A. No. That’s not what the intent of this.  The intent 
of this is to say it’s a tragedy when firms engage in collusion and find that they haven’t thought through 
what the implications are for being successful with their---with the collusion. . . . No, again, what you are 
talking about is monitoring one another’s conduct in an anticompetitive agreement, that can be done very
quickly.”)). 
837 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 58.  
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Patterson also attempts unsuccessfully to use Dr. Marshall to distract from the June 2013 

Guggenheim-Cohen exchange relating to ADC.  Patterson mischaracterizes the facts and the law, 

suggesting that the Guggenheim-Cohen June 2013 exchange must constitute the “preceding 

agreement” required by Twombly.838  Dr. Marshall acknowledged (like Complaint Counsel) that 

the June email exchange occurred after Benco won ADC’s business, but this acknowledgement 

concedes nothing.  First, Benco and Patterson communicated their common scheme not to 

discount to buying groups in February 2013.  The June 2013 ADC exchange is not the formation 

of the agreement between Benco and Patterson.  Instead, the June 7 Guggenheim-Cohen email 

represents a confrontation of suspected cheating on the existing agreement, and the June 10 

Cohen-Guggenheim email represents an assurance that the agreement is still in place.  Second, 

Twombly simply observes that consciously parallel conduct does not give rise to liability unless 

an agreement is in place, and thus at the pleading stage allegations that are limited to consciously 

parallel conduct are insufficient to state a claim.839  Here, we are far beyond the pleading stage, 

and the evidence goes far beyond parallel conduct.   

To the extent Dr. Marshall considered the factual record in preparing his report, it was 

appropriate to do so.  “It is consistent with sound economic practice to review the factual record 

and formulate a hypothesis that can then be tested using economic theory—the examination of 

the factual record is necessary to determine which tests to run and to confirm that the stories 

drawn from the data and from the factual record are consistent.”840 

B. Dr. Marshall’s Profitability Analysis Is Reliable. 

Patterson’s few arguments directed at Dr. Marshall’s profitability analysis recycle many 

of Benco’s arguments.  As discussed,841 by examining natural experiments, Dr. Marshall’s 

838 See id. 
839 Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 554 (2007) (“Hence, when allegations of parallel conduct 
are set out in order to make a §1 claim, they must be placed in a context that raises a suggestion of a 
preceding agreement, not merely parallel conduct that could just as well be independent action.”). 
840 In re Processed Egg Products Antitrust Litigation, 81 F. Supp. 3d 412, 424 (E.D. Pa. 2015). 
841 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.3. 
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analysis provided reliable analysis that further substantiated Respondents’ illegal agreement.  

Studying natural experiments is a widely accepted method of analysis in antitrust cases.842 

Patterson argues that Dr. Marshall’s analysis is anecdotal citing two cases, but both cases are 

irrelevant to the use of a “natural experiment” analysis to confirm whether defendants acted 

against their self-interest like Dr. Marshall’s study.843 

Patterson also argues that two of Dr. Marshall’s analyses do not fit the timeline of this 

case, arguing that they are outside the benchmark period.844  However, this argument overlooks 

that these analyses are natural experiments.  As previously noted, even Respondents’ experts 

attest to the “convincing” value of natural experiments.845  Consistent with Dr. Marshall’s 

profitability analyses, it was against Patterson’s unilateral self-interest to have a no buying group 

policy after 2013, whereby it instructed its employees to categorically reject buying groups.846 

Prior to 2013, Patterson did not have a no buying group policy and, thus, was not acting against 

its self-interest.847 

Similarly, while Patterson claims that Dr. Marshall did not study enough data or dentists, 

.848  There is nothing to suggest that the 

purchasing behaviors of these dentists are not representative of other dental buying group 

842 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 741. 
843 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 59 (citing Newell Rubbermaid Inc. v. Raymond Corp., 676 F.3d 521, 528 (6th 
Cir. 2012) (in design-defect claim case, “merely count[ing] accidents from accident reports” deemed 
unreliable); Va. Vermiculite, Ltd. v. W.R. Grace & Co., 98 F. Supp. 2d 729, 740 (W.D. Va. 2000) (where 
expert had potential for bias due to close work with a party’s president, expert data from interviews 
deemed unreliable)). 
844 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 60. 
845 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.3 (citing Complaint Counsel’s 
Response to Benco Proposed Finding of Fact ¶ 1023 (RX2833-050, at ¶ 122 (Wu Expert Report)); 
quoting United States v. AT&T Inc., 310 F. Supp. 3d 161, 215 (D.D.C. 2018)). 
846 CCRF (Patterson) ¶¶ 742-745. 
847 Id. 
848 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.3 

; CCRF (Patterson) 733-740. 
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members.  Patterson’s cited cases again have absolutely no bearing on the use of a natural 

experiment method to study actions against self-interest in an antitrust case.849 

Patterson next complains that Dr. Marshall failed to study the groups that were the 

subjects of the interfirm communications between Benco and Patterson (ADC and NMDC), but 

instead focused on two buying groups that Patterson never discussed with a competitor (Kois and 

Smile Source).  First, Benco and Patterson exchanged their respective “policy” on buying groups 

generally, not just their conduct specifically with respect to NMDC and ADC.  Thus, Dr. 

Marshall’s profitability studies analyzed two buying groups that have the very characteristic that 

Respondents claim make it unprofitable for them to pursue buying groups— 

.850  As discussed,851 

the characteristics of Smile Source and Kois made them well-suited examples for his analysis.852 

Second, as Patterson acknowledged in its inter-firm communications, ADC is not a buying 

group.  It would make no sense for Dr. Marshall to analyze lost sales and profits from a non-

buying group entity. Third, it was not possible to conduct an analysis of incremental sales from 

working with NMDC because, as a result of Respondents’ concerted action, the buying group 

never got off the ground.853  As discussed,854 Respondents cannot destroy the but-for world and 

then complain that Dr. Marshall did not study non-existent data.855 Fourth, as previously 

849 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 61 (citing Floorgraphics, Inc. v. News Am. Mktg. In-Store Servs., Inc., 546 F. 
Supp. 2d 155, 179 (D.N.J. 2008) (refusing to admit expert interviews as a substitute for direct testimony
in a tortious interference of contract case where expert knew each of the interviewees); In re Class 8 
Transmission Indirect Purchaser Antitrust Litig., 140 F. Supp. 3d 339, 353-56 (D. Del. 2015) (rejecting 
expert testimony in class certification proceedings on the issue of “common proof” of damages among the 
class members because expert data not representative of the class)). 
850 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 720. 
851 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.3. 
852 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 713. 
853 CCFF ¶ 511 (Mason, Tr. 2357-2358; CX3334). 
854 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.3. 
855 Cf. United States v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 79 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (“To require that Section 2 
liability turn on a plaintiff’s ability or inability to reconstruct the hypothetical marketplace absent a 
defendant’s anticompetitive conduct would only encourage monopolists to take more and earlier 
anticompetitive action. . . . [N]either plaintiff nor the court can confidently reconstruct a product’s 
hypothetical technological development in a world absent the defendant’s exclusionary conduct. To some
degree, ‘the defendant is made to suffer the uncertain consequences of its own undesirable conduct.’”) 
(quoting Areeda & Hovenkamp ¶ 651c). 
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noted,856 that 

857 . 

Finally, Patterson argues that Dr. Marshall calculates that Patterson lost relatively little 

profit by failing to bid on Smile Source in 2013 and Kois in 2014.858  This misunderstands the 

purpose of the “plus factor” to which Dr. Marshall’s opinion is relevant—the question is not 

whether Patterson sacrificed significant profits, the question is simply whether it would have 

been in Patterson’s self-interest to have a policy that banned bidding on these types of accounts. 

Any profit above zero provide the “plus factor,” particularly given Patterson’s claims of fighting 

tooth and nail for much smaller independent dentist sales, as well as evidence that Patterson 

competed for Smile Source post-conspiracy in 2017859 when it had even less to gain.860  While it 

is understandable to not bid for every buying group, for precisely the reasons exhibited in Dr. 

Marshall’s analysis, insofar as Respondents lost buying group sales because they directed their 

sales teams not to discount to buying groups, these across-the-board directives were contrary to 

Respondents’ economic interest. 

At bottom, Patterson nitpicks Dr. Marshall’s analysis, but to no useful end.  It cannot 

claim that Dr. Marshall’s analysis reached the wrong conclusion and that it was in Patterson’s 

independent self-interest to enforce a blanket rejection of buying groups.  The factual record says 

856 See supra Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.3. 
857 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 713. 
858 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 61-62. 
859 CCFF ¶ 1347. 
860 CCRF (Patterson) ¶ 748 (citing, inter alia, 

. 
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otherwise.861  Thus, even if one disregards Dr. Marshall’s findings, Patterson is unable to 

overcome the evidence that indicates that its instructions to universally reject buying groups was 

contrary to its economic self-interest.   

IV. BASIS FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

Finally, Patterson claims that even if Complaint Counsel prevails in proving Respondents 

entered into an unlawful agreement, injunctive relief is inappropriate because there is no 

cognizable danger of reoccurrence.862  This argument is inconsistent with clear legal authority 

holding that termination of alleged infringing conduct does not warrant dismissal for 

mootness.863  It is not a defense to liability.864  Patterson does not identify a single Section 5 

decision that supports its position that an injunction here is improper.  Indeed, even the case cited 

by Patterson — TRW, Inc. v. F.T.C. — holds that a voluntary cessation of illegal conduct does 

not render a case moot.865 

Rather than rely on appropriate Section 5 cases, Patterson relies on Clayton Act Section 8 

(interlocking directorate) cases, which are distinguishable from FTC Act Section 5 cases.866 

Section 8 of the Clayton Act has highly technical thresholds and requirements that apply only to 

interlocking directorate situations, unlike Section 5.  Moreover, Section 8 of the Clayton Act 

861 See, e.g., CCFF ¶¶ 1738-1739 (quoting CX3089 at 001 (“Patterson lost “high quality / high producing” 
customers to the Kois Buyers Group that was served by Burkhart, noting that “the cut is deep to us all.”); 
citing CX3186 at 009 (in one region in one period, Patterson lost four customers with total sales of 
$110,000 to Smile Source)), 1358-1363; see also 1270-1273, 1276 (viewing buying groups as growth 
opportunities), 1290.  That Patterson competed for buying groups after the conspiracy ended suggests that 
it viewed working with buying groups as consistent with its unilateral self-interest.  See, e.g., CCFF ¶¶ 
1410, 1352-1356, 1364. 
862 Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 62. 
863 See FTC v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 304 U.S. 257, 260 (1938) (“Discontinuance of the practice 
which the Commission found to constitute a violation of the Act did not render the controversy moot.”) 
(internal citations omitted).  
864 See In the Matter of Sears, Roebuck & Co., 95 F.T.C. 406, 520 (1980) (“Courts have recognized that 
discontinuance of an offending practice is neither a defense to liability, nor grounds for omission of an 
order.”) (internal citations omitted). 
865 TRW, Inc. v. FTC, 647 F.2d 942, 953 (9th Cir. 1981). 
866 Patterson also cites two cases that have no relevance to a Section 5 case—a Title VII discrimination 
case (Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 564 U.S. 338 (2011)) and an individual’s case against a city’s
police department for misconduct (City of L.A. v. Lyons, 461 U.S. 95, 105-06 (1983)). 
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provides a one-year grace period allowing a director to resign from the position creating the 

interlock and effectively “curing” the violation.867  Section 5 allows no such self-cures. 

In Section 5 cases like this one, the Commission has broad discretion to fashion orders 

not only to stop unlawful conduct but also to require affirmative disclosures or other corrective 

actions.  This is the heart of the agency’s congressional mandate and one repeatedly recognized 

by the Supreme Court.868  Contrary to Patterson’s unsupported suggestion, it is well established 

that the Commission’s discretion to fashion injunctive relief is in no way limited by voluntary 

cessation.869  Accepting Patterson’s argument would effectively render meaningless the 

Commission’s authority to obtain injunctive relief and allow conspirators to bestow immunity on 

themselves by stopping their misconduct when caught.870 

Moreover, the orders that led to the collapse of Respondents’ agreement are either no 

longer in effect or are expiring soon.  Respondent’s conspiracy began to fall apart after Benco’s 

settlement with the Texas Attorney General, which required it to log communications with 

competitors about buying groups.871  Patterson and Schein entered similar stipulated agreements 

in 2018 and 2017, respectively.872  The orders have now expired for Benco and Patterson.873 

And Schein’s obligations under the order terminates in August 2019.874  Absent an injunction in 

this case, nothing would prevent Respondents from reverting to the very conduct that led to the 

867 15 U.S.C. § 19(b). 
868 See, e.g., Jacob Siegel Co. v. FTC, 327 U.S. 608, 612-13 (1946) (“The Commission is the expert body 
to determine what remedy is necessary to eliminate the unfair or deceptive trade practices which have 
been disclosed.  It has wide latitude for judgment and the courts will not interfere except where the 
remedy selected has no reasonable relation to the unlawful practices found to exist.”); see also FTC v. 
Nat’l Lead Co., 352 U.S. 419, 428 (1957); FTC v. Ruberoid, Co., 343 U.S. 470, 473 (1952). 
869 See ITT Cont’l Baking Co. v. FTC, 532 F.2d 207, 222 n.22 (2d Cir. 1976) (It is “the general rule that 
voluntary cessation of an illegal practice is no bar to a Commission cease and desist order.”). 
870 In the Matter of Richard S. Marcus Trading As Stanton Blanket Co., 66 F.T.C. 1290, 1964 WL 73139, 
at *10 (1964), rev’d on other grounds, 354 F.2d 85 (2d. Cir. 1965) (“In any case of the discontinuance of 
a practice, the Commission is vested with broad discretion in the determination of whether the practice 
has been surely stopped and whether an order to cease and desist is proper.”) (internal citations omitted); 
see also Hershey Chocolate Corp., v. FTC, 121 F.2d 968, 971-72 (3d Cir. 1941). 
871 CCFF ¶¶ 1160-1161; see also CCFF ¶ 1162. 
872 CCFF ¶¶ 1163-1164.  
873 CCFF ¶¶ 1160-1161, 1164.  
874 CCFF ¶ 1163. 
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unlawful agreement.  Thus, Complaint Counsel seeks a pragmatic but effective order 

necessitated by Respondents’ illegal conduct.875 

875 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 106-111. 
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COMPLAINT COUNSEL’S REPLY TO SCHEIN’S POST TRIAL BRIEF 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Schein’s contemporaneous documents tell a consistent and simple story: Beginning in 

2011, Schein’s President Tim Sullivan began instructing Schein’s sales force not to deal with 

buying groups.  This followed inter-firm communications between Sullivan and Cohen, and it 

was a change at Schein—Sullivan had never dictated such a policy before.  While Schein 

recognized that buying groups could trigger a “huge price war”,876 it nonetheless worked with a 

number of buying groups before 2011.  In fact, Sullivan explicitly approved buying groups such 

as Smile Source as a way of gaining incremental profits.  Following the 2011 communications 

with Cohen, Schein adopted the same policy as Benco (and eventually, Patterson).  Sullivan, like 

Cohen and Guggenheim, instructed his salesforce against buying groups throughout the 

conspiracy.  All three executives—Sullivan, Cohen, and Guggenheim—preached that buying 

groups were “slippery slopes,”877 and discussed the threat of margin decline.  They rejected 

buying groups that were elevated to them, and instructed others to do so categorically.  The 

executives—Presidents and CEO of competing firms—communicated with each other about 

buying groups on multiple occasions and exchanged assurances about their buying group 

policies.  They complied with the agreement, and confronted each other about cheating.  And 

each of the Big Three’s contemporaneous documents refer to a common understanding among 

Schein, Benco, and Patterson that none of them would deal with buying groups.   

Schein’s Post-Trial Brief, on the other hand, is riddled with holes and internal 

contradictions, and is undermined by the contemporaneous documents drafted by its own 

executives.  Tellingly, Schein ignores the mountains of evidence in the record that contradict its 

story. 

First, Schein argues that there was no parallel conduct (i.e., that Schein did not comply 

with the agreement), despite the trove of Schein’s contemporaneous documents showing that 

876 CCFF ¶ 197. 
877 CCFF ¶¶ 201-203; 709-711, 809, 950. 
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Schein, like Benco and Patterson, categorically rejected buying groups throughout the 

conspiracy.  Schein executives and employees at all levels of the company referred to and 

understood there was a blanket policy not to deal with buying groups that came from Sullivan.  

Nor did Schein evaluate each buying group individually based on specific factors, as it now 

claims—it rejected them outright during the conspiracy.  Further evidencing Schein’s parallel 

conduct, Schein’s own contemporaneous documents, written by its executives, refer to a 

common understanding among the Big Three not to deal with buying groups.  Benco and 

Patterson’s contemporaneous documents, too, confirm this: their executives knew, understood, 

and instructed sales forces that Schein did not work with buying groups, despite occasionally 

getting market rumors to the contrary.878  Benco and Patterson’s executives discussed Schein’s 

cheating on the agreement, and Benco’s executives confronted Schein on several occasions about 

perceived deviations. 

In the face of this evidence, Schein nonetheless claims that it “routinely” pursued buying 

groups,879 and has crafted a list of twenty-five entities it claims are buying groups.880   But only 

four of these twenty-five are buying groups with which Schein reached an agreement during the 

conspiracy, none were approved by Sullivan, and all were against Sullivan’s instructions not to 

deal with buying groups.881  The rest are “legacy” pre-conspiracy buying groups that Schein 

began working with before Schein changed its conduct in 2011 (including ones that Schein 

878 CCFF ¶¶ 675-684.  During the conspiracy, Benco’s Cohen understood that “the policy that Henry
Schein had was that they do not recognize GPOs,” despite getting market intelligence suggesting Schein 
was dealing with buying groups.  CCFF ¶¶ 676, 955-977, 994-1004.  Patterson had the same 
understanding.  In August 2013, when Patterson executive Tim Rogan received inaccurate market 
intelligence that Schein might be selling to a buying group, he responded: “We don’t need GPO’s in the 
dental business.  Schein, Benco, and Patterson have always said no.  I believe it is our duty to uphold this 
and protect this great industry.”  CCFF ¶ 603 (quoting (CX0106 at 001)); Complaint Counsel’s Reply to 
Schein Finding of Fact (hereinafter “CCRF (Schein)”) ¶ 133. 
879 Henry Schein’s Post-Trial Brief (hereinafter “Schein Post-Tr. Br.”) at 86.  
880 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 87-88. 
881 By way of example, Schein points to its relationship with Dental Gator, one of the four buying groups 
during the conspiracy.  Dental Gator was established by one of Schein’s largest DSO customers, MB2 
Dental Solutions (“MB2”). Schein inserted provisions into its 2014 supply agreement with MB2 to 
prevent MB2 from forming a buying group, told MB2 it did not deal with buying groups, threatened that 
“if it looks at any time like a GPO we will disenroll,” and Sullivan and Schein executives tried to 
terminate the relationship, pursuant to Schein’s policy against buying groups.  CCFF ¶¶ 1768-1823.  
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terminated during the conspiracy), post-conspiracy buying groups that Schein began working 

with after the agreement fell apart, or not buying groups at all (instead, DSOs and MSOs).882 

The four buying groups that flouted Sullivan’s policy merely show Schein’s less-than-perfect 

compliance with the agreement in a handful of instances, which does not negate evidence of a 

conspiracy, especially in light of the overwhelming record evidence showing Schein’s 

compliance.  It is the unlawful agreement itself, not perfect adherence to it, which violates the 

antitrust laws.  In fact, courts have upheld findings of liability even when there was substantial 

deviation from the agreement, because “the agreement itself, not its performance, is the crime of 

conspiracy.”883  In Foley, the court affirmed the price fixing conviction against a defendant even 

though it only complied with the agreement part of the time, fluctuating between 30% to 70% 

compliance.884 

Further, Schein contradicts itself repeatedly.  In one breath, it claims it was the buying 

group industry leader.885  In the next, it bashes them, arguing that it “studiously avoided”886 and 

was skeptical of buying groups,887 viewed winning a buying group as “pyrrhic victory,”888 was 

justified in rejecting buying groups, and its refusal to deal was just oligopoly behavior.889   It also 

argues that it only rejected certain types of buying groups (so-called “price-only” buying 

groups), despite the contemporaneous documents that demonstrate Schein, just like Benco and 

Patterson, implemented a categorical no buying group policy that made no such distinctions.890 

882 CCFF ¶ 72 (buying groups are different from DSOs and MSOs).  
883 United States v. Foley, 598 F.2d 1323, 1333 (4th Cir. 1979). 
884 Id. at 1332-33. 
885 Kass, Tr. 89 (“In fact, we are the leader in dealing with buying groups.”). 
886 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 16. 
887 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 20. 
888 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 15. 
889 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 85-86, 92-93. 
890 See United States v. Gen. Elec. Co., 82 F. Supp. 753, 844-45 (D.N.J. 1949) (Contemporaneous 
documents have “the highest validity as evidence of intention” and “mirror well the contemporaneous 
thoughts and the policy considerations of [defendants’] officials, and the testimony at the trial failed to 
limit them.”) (internal quotation omitted), decision supplemented, 115 F. Supp. 835 (D.N.J. 1953). 
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Second, Schein argues that Sullivan’s communications with Cohen represent an 

unsolicited invitation to collude that Schein rebuffed.  This argument fails, because the weight of 

the evidence contradicts Sullivan’s testimony that he “admonished” 891 Cohen twice not to 

discuss buying groups.  Schein points to Sullivan’s testimony that he purportedly told Cohen, on 

two occasions,892 that they should not be discussing or exchanging information about 

customers—the first time during their March 25, 2013 phone call and again on their April 3, 

2013 phone call.893  Sullivan claims that during the second phone call, he again admonished 

Cohen “more sternly” not to discuss the subject.894  Cohen’s testimony flatly contradicts this: 

Cohen testified that he has no recollection of Sullivan ever delivering such a message.895 Cohen 

testified that if a rival told him to stop communicating, he would do so: “if someone says stop, I 

stop.”896  Moreover, Schein’s claim that Sullivan rejected Cohen’s advances and “admonished” 

him twice is contradicted by Sullivan’s actual behavior.897 

Further, Sullivan changed his sworn testimony concerning his communications with 

Cohen about buying groups several times.  Sullivan previously testified that he did not know 

what his April 3, 2013 call with Cohen was about, but that he did not believe it was possible that 

the call related to Atlantic Dental Care.898  Sullivan has changed his prior sworn testimony on 

several other critical points relating to his communications with Cohen.  For instance, Sullivan 

testified under oath in his investigational hearing that Cohen told him on March 25, 2013 that 

891 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 83-84. 
892 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 71-72.  
893 CCFF ¶¶ 1054, 1089.   
894 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 72. 
895 CCFF ¶¶ 1055-1056, 1090.  Cohen testified at trial that he did not recall Sullivan ever telling Cohen to 
stop contacting him about buying groups, and does not recall Sullivan ever giving Cohen the impression 
that they should not be talking about buying groups.  
896 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1491.  Further, Sullivan testified that he has never known Cohen to lie.  CCRF 
(Schein) ¶ 1491 (CX0311 (Sullivan, IHT at 271) (“Q. Have you known Mr. Cohen to lie? A.   I know 
him as an odd personality but to flat out lie, no.  I don't communicate that much with him to tell you the 
truth, but it's -- I don't know him to have lied.”))).   
897 CCFF ¶¶ 1051, 1058-1060; see also Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.C.2, 
supra. 
898 CCFF ¶ 1089.  
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Benco would not bid for ADC’s business, then changed his story at trial to say the opposite.899 

Sullivan also previously testified that he had no recollection of why he called Cohen on March 

27, 2013, but that it was not even “possible” that the call related to ADC.900  Then, Sullivan later 

self-servingly testified that it was his intent on March 27, 2013 to “remind” Cohen that they 

“should not be talking about this.”901  Sullivan’s testimony cannot be credited.   

The contemporaneous documents support Cohen’s testimony.  Immediately after the 

March 25, 2013 call about ADC, Sullivan thanked Cohen for the call and joked with Cohen.902 

Cohen later sent Sullivan more information about ADC by text message, and referred to it as 

“the press release we discussed.”903  Sullivan responded to Cohen’s text message, by again 

thanking him: “[t]hanks for the follow up on that article. Unusual.”904  The two men continued to 

exchange text messages about buying groups, 905 and Sullivan continued trying to reach out to 

Cohen by phone.906 Further, while Sullivan now claims that Cohen’s communications raised 

“red flags,” he did nothing to document or report the communications to Schein’s legal 

department or anyone else, as he was required to do under Schein’s antitrust policy.907  In fact, 

there are no contemporaneous documents that support Sullivan’s claim; instead, they all 

contradict his claim.908 

Schein tries to argue that the communications were an unaccepted invitation because 

Sullivan never reciprocated with information about Schein’s buying group policies, and that the 

899 CCFF ¶¶ 1038-1041.  
900 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1491. 
901 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1491 (CX8025 (Sullivan Dep. 409-410); see also Sullivan, Tr. 3963, 3965)).   
902 CCFF ¶¶ 1051-1053. 
903 CCFF ¶¶ 1057-1059.  
904 CCFF ¶ 1058.  
905 CCFF ¶ 1069. 
906 CCFF ¶¶ 1079-1080; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1491 (CX6027 at 028 (Row 247), 029 (Row 250), 029 (Row 
255)).  
907 CCFF ¶¶ 1049-1050.  Schein’s Antitrust Compliance Policy required Sullivan to report the call to 
Schein’s “Legal Department, the Human Resources Department, or the Senior Vice President of 
Administration.” 
908 CCFF ¶¶ 1022-1110. 
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communications were thus a “one-way” exchange of information.909   The evidence contradicts 

Schein’s claim that the exchanges were one-way, as Benco was certain that Schein had 

implemented a policy prohibiting discounts to buying groups,910 and Benco executives advocated 

confronting Schein executives when Schein deviated from this approach.911 Cf. B&R 

Supermkt912. Rather, the evidence shows that Sullivan and Cohen reached a common 

understanding about buying groups through an exchange of assurances, as discussed supra, 

Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.1. (“There is Direct and Unambiguous 

Evidence of Agreement”).  Thus, Schein’s arguments fail to disprove an agreement.  Regardless, 

as the Supreme Court held in Interstate Circuit v. United States, “[i]t was enough [to support a 

conspiracy] that, knowing that concerted action was contemplated and invited, the distributors 

gave their adherence to the scheme and participated in it.”913 Moreover, this case is similar to 

Esco Corp. v. United States.  There, the Ninth Circuit affirmed a price fixing conviction where 

the defendant followed a course of conduct suggested by a competitor, even though the 

defendant never expressly gave an assurance of commitment to the competitor.914 Here, the 

evidence shows that, at minimum, Cohen communicated Benco’s no buying group policy to 

Sullivan,915 that Sullivan received assurances from Cohen about buying groups,916 and that 

Sullivan acted in accordance with those assurances.917 

909 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 71, 84. 
910 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.1 (“There is Direct and 
Unambiguous Evidence of Agreement”). 
911 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § 1.A.1 (discussing “Better tell your 
buddy Tim to knock this shit off.”). 
912 Cf. B&R Supermkt. Inc. v. Visa, Inc., No. C 16-01150 WHA, 2016 WL 5725010, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 
30, 2016) (MasterCard’s representative “could not speak so confidently on behalf of all networks save 
and except for her knowledge of collusion, for true competition would have driven one or more networks 
to break ranks and offer more competitive terms.”). 
913 Interstate Circuit v. United States, 306 U.S. 208, 226 (1939) (“It was enough [to support a conspiracy]
that, knowing that concerted action was contemplated and invited, the distributors gave their adherence to 
the scheme and participated in it.”). 
914 Esco Corp. v. United States, 340 F.2d 1000, 1007-08 (9th Cir. 1965). 
915 CCFF ¶¶ 661-664. 
916 For example, Sullivan previously testified that Cohen informed him that Benco was not planning to bid 
on ADC.  CCFF ¶¶ 1038-1040. 
917 See infra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.A.1 (discussing evidence of 
Schein’s enforcement of a policy against buying groups).  
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Finally, Schein takes aim at Complaint Counsel’s “plus factor” evidence supporting a 

finding of an unlawful agreement, although the plus factors simply corroborate the otherwise 

unambiguous evidence of an agreement.  It criticizes Dr. Marshall’s work, including a 

profitability analysis confirming that it was against Respondents’ self-interest to reject buying 

groups categorically.  Yet the plus factor evidence largely comes from Respondents’ 

contemporaneous documents showing a common motive to conspire, changes in conduct 

(“structural breaks”) before and after the agreement, and Respondents’ actions against self-

interest by refusing to deal with buying groups.  Dr. Marshall’s analyses thus only confirm and 

are consistent with the evidence of plus factors already in the factual record. 

Schein asks this Court to ignore the unjustified communications between direct 

competitors relating to buying groups, and the internal company documents confirming an 

agreement.  Instead, it asks this Court to consider only its witness denials of an agreement, as did 

the defendants in Gainesville (who denied the existence of an agreement and claimed the 

competitor communications were nothing more than “common courtesy”);918 in Champion (who 

testified the communications “were innocent”);919 in Foley (who “offered explanatory and 

exculpatory evidence”);920 in Beaver (who argued the trial evidence showed “no person voiced 

their assent to the supposed conspiracy”);921 and in Esco (who argued “the record is utterly 

lacking in evidence of agreement”).922  But just like the defendants in each of these cases, Schein 

cannot run away from the contemporaneous documents, which confirm Schein’s participation in 

an agreement with Benco and Patterson.  

918 Gainesville Utilities Department v. Florida Power & Light Co., 573 F.2d 292, 301 n.14 (5th Cir. 1978) 
(“The officials of the power companies deny the existence of a territorial agreement . . . .”). 
919 United States v. Champion International Corp., 557 F.2d 1270, 1273 (9th Cir. 1977) (“The defendants 
have always asserted that these meetings were innocent, but the court found otherwise.”). 
920 United States v. Foley, 598 F.2d 1323, 1334 (4th Cir. 1979) (“Defendants of course offered 
explanatory and exculpatory evidence . . . .”). 
921 United States v. Beaver 515 F.3d 730, 737 (7th Cir. 2008). 
922 Esco Corp. v. United States, 340 F.2d 1000, 1006 (9th Cir. 1965). 
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II. RESPONSE TO SCHEIN’S MISCHARACTERIZATIONS OF THE EVIDENCE. 

Schein’s post-trial brief ignores the overwhelming weight of the evidence for which it has 

no good explanation, and instead selectively quotes or mischaracterizes documents and 

testimony, and mischaracterizes Complaint Counsel’s allegations.923 

A. Schein Worked With Buying Groups Prior to The Conspiracy, and Adopted 
a Policy of Not Working With Buying Groups During the Conspiracy. 924 

Schein’s central argument is that it worked with buying groups during the conspiracy, 

and never had a policy or practice against them.  According to Schein, it worked with buying 

groups that controlled purchasing and made volume commitments during the conspiracy,925 but 

avoided so-called “price-only” buying groups focused only on price.926  The documents tells a 

different story: Schein categorically rejected buying groups based on the instructions of Tim 

Sullivan—Schein’s President who entered into the unlawful agreement with Benco.   

923 Schein claims ignorance of the timeframe that Complaint Counsel alleges for the conspiracy, and tries 
to portray this as a “weakness” in Complaint Counsel’s allegations.  Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 1 n.2.  For 
avoidance of doubt, Complaint Counsel alleges that Schein and Benco entered into an agreement in 2011,
followed by Patterson joining in early 2013.  Kahn, Tr. 19.  Beginning in April 2015, the agreement 
became difficult to maintain, and began to fall apart, after Benco settled an antitrust investigation into its 
response to the TDA buying group by entering into an Agreed Final Judgment and Stipulated Injunction 
with the Texas Attorney General’s Office.  Kahn, Tr. 19; CCFF ¶¶ 1159-1162.  Complaint Counsel is not 
required to present evidence of the precise start of the conspiracy. See United States v. Consol. 
Packaging Corp., 575 F.2d 117, 126 (7th Cir. 1978) (finding sufficient evidence to establish a conspiracy
even without finding evidence in the record of the “specific agreement, its embryo or history of its 
development,” noting “[t]he form or manner of making the agreement are not crucial”).  Moreover, 
Schein’s claim that Complaint Counsel previously alleged that the agreement began in July 2012 is false.  
Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 68 n.53.  The Complaint alleges that Benco and Schein entered into an agreement 
“no later than July 2012,” and is fully consistent with Complaint Counsel’s contentions.  See Complaint, 
¶ 32.   
924 Section II.A of Complaint Counsel’s Reply Brief responds to arguments in Section A of Schein’s Post-
Trial Brief (“Schein’s Approach to Centralized Purchasing Partnerships”).  See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 13. 
925 Schein’s argument makes no sense.  As Schein and other witnesses testified at trial, buying groups by
definition do not control purchasing or make contractual volume commitments on behalf of their 
members, because they are comprised of independent dental practices.  CCFF ¶¶ 72-76.  Schein’s 
contemporaneous documents support this, and show that Schein distinguished buying groups from DSOs 
and MSOs because DSOs and MSOs have centralized control over purchasing, while buying groups do 
not.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 87 (CX2764 at 004) (internal Schein document that distinguished DSOs and MSOs 
from GPOs, based on the lack of centralized purchasing and management in GPOs)); see also CCFF ¶ 72 
(quoting Foley, Tr. 4512-4513 (“Q. [D]o you agree that DSOs and MSOs make the purchasing decisions 
for dental practices while buying groups do not? A. Yes.”)).  
926 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 16. 
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Prior to 2011, Sullivan did not instruct Schein’s sales force not to work with buying 

groups, and Schein did not have a no buying group policy.  Schein’s salesforce did not refer to 

any such instructions from Sullivan before 2011.927  In fact, Sullivan approved buying groups 

like Smile Source in 2010, even though he was concerned about it leading to a “huge price war,” 

because of the opportunity to gain incremental profits.928 On February 23, 2011, Sullivan 

explained to Smile Source that he was very excited about Smile Source’s “business model.”929 

In early 2011, when a buying group approached Schein, Schein’s Special Markets division 

passed it along to Sullivan’s division, HSD.  Schein’s executives did not refer to instructions or a 

policy against buying groups (as they did during the conspiracy), despite a Schein executive 

expressing fear of buying groups leading to margin erosion in the dental industry.930  Schein 

worked with several buying groups before the conspiracy began, such as Smile Source, the 

Dental Cooperative, Long Island Dental Forum, and Dentists for a Better Huntington.931 

1. Schein’s Contemporaneous Documents Show that During the 
Conspiracy Period Sullivan Began to Instruct Schein’s Salesforce to 
Categorically Reject Buying Groups. 

By July 2011, Sullivan’s position had changed.  In spite of Sullivan’s previous 

enthusiasm for working with the buying group Smile Source, Sullivan informed his bosses, “I 

don’t think you will ever see a full service dealer get involved with GPOs.”932 Schein’s 

contemporaneous documents, written by Sullivan and other Schein executives, show that 

927 Schein points to an email from 2002, 9 years before the conspiracy, in which Schein Special Markets 
President Hal Muller described the threat of margin erosion from buying groups, and expressed that 
Schein was avoiding working with them.  Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 19-20.  Yet this email is not relevant to 
disprove of evidence of agreement in 2011.  Buying groups were not common in the dental industry in 
2002 when Muller wrote this email, (CCFF ¶¶ 134-137) and Schein began working with them years later 
when buying groups became more prevalent, such as The Dental Cooperative in 2007 and Smile Source 
in 2008.  CCFF ¶¶ 432-453. 
928 CCFF ¶¶ 432-439 (quoting CX2113).  In September 2010, Sullivan explained to his boss, Jim
Breslawski, that he thought the benefits of working with buying groups outweighed the risks. 
929 CCFF ¶ 696 (quoting CX2899 at 001 (“I remain very excited about our future together and the 
business model you have created.  As we discussed, your approach to your members lines up extremely
well with our approach to them as customers.”)).  
930 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 446-447. 
931 CCFF ¶¶ 440-444. 
932 CCFF ¶ 705 (quoting CX0185 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 701-704, 706. 
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Sullivan began instructing Schein employees to categorically reject buying groups beginning in 

late 2011.  As a result of these instructions, both divisions at Schein—Henry Schein Dental 

(“HSD,” which serviced private practices) and Special Markets (which serviced DSOs, 

institutions, and other non-traditional practices)933—categorically rejected buying groups.934 

The record is replete with examples of these directives from Sullivan throughout the 

conspiracy period.  In December 2011, Sullivan wrote to his employees that he believed Schein 

did “NOT want to lead in getting [buying groups] started in dental.”935  He explained that buying 

groups were “a very slippery slope.”936  He also informed his employees in December 2011 that 

he did not want to “be the first company to open the floodgates to the dangerous world of 

GPOs.”937  By February 2012, Sullivan wanted to know “what we can do to KILL the buying 

group model!!”938  In September 2014, he wrote: “I still believe [buying groups are a] slippery 

slope . . . and don’t plan to take the lead role.”939  Moreover, Sullivan personally directed 

employees to refuse buying groups that were elevated to him.940 

Schein’s sales force got the message.  In February 2012, Schein executive Foley, 

referring to his conversation with Sullivan about buying groups, told his direct report: “Tim 

Sullivan is happy that we are less one more [buying group],” and “[s]o, this is a corporate 

decision, not to participate in these.”941  In July 2012, Schein executive Jake Meadows stated that 

933 As Schein concedes, HSD focuses on serving independent dentists, while Special Markets “primarily
serves customers other than independent dentists, such as federal and state government purchasers, dental
schools, community health centers (“CHCs”), other institutions, and Dental Support Organizations 
(‘DSOs’).”  See SF ¶ 5, 20. 
934 HSD had responsibility for buying groups throughout the conspiracy, though buying group 
opportunities approached both divisions.  CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 4, 23, 184, 237.  Both rejected them 
categorically.  CCFF ¶¶ 733-954.  HSD and Special Markets coordinated strategy, and Sullivan was 
always involved in decisions relating to buying groups.  CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 4, 23, 184; CCFF ¶¶ 738-739. 
As a result, Sullivan was involved in the decision-making process concerning buying groups in both HSD 
and Special Markets.  CCFF ¶¶ 738-739.  
935 CCFF ¶ 709 (quoting CX2456 at 001). 
936 CCFF ¶ 709 (quoting CX2456 at 001); see also CCFF ¶ 711. 
937 CCFF ¶ 713 (quoting CX2458 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 712, 714-716. 
938 CCFF ¶ 729 (quoting CX0199 at 001). Sullivan claimed that he meant to write “KILL [their] buying 
group model,” referring to the buying group Smile Source.  (Sullivan, Tr. 4146.) 
939 CCFF ¶ 809 (CX2469 at 002). 
940 CCFF ¶¶ 795, 799, 801. 
941 CCFF ¶¶ 756 (quoting CX0238 at 001), 758 (quoting CX0238 at 001). 
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selling to a buying group was “against what Tim Sullivan has directed us to do in regards to 

supporting Buying groups. We do not want our customers organizing and creating what are 

known as GPOs it takes the value away from the distributor.”942  In another instance, Meadows 

noted to another Schein executive that “[Tim Sullivan] was going off about how we do not have 

any buying group agreements and that we will not do them.  Soap boxing about HSD [Henry 

Schein] and buying groups.”943  Yet another Schein employee wrote, “from Tim S., HSD does 

not want to enter the GPO world.” 944  Similarly, another employee informed her colleagues that 

“Tim [Sullivan] was not in favor of” a buying group agreement, 945 and that a buying group 

prospect “went to Tim [Sullivan] and he shot it down.  I think the meta msg is officially, GPO’s 

are not good for Schein.” 946  Yet another Schein employee wrote in August 2014, referring to 

Sullivan’s rejection of a buying group: “no GPOs which is I think a good rule.” 947 

Dozens of Schein’s documents confirm that Schein enforced a policy against buying 

groups, just like Benco and Patterson.948  In its Post-Trial Brief, Complaint Counsel highlighted 

over thirty examples of Schein’s contemporaneous documents evidencing a policy against 

buying groups during the conspiracy, though the record includes many more.949  For example: 

 December 21, 2011: Randy Foley, Director of Sales for Special Markets, rejected 
buying group Unified Smiles, stating, “[U]nless you have some ‘ownership’ of your 
practices Henry Schein considers your business model as a Buying Group, and we no 
longer participate in Buying Groups.”950 

942 CCFF ¶ 773 (CX0170 at 001). 
943 CCFF ¶ 850 (quoting CX0176 at 001). 
944 CCFF ¶ 806 (quoting CX2211 at 001). Schein attempts to explain away this statement, written by
Schein Regional Manager Kevin Upchurch, by citing testimony from Kathleen Titus interpreting 
Upchurch’s statement.  See Schein Post-Trial Brief, at n. 31.  Schein did not call Upchurch as a witness at 
trial.  Titus is not the author of the quoted statement, and therefore her “interpretation” lacks foundation 
and carries no weight.  
945 CCFF ¶ 795 (quoting CX2219 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 796, 798. 
946 CCFF ¶ 799 (quoting CX2235 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 801-802. 
947 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 142 (quoting CX2441 at 001). 
948 See Attachment C to Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief for additional examples of documents 
evidencing Schein’s no buying group policy during the conspiracy; CCFF ¶¶ 700-954. 
949 See Attachment C to Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief for additional examples of documents 
evidencing Schein’s no buying group policy during the conspiracy. 
950 CCFF ¶ 719 (quoting CX2062 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 720, 723, 743. 
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 January 26, 2012: Western Zone Manager Joe Cavaretta wrote to sales 
representatives, “It is dangerously close but I told him we would not do business with 
a GPO.”951 

 February 20, 2012:  Foley wrote to his direct report, Strategic Account Manager 
Debbie Torgersen-Foster, “Honestly, within Schein we have a few buying groups 
(BG) that we wish we didn’t have . . . So, this is a corporate decision, not to 
participate in these.”952 

 June 8, 2012: Regional Account Manager Andrea Hight wrote to her boss, Foley and 
Zone Manager Kathleen Titus:  “I explained that we do not accommodate GPOs . . . 
.”953 

 May 29, 2013: Cavaretta wrote to two Schein employees, “We try to avoid buying 
groups at all costs and therefore don’t really recognize them.”954 

 December 20 2013: Foley told his counterpart at Colgate, one of Schein’s 
manufacturer partners: “It’s a buying group that we do not participate with, as with all 
buying groups.”955 

 October 8, 2014: a regional manager wrote to Titus, Schein’s Director of Group 
Practices:  “I recently had a conversation with Kathleen regarding this group and they 
are nothing more than a GPO.  It is my understanding that this violates our policy as 
we do not engage with GPOs.”956 

 November 5, 2014: Eastern Area Sales Director Jake Meadows wrote to a Regional 
Manager: “We do not currently participate with GPOs. . . .”957 

 December 2014: Sullivan to Cavaretta, “The Dec ‘offsite’ last year I left with a goal 
to see if we could get Hal [Muller] to shut [Dental Gator] down . . . .”958 

951 CCFF ¶¶ 750 (quoting CX0168 at 001). 
952 CCFF ¶¶ 754 (quoting CX0238 at 001), 756 (quoting CX0238 at 001), 758. 
953 CCFF ¶ 771 (quoting CX2423 at 004). 
954 CCFF ¶¶ 785 (quoting CX2509 at 001), 787; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 236.  
955 CCFF ¶¶ 788 (quoting CX2073 at 001), 789. 
956 CCFF ¶¶ 811, 812 (quoting CX0260 at 002), 813. 
957 CCFF ¶ 828 (quoting CX2358 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 827, 829-834. 
958 CCFF ¶¶ 836 (quoting CX0246 at 001); see also 837-838.  Dental Gator was a buying group created 
by one of Schein’s largest DSO customers, even though Schein’s contract with the DSO prohibited the 
latter from forming a buying group.  CCFF ¶¶ 1769-1783.  Sullivan and Schein executives tried to end the 
Dental Gator relationship (CCFF ¶ 1806), and told Dental Gator it could not advertise itself as a buying 
group.  CCFF ¶¶ 1812-1817.  Dental Gator ceased operations in 2018.  CCFF ¶ 1823. 
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Contemporaneous documents such as these confirm that Schein had a policy of refusing 

buying groups, contrary to any claim that it was a buying group “industry leader” during the 

conspiracy.959 Benco and Patterson’s internal, contemporaneous documents show that their 

executives knew, understood, and instructed their salesforces that Schein did not work with 

buying groups, despite occasionally learning of market rumors to the contrary.960 Tellingly, out 

of the millions of pages of documents produced by Schein in this litigation, it fails to point to a 

single document during the conspiracy where Sullivan approved or supported a buying group.  

Instead, the only document Schein can point to is a single email from November 20, 2015, 

introduced at trial, purporting to show Sullivan and Schein had “nothing against Buying Groups 

per se.”961  Not only does this email post-date the conspiracy, it is transparently a manufactured-

for-litigation email crafted and sent to Schein’s trial counsel in hopes of avoiding liability. 

Sullivan admitted that he sent the email to his trial counsel knowing full well that Schein’s 

refusal to do business with buying groups was a “sensitive topic” that was at the center of 

multiple antitrust lawsuits and government investigations.962  On this record, Schein’s meritless 

claims about a lack of a parallel conduct should be disregarded. 

2. Schein Did Not Distinguish Between “Price-Only” Buying Groups and 
Other Types of Buying Groups. 

Schein argues that it only rejected certain types of buying groups—so-called “price-only” 

buying groups that focus on price.963  This argument finds no support in (and is contradicted by) 

Schein’s contemporaneous documents and the testimony of its executives.  The record shows 

that Schein executives never distinguished between types of buying groups during the 

conspiracy, or “price-only” and other buying groups.  Rather, they rejected buying groups 

categorically.  

959 Kass, Tr. 89 (“In fact, we are the leader in dealing with buying groups.”). 
960 CCFF ¶¶ 549-553, 675-684; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 133. 
961 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 154 (quoting RX2360 at 001), 1362. 
962 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 154, 1362. 
963 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 15-16. 
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Schein executive Jake Meadows, a former Vice President of Sales in HSD, testified that 

he does not recall ever hearing of the term “price-only buying group.”964  Hal Muller, Schein’s 

President of Special Markets, testified that all buying groups are “primarily just price,” and that 

this is the main distinction between buying groups and MSOs: 

Q.  And what's the difference between an MSO and a buying 
group? 

A.  An MSO has a lot of the management elements; HR, payroll, 
training, all those elements, as opposed to a buying group that is 
primarily just price. 965 

Sullivan similarly testified that he understands buying groups to be “purchasing 

organization[s] based on the concept of leveraging the purchasing power of independent dental 

practices to negotiate discounts with suppliers.”966  Nor did Sullivan ever distinguish between 

types of buying groups in instructing Schein’s salesforce.  Sullivan warned his team about 

buying groups broadly: “I still believe [buying groups are] a slippery slope . . . and don’t plan to 

take the lead role.”967  Sullivan’s only inquiry was whether the customer was a buying group 

(which should be rejected) or a DSO/MSO (which should be embraced): “If these convert to 

ownership office I would not put in to the straight up GPO bucket.”968  Indeed, Sullivan wrote in 

2013: “Our first reaction to this was it was simply a buying group and we were going to walk 

away.”969 

Schein’s executives followed Sullivan’s lead, and categorically rejected buying groups.  

They did not analyze whether a buying group was “price-only.”  Nor did they analyze volume 

964 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 112 (CX8016 (Meadows, Dep. at 52)).  Consistent with this, Brian Brady, Schein’s
Former Director of Group Practices, testified that he used the term “buying group” in reference to buying 
groups broadly, and not to a specific type.  CCRF ¶ 112. 
965 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 112 (quoting CX0309 (Muller, IHT at 141)). 
966 CCFF ¶ 67 (quoting Sullivan, Tr. 3941).  Thus, Schein’s attempt to now distinguish so-called “price 
only” buying groups is meaningless.  Schein executives called groups of independent dentists that sought 
to leverage collective volume for discounts just “buying groups,” and referred to them as such throughout 
the conspiracy.  
967 CCFF ¶ 809 (quoting CX2469).  
968 CCFF ¶ 1803 (quoting CX2761 at 001). 
969 CCFF ¶ 1097 (quoting CX2021 at 013). 
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opportunities or other specific factors, as Schein now claims.  Meadows, Eastern Area Director 

of Sales in HSD, instructed a Schein employee in 2014: “Just for clarity, we are NOT 

participating in any GPOs regardless of what they promise to bring us.”970  Another Schein 

employee wrote: “Neither HSD or [sic] Special Markets will participate in buying groups of any 

kind.”971  Yet another wrote: “It’s a buying group that we do not participate with, as with all 

buying groups.”972  Foley, Special Markets Director of Sales, wrote in 2014 of a buying group: 

“It’s a buying group so we walked away from them—did not bid on the business.”973  Put 

simply, Schein refused to bid on customers if they were buying groups.   

Further evidencing Schein’s blanket policy, its internal documents defining “buying 

group” or “GPO” do not mention “price-only” buying groups.  A 2012 sales presentation 

defined: “Definition of a Buying Group: NEITHER SM [Special Markets] NOR HSD [Henry 

Schein Dental] WOULD TAKE ON: An organization or group [o]f dentists that get together to 

leverage better pricing from a distributor . . . .”974 Another from April 2015 defined group 

purchasing organization as any entity created to “leverage the purchasing power of individual 

and autonomous private practices to obtain discounts from vendors based on the collective 

buying power of the GPO members. . . .”975  At trial, Schein executives admitted that they never 

used the term “price-only” buying group in contemporaneous documents and emails.  Rather, 

they referred categorically to buying groups, without distinction, when communicating Schein’s 

970 CCFF ¶ 816 (quoting CX2354 at 001 (emphasis in original)). 
971 CCFF ¶ 767 (quoting CX2003 at 001). 
972 CCFF ¶ 788 (quoting CX2073 at 001). 
973 CCFF ¶ 945 (quoting CX2697 at 001). 
974 CCFF ¶ 761 (quoting CX2065 at 002) (emphasis in original)).  
975 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 87 (quoting CX2764 at 004).  This Schein internal document circulated among 
executives, entitled “Business Segment Definitions,” distinguished GPOs from MSOs/DSOs, based on 
the lack of centralized purchasing and management in GPOs.  In defining MSO, it stated, “Key 
differentiation from GPO is the authority to make decisions for the practices under management, and 
require compliance to a designated prime vendor relationship.”  By contrast, it stated, “the GPO has no 
authority or oversight in its members [sic] purchasing decisions.”  Thus, Schein recognized that GPOs did 
not control purchasing or make volume commitments.  It distinguished GPOs and buying groups (which 
it boycotted) from DSOs and MSOs (which it worked with) on this basis.  See also CCFF ¶¶ 72-76. 

149 



 

 
 

 
   

PUBLIC 

policy to Schein’s sales force, to manufacturer partners, to potential customers, and to each 

other: 
 Q. This is an e-mail to Unified Smiles where you tell Ms. Knysz “we no longer 

participate in Buying Groups”; right? 
A.  That is correct. 
Q.  Where do you use the term “price-only buying group” in this e-mail? 
A.  I do not use it. 976 

 Q. And toward the bottom you say, “As with other buying groups we continue to say 
no.”  Do you see that? 
A.  Yes. 
Q.  Do you use the term “price-only buying group” anywhere on this page? 
A.  No. 977 

 Q. This [email] is also about Unified Smiles; correct? 
A.  That is correct. 
Q.  Do you use the term “price-only buying group” in this e-mail? 

A.   No.978 

 Q. This is an e-mail with your direct report, right? 
A.  That's correct. 
Q.  Do you use the term “price-only buying group” anywhere here? 
A.  No. 979 

3. Schein Witnesses Have Offered Inconsistent and Contradictory 
Testimony about their Statements in Contemporaneous Documents. 

Schein’s witnesses have offered contradictory, inconsistent, and changing testimony 

about their statements in contemporaneous documents that Schein did not work with buying 

groups.  These explanations cannot be credited. 

For instance, VP of Sales Jake Meadows wrote on October 25, 2014: “Just for clarity, we 

are NOT participating in any GPOs regardless of what they promise to bring us.”980  After first 

testifying he did not know what he meant,981  Meadows later changed his testimony to state that 

976 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 173 (quoting Foley, Tr. 4736-4737). 
977 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 173 (Foley, Tr. 4739-4740). 
978 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 173 (Foley, Tr. 4738-4739). 
979 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 173 (Foley, Tr. 4739).  
980 CCFF ¶ 816 (CX2354 at 001 (emphasis in original).  
981 CCFF ¶ 825. 
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he meant that HSD was supposed to bring buying groups to Schein’s Special Markets 

Division.982  But this new testimony is contradicted by other Schein witness testimony and 

evidence that HSD had responsibility for buying groups at the time,983  and by Schein’s own 

proposed findings of fact that Special Markets only had responsibility for buying groups before 

2014.984  Meadows referred to Schein’s policy against buying groups another time in 2012, and 

wrote: “I have to tell you Ron and Dan made a decision that is against what Tim Sullivan has 

directed us to do in regards to supporting Buying groups.  We do not want our customers 

organizing and creating what are known as GPOs it takes the value away from the distributor.”985 

Again, his testimony changed.  Meadows first testified that he meant that the Schein employees 

had a made a decision on a buying group without getting authorization from Meadows first, and 

that he did not recall any direction from Sullivan with regard to buying groups.986  At trial, 

Meadows testified that he was referring to a direction from Sullivan to send buying groups to 

Special Markets.987  When Sullivan was asked about Meadows’ statement at his investigational 

hearing, Sullivan did not testify to any such direction to send buying groups to Special 

Markets.988  In fact, Sullivan testified at trial that he was involved in the decisions about all 

buying groups, including those relating to Special Markets.989 

Other Schein witnesses gave completely different, yet inconsistent, explanations for their 

statements.  On May 29, 2013, VP of Sales Joe Cavaretta wrote: “We try to avoid buying groups 

at all costs and therefore don’t really recognize them.”990  Cavaretta testified that he meant that 

982 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1358-1359. (Meadows, Tr. 2428-2429). 
983 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 4, 237 (Steck, Tr. 3735-3737) (testifying that HSD had primary responsibility for 
buying groups beginning in 2010 or 2011); CCRF (Schein) ¶ 237 (Special Markets President Hal Muller 
testified that buying groups of private practices were directed toward HSD, including prior to 2014). 
984 SF ¶ 237. Schein’s claim that Special Markets only had responsibility for buying groups prior to 2014 
is inconsistent with Meadow’s testimony, since he wrote his statement in October 2014).  
985 CCFF ¶ 773 (quoting CX0170 at 001). 
986 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1358-1359 (CX8016 (Meadows, Dep., at 135-137)). 
987 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1358-1359 (Meadows, Tr. 2638-2639).  
988 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1358-1359 (CX0311 (Sullivan, IHT at 242-244)). 
989 CCFF ¶ 738. 
990 CCFF ¶ 785 (CX2509 at 001). 

151 



 

 
 

   
  

 
 

PUBLIC 

neither HSD nor Special Markets would deal with buying groups: “from a business standpoint, it 

didn't make sense. And we weren't really doing business with buying groups at that time, so and 

in not really recognizing them, they didn't fit either in HSD at that time or special markets. . . ”991 

This testimony undermines Meadows’ testimony that he was only referring to a practice of 

sending buying groups to Special Markets.992 

Schein witnesses, such as Randy Foley, could not provide any explanations for their 

contemporaneous statements that Schein did not deal with buying groups when asked about them 

at their deposition.  On December 20, 2013, Foley told one of Schein’s manufacturer partners 

regarding Unified Smiles: “It’s a buying group that we do not participate with, as with all buying 

groups.”993  At his deposition, Foley testified, “I don’t understand why I said that” when asked 

about this statement.994  On September 14, 2014, Foley wrote “[a]s with other buying groups we 

continue to say no (at least try to).”995  Again, Foley testified at deposition “I'm not sure what I 

was trying to convey at that time by making that statement,” and that he could not think of 

anything that would refresh his recollection as to what he meant. 996 At trial, Foley changed his 

testimony to claim he was referring to price-only buying groups.997 

4. Schein’s Claim that Buying Groups were not Profitable Opportunities 
is Contradicted by the Evidence. 

Schein lists what it now claims are numerous “risks and disadvantages of dealing with 

buying groups,” even though it currently works with buying groups and argues it always pursued 

them.998  The record, however, shows that buying groups were profitable opportunities for 

991 CCRF ¶ (Schein) 236.  
992 Cavaretta too, later changed his testimony at trial to provide a different explanation, claiming that he 
was only referring to buying groups that take title to supplies. CCRF ¶ (Schein) 236.  This explanation 
makes no sense, since Cavaretta’s contemporaneous documents confirm that he was not aware of the 
existence of any such entities.   
993 CCFF ¶ 788. 
994 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1358-1359 (CX8003 (Foley, Dep. at 262)).  
995 CCFF ¶ 810. 
996 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1358-1359 (CX8003 (Foley, Dep. at 287-289)). 
997 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 173. 
998 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 17-19. 
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Schein pre- and post-conspiracy, and that Schein gained new customers and increased business 

with existing customers through buying groups.  Prior to 2011, Sullivan expressed his belief that 

the benefits of working with buying groups like Smile Source outweighed the risks, despite his 

concerns about a “price war” with competitors.999 

Schein’s “business with [Dental Co-op] was growing” when it did business with the 

buying group in 2009, and by July 2011, Muller recognized the Dental Co-op of Utah as “one of 

the largest HSD account (over $1M).”1000  Schein’s Special Markets relationship with Smile 

Source pre-conspiracy was profitable and resulted in $3 million in sales, half of which came 

from Schein’s competitors.1001  In 2010, Sullivan identified the Smile Source account as an 

account he did not “want to lose” because it was “$1 million and growing.”1002  Dental Gator, a 

buying group that Sullivan tried to terminate in 2014, brought Schein new customers from 

competitors and lead to increased purchasing volume from existing customers.1003  Schein’s post-

conspiracy relationships have also benefitted Schein.  Brian Brady, Schein’s former Director of 

Group practices, testified that Schein’s work with buying group has led to increased revenue and 

contributed to Schein’s profitability.1004 

.1005  In light of the evidence that Schein viewed buying groups as profitable 

opportunities, and benefitted from them before and after the agreement, Schein’s after-the-fact 

claims about why it avoided buying groups during the conspiracy carry no weight. 

999 CCFF ¶¶ 432-439.  In September 2010, Sullivan explained that he would support working with a 
buying group account because it provided an opportunity to increase overall gross profit for Schein.  
CCFF ¶ 438. 
1000 CCFF ¶ 1701 (quoting CX2505 at 002). 
1001 CCFF ¶ 447 (quoting CX2469 at 001). 
1002 CCFF ¶¶ 448-450 (quoting CX2113 at 001).  
1003 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 675. 
1004 CCRF ¶ 183. 
1005 CCFF ¶ 1725. 
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B. Schein Obfuscates its Relationships With Buying Groups in its 
“Chronological History of Schein’s Buying Group Interactions.”1006 

Schein obfuscates its history of working with buying groups in an unsuccessful effort to 

establish that Sullivan approved buying groups during the conspiracy period.1007  As 

demonstrated below, aside from four buying groups, all of the groups Schein identifies are either 

(1) not buying groups, (2) pre-conspiracy “legacy” relationships, or (3) post-conspiracy 

relationships.  Thus, while Schein’s “Chronological History” references numerous organizations, 

the overwhelming majority provide no evidence that Schein worked with any buying groups 

during the conspiracy period, as illustrated in this table: 

1006 Section II.B of Complaint Counsel’s Reply Brief responds to arguments in Section B of Schein’s 
Post-Trial Brief (“A Chronological History of Buying Group Interactions”).  See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 
19.  
1007 Schein Post Tr. Br. at 27, 38 n. 22, 59. Schein also asserts new groups for the first time in its post-
trial briefing, for which there is no evidence in the record of any buying agreement.  See CCRF (Schein) ¶ 
757.  
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Schein’s Asserted Buying Groups1008 

Non Buying Groups “Legacy” and post-
Conspiracy Buying Groups 

Conspiracy Buying 
Groups 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Alpha Omega1009 

Breakaway1010 

Comfort Dental1011 

Corydon Palmer Dental 
Society1012 

Dental Associates of 
Virginia1013 

Dental Partners of Georgia1014 

Floss Dental1015 

Intermountain Dental 
Associates1016 

OrthoSynetics1017 

Stark County Dental Society1018 

Sunrise Dental1019 

 Advantage 
Dental1021 

 Dentists for a Better 
Huntington1022 

 Khyber Pass1023 

 Klear Impakt1024 

 Long Island Dental 
Forum1025 

 Pugh Dental 
Alliance1026 

 Smile Source1027 

 Steadfast 
Medical1028 

 The Dental 

 Schulman 
Group1030 

 Dental Gator1031 

 Merit Dent1032 

 Dental 
Alliance1033 

1008 See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 87-88. 
1009 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 395-398.  Alpha Omega is a dental fraternity, not a buying group.  Even if Alpha 
Omega were a buying group, the record evidence shows that Schein’s discounting arrangement with 
Alpha Omega as an entity began in 2003 or 2004, well before the conspiracy began, and ceased in 2005. 
Moreover, to the extent sales or discounts continued into the conspiracy period, the record evidence 
shows that such sales or discounts were extended to individual members of Alpha Omega, not as a result 
of any discounting arrangement with the entity.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 397. 
1010 CCFF ¶¶ 1756-1757.  In August 2015, Cavaretta assured Sullivan: “Break away is a DSO/MSO 
combo with complete control of the check book.”  CCFF ¶ 1755 (quoting CX2482 at 001); CCRF 
(Schein) ¶¶ 402-445. 
1011 CCFF ¶¶ 1098-1099, 1759, 1803.  Comfort Dental is a customer that Schein considers to be an elite 
DSO, is one of Schein’s largest customers, and is handled through Schein’s Special Markets division.
CCFF ¶ 1759 (quoting Sullivan, Tr. 3969 (“Q. Comfort Dental was an elite DSO? A. It was.”)); CCRF 
(Schein) ¶¶ 493-511. 
1012 CCFF ¶¶ 1764-1766 (Baytosh, Tr. 1888-1890 (Corydon Palmer Dental Society is not a buying 
group)); CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 512-547. 
1013 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 572-580 (Dental Associates of Virginia a DSO).  
1014 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 676-689 (Dental Partners of Georgia an MSO, and Schein’s agreement with it 
required it to have ownership in or management over the dental practices). 
1015 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 757. Schein raises Floss Dental for the first time in post-trial briefing, and there is 
no evidence of any agreement in the record.  Moreover, Schein concedes that Floss Dental is a DSO.  
Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 61 n.43.  Schein elicited no testimony at trial or otherwise about a purported buying 
group relationship, and there is no evidence of an agreement on any Exhibit List. See CCRF (Schein) ¶ 
757.  Moreover, Schein cites a 2014 email describing Floss Dental’s plans to potentially establish a 
management (MSO) model, not a buying group.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 761 (RX2105 at 001 (referring to 
Floss Dental wanting to establish an “MSO model”)). 
1016 CCFF ¶¶ 750-751.  Schein considered IDA to be a DSO with centralized purchasing, and Schein 
executives stated that they would not work with IDA if it were a buying group/GPO.  CCFF ¶ 751; CCRF 
(Schein) ¶¶ 732-748.  
1017 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1026-1037 (OrthoSynetics an MSO).  
1018 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1187-1198 (same arrangement as Corydon Palmer Dental Society, not a buying 
group). 
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Non Buying Groups “Legacy” and post-
Conspiracy Buying Groups 

Conspiracy Buying 
Groups 

 The Denali Group1020 Cooperative1029 

With respect to the four buying groups that originated during the conspiracy (Dental 

Gator, Schulman Group, Merit Dent, and Dental Alliance), as discussed below none of these 

were approved by Sullivan, as Schein claims.1034  Sullivan tried to shut them down (Dental 

Gator), was assured they were not buying groups (Schulman Group), instructed his team against 

a relationship (Merit Dent), or the relationship was formed without his awareness (Dental 

Alliance, Dental Gator).  In fact, Schein cannot accurately cite a single document during the 

conspiracy where Sullivan instructed his team to work with a buying group.  In any event, the 

fact that Schein originated four buying groups during the conspiracy, despite Sullivan’s 

1019 CCFF ¶ 771.  Schein told Sunrise it did not work with buying groups and that Sunrise needed to be 
structured as a DSO with ownership.  In June 2012, Schein Regional Account Manager Andrea Hight 
informed her bosses of her discussions with Sunrise Dental: “I explained that we do not accommodate
GPOs” and “I have not budged of course on how a customer needs to be structured and very adamant 
about no GPO type situation.”  CCFF ¶ 771 (quoting CX2423 at 004); CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1243-1249.
There is no evidence of any buying group agreement with Sunrise in the record.  CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1243-
1249.  
1021 CCFF ¶ 1752; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 377-394 (pre-conspiracy relationship that began in 2009). 
1022 CCFF ¶ 444; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 717-725 (pre-conspiracy relationship that began in 2009).  
1023 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 786-801 (pre-conspiracy relationship that began in 2009 or 2010). 
1024 CCFF ¶ 1398; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 802-838 (post-conspiracy relationship that began on August 17, 
2015). Moreover, Sullivan did not know about Schein’s work with Klear Impakt until being informed at 
a November 2, 2015 meeting.  CCFF ¶¶ 848-853. 
1025 CCFF ¶ 441; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 937-949 (pre-conspiracy relationship that began in 2006).  
1026 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1082-1092 (pre-conspiracy relationship that began in 2009). 
1027 CCFF ¶¶ 899, 728; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1105 (pre-conspiracy relationship that began in 2008 and ended 
in or around January 2012). 
1028 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1199-1242 (pre-conspiracy relationship that began in 2010); CCRF (Schein) ¶ 
1202.  
1030 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1093-1104. 
1031 CCFF ¶¶ 1768-1823; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 634-675. 
1032 CCFF ¶¶ 712-714; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 969-981.  
1033 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1309-1335. 
1020 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 548-571.  Schein considered Denali to be a consulting group, not a buying group.  
CCRF (Schein) ¶ 549 (CX8010 (Titus, Dep. at 184) (“Q. Did you view Denali as a GPO? A. No.”)). 
1029 CCFF ¶¶ 442, 889; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 581-633 (pre-conspiracy relationship that began in 2007). 
1034 Schein Post Tr. Br. at 27 (asserting that “Sullivan approved the partnership” with Dental Alliance), 38 
n. 22 (conceding that Sullivan was not aware of negotiations with the Schulman Group, but nonetheless 
asserting that after the deal had already been finalized “he became involved during the preparations for 
the roll-out, and approved of it”), 59 (claiming that Sullivan was responsible for “wresting [sic] the 
support of his area Vice Presidents” for Dental Gator relationship). 
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instructions, does not negate the agreement—it merely shows Schein’s compliance was 

imperfect.1035 

Schein attempts to give the illusion that it has a long history of evaluating and 

discounting to buying groups by listing 21 subsections in its “Chronological History.”  But this 

chronology further corroborates other direct and unambiguous evidence of conspiracy discussed 

at length above: the chronology shows that Schein evaluated buying groups on an individual 

basis and discounted to some before the conspiracy, but shifted to a no buying group strategy in 

late 2011, leading to the repeated rejection of buying groups (such as Unified Smiles, PGMS, 

Kois), the termination of legacy buying groups (Dental Coop of Utah1036 and Steadfast 

Medical1037), and the attempted termination of other buying groups (Dental Gator1038).  Indeed, 

Schein even began inserting contractual clauses to prevent its existing customers from forming 

GPOs.1039 

1. Schein’s Treatment of Buying Groups Before and After the 
Conspiracy Shows its Change in Conduct and Supports Complaint 
Counsel’s Allegations.1040 

Schein’s “chronological history” includes 21 individual sections detailing its buying 

group relationships before and after the conspiracy;1041 yet, these facts simply support Complaint 

Counsel’s allegations.  Schein concedes that, prior to the conspiracy period, it entered into 

partnerships with some buying groups, such as the Dental Co-Op and Smile Source.1042  This 

1035 See infra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § III.B.1.c (“Schein’s Imperfect
Compliance Does not Negate Evidence of Conspiracy.”).  
1036 CCFF ¶ 893. 
1037 CCFF ¶ 880. 
1038 CCFF ¶ 1806.  Schein’s Zone Manager Dean Kyle told Cavaretta in 2014: “We really need to shut the 
Dental Gator down.”  CCFF ¶ 895 (quoting CX0175 at 001).  Cavaretta responded: “I agree . . . as this is 
the second big GPO we will be shutting down. . . [Dental Co-op of Utah] is the other.”  CCFF ¶ 895 
(quoting CX0175 at 001). 
1039 CCFF ¶¶ 861-869. 
1040 Section II.B.1 of Complaint Counsel’s Reply Brief responds to arguments in Sections II.B.1, II.B.2, 
II.B.19 and II.B.21 of Schein’s Post-Trial Brief.  See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 19-24, 61-63, 64-65.  
1041 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 13-64. 
1042 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 19, 24.  
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contrasts sharply with Schein’s consistent and blanket policy during the conspiracy period, even 

if Schein may have declined certain opportunities to enter into partnerships in the pre-conspiracy 

period. 

Schein claims that prior to 2010, it “contracted with a number of buying groups,”1043 and 

that due to an early 2010 meeting it “adopted a middle-ground, case-by-case approach, which 

was consistent with Schein’s pre-2010 buying group activities.”1044  These assertions are entirely 

consistent with Complaint Counsel’s allegations—prior to the 2011 conspiracy, Schein was 

willing to engage with buying groups, despite the fact that Schein executives recognized the 

threat such buying groups posed.1045 

Schein attempts to obfuscate its relationship with the Advantage Dental (which had a 

DSO and buying group component) to suggest that it arose in July 2011,1046 but the Advantage 

Dental relationship long pre-dated the conspiracy.  As Schein concedes in its proposed findings 

of fact, it provided discounts to the Advantage Dental buying group at least as early as 2009.1047 

Moreover, during the conspiracy, Schein executives were unaware of the legacy buying group 

component to Advantage, and believed it was just a DSO.1048  Schein signed an agreement with 

the Advantage Dental DSO (not a buying group) in 2011 that required Advantage to have 

ownership or management over its practices.1049 

1043 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 20. 
1044 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 21. 
1045 Schein weakly suggests that its 2010 “guidance” required buying groups to have “complete control of 
purchasing policy that would force the distributor purchases to Schein,” Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 21, but this
cannot be taken seriously, as Schein’s brief abandons this assertion three pages later. See Schein Post-Tr. 
Br. at 24.  Moreover, Schein recognized that buying groups did not control purchasing, and cannot force 
their members to purchase from a contracted distributor.  CCRF ¶ 87. 
1046 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 23. 
1047 See SF ¶ 380; see also id. ¶ 384 (“Schein began discussing a relationship with the Advantage Dental 
buying group as early as 2002.”).  
1048 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 380 (CX2312 at 001 (February 21, 2016 email in which Hight discovers Advantage 
Dental’s buying group component: “The [Prime Vendor Agreement] I put in place for Advantage some 
years ago was only for the Advantage owned offices. At that time we were specifically avoiding Buying 
Groups and the [Prime Vendor Agreement] language made that clear. So the metamorphosis described 
below and in their marketing piece has happened since my relationship.”). 
1049 CCFF ¶ 863. 
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Schein’s post-conspiracy conduct also does not negative evidence of agreement.  Schein 

claims that by September 2015, Schein “was ready to launch its standardized buying group 

offering.”1050  This is not inconsistent with any of Complaint Counsel’s allegations, and it does 

not in any way rebut the showing that Schein participated in a conspiracy existed prior to this 

time.   

Schein suggests that it began to communicate with Klear Impakt in “Late 2014,”1051 but 

Schein did not have any relationship or agreement with KlearImpakt during the conspiracy. 

Schein concedes that Schein did not enter a relationship with KlearImpakt until August 2015, 

after the conspiracy began to collapse.1052  Moreover, as Sullivan testified at trial, he was not 

aware of KlearImpakt, or that it was a buying group, until November 2015.1053  Evidence that 

Schein worked with KlearImpakt after the conspiracy does not undermine Complaint Counsel’s 

allegations.1054 

Schein’s brief also notes that in 2016, after the conspiracy disintegrated, Schein created a 

new channel to service its new buying group customers.1055  This fact is entirely irrelevant to the 

existence of the conspiracy, other than the fact that it demonstrates that Schein could have 

profitably grown and expanded by serving buying groups, had it not for so long adhered to the 

conspiracy. 

2. Schein’s Treatment of Buying Groups during the Conspiracy 
confirms its Policy against Buying Groups. 

Schein argues at length in its Post-Trial Brief that it worked with buying groups during 

the conspiracy and it highlights a number of specific buying groups that it claims supports its 

1050 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 60. 
1051 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 61. 
1052 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 62; SF ¶ 807; CCFF ¶ 1318.  
1053 CCFF ¶ 849; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 810.   
1054 Schein contends in its Post-Trial Brief that what Sullivan knew about KlearImpakt in 2015 is a 
“disputed fact.” See Schein Post-Trial Brief, at 63 n.45.  Sullivan, however, testified at trial and 
previously that he was unaware of KlearImpakt, or that it was a buying group, as of November 2015. 
CCFF ¶ 849; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 810.   
1055 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 64-65. 
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arguments.  The facts, however, support Complaint Counsel’s allegation of a conspiracy 

targeting buying groups.  As discussed below, Schein rejected buying groups during the 

conspiracy, terminated pre-conspiracy “legacy” buying groups, and tried to terminate others 

when it believed they were buying groups.   

a. The Unified Smiles Rejection in December 2011 Shows that 
Schein Would “No Longer Participate in Buying Groups” 
Pursuant to Sullivan’s Instructions.1056

 On December 21, 2011, Randy Foley told Jan Knysz of Unified Smiles, a buying group: 

“[U]nless you have some ‘ownership’ of your practices Henry Schein considers your business 

model as a Buying Group, and we no longer participate in Buying Groups.”1057  Foley rejected 

Unified Smiles, pursuant to Schein’s then-existing policy against buying groups.  Foley was 

aware of Sullivan’s instructions on buying groups at the time.  Just two months later in February 

2012, Foley informed his direct report, referring to his conversation with Sullivan about buying 

groups, that “this is a corporate decision, not to participate in these.”1058  Thus, Schein’s 

argument that Foley was the sole decision-maker, and that he had no discussions with Sullivan 

about this particular group, does not matter.1059  Moreover, Foley’s December 2011 email 

confirms that Schein would not work with any groups in which there was no common 

ownership—which was the very definition of a buying group.  It referred to “minimal 

requirements” of ownership or partial ownership in the practices.1060   Schein tries to claim that 

Foley’s statement in December 2011 to Unified Smiles was just “poorly worded” and not 

reflective of a change in conduct.  This argument strains credulity.  In fact, when Unified Smiles 

came up again in December 2013, Foley stated: “It’s a buying group that we do not participate 

1056 Section II.B.2.a of Complaint Counsel’s Reply Brief responds to arguments in Sections II.B.5 of 
Schein’s Post-Trial Brief concerning Unified Smiles.  See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 27-29. 
1057 CCFF ¶¶ 719-721. 
1058 CCFF ¶ 756 (quoting CX0238 at 001). 
1059 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 29; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1301. 
1060 CCFF ¶¶ 723-726.  Schein’s refusal to deal with Unified Smiles continued throughout the conspiracy.  
On December 20, 2013, Foley wrote regarding Unified Smiles:  “It’s a buying group that we do not 
participate with, as with all buying groups.”  CCFF ¶ 788 (quoting CX2073 at 001).  
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with, as with all buying groups.”1061  Further, on December 22, 2011, the day after the Unified 

Smiles rejection, Sullivan instructed Schein’s sales team to reject another buying group called 

Merit Dent.  Schein’s Vice President of Sales, Joseph Cavaretta, reported to other Schein 

employees that Sullivan had instructed against doing a deal with Merit Dent, as he did not “want 

to be the first company that opened the floodgates to the dangerous world of GPOs.”1062 

b. Schein Continued Rejecting Buying Groups During the 
Conspiracy (Kois, PGMS, Sunrise Dental).1063 

Pacific Group Management Services (“PGMS”) was a buying group that Schein rejected 

during the conspiracy period, pursuant to Sullivan’s direction.1064  Schein’s Titus recognized the 

potential upside of a deal with PGMS, stating that it would provide “compliance, exclusivity and 

the opportunity to market Schein business solutions.”1065  Despite that recognition, Titus 

attempted to end discussions with the group:  “I sent them some tough questions thinking it 

would scare them off, but alas, they raised the stakes by moving to Dir of Ops.”1066  It was 

elevated to Sullivan, and Sullivan rejected it.1067  Following the rejection, Schein’s Titus wrote: 

“We had a GPO prospect called PGMS. Very intriguing, willing to be exclusive. I created this 

and sent to Joe for review.  It went to Tim and he shot it down.  I think the meta msg is officially, 

GPO’s are not good for Schein.”1068  Schein was unwilling to work with PGMS as a buying 

group, but Titus told PGMS that Schein would be open to a relationship if they became an 

MSO.1069 Schein unpersuasively claims this rejection came from an executive underneath 

1061 CCFF ¶ 788 (quoting CX2073 at 001). 
1062 CCFF ¶ 713. 
1063 Section II.B.2.b of Complaint Counsel’s Reply Brief responds to arguments in Sections II.B.8, II.B.15 
and II.B.16 concerning Kois, PGMS, and Sunrise Dental.  See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 35, 50-56.   
1064 CCFF ¶ 800. 
1065 CCFF ¶ 794 (quoting CX2809 at 002). 
1066 CCFF ¶ 794 (quoting CX2809 at 002). 
1067 CCFF ¶¶ 799, 801.  Schein told PGMS that it would be willing to work with it if became an MSO.  
CCFF ¶ 798. 
1068 CCFF ¶ 799 (quoting CX2235 at 001). 
1069 CCFF ¶ 798. 
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Sullivan, not from Sullivan himself.1070  But the evidence shows the rejection came from 

Sullivan himself.1071  Indeed, Titus testified that she learned from Cavaretta that Sullivan had 

rejected the deal, and the contemporaneous documents corroborate this.1072   Moreover, at trial, 

Sullivan was asked about Titus’ statements that Sullivan rejected PGMS, and did not dispute 

them.1073 

Schein also refused to work with the Kois Buyers Group during the conspiracy.  Schein 

again attempts to provide reasons other than its no buying group policy for Sullivan’s rejection 

of Kois Buyers Group.  It claims Kois decided to go with Burkhart before Schein had an 

opportunity to put together a bid in October 2014, and that Sullivan never determined it did not 

want to partner with Kois.1074  But the contemporaneous documents flatly contradict Schein’s 

claims.   

In September 2014, over one month before Kois ever approached Schein, Sullivan 

learned that Kois was considering Schein, Benco, and Patterson for a distribution agreement.1075 

Sullivan internally assured Schein executives that he had no interest in working with Kois or 

other buying groups: “I still believe this is slippery slope . . . and don’t plan to take the lead role. 

Watching closely”1076; and, referring to Kois: “I don’t think we want to be the first in this 

game.”1077  In October 2014, after Kois approached Sullivan with a proposal, Sullivan was still 

not interested in any engagement if Kois was a buying group: “I would never sign us up for 

straight out GPO model.” 1078  These documents show Sullivan had no interest in Kois (or any 

1070 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 71. 
1071 CCFF ¶¶ 795, 799. 
1072 CCFF ¶¶ 795-799, 801. 
1073 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1046. 
1074 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 52.  Schein claims that Kois declined to provide it with additional information 
about its proposal, and elected to contract with Burkhart before discussions could progress.  
1075 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 893. 
1076 CCFF ¶ 809 (quoting CX2469 at 002). 
1077 CCFF ¶ 1750 (quoting CX2470 at 001).   
1078 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 893.  
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buying group) from the outset, even a month before Kois approached Schein, and belies any 

claim that Schein simply had no time to bid.1079 

Schein attempts to claim that Sunrise Dental “was a buying group” that it worked 

with.1080  But Schein told Sunrise it did not work with buying groups, and that Sunrise needed to 

be structured as a DSO with ownership.1081  In June 2012, Schein Regional Account Manager 

Andrea Hight informed her bosses of her discussions with Sunrise: “I explained that we do not 

accommodate GPOs” and “I have not budged of course on how a customer needs to be structured 

and very adamant about no GPO type situation.”1082  In August 2013, Foley confirmed that 

Schein would not work with Sunrise if it were a buying group: “No on sunrise as they r [sic] 

more of a buying group.  Andrea has been working with as they have been talking more about 

ownership.”1083  There is no evidence that Schein worked with Sunrise Dental during the 

conspiracy or that it was a buying group, and Schein cites no evidence of any buying group 

agreement.1084  The Sunrise evidence further corroborates Schein’s anti-buying group strategy in 

2012. 

c. Schein Terminated Pre-Conspiracy “Legacy” Buying Groups 
During the Conspiracy. 1085 

During the conspiracy, Schein terminated legacy buying groups that pre-dated the 

conspiracy.  Schein acknowledges that shortly after Kathleen Titus joined HSD from Special 

Markets as Director of Group Practices for the Mid-Market division, Titus began targeting 

buying groups for termination.1086 Titus understood Sullivan’s instructions on buying groups,1087 

1079 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 893. Schein rejected other buying groups throughout the conspiracy; examples 
include Synergy Dental Partners, Academy of General Dentistry buying group, Pearl Network at NYU, 
and Tralongo.  CCFF ¶¶ 925-954. 
1080 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 36. 
1081 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1243. 
1082 CCFF ¶ 771. 
1083 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1243. 
1084 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1243. 
1085 Section II.B.2.c of Complaint Counsel’s Reply Brief responds to Schein’s arguments in Sections 
II.B.13, II.B.14 and II.B.20.  See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 45-50, 63-64.  
1086 CCFF ¶ 873. 
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and flagged the buying group Steadfast as a target for termination.1088  Steadfast was a legacy 

buying group that Schein began working with by 2010, before the conspiracy.1089  Before doing 

any further diligence on Schein’s history with the customer, Titus flagged it as a buying group 

and asked whether it should be shut down: “Buying Group STEADFAST DENTAL, do we shut 

this down?”1090 After Titus received permission to terminate the relationship,1091  she informed 

Steadfast: “After examination of your GPO business model we have concluded that continuation 

of our current relationship is counter to our business practices.”1092   Schein’s Cavaretta praised 

Titus for shutting down a GPO.1093 Schein attempts to spin this episode to provide reasons for 

Schein’s termination of Steadfast.  These claims do not matter—indeed, Schein participated in 

the agreement with Benco and Patterson because it wanted to avoid buying groups.  But, absent 

an agreement, competition would have caused Schein to retain these retain these customers.  

Even if some of Schein’s refusals to deal with buying groups were supported by reasons other 

than a desire to adhere to the conspiracy, this neither undermines nor disproves Schein’s 

conscious commitment to a common scheme.    

As with Steadfast, Titus also discovered that the Dental Co-Op of Utah (the “Dental 

Cooperative”) was a legacy buying group, and targeted it for termination.  In a July 2014 email 

about the Dental Cooperative, Kevin Upchurch, a Zone Manager, told Cavaretta and Titus “from 

Tim S., HSD does not want to enter the GPO world.”1094 Although Schein was doing over $1 

million in sales with this group,1095  Schein terminated the relationship.1096  Highlighting 

1087 CCFF ¶ 799. Referring to Sullivan’s rejection of a buying group in 2014, Titus wrote: “I think the 
meta msg is officially, GPO’s are not good for Schein.” (quoting CX2235 at 001). 
1088 CCFF ¶¶ 874-877. 
1089 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1202.  Schein claims that the record is “unclear” when it began working with 
Steadfast, but the evidence shows that Schein’s sales to Steadfast began in 2010.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1202. 
1090 CCFF ¶¶ 874-875. 
1091 CCFF ¶¶ 880-884. 
1092 CCFF ¶¶ 878-881. 
1093 CCFF ¶ 885. 
1094 CCFF ¶ 806 (quoting CX2211 at 002). 
1095 CCFF ¶ 894. 
1096 CCFF ¶¶ 892-893. 
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Schein’s change in policy, Titus acknowledged that Schein’s decision “to treat them as a GPO is 

a legacy decision that I do not believe, if presented with the same circumstances today, HSD 

would have embraced.”1097  Just as with Steadfast, Schein’s brief attempts to justify Schein’s 

termination of its relationship with The Dental Cooperative.  But even if any particular 

termination of (or refusal to engage with) a buying group might be justified based on facts 

specific to the group, each termination (or refusal to engage) is consistent with, and does not 

undermine, the agreement between Schein and its rivals. 

Schein also tried to shut down other customers like Dental Gator1098 and threatened to 

terminate Breakaway when it suspected Breakaway of wanting to move toward a buying 

group.1099  In June 2015, Special Markets President Hal Muller wrote: “Last I heard about 

Breakaway, [Titus] was going to close them down as a buying group.”1100  Schein subsequently 

learned that it was not a buying group, but an MSO that controlled purchasing.  In July 2015, 

Cavaretta told Sullivan: “We did discuss shutting [Breakaway] down but once [Titus] visited 

their facility, it was not a small buying group at all…more of a MSO.”1101  Tellingly, Schein’s 

June 2015 agreement with Breakaway prohibited it from using the agreement “to grow any 

Group Purchasing Organization (GPO) type relationship.”1102 

Notably, Schein only targeted and/or terminated buying groups or suspected buying 

groups during the conspiracy.1103  Kathleen Titus, who was involved in terminating many buying 

groups, testified that she had previously never terminated relationships with any customer before 

moving to Sullivan’s division, HSD, and terminating Steadfast and Dental Coop of Utah.1104 

1097 CCFF ¶ 886.  Shortly after Schein terminated the Dental Cooperative, Benco’s Ryan reported it to 
Cohen: “Schein just dumped the last GPO they had. In Utah.”  CCFF ¶ 1745.  
1098 See infra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § II.B.2.d.1 (“Dental Gator”). 
1099 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 402. 
1100 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 402 (quoting CX2133 at 002).  
1101 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 402 (quoting CX0246 at 002). 
1102 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 402 (quoting RX2348 at 001).  
1103 CCFF ¶ 896. 
1104 CCFF ¶¶ 896-897. 
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d. The Four Buying Groups that Appear During the Conspiracy 
do not Negate Evidence of Agreement. 1105 

Out of its long list of asserted buying groups, only four are buying groups that Schein 

began discounting to during the conspiracy: Dental Gator, Schulman Group, Merit Dent, and 

Dental Alliance.1106  None of these were approved by Sullivan, as Schein claims. 1107  The facts 

surrounding these four buying groups confirm Sullivan’s anti-buying group stance during the 

conspiracy.  Further, the fact that Schein originated four buying groups during the conspiracy, 

despite Sullivan’s instructions, does not negate agreement—it merely shows Schein’s 

compliance was imperfect.1108 

(1) Dental Gator. 

Schein claims that its arrangement with the buying group Dental Gator shows that 

Sullivan was in favor of buying groups during the conspiracy.  But the facts show the exact 

opposite.  Schein never bid for Dental Gator; instead, Dental Gator was a buying group covertly 

set up by one of its top DSO accounts, MB2 Dental Solutions (“MB2”), without Schein’s 

knowledge or consent.1109  Schein and Sullivan did everything they could to kill it. 1110 

First, Schein tried to kill Dental Gator in its infancy after learning MB2 might create a 

buying group.  Schein inserted provisions into its 2014 supply agreement with MB2 to prevent 

MB2 from forming a buying group, 1111 as Sullivan was assured.1112  Next, Schein told MB2 it 

1105 Section II.B.2.d of Complaint Counsel’s Reply Brief responds to arguments about Universal Dental 
Alliance, Merit Dent, Schulman Group, and Dental Gator in Sections II.B.4, II.B.7, II.B.10, and II.B.17 of 
Schein’s Post-Trial Brief.  See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 26-27, 34-36, 37-38, 56-59.  
1106 CCRF ¶¶ 634, 972, 1095, 1319. 
1107 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 27, 38 n. 22, 59. 
1108 See infra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § III.B.1.c (“Schein’s Imperfect
Compliance Does not Negate Evidence of Conspiracy”).  
1109 CCFF ¶¶ 1768-1783, 1795. 
1110 Schein ultimately succeeded in killing Dental Gator.  By 2018, Dental Gator has no customers, and 
was forced to dissolve.  CCFF ¶ 1823.  
1111 CCFF ¶ 1793 (quoting CX2665 at 002) (Foley stated in April 2014: “There is also concern that in 
addition to the $2M for the practices owned by MB2, that they are also trying to expand their presence as 
a Buying Group.  We added stipulations in their agreement to prevent this.”).  The 2014 Agreement 
between MB2 and Schein stated that “[t]his agreement may not be used to grow any Group Purchasing 
Organization (GPO) type relationship.”  CCFF ¶ 868 (quoting CX4001 at 002). 
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did not deal with buying groups, and threatened that “if it looks at any time like a GPO we will 

disenroll.”1113  Schein sought assurances from Dental Gator that it would not act as a buying 

group or GPO, but instead as an MSO or that MB2 would acquire ownership in the practices.1114 

When this proved unsuccessful, Sullivan and Schein executives tried to terminate the 

relationship.1115  Sullivan approached Hal Muller, President of Special Markets, to discuss 

shutting it down at an offsite meeting in December 2014.1116  Sullivan and Muller disagreed 

about how to handle Dental Gator—Sullivan wanted to terminate it, while Muller was concerned 

about losing MB2’s DSO business.1117  Concerned about losing its lucrative DSO customer, 

Schein ultimately decided not to terminate Dental Gator.1118  Indeed, Muller admitted that Schein 

would never have worked with Dental Gator, but for its concern about losing MB2.1119 

Since Schein did not want to lose MB2, it moved to keep Dental Gator a secret.  Schein 

told Dental Gator it could not advertise itself as a buying group.1120  At Schein’s behest, Dental 

Gator modified its website in February 2015 (shortly after Schein decided not terminate it) 

stating that it was not a buying group.1121  Schein also cut discounts to Dental Gator in February 

2015, which hurt its membership and growth.1122  Dental Gator eventually ceased operations and 

1112 CCFF ¶¶ 1792-1793.  In October 2014, Foley assured Sullivan and other Schein executives: “MB2 is 
a $2M plus merchandise customer . . .  [i]n our prime vendor agreement we spelled out specific terms and 
restrictions about these consulting offices to prevent Dental Gator from being a typical GPO . . . .”  CCFF 
¶ 1793.  Dental Gator belonged to one of Schein’s top DSO customers and was technically under the 
purview of Special Markets.  As with all buying groups, however, Sullivan was involved in decisions 
concerning Dental Gator, because the members were private practice dentists.  CCFF ¶¶ 1784, 1808. 
1113 CCFF ¶ 1797 (quoting CX2427 at 001).   
1114 CCFF ¶¶ 1788, 1798-1800. 
1115 CCFF ¶¶ 1799, 1806. 
1116 CCFF ¶ 1806.  The record shows that Sullivan sought to terminate the relationship with Dental Gator, 
even though Schein’s relationship with Dental Gator in 2014 brought Schein new customers from
competitors and lead to increased purchasing volume from existing customers.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 675. 
1117 CCFF ¶¶ 1805, 1807. 
1118 CCFF ¶¶ 1805, 1810-1811. 
1119 CCFF ¶ 1810. 
1120 CCFF ¶¶ 1812-1817. 
1121 CCFF ¶¶ 1814-1816. 
1122 CCFF ¶¶ 1819-1821. 
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was legally dissolved in late 2018.1123  Schein’s contemporaneous documents belie Schein’s 

suggestion that it willingly worked with Dental Gator (or any other buying groups): 

 In July 1, 2015, Sullivan wrote: “The Dec ‘offsite’ last year I left with a goal to see if 
we could get Hal [Muller] to shut it down, but knew that could be a challenge due to 
the parent company being a EDSO of ours in [Special Markets].”1124 

 In October 2014, Vice President of Sales Joe Cavaretta informed Sullivan that Dental 
Gator was a buying group: “This is a straight up GPO and if we allow, I’m not sure 
how we say no to other GPOs . . . .”1125 

 In January 2015, Muller stated: “I don’t believe we have an Agreement on these 
offices – and that they were introduced to us without our choice. . . our arrangement 
with MB2 was never predicated on a buying group and it is against what we want to 
do as a Company.”1126 

 On June 9, 2014, Andrea Hight, an HSD Area Director for Managed Group Practice 
and Community Health, drafted a letter to send to MB2 regarding Dental Gator, 
which stated:  “As you know, we discussed how very important Schein’s position is 
in that we do not support nor contract with GPOs.  To that end, we also included GPO 
language in the prime vendor agreement.”1127 

 In June 2014, Hight told Cavaretta of her phone call with MB2 about Dental Gator, 
and wrote: “[T]hey will make sure they do not represent in their marketing anything 
that looks like a GPO and that they will focus on practice management. . . . I did in 
process of conversation let them know we had identified a couple of GPO models in 
Texas and were in the process of closing those down.”1128 

Schein cites a January 2015 email as evidence of Sullivan’s “approval,” following 

Sullivan’s disagreement with Muller over whether to terminate the Dental Gator relationship. 1129 

Sullivan told the CEO of Henry Schein, Inc., Jim Breslawski: “Just us. I am going to approve 

moving forward with [Muller’s] proposal, but then we are ‘in’ on approving Buying Groups.” 

1123 CCFF ¶ 1823. 
1124 CCFF ¶ 1806 (quoting CX0246 at 001); CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 122, 634 (Muller testified that while he 
does not recall this discussion with Sullivan, he had no reason to doubt that Sullivan approached him
about shutting down Dental Gator).     
1125 CCFF ¶ 1802 (quoting CX2761 at 001).  
1126 CCFF ¶ 1796 (quoting CX2641 at 002).  
1127 CCFF ¶ 1799 (quoting CX2431 at 001-002). 
1128 CCFF ¶ 1800 (quoting CX2425 at 001).  
1129 Schein Post Tr. Br. at 59 (citing CX2144).  
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Sullivan went on to warn: “This won’t stop with Dental Gator.”1130  This was not Sullivan 

approving a buying group.  Rather, it capped Sullivan’s disagreement with Muller about whether 

to terminate Dental Gator, and was after Sullivan sought to terminate it.1131  Indeed, Sullivan’s 

statement that if he approved the Dental Gator deal, “then we are ‘in’ on approving Buying 

Groups,” belies Schein’s entire narrative that Sullivan had always approved buying groups 

during the conspiracy.  Why would Sullivan have written “then we are ‘in’ on approving Buying 

Groups” in January 2015 if Schein and Sullivan had been approving them all along? 

(2) Schulman Group. 

While Schein’s post-trial brief labels the Schulman Group a “buying group,”1132 Sullivan 

was assured precisely the opposite in April 2013; when he approved the Schulman relationship, 

he was told the Schulman Group was “[n]ot a buying group.1133  Indeed, this email only 

underscores Sullivan’s adherence to the anti-buying group agreement: Sullivan was at first 

concerned that this was a buying group, but responded “[a]ll sounds good” after being informed 

that it was not.1134 

(3) Merit Dent. 

Schein claims that its partnership with Merit Dent in February 2012 weighs against a 

finding of conspiracy.1135  But the facts show that Sullivan instructed Schein’s sales force against 

working with this entity because it was a buying group.  In December 2011, Schein’s Vice 

President of Sales, Joe Cavaretta, reported to other Schein employees that Sullivan had instructed 

against doing a deal with Merit Dent, as Sullivan did not “want to be the first company to open 

1130 SF ¶ 308 (quoting CX2144). 
1131 CCFF ¶¶ 1808-1812. 
1132 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 37. 
1133 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1101. 
1134 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1101.  Schein also claims that there was no conspiracy, because Cohen never 
contacted Sullivan about the Schulman Group in an effort to enforce the agreement.  Schein Post-Tr. Br. 
at 38.  Yet there is no evidence, and Schein cites none, that Cohen ever learned about any relationship 
between Schein and the Schulman Group.  Instead, Schein cites CX1104, which reflects Benco’s Ryan 
telling a Benco employee not to bid for the business.  See SF ¶ 1103.  
1135 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 34-35. 
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the floodgates to the dangerous world of GPOs.”1136  Cavaretta also remarked that he would: 

“explain again to [Merit Dent dentist] that the one price fits all strategy doesn’t translate well in 

our world.”1137  Schein cites Sullivan’s trial testimony about Merit Dent,1138 but Sullivan never 

testified that he approved Merit Dent or had anything to do with the negotiations.1139  The 

December 2011 email shows that the Merit Dent agreement in February 2012 was against 

Sullivan’s instructions.  Moreover, Schein offers no explanation for Sullivan’s statement that he 

did not “want to be the first company that opened the floodgates to the dangerous world of 

GPOs.” 

(4) Universal Dental Alliance (“Dental Alliance”). 

Schein twists the facts to claim that Sullivan “approved the partnership” with Universal 

Dental Alliance (“Dental Alliance”) buying group in 2011.1140  In fact, as Schein concedes, 

Schein’s partnership with Dental Alliance began in May 2011,1141 before Sullivan began 

instructing Schein employees to categorically reject buying groups in late 2011.  Sullivan was 

made aware of Dental Alliance for the first time in October 2011,1142 months after Schein had 

already entered into a three-year contract.1143 

Evidencing the conscious commitment between Benco and Schein, when Benco’s Cohen 

learned that Schein might have been working with the Dental Alliance in 2013, he confronted 

1136 CCFF ¶ 713. 
1137 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 973.  Moreover, in March 2012, Cavaretta remarked of Merit Dent: “we didn’t want 
an exclusive anyway. I want to avoid a GPO situation.”  CCFF ¶ 766 (quoting CX2563 at 001). 
1138 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 35. 
1139 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 972. 
1140 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 27. 
1141 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 26 (“Schein’s Partnership with Universal Dental Alliance in May 2011”); see 
SF ¶ 1313 (Schein cites RX2612 at 017, which supports that the Dental Alliance buying group dates back 
to May 2011).  
1142 SF ¶ 1325; Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 27; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1319. 
1143 SF ¶ 1319; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1319.  Moreover, after being informed of the Dental Alliance agreement 
in October 2011, months after it had been consummated without Sullivan’s knowledge, Sullivan wrote: 
“[w]e’ve got to undertake this.”  Sullivan himself testified at trial, upon being informed of the contract, 
Sullivan indicated only that he “wanted to understand what it was,” not that he ever “approved” of it.
CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1319. 
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Sullivan about it.1144   Schein points out that Sullivan did not terminate Dental Alliance upon 

Cohen’s confrontation, but, as Schein concedes, Sullivan mistakenly understood Cohen’s text 

message to refer to another entity, Atlantic Dental Care.1145  This explains why Sullivan took no 

action in response to Cohen’s communications about Dental Alliance. 

e. Schein Worked with DSOs and MSOs that it was Assured were 
Not Buying Groups. 

Schein tries to point to a number of relationships with entities that are not buying 

groups,1146 but instead are DSOs and MSOs that own or manage practices and control 

purchasing.  Schein worked with these groups based on assurances that they were not buying 

groups.  In fact, Schein began using contractual provisions that required its customers to have 

ownership or management in the practices as a way to assure that its customers were not buying 

groups.  Schein internally referred to these as “Terms not to be a buying group”1147 and “Rules to 

be DSO, not a Buying Group.”1148  Schein even used contractual provisions prohibiting its 

customers from forming buying groups, such as with MB2.1149  It ceased including these 

provisions in its DSO agreements after the conspiracy.1150 

Breakaway is a prime example of a DSO/MSO that Sullivan was assured was not a 

buying group.  Schein’s brief calls Breakaway “another buying group,”1151 but its 

contemporaneous documents and testimony confirm that Schein recognized Breakaway was a 

DSO/MSO that centrally managed and controlled purchasing for its practices—not a buying 

group.1152  Indeed, in August 2015, Cavaretta assured Sullivan that Breakaway was not a buying 

1144 CCFF ¶¶ 997, 999-1002. 
1145 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at n.58; SF ¶¶ 1328, 1546; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1322, 1326-1327, 1331-1335. 
1146 Section II.B.2.e of Complaint Counsel’s Reply Brief responds to arguments in Sections II.B.9 and 
II.B.20 of Schein’s Post-Trial Brief.  See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 37, 63-64.  
1147 CCFF ¶ 864. 
1148 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 678. 
1149 CCFF ¶ 1792. 
1150 For instance, there is no similar provision in the most recent version of MB2’s agreement with Schein, 
signed in November 2016 for the period of January 1, 2017 through the end of 2019.  CCFF ¶ 1792. 
1151 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 63. 
1152 CCFF ¶¶ 1755-1756. 
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group, but a “DSO/MSO combo with complete control of the check book,” which meant that 

Breakaway owned or controlled its practices.1153  In fact, Schein’s agreements with Breakaway 

prohibited it from forming a buying group,1154 and Schein executives discussed shutting it down 

when they suspected Breakaway of moving toward a buying group.1155  In July 2015, Cavaretta 

told Sullivan: “We did discuss shutting [Breakaway] down but once [Titus] visited their facility, 

it was not a small buying group at all…more of a MSO.”1156 

Schein also claims it had buying group agreement with OrthoSynetics, which it began 

working with in 2009,1157 and that it entered into a “written buying group contract” with Dental 

Partners of Georgia in May 2012.1158  Schein, however, classified these as DSOs/MSOs, and 

Schein’s agreements with Dental Partners of Georgia and OrthoSynetics required ownership or 

management in the practices.1159  Indeed, Schein concedes that Dental Partners of Georgia was 

able to contractually guarantee purchasing, which buying groups do not do.1160  Schein’s Foley 

described OrthoSynetics as “much more than a Buying Group. All merchandise orders go 

through a procurement software . . . They handle all staffing needs and also host the doctors’ 

practice management system on a centralized server . . . This is completely different from Mari’s 

List [post-conspiracy buying group Schein asserts in SF ¶ 963]”).1161 

1153 CCFF ¶¶ 1755-1756. 
1154 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 402 (quoting RX2348 at 001).  
1155 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 402. 
1156 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 402 (quoting CX0246 at 002). 
1157 SF ¶ 1029. 
1158 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 37. 
1159 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 678 (Dental Partners of Georgia) 1026 (OrthoSynetics). 
1160 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 37; see also CCFF ¶ 76 (Buying groups do not make purchasing decisions for 
their members).    
1161 SF ¶ 1026. 
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3. Schein’s Treatment of Smile Source is Consistent with Complaint 
Counsel’s Allegations. 

a. Schein’s Conduct toward Smile Source in 2011 and 2012 
Confirms its Change in Conduct. 

As Schein’s brief concedes, Schein’s relationship with Smile Source began in 2008, and 

thus pre-dated the conspiracy.1162 Schein executives testified that the pre-conspiracy relationship 

was very profitable and brought new customers to Schein from its competitors,1163 

.1164  In 2010, Sullivan did not 

want to lose Smile Source as an account, and referring to discussions with Muller, he wrote: 

“[N]either of us wants to lose [Smile Source] as an account.  They are $1 million and 

growing.”1165  This evidence supports Complaint Counsel’s case.  

Schein’s brief argues at length that Smile Source “fired” Schein, as if to suggest that 

Smile Source’s decision to switch to Burkhart had nothing to do with Schein’s conduct.1166  The 

party that ended the relationship is not the point.  Instead, the evidence shows that Schein’s 

conduct towards Smile Source in late 2011 and early 2012 was fully consistent with Schein’s 

shift to a no buying group strategy.  Schein’s arrangement with Smile Source ended shortly after 

Schein began instructing its employees to categorically reject buying groups.  Despite the fact 

that Schein’s pre-conspiracy relationship with Smile Source was profitable, 

.1167  Smile Source’s Dr. 

Goldsmith testified at trial that 

1162 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 24. Section II.B.3 of Complaint Counsel’s Reply Brief responds to arguments 
in Sections II.B.3, II.B.6, and II.B.11 of Schein’s Post-Trial Brief.  See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 24-26, 29-
34, 38-43. 
1163 CCFF ¶¶ 447-451. 
1164 CCFF ¶ 1687. 
1165 CCFF ¶¶ 691-692. 
1166 Schein Post Tr. Br. at 29-34. 
1167 CCFF ¶¶ 903-913; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1108. 
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,1169 and the 

contemporaneous documents support 
 1170 .

Indeed, Schein’s own executives’ contemporaneous show that Smile Source left Schein because 

“HSD did not give Smile Source the love that [Special Markets] provided.”1171 

Moreover, while Sullivan was concerned about keeping Smile Source’s business pre-

conspiracy,1172 after the conspiracy began he was pleased when Smile Source terminated 

Schein,1173 and was more concerned with “what we can do to KILL the buying group model!” 

than the lost revenues from the Smile Source account. 1174  This shows that Sullivan was anything 

but interested in pursuing this buying group opportunity as of February 2012—a change from his 

prior position.  In fact, Sullivan admitted that if Schein lost a customer that it did want to win 

back, he would not have told his team to “kill” the customer’s model,1175 but would instead 

“work our tail off to show them our value, price being a component of value, to earn their 

business back.”1176  The fact that Sullivan was pleased by the termination of a profitable 

relationship and had no plans to win the customer back, confirms that Schein had a no buying 

group policy during this time frame.   

1168 CCFF ¶ 915.  Indeed, even after the relationship ended, 
. CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1117-1118. 

1169 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1108-1109. 
1170 CCFF ¶¶ 903-913. 
1171 CCFF ¶ 917. 
1172 CCFF ¶¶ 447-451, 692 (Sullivan wrote in 2010, “[N]either of us wants to lose [Smile Source] as an 
account.  They are $1 million and growing.”) 
1173 CCFF ¶¶ 918, 923 (Foley wrote in February 2012 of Smile Source: “Tim Sullivan is happy that we 
are less one more BG.”).  
1174 CCFF ¶ 924. 
1175 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1144. 
1176 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1144. 

174 



 

 

 

   
  

PUBLIC 

b. Schein’s Proposal to Smile Source in 2014 was an Unsuccessful 
Attempt to Cheat on the Agreement. 

In 2014, Smile Source reached out to Schein (not the other way around), 

.1177 Schein made a proposal to Smile Source in early 

2014 in an unsuccessful attempt to cheat on the agreement.1178  Indeed, the facts of Schein’s bid 

show that Sullivan understood he was not operating in the same competitive market as pre and 

post conspiracy.  Schein’s offer to Smile Source in 2014 was nowhere close to its offer to this 

same buying group before and after the conspiracy.  While Schein offered Smile Source a least 

 off of catalog price before and after the conspiracy,1179 Schein offered only  off 

catalog during the conspiracy.1180  Sullivan explicitly stated he was “not interested” in offering 

 discount to Smile Source in 2014, even though Schein offered just that before and after 

the conspiracy.1181   Schein has offered no explanation for its dramatic change in discount offer 

to Smile Source during the conspiracy.  Tellingly, throughout 2014, Sullivan and other 

executives continued instructing Schein’s sales force against buying groups before and after the 

proposal.1182  In Sullivan’s own words in 2014, “I still believe this is a slippery slope . . . don’t 

plan to take the lead role.”1183 

The evidence shows that Schein knew it was not competing with Benco or Patterson for 

the Smile Source business in 2014.  In October 2013, a few months prior to Schein’s attempted 

cheating, Benco’s Ryan informed Schein’s Randy Foley, Vice President of Sales for Special 

1177 CCFF ¶ 1824. 
1178 Kahn, Tr. 61.  Complaint Counsel does not contend that Schein’s 2014 bid represented a sham bid, as 
Schein suggests.  
1179 CCFF ¶¶ 1392-1395, 
1180 CCFF ¶¶ 1830-1831.  Schein argues that it later increased the amount of the discount it was offering 
to Smile Source in 2014.  Schein Post Tr. Br. at 41 n.24.  This claim is unsupported and is contradicted by 
evidence.  None of Schein’s witnesses who testified at trial had personal knowledge of any increased 
offer.  CCFF ¶ 1842.  

. CCFF ¶ 1841. 
1181 CCFF ¶ 1849.  

. CCFF ¶¶ 1830-1840.  
1182 CCFF ¶¶ 790-860. 
1183 CCFF ¶ 809 (quoting CX2469 at 002). 
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Markets, that Benco would not bid on Smile Source.1184  As Schein admits, Foley discussed the 

Smile Source proposal with HSD in 2014, after Foley’s call with Ryan.1185  There is also no 

evidence that Benco or Patterson ever discovered Schein’s proposal to Smile Source.1186  Indeed, 

the meeting with Smile Source was private, took place on Schein’s premises, and only involved 

the heads of Schein and Smile Source.1187 

Schein argues its conduct can be considered cheating “only if you first assume a 

conspiracy.”1188  But the existence of the conspiracy is not based on an assumption; rather, it is 

based on the evidentiary record explained at length in this reply brief and Complaint Counsel’s 

Post-Trial Brief.  The point is that after establishing the conspiracy through unambiguous 

evidence, Schein cannot avoid liability by pointing to its 2014 Smile Source proposal.  As 

discussed below,1189 it is well established that “the agreement itself, not its performance, is the 

crime of conspiracy, [and] the partial non-performance of [defendant] does not preclude a 

finding that it joined the conspiracy.”1190 

4. Schein’s “Creation of the Mid-Market Group” Is Entirely Consistent 
With Complaint Counsel’s Allegations. 

Schein’s post-trial brief discusses the “Mid-Market” group, but fails to suggest how this 

organizational anecdote contradicts Complaint Counsel’s allegations.1191  First, there is no 

evidence that the Mid-Market group was launched because of buying groups, or that the Mid-

1184 CCFF ¶¶ 1005-1021.  
1185 SF ¶ 1173. 
1186 CCRF ¶ (Schein) 1156.  
1187 CCFF ¶ 1826; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1156. 

.  (Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 3, 38).  

.  CCRF ¶ (Schein) 1164.  
1188 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 41. 
1189 See infra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § III.B.1.c (“Schein’s Imperfect
Compliance Does not Negate Evidence of Conspiracy.”).  
1190 Foley, 598 F.2d at 1333. 
1191 Section II.B.4 of Complaint Counsel’s Reply Brief responds to arguments in Sections II.B.12 and 
II.B.18 of Schein’s Post-Trial Brief.  See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 43-44, 59-61. 
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Market group deviated from Schein’s no buying-group policy during the conspiracy period.  In 

fact, Schein witnesses testified that the Mid-Market group was formed to serve small DSOs, 

group practices, and community health centers.1192  Brian Brady, Schein’s Director of Group 

Practices for the Mid-Market Group testified that he does not recall Schein having any buying 

groups in the Mid-Market group when he took over in January 2015.1193 Indeed, the individuals 

on the “front lines,”1194 recognized in July 17, 2014 that Sullivan clearly communicated the 

“meta” message that “officially, GPO’s are not good for Schein.”1195  And, as discussed 

above,1196 the evidence is clear that Schein executives maintained a policy of not engaging with 

buying groups during the conspiracy period.1197 

Moreover, Schein makes much of Schein’s post-conspiracy development of buying group 

plans.1198  Brady, who developed protocols for engaging with buying groups that came to being 

in September 2015 (after the agreement began to fall apart), testified that this was a “sidebar 

task” that “didn’t have to do with my—my main focus, the majority focus of my job” which was 

to work with Mid-Market group practice customers, not buying groups.1199  Brady’s September 

2015 email about engaging with buying groups stated: “[t]raditionally, Schein has rarely engaged 

with these groups, but times are changing rapidly . . . and we must begin to engage.”1200  This is 

consistent with Complaint Counsel’s allegations that Schein did not work with buying groups 

during the conspiracy. 

1192 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 244-245. 
1193 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 244-245. 
1194 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 44. 
1195 CCFF ¶ 799; see also CCFF ¶¶ 801-802.  
1196 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § II.A.1 (“Schein’s Contemporaneous 
Documents Show that During the Conspiracy Period Sullivan Began to Instruct Schein’s Salesforce to 
Categorically Reject Buying Groups.”). 
1197 E.g., CCFF ¶¶ 771, 790, 794-802. 
1198 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 60-61. 
1199 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 244-245. 
1200 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 244-245. 
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C. Benco-Schein Communications. 

Schein’s communications with Benco are discussed above in Complaint Counsel’s Reply to 

Benco’s Post-Trial Brief,1201 and in Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief.1202  As noted above, 

neither Benco nor Schein offers any procompetitive explanation for these communications.   

D. The Economic Evidence Supports a Finding of Conspiracy.  

Relying on its economic expert, Dr. Carlton, Schein argues that the economic evidence 

does not support a finding of an unlawful agreement.  But Complaint Counsel’s evidence of 

agreement is based on the factual record and documentary evidence.  This, standing alone, is 

sufficient to establish agreement.  Dr. Carlton does not act as a fact-finder, his analyses of the 

factual record are deeply flawed, and his opinions do not negate evidence of agreement and 

deserve no weight as “economic evidence.”  Schein also criticizes Dr. Marshall’s analyses, but 

these are consistent with the factual record of evidence that support Complaint Counsel’s 

allegations.    

1. Dr. Carlton’s Opinions Regarding Parallel Conduct are 
Fundamentally Flawed. 

Schein relies on Dr. Carlton to claim there is no economic evidence of parallel 

conduct.1203  This effort fails, as Complaint Counsel’s evidence of parallel conduct comes 

straight from the record of Respondents’ contemporaneous documents:  Respondents’ executives 

instructed their sales forces not to deal with buying groups, and Respondents rejected buying 

groups as a result.1204  Dr. Carlton never analyzes this conduct, and failed to account for the 

1201 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. §§ I.A (“There is Direct and 
Unambiguous Evidence of Agreement”), I.C. (“Inter-firm Communications Establish That Benco 
Exchanged Assurances With Both Schein and Patterson That Respondents Would Not Discount to 
Buying Groups”).     
1202 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.G.  
1203 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 74-76.  
1204 CCFF ¶¶ 733-870 (Schein), 630-652 (Patterson), 394-431 (Benco).   
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evidence in the factual record showing that Schein categorically rejected buying groups.1205  Dr. 

Carlton simply ignores it. 

Instead of addressing the evidence on which Complaint Counsel’s case relies, Schein 

tries to show no parallel conduct by identifying its purported sales to buying groups during the 

conspiracy.1206  Here, too, Schein fails.   

First, Schein’s numbers do not represent Schein’s actual buying group sales during the 

conspiracy. Schein’s purported buying group sales figures are misleading and highly inflated: it 

skews its numbers by throwing in millions of dollars in sales to entities that are not buying 

groups.1207  Thus, Schein’s claims that its sales to buying groups ranged from 

, and increased every year, are simply baseless and come from a misleading and 

doctored chart.1208 By way of example, Schein takes credit for sales to Comfort Dental 

 and Alpha Omega 

.1209  As the factual record confirms, neither of these are 

buying groups.1210  Schein likewise erroneously includes sales to other non-buying groups like 

Dental Associates of Virginia,1211 Corydon Palmer Dental Society,1212 Stark County Dental 

Society1213 and Orthosynetics,1214 which are also not buying groups.1215  It also includes sales to 

1205 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1598. 
1206 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 75.  Schein attempts to misrepresent Dr. Marshall’s work, by claiming that the 
chart on Page 75 of its brief is “derived from Dr. Marshall’s own report.”  Schein’s chart is not supported 
by or anywhere to be found in any of Dr. Marshall’s expert reports submitted in this matter.  CCRF 
(Schein) ¶ 1627.  

.  CCRF (Schein) 
¶ 1627.  Dr. Marshall’s actual chart showed that Schein’s asserted buying groups sales figures are wrong 
and highly inflated, because they take into account significant non-buying group sales.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 
1627.  
1207 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1627-1629. 
1208 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1627-1628. 
1209 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 75. 
1210 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 395-398, 493-511.  The evidence shows that Schein did not work with Alpha 
Omega as a buying group after 2005.  But even if Alpha Omega is counted as a buying group, Schein’s 
numbers are still inflated and misleading, because Schein counts many non-buying groups.  CCRF 
(Schein) ¶¶ 1627-1628. 
1211 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 572-580.   
1212 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 512-547. 
1213 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1187-1198. 
1214 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1026-1037. 
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legacy buying groups that Schein terminated during the conspiracy,1216 such as Dental Co-Op of 

Utah and Steadfast, post-conspiracy groups like KlearImpakt, which Schein began working with 

in August 2015,1217 and buying groups like Dental Gator that Schein tried to terminate.  Thus, 

Schein’s attempts to use misleading sales figures as a proxy for parallel conduct should be 

disregarded. 

Schein also relies on Dr. Carlton’s Table 1, which purports to calculate Schein’s buying 

group sales.  Dr. Carlton’s calculations suffer from the same fundamental flaws: Dr. Carlton used 

an improperly broad definition of a buying group in conducting his analysis, and erroneously 

included many non-buying groups (with high sales numbers) in his calculations.1218  Dr. Carlton 

admitted that the “buying groups” in Appendix D of his expert report, which form the basis for 

his analysis in Table 1, include groups that are not comprised of independent dentists.1219 As Dr. 

Marshall’s analyses show, when non-buying groups are removed from Dr. Carlton’s calculations, 

Schein’s sales figures plummet.1220 For instance, Dr. Marshall showed that Schein’s claimed 

sales to buying groups decreases by more than 95 percent if sales to admitted non-buying groups 

and contested groups are removed from Table 1.1221 

In addition, Dr. Marshall’s analyses show that Schein’s sales to dentists in buying groups 

decreased considerably from 2013 to 2015, followed by a significant increase from 2016 to 

2017.1222  Contrary to Schein’s claims, the economic evidence is consistent with Schein’s 

participation in an agreement.  

Schein also attacks Complaint Counsel’s evidence of Schein’s sporadic deviations from 

the agreement.1223  Schein misleadingly cites Dr. Marshall’s testimony in this regard, claiming 

1215 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 572-580, 512-547, 1187-1198, 1026-1037; see also CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1627. 
1216 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 581-633, 1199-1242; see also CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1627. 
1217 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 802-838; see also CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1627. 
1218 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1611-1612. 
1219 CCFF ¶ 2033; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1615-1616. 
1220 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1611-1612. 
1221 CCFF ¶ 2036; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1611-1612. 
1222 CCFF ¶ 2037; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1611-1612. 
1223 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 76-77.  
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that Complaint Counsel has to assume the existence of a conspiracy to show that Schein’s 

compliance was not perfect.1224  Complaint Counsel has made no such assumption, and 

Marshall’s testimony does not support Schein’s argument: Dr. Marshall did not assume the 

existence of a conspiracy, as Schein suggests.1225  Regardless, the factual record shows Schein’s 

participation and compliance with the agreement throughout the conspiracy,1226 with sporadic1227 

deviation in just four instances between 2011 and 2015.1228 

2. Dr. Marshall’s Analysis of Structural Breaks.  

Schein parrots Benco and argues that Dr. Marshall’s observed “structural breaks” are 

inaccurate.1229  Although evidence of changed conduct is not required where the evidence goes 

beyond mere parallel conduct,1230  Complaint Counsel has established Respondents’ change in 

conduct as an additional “plus factor” based on the factual record,1231 not based on Dr. 

1224 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 76-77.  
1225 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1634-1635. 
1226 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § II.A.1 (“Schein’s Contemporaneous 
Documents Show that During the Conspiracy Period Sullivan Began to Instruct Schein’s Salesforce to 
Categorically Reject Buying Groups.”). 
1227 Schein claims that the deviations were “pervasive,” but the record belies this claim, and shows that 
Schein’s deviations were sporadic—Schein can point to just four buying groups that originated during the 
conspiracy, despite Sullivan’s instructions.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 376. 
1227 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 77-78. 
1228 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.B.2.d (“The Four Buying Groups 
that Appear During the Conspiracy do not Negate Evidence of Agreement”).  Schein claims that the 
deviations were “pervasive,” but the record belies this claim, and shows that Schein’s deviations were 
sporadic—Schein can point to just four buying groups that originated during the conspiracy, despite 
Sullivan’s instructions.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 376. 
1229 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1636-1642. 
1230 Evidence of plus factors is not necessary where direct evidence exists, rather than evidence of merely
parallel conduct.  See United States v. Apple Inc., 952 F. Supp. 2d 638, 690 (S.D.N.Y. 2013), aff’d, 791 
F.3d 290 (2d Cir. 2015) (explaining that plus factor evidence, including that of common motive, acts 
against economic self-interest, inter-firm communications, and change in conduct, is necessary if alleging 
parallel conduct); In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 323 (3d Cir. 2010) (“[P]lus factors 
need be pled only when a plaintiff’s claims of conspiracy rest on parallel conduct.”). 
1231 B&R Supermarket, 2016 WL 57255010, at *7 (Defendants’ coordinated, rather than staggered, roll-
out of term regarding chargebacks was deemed a “deviation from prior rollouts [which] points a finger of 
plausible suspicion, and tends to show that the lock-step rollout in the United States flowed from
conspiracy, not parallel conduct.”); In re Domestic Drywall Antitrust Litig., 163 F. Supp. 3d 175, 255-56 
(E.D. Pa. 2016) (finding defendants’ decision to eliminate job quotes, a feature in the drywall industry for 
decades, was shift in behavior sufficient to qualify as “traditional conspiracy evidence” pointing towards 
an agreement). 
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Marshall’s expert opinion.1232  Further, Schein misrepresents the purpose of Dr. Marshall’s 

analysis of structural breaks.  Dr. Marshall looked at observed structural breaks for purposes of 

determining whether the time period for the alleged conspiracy was reasonable,1233 and as an 

indicator supporting collusive behavior rather than oligopolistic interdependence.1234 

Additionally, Dr. Marshall’s quantitative analysis shows that Schein’s business with buying 

groups decreased during the conspiracy,1235 and this is consistent with a structural change 

showing an agreement targeting buying groups.1236 

3. Dr. Marshall’s Opinions Regarding Market Structure are Consistent 
with Evidence Established at Trial.  

Schein claims that the Court should not infer collusion based on Dr. Marshall’s opinions 

regarding market structure.  As already discussed above in Complaint Counsels’ Reply to 

Benco’s Post-Trial Brief,1237 Complaint Counsel does not rely on market structure to establish 

the conspiracy.1238  Dr. Marshall does not opine that a conspiracy can be inferred from industry 

characteristics alone, but that the industry was “conducive to effective collusion.”1239  Dr. 

1232 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 64-66.  
1233 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1640 (Marshall, Tr. 2889-2890 (looking at structural breaks to determine 
reasonableness of the start and end of conspiracy)).  
1234 CCFF ¶ 1625 (citing CX7100 at 190 (¶ 427) (Marshall Expert Report)); see also CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 
1640. 
1235 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1611-1612, 1637. 
1236 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1611-1612, 1637. 
1237 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.B.9 (“Benco Misconstrues Dr. 
Marshall’s Opinions Regarding Market Structure.”). 
1238 Nonetheless, courts look to such evidence of a concentrated market structure as one of the relevant 
pieces of evidence to finding a conspiracy. See Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 303 (“Economists recognize that 
when a market is concentrated it is easier to coordinate collusive behavior.”); HM Compounding Servs., 
2015 WL 4162762, at *5 (“The highly concentrated nature of the . . . industry . . . supports an inference of 
conspiracy.”); Todd v. Exxon Corp., 275 F.3d 191, 208 (2d Cir.2001) (“Generally speaking, the 
possibility of anticompetitive collusive practices is most realistic in concentrated industries.”)).  
1239 CCFF ¶ 1601 (citing CX7100 at 011 (¶ 12) (Marshall Expert Report)); CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1657 (citing 
RX2833 at 017 (¶ 27) (Wu Expert Report)).  
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Marshall’s opinions are well supported,1240 and consistent with that of Patterson’s expert, Dr. 

Wu.1241 

4. Dr. Marshall’s Profitability Analysis is Reliable.  

Evidence of Schein’s actions against self-interest by categorically rejecting buying 

groups is another “plus factor” that is not needed to prove agreement, but which is nonetheless 

present here.1242  Complaint Counsel’s evidence of actions against self-interest comes from 

Respondents’ own documents and testimony.1243 Schein believed buying groups were an 

opportunity to win customers from its competitors and grow its profit margins, as evidenced by 

its buying group agreements before 2011,1244 but nonetheless instructed its sales force to reject 

buying groups from late 2011 through 2015.1245  Moreover, Respondents’ refusal to deal with 

buying groups led to lost customers and sales, as evidenced by the factual record, including 

Respondents’ own documents and testimony.1246  Respondents communicated and exchanged 

their internal policies against discounting to buying groups and bidding, which was against their 

unilateral self-interests as competitors.1247  For instance, in an attempt to avoid the perception of 

1240 Dr. Marshall identified the following factors as relevant to his conclusion that the market structure 
was conducive to collusion:  (1) high market concentration, (2) the low price elasticity of independent 
dentists’ demand, (3) barriers to entry in full-service distribution, (4) low bargaining power of individual 
independent dentist buyers, and (5) manufacturers’ low bargaining power.  CCFF ¶¶ 1601-1623.  Further 
bolstering Marshall’s opinions, Respondents’ own executives admit to their high market share.  CCFF ¶¶ 
1450, 1455-1458.  Complaint Counsel has responded in more detail to Schein’s unfounded criticisms of 
Dr. Marshall’s analysis in CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1657-1659. 
1241 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1657 (citing RX2833 at 017 (¶ 27) (Wu Expert Report)).   
1242 Evidence of plus factors is not necessary where direct evidence exists, rather than evidence of merely
parallel conduct.  See Apple, 952 F. Supp. 2d at 690 (explaining that plus factor evidence, including that 
of common motive, acts against economic self-interest, inter-firm communications, and change in 
conduct, is necessary if alleging parallel conduct); In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 323 
(3d Cir. 2010) (“[P]lus factors need be pled only when a plaintiff’s claims of conspiracy rest on parallel 
conduct.”). 
1243 CCFF ¶¶ 1256-1267, 1269, 1290, 1294-1296, 1301-1313, 1651-1661, 1664-1667, 1738-1742; see 
also CCFF ¶¶ 733-870, 925-954. 
1244 CCFF ¶¶ 687-659, 1256-1266; see supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.A 
(discussing Schein working with buying groups prior to the conspiracy); see also Complaint Counsel’s 
Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.B (chart identifying Schein’s pre-conspiracy buying groups 
agreements), supra. 
1245 CCFF ¶¶ 733-870, 925-954. 
1246 CCFF ¶¶ 1267, 1269, 1290, 1294-1296, 1310, 1655-1661, 1738-1742. 
1247 CCFF ¶ 1254. 
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cheating, Benco shared competitively sensitive information with Schein about its future plans to 

bid on a customer.1248 By contrast, Distributors that discounted to buying groups during the 

conspiracy period profited at the expense of the Big Three.1249 

Schein, like Benco and Patterson, attacks Dr. Marshall’s analysis, as though it were the 

only evidence of acts against self-interest.  As already set forth in Complaint Counsel’s Reply to 

Benco’s Post-Trial Brief, for the same reasons that Benco and Patterson’s criticisms fail, so too 

do Schein’s.1250  Dr. Marshall’s profitability analysis further corroborates that Respondents’ 

policies against discounting to buying groups ran contrary to their unilateral economic 

interests.1251 

First, Schein faults Dr. Marshall because his profitability analysis did not analyze the 

“but-for” world.1252  This misses the mark.  As discussed in response to Benco and Patterson,1253 

Dr. Marshall did not undertake to do so, and Respondents cite no authority requiring a plaintiff to 

do such an analysis.1254  Dr. Marshall’s analysis used the well-recognized method of analyzing 

natural experiments, 1255  a widely accepted method of analysis in antitrust cases,1256  as Schein’s 

1248 CCFF ¶¶ 1061-1100. 
1249 CCFF ¶¶ 1301-1313, 1651-1654, 1664, 1666.   
1250 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.3. 
1251 CCFF ¶¶ 1537-1684; CCRF ¶ 1661. 
1252 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 78. 
1253 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.3.  
1254 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 94-95; Benco Post-Tr. Br. at 38-40; Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 59-61.  Moreover, 
Respondents cannot destroy the counterfactual world and then gripe when Dr. Marshall fails to study non-
existent data. Cf. United States v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 79 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (“To require that 
Section 2 liability turn on a plaintiff’s ability or inability to reconstruct the hypothetical marketplace 
absent a defendant’s anticompetitive conduct would only encourage monopolists to take more and earlier 
anticompetitive action. . . . [N]either plaintiff nor the court can confidently reconstruct a product’s 
hypothetical technological development in a world absent the defendant’s exclusionary conduct.  To some 
degree, ‘the defendant is made to suffer the uncertain consequences of its own undesirable conduct.’”) 
(quoting Areeda & Hovenkamp ¶ 651c). 
1255 CCFF ¶¶ 1637-1684; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1715-1717.  Dr. Marshall used the well-recognized method 
of analyzing natural experiments to determine the impacts on price, margin, and customer switching when 
distributors begin and/or stop working with a buying group as well as the price and margin impacts on 
independent dentist buying group members.  
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own expert Dr. Carlton concedes.1257  Since Dr. Marshall’s profitability analysis is based on 

reliable principles and methods, there was no need to do any “but-for” analysis.1258 

Second, Schein argues that Dr. Marshall analyzed two non-representative buying group 

samples (Kois and Smile Source).1259 As discussed previously,1260 Dr. Marshall reviewed Kois 

and Smile Source because they were representative of the market in that they covered a broad 

geography of the country, a broad time span from 2012 through 2017, and they were varied in 

terms of size and stage of existence.1261 

1262 This characteristic was important 

because Respondents claim it was against their self-interest to discount to buying groups that do 

not contractually require compliance.1263  Dr. Marshall concluded that both buying groups do 

drive compliance.1264 

1256 In re NCAA Athletic Grant-in-Aid Cap Antitrust Litig., No. 14-md-02541 CW, 2019 WL 1747780, at 
*13 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 8, 2019) (finding expert analysis based on natural experiments “reliable and 
persuasive”); FTC v. ProMedica Health Sys., Inc., No. 3:11 CV 47, 2011 WL 1219281, at *14 (N.D. 
Ohio Mar. 29, 2011) (relying on “[r]eal-world natural experiments in the marketplace” to confirm that 
merging parties competed for significant number of patients); FTC v. Penn State Hershey Med. Ctr., 838 
F.3d 327, 345-46 (3d Cir. 2016) (relying on results of natural experiment); Merger Guidelines § 2.1.2 
(Antitrust enforcement agencies “look for . . . ‘natural experiments,’ that are informative regarding the 
competitive effects” of mergers); FTC v. Foster, No. CIV 07–352 JBACT, 2007 WL 1793441, at *38 
(D.N.M. May 29, 2007) (“Where available, the antitrust agencies rely extensively on natural market 
experiments . . . .”). 
1257 United States v. AT & T Inc., 310 F. Supp. 3d 161, 215 (D.D.C. 2018) (“Professor Carlton 
recognize[s] that empirical analysis of prior, similar transactions can be ‘convincing evidence.’”). 
1258 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.3.  By contrast, such analyses are 
typically necessary in private antitrust actions where a plaintiff must show injury-in-fact and damages.  In 
re Ethylene Propylene Diene Monomer Antitrust Litig., 256 F.R.D. 82, 88 (D. Conn. 2009) (“[A]ntitrust 
injury-in-fact and damages are often determined by comparing the ‘but-for’ price—the price a customer 
would have paid in the absence of the conspiracy—and the actual price paid.”). 
1259 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 78, 94. 
1260 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.3. 
1261 CCFF ¶¶ 1642-1643; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1689-1690; CCRF (Benco) ¶¶ 1038-1041; CCRF (Patterson) 
¶ 716. 

1264 CCFF ¶¶ 1647-1684; see also CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1689-1690. 

1262 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1689-1690 (Kois Sr., Tr. 181 (“[T]hey’re free to purchase from whoever they want 
to.”); 

1263 See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 14 (arguing that buying groups cannot guarantee volume). 
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Third, similar to Benco,1265 Schein claims the analysis had “false positives,” by 

identifying acts against self-interest outside the conspiracy period. Schein points to the fact that 

.1266  Neither of these are a “false positive,” as Schein contends, because these 

rejections were not pursuant to blanket policies against buying groups.1267  Indeed, Patterson did 

not have a policy against buying groups prior to entering the agreement,1268 and Benco began 

working with buying groups post-conspiracy such as EDA, and sought to get the Kois Buyers 

Group to join EDA,1269 so any rejections were not a by-product of categorical rejection that was 

contrary to self-interest.1270 

Fourth, Schein claims Dr. Marshall’s analysis is incapable of distinguishing between 

conspiracy and oligopolistic behavior.  As discussed, supra,1271 this not a case of oligopolistic 

interdependence, because Respondents communicated with each other about buying groups—a 

fact missing in interdependence cases.1272  Dr. Carlton’s implausible conclusion that oligopolistic 

interdependence could explain Respondents’ parallel conduct ignores that Schein began 

discounting to buying groups before entering into an agreement with Benco, 1273 and Patterson 

1265 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.D.3. 
1266 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 11 n.4; 78.  
1267 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1662-1669. 
1268 CCFF ¶¶ 454-473. 
1269  CCFF ¶¶ 214-218, 232, 246-249; CCRF (Benco) ¶ 242 (CX1084 at 003 (“JLR and I convinced 
[EDA] that . . . we should bring in Seattle Study Club and Kois as additional partners, because of their 
broad market reach and strong brands.”).  As explained in Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-
Trial Brief, Benco may have adopted a no buying group policy pursuant to its self-interest before the 
conspiracy, but knew that it could not maintain the policy if its largest rivals began working with buying 
groups post-conspiracy.  See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.B.7 
(“Complaint Counsel Established that Benco Began Working with a Buying Group after the Agreement 
Began to Fall Apart”); § I.D.3 (“Dr. Marshall’s Profitability Analysis is Well Supported”).  
1270 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1662-1669. 
1271 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.B.1 (“This is Not a Case of
Oligopolistic Interdependence”). 
1272 In re Text Messaging Antitrust Litig., 782 F.3d 867, 875 (7th Cir. 2015) (“If any of these reflections 
[to follow the industry leader] persuaded the [] firm—without any communication with the leader—to 
raise their prices, there would be no conspiracy, but merely tacit collusion [or ‘conscious parallelism’].”); 
Gainesville Utils. Dep’t v. Fla. Power & Light Co., 573 F.2d 292, 300-01 (5th Cir. 1978) (refuting the 
notion of conscious parallelism where the record consisted of numerous exchanges of letters between high 
executives noting “[t]he record, however, indicates much more than just parallel activity”).  
1273 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 24 (doing business with Smile Source since 2008); CCFF ¶¶ 432-453. 
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was close to finalizing a buying group arrangement before joining the agreement.1274  Contrary to 

Dr. Carlton’s opinion, Schein never took a “wait and see” approach; it affirmatively changed its 

conduct from working with buying groups to instructing its sales team to refuse buying 

groups.1275 

Fifth, Schein claims that Dr. Marshall’s analysis shows there was no motive to conspire.  

This claim is based on an absurd argument—that a conspiracy would only make sense where 

100% of competitors in the market participate.  While Respondents’ conspiracy would certainly 

be more effective if every full-service distributor in the country participated, this does not negate 

motive.1276  Respondents’ agreement accounted for “over 80%” of the market,1277 and involved 

every national, full-service distributor (the Big Three).  Evidence shows that buying groups 

prefer to work with national, full-service distributors.1278  For instance, in 2011 

1279 .

1274 CCFF ¶¶ 454-473. 
1275 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1670-1674 (CX7101 ¶¶ 63-65; ¶ 63 (“Dr. Carlton does not explain how his client, 
Schein, came to its own spontaneous unilateral understanding to not bid.”)).  Indeed, Patterson argues in 
its Post-Trial Brief that Respondents competed vigorously for the business of independent dentists and 
DSOs (Patterson Post-Tr. Br. at 10-15) which further undermines any notion that the lack of competition 
between Respondents for buying groups was based on oligopolistic interdependence. 
1276 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1678-1679. 
1277 CCFF ¶ 1458.  
1278 CCFF ¶ 1486.  
1279 CCFF ¶ 915. 
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Sixth, Schein criticizes Marshall for analyzing the profitability of Burkhart from working 

with buying groups, because Burkhart is a small, regional distributor with lower market share.1280 

But Dr. Marshall’s analysis analyzed Burkhart’s profitability in Washington State, where 

Burkhart had 

1282 . 

Schein makes a handful of other arguments that are easily disposed of.  In addition to 

cannibalization, Schein contends that Dr. Marshall’s profitability analysis fails to account for 

specific factors relating to Schein’s refusals to work with a buying group, such as impacts on 

sales representatives, and internal conflicts.  As Schein’s own documents show, its rejection of 

buying groups was categorical.1283  Dr. Marshall analyzed whether it was in Respondents’ 

1280 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 11.  Schein argues that Dr. Marshall’s decision to analyze Burkhart’s buying 
group profitability was not appropriate, claiming that this underestimates the degree of cannibalization 
and over-estimates the incremental volume Schein would have experienced had it won the contracts.  This 
is not true for reasons explained in CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1748-1752.  Additionally, Dr. Marshall did perform
two data-driven studies of incentives and losses for Schein itself: Dr. Marshall studied the end of Schein’s 
relationship with Smile Source in 2012 and resumption of that relationship in 2017.  Based on these 
Schein profitability data studies, Dr. Marshall found that it was in Schein’s self-interest to partner with 
Smile Source in both 2012 and 2017.  See CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1748-1749, see also CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 
1722, 1725, 1730-1735. 
1281 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1748-1752. 
1282 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1748-1752. 
1283 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § II.A.1 (“Schein’s Contemporaneous 
Documents Show that During the Conspiracy Period Sullivan Began to Instruct Schein’s Salesforce to 
Categorically Reject Buying Groups”). 
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unilateral self-interest to implement a blanket refusal to deal with buying groups, so concerns 

that are idiosyncratic to any particular decision were not relevant to Dr. Marshall’s analysis.1284 

Schein also claims that the profitability analysis is premised on the assumption that 

Schein did not try to compete for Smile Source or Kois.1285  Not so.  Dr. Marshall explained that 

these factual issues would not affect the conclusions he draws from the profitability studies, and 

that whether Schein terminated its discussions with Smile Source and Kois or vice versa had no 

bearing on Dr. Marshall’s analysis.1286  Schein also argues that the analysis was flawed, claiming 

that it shows that Schein’s supplying Smile Source before 2012 and again in 2017 was 

unprofitable.  This claim is misleading.  It ignores Dr. Marshall’s analysis showing that Schein 

lost profits over time following its split with Smile Source in early 2012, due to business leaving 

Schein for Smile Source’s contracted distributors (Burkhart and Atlanta Dental).1287  Thus, it was 

Schein’s split from Smile Source in early 2012 (not its relationship with Smile Source) that was 

unprofitable for Schein. 

Dr. Marshall’s analysis of Schein’s 2017 relationship with Smile Source proves that 

absent a conspiracy, Respondents bid against each other for buying group deals, even though 

such bidding left them collectively worse off, but the winner relatively better off.1288 

1289 . 

1284 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1692-1693, 1715-1717.  Schein relies heavily on an opportunity cost “formula” 
from its economic expert Dr. Carlton to support its assertions that these variables can be weighed and 
measured.  CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1692, 1715-1717.  However, this “formula” is unreliable and unsupported;
Dr. Carlton failed to do any quantitative analysis to support his claim that these factors can be measured 
in a “formula.”  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1692.  Dr. Carlton never actually applied the formula to any data to 
support his assertion about Schein’s opportunity costs in dealing with different buying groups.  CCRF 
(Schein) ¶ 1692.  Additionally, Dr. Carlton admitted that his “formula” is merely based on his memory of 
talking to Schein executives and that he never took notes during these discussions.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 
1692.  Dr. Carlton also never showed this equation to anybody at Schein or even asked if Schein uses this 
equation to make business decisions.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1692.    
1285 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 79, 94.  
1286 CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1697-1701, 1709-1712. 
1287 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1722; CCRF (Schein) ¶¶ 1722, 1724-1725, 1729. 
1288 CCFF ¶¶ 1681-1683; CCRF ¶ 1732. 
1289 CCFF ¶¶ 1681-1683; CCRF ¶ 1732. 
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This proves that it was more profitable for Schein to win the Smile Source bid, then to lose the 

bid.  The fact that Respondents are worse off in this competitive landscape than during the 

conspiracy is precisely the reason Respondents conspired, and precisely the result that 

Respondents sought to circumvent through an illegal agreement.  This is proof, in hard cold 

numbers, that Respondents’ executives were right that buying groups would lead to a “price war” 

and “race to the bottom.”  Further, Schein’s own documents and witness testimony support that 

Schein’s relationships with Smile Source before and after the conspiracy left it better off and 

benefitted Schein through new business and customers.1290 

III. COMPLAINT COUNSEL HAS SHOWN DIRECT AND CIRCUMSTANTIAL 
EVIDENCE OF AN AGREEMENT AMONG THE BIG THREE. 

Schein, like Benco and Patterson, argues that Complaint Counsel lacks either direct or 

circumstantial evidence of an agreement involving Schein.  Contrary to Schein’s claims, the 

inter-firm communications, in conjunction with the totality of the evidence in this case, 

establishes a meeting of the minds among Respondents by a preponderance of the evidence.  The 

totality of the evidence shows a conscious commitment targeting buying groups among the Big 

Three—including Schein.  As discussed in detail in Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-

Trial Brief,1291 Complaint Counsel presents both direct and unambiguous circumstantial evidence 

of Schein’s participation in an unlawful agreement, including direct evidence of communications 

about a refusal to do business with buying groups. See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to 

Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. at § I.A. 

Schein also claims, incorrectly, that Complaint Counsel alleges a “hub-and-spoke” 

conspiracy, and must therefore show that Patterson and Schein were aware of each other’s 

participation in the agreement.1292  First, Complaint Counsel does not allege a hub-and-spoke 

1290 CCFF ¶ 447 (quoting CX2469 at 001); CCFF ¶ 1725. 
1291 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. §. I.A (“Direct and Unambiguous 
Evidence Establishes Respondents’ Unlawful Agreement”).    
1292 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 65, 79 n.61. 
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conspiracy, which involves both horizontal and vertical aspects; here, the allegations involve 

purely horizontal competitors, which courts distinguish from hub-and-spoke agreements.1293 

In any event, Schein invents an improper legal standard for proving an overarching 

agreement among horizontal competitors: there is no requirement that Complaint Counsel show 

that all co-conspirators communicated with, or were aware of the participation of the others.1294 

To prove an overarching agreement among horizontal competitors, courts look at whether 

separate agreements can be “connected together” to show a common design or purpose.1295 

Here, it is well documented that, following the exchange of assurances, the Big Three had a 

common understanding of their collective refusal to do business with buying groups.1296  A 

single conspiracy does not fragment into multiple conspiracies because a member does not 

“know every other member” or “know of or become involved in all of the activities in 

furtherance of the conspiracy.”1297  Complaint Counsel therefore need not prove communications 

1293 Courts distinguish hub-and-spoke agreements, involving vertical competitors, from purely horizontal 
agreements. See, e.g., United States v. Apple Inc., 952 F. Supp.2d 638, 707 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (courts 
distinguishing agreement at issue as “‘horizontal price restraint’ subject to per se analysis . . . it is not 
properly viewed as either a vertical price restraint or solely through the lens of traditional ‘hub and spoke’ 
conspiracies”), aff’d, 791 F.3d 290 (2d Cir. 2015). 
1294 Esco Corp. v. United States, 340 F.2d 1000, 1006 (9th Cir. 1965) (no requirement “that each 
defendant or all defendants must have participated in each act or transaction; nor is proof required that 
each accused knew the identity and function of all his alleged co-conspirators or that all worked together 
consciously to achieve a desired end.”) (internal quotations omitted); United States v. Bibbero, 749 F.2d 
581, 587 (9th Cir. 1984) (“[A] single conspiracy may involve several subagreements or subgroups of
conspirators.”); Interstate Circuit v. United States, 306 U.S. 208, 227 (1939) (“It is elementary that an 
unlawful conspiracy may be and often is formed without simultaneous action or agreement on the part of 
the conspirators .”); see also Blumenthhal v. United States, 332 U.S. 539, 559 (1947) (finding that several 
agreements were “essential and integral steps” in forming a single conspiracy). 
1295 Esco Corp. v. United States, 340 F.2d 1000, 1005-06 (9th Cir. 1965) (“where several acts or 
transactions are alleged to constitute a single general conspiracy, there must be proof of a common 
purpose . . . .”); United States v. Beachner Const. Co., 729 F.2d 1278, 1283 (10th Cir. 1984) (evidence 
that each participant shared “common objective” to eliminate price competition and ensure higher 
individual profits was sufficient to prove the existence of a single conspiracy); In re Polyurethane Foam 
Antitrust Litig., 152 F. Supp. 3d 968, 996-97 (N.D. Ohio 2015) (evidence of a single conspiracy sufficient 
reach jury where there is evidence of a “common goal” among defendants). 
1296 CCFF ¶ 527 (Benco: “[a]ll of the major dental companies have said, ‘NO’, and that’s the stance we 
will continue to take.”) (quoting CX1149 at 002); CCFF ¶¶ 1194, 1138 (Schein: “The good thing here is 
that PDCO, Benco and us are on the same page regarding these buying groups/consortiums.”) (quoting 
CX2106 at 001); CCFF ¶¶ 549, 1187 (Patterson: “Confidential and not for discussion . . . our 2 largest 
competitors stay out of [buying groups] as well.”) (quoting CX0093 at 001) (bolded in original).  
1297 Polyurethane Foam, 152 F. Supp. 3d at 979 (internal quotation omitted). 
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between Schein and Patterson, or show that each was aware of the other’s participation, to show 

an overarching conspiracy.  Even though not needed, the record nonetheless shows that Schein 

and Patterson executives did communicate about buying groups: in January 2014, Schein’s Vice 

President of Sales Dave Steck and Patterson’s Vice President of Sales Dave Misiak spoke by 

phone about attending the Texas Dental Association (“TDA”) annual meeting in response to its 

creation of a buying group.1298  As discussed previously, this direct communication establishes 

that Schein and Patterson discussed a shared approach after the TDA sponsored a buying group, 

and that Patterson considered confronting Schein with a phone call when it appeared that Schein 

reneged.1299  Further, both Schein and Patterson’s internal documents demonstrate their 

awareness of an overarching agreement involving Respondents.1300 

A. The Direct and Unambiguous Evidence Supports the Claim that Schein 
Agreed Not to Deal with Buying Groups. 

Complaint Counsel’s direct and unambiguous evidence of agreement against Schein is 

discussed at length in Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Trial Brief (§. I.A (“Direct 

and Unambiguous Evidence Establishes Respondents’ Unlawful Agreement”)).1301 

Like Benco, Schein argues that witness testimony denying the existence of a conspiracy 

is direct evidence of a lack of agreement, and cites this Court’s decision in McWane.1302  As 

1298 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 36-37; CCFF ¶¶ 1123-1132.  Steck and Misiak spoke by
phone on January 6, 2014 for 14 minutes about pulling out of the annual TDA Meeting in response to its 
creation of a buying group, TDA Perks.  CCFF ¶¶ 1123-1125.  Misiak told Steck that Patterson was 
planning to pull out of the TDA Meeting.  CCFF ¶ 1125.  Following the call, Steck told Sullivan that he 
would follow up with Misiak as to Schein’s decision regarding the TDA buying group.  CCFF ¶ 1128.  
On January 21, 2014, Steck sent an internal email to three Schein managers, stating “Guys, I have to get 
back to [Patterson] on whether or not we are attending the TDA.”  CCFF ¶ 1129.  Later that day, Steck 
emailed Misiak: “I’ll be calling you to let you know about our decision on the matter we recently 
discussed in the next couple days,” referring to Schein’s decision on whether to pull out of the TDA 
annual meeting.  CCFF ¶ 1130 (quoting CX0112 at 001).  Schein, Benco, and Patterson all withdrew from 
the 2014 TDA Annual Meeting.  CCFF ¶¶ 1138-1146.  
1299 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Patterson’s Post-Tr. Br. at p. 6 (discussing the January 2014 
Schein-Patterson communication in response to the Texas Dental Association’s creation of a buying 
group). While Complaint Counsel is not alleging that Respondents’ actions with respect to the TDA are a 
boycott of the TDA, Respondents communications and conduct in response to TDA’s buying group 
demonstrates a conscious commitment to a common scheme. 
1300 CCFF ¶¶ 1184-1185. 
1301 Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. §. I.A (“Direct and Unambiguous Evidence 
Establishes Respondents’ Unlawful Agreement”).    
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discussed previously,1303 the facts here are different from McWane, because there is 

unambiguous evidence establishing that the competitors directly communicated about the subject 

matter of the conspiracy. 1304   Respondents’ executives admitted that they communicated 

directly with each other through private communications about a policy against discounting to 

buying groups,1305  about deviations from a no buying group policy,1306  and about whether an 

account qualified as a buying group.1307  Further, Respondents’ contemporaneous documents 

manifest the agreement, explicitly referencing a joint refusal to discount and acknowledging a 

“duty to uphold” the collective refusal.1308  The witness denials do nothing to erase the otherwise 

unambiguous evidence of agreement. 

1. The Evidence Contradicts Schein’s Claims that Sullivan Rebuffed 
Cohen. 

Schein asserts that it would be unreasonable to find that it conspired with its rivals 

“merely from evidence that an illegal course of action was suggested but immediately 

rejected.”1309  But the weight of the evidence shows that after Cohen contacted Sullivan about 

buying groups in 2013, Sullivan did not rebuff the communications.  Instead, he communicated 

1302 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 81-83. 
1303 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.2 (“Witness Denials Are Not 
Sufficient to Overcome the Overwhelming Unambiguous Evidence of Agreement”).   
1304 In re McWane, Inc., Docket No. 9351, 2013 WL 8364918, at *265 (FTC May 1, 2013) (Initial 
Decision) (“There is no evidence showing what Mr. Tatman and Mr. Rybacki discussed . . . .”). 
1305 CCFF ¶¶ 483-484, 489-490, 495-496, 500, 662-664, 1000-1001, 1004, 1011, 1036-1040.  For 
example, a Schein executive testified: “I received a call from Pat Ryan at Benco Dental . . . he basically
was making a statement . . . that they didn’t like working with buying groups.”  CCFF ¶ 1011.  Benco’s 
Cohen testified, “Q. You did communicate Benco’s no-buying group policy to Mr. Sullivan; correct? A. I 
believe I did. Yes.”  CCFF ¶ 662.   Benco’s Cohen testified:  “Q. You’ve communicated Benco’s no-
buying group policy to Mr. Guggenheim? A. . . . [Y]es.”  CCFF ¶ 484.  Patterson’s Guggenheim testified: 
“It’s fair to say that you viewed Benco’s doing business with Atlantic Dental Care as a deviation from
what Chuck Cohen had told you before about Benco’s policy? A. Yes.”  CCFF ¶ 572; Guggenheim, Tr. 
1628. 
1306 CCFF ¶¶ 568-573, 995-997, 999-1004.  
1307 CCFF ¶¶ 1036-1037. 
1308 CCFF ¶¶ 527, 549, 603, 1103, 1183, 1190-1191, 1193-1195.  
1309 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 84 (quoting In re Citric Acid Litig., 191 F.3d 1090, 1098 (9th Cir. 1999). 

193 



 
 

 
 

 
 

PUBLIC 

with Cohen (repeatedly), and acted pursuant to their shared understanding by instructing Schein 

executives not to engage with buying groups.1310 

Schein’s assertion that Sullivan rebuffed Cohen rests on Sullivan’s trial testimony that 

Cohen’s communications to him about ADC and buying groups raised “a red flag,”1311 and that 

he told Cohen not to discuss it on the March 25, 2013 telephone call and again on an April 3, 

2013 telephone call.1312  This testimony cannot be credited.   

First, Sullivan’s contemporaneous communications with Cohen belie the assertion that 

Sullivan admonished or rebuffed Cohen.  Immediately following the March 25, 2013 call, 

Sullivan thanked Cohen for the call and joked with Cohen.1313  After Cohen promptly sent 

further information clarifying that ADC was not a buying group,1314 Sullivan thanked him again 

(“Thanks for the follow up on that article.  Unusual.”).1315  And after Cohen sent additional 

information, Sullivan tried to reengage by calling Cohen two times on March 27, 2013 and April 

3, 2013.1316  Sullivan’s repeated (and attempted) follow-up with Cohen cannot be squared with 

the suggestion that Sullivan rebuffed Cohen.  Moreover, despite Sullivan’s purported concerns at 

the time, Sullivan never reported or documented his communications with Cohen about ADC or 

Dental Alliance in 2013 to Schein’s legal department or anyone else, as he was required to do 

under Schein’s antitrust policy.1317 

Second, Cohen’s testimony about these communications flatly contradicts Sullivan’s 

story. Cohen testified at trial that he did not recall Sullivan ever telling Cohen to stop contacting 

him about buying groups, and that Sullivan never gave Cohen the impression that they should 

1310 CCFF ¶¶ 717-954, 1022-1059.  
1311 CCFF ¶ 1049.  
1312 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 83-84.  
1313 CCFF ¶¶ 1051-1053. 
1314 CCFF ¶ 1057.  
1315 CCFF ¶ 1058.  
1316 CCFF ¶¶ 1079-1080; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1491 (CX6027 at 028 (Row 247), 029 (Row 250), 029 (Row 
255)). 
1317 CCFF ¶¶ 1049-1050.  Schein’s Antitrust Compliance Policy required Sullivan to report the call to 
Schein’s “Legal Department, the Human Resources Department, or Senior Vice President of 
Administration.”  CCFF ¶ 1050. 
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not be talking about buying groups.1318  (Inconveniently for Schein, Sullivan testified that he has 

never known Cohen to lie, so Cohen’s testimony on this point must be credited).1319  Moreover, 

Cohen testified that if a rival told him to stop communicating, he would do so;1320 and Cohen did 

not stop communicating with Sullivan regarding buying groups:  in the days following the March 

25, 2013 telephone call, Cohen continued texting Sullivan about buying groups.1321  If Sullivan 

had actually “admonished” Cohen on March 25, 2013, Cohen would not have followed up.  In 

addition, Cohen clearly understood that Schein would adhere to a no-buying-group policy, 

despite market intelligence to the contrary.1322  If Sullivan had “admonished” Cohen and refused 

to engage, Cohen would have had no basis for such an understanding. 

The contemporaneous evidence (and Cohen’s testimony) must be credited, particularly 

because Sullivan contradicted himself under oath on numerous critical points, such as: 

 Sullivan testified under oath in his investigational hearing that Cohen told him on 
March 25, 2013 that Benco would not bid for ADC’s business, and then changed his 
story at trial to say the opposite.1323 

 Sullivan testified in his investigational hearing that he had no recollection of why he 
called Cohen on March 27, 2013, but that it was not even “possible” that the call 
related to ADC.1324  Then, Sullivan later self-servingly testified that it was his intent 
on March 27, 2013 to “remind” Cohen that they “should not be talking about this.”1325 

 Likewise, Sullivan testified in his investigational hearing that he did not recall the 
April 3, 2013 telephone call but that he did not believe it was “possible” that the call 

1318 CCFF ¶¶ 1055-1056, 1090. 
1319 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1491 (CX0311 (Sullivan, IHT at 271) (Q.  Have you known Mr. Cohen to lie? A. I 
know him as an odd personality but to flat out lie, no.  I don't communicate that much with him to tell you 
the truth, but it's -- I don't know him to have lied.”))).   
1320 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1491. 
1321 CCFF ¶¶ 997-1000, 1045-1051, 1069. 
1322 CCFF ¶¶ 675-684.  The same is true of Patterson.  Patterson executives knew that Schein would not 
work with buying groups, despite market intelligence to the contrary.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 133. 
1323 CCFF ¶¶ 1038-1041.  
1324 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1491. 
1325 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1491 (CX8025 (Sullivan Dep. 409-410); see also Sullivan, Tr. 3963, 3965).  
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related to ADC,1326 and then changed his story at his deposition to insist that he told 
Cohen on April 3, 2013 that it was inappropriate to discuss ADC.1327 

Further, Cohen has consistently testified at his investigational hearing, deposition, and at 

trial, that he shared Benco’s no buying group policy with Sullivan,1328 which discredits 

Sullivan’s testimony that Cohen never did so.1329  In addition, the contemporaneous evidence 

supports Cohen’s testimony that he shared Benco’s policy with Sullivan, rather than Sullivan’s 

denials.  For instance, Cohen’s discussions with Sullivan about buying groups do not make sense 

unless Cohen had informed Sullivan of Benco’s policies,1330 nor do Cohen’s texts,1331 nor do 

Cohen’s internal communications with his colleagues at Benco.1332  In any event, the 

communications on their face disclose Benco’s policy against buying groups.1333 

Schein cannot erase the documentary evidence based solely on Sullivan’s say-so, 

particularly when multiple changes in Sullivan’s story support a finding of anticompetitive 

1326 CCFF ¶ 1089.  Cohen and Sullivan spoke on April 3, 2013 for 5 min and 36 seconds.  CCFF ¶¶ 1088. 
1327 CCFF ¶ 1089; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1491 (Sullivan changed his testimony about the April 3, 2013 call at 
his deposition (CX8025, (Sullivan, Dep. 415, 416)).  
1328 CCFF ¶¶ 661-664. 
1329 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 70-71.  
1330 On January 13, 2012, Cohen spoke with Tim Sullivan in response to market intelligence that Schein 
was discounting to the Unified Smiles buying group.  CCFF ¶¶ 955-972.  While Sullivan testified at trial 
that he does not recall what he discussed with Cohen on the January 13, 2012 call, (CCRF (Schein) ¶ 
1422), Sullivan previously testified that he heard of Unified Smiles through a message from Cohen.  
CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1422 (Sullivan, Dep. at 393 (“Have you ever heard of a group called Unified Smiles? A. 
Only through a message I got from Chuck”); see also Sullivan, Tr. 4346.)  And on March 25, 2013, 
Cohen and Sullivan had a telephone conversations in which the two discussed whether ADC was a 
buying group or a DSO.  CCFF ¶ 1036. 
1331 On March 26, 2013, Cohen texted Sullivan informing him that Benco had turned down the Dental 
Alliance buying group.  CCFF ¶¶ 997, 999-1001.  On March 27, 2013, Cohen texted Sullivan informing 
him that Benco would bid on ADC because it was not a buying group.  CCFF ¶ 1069. 
1332 Benco’s Ryan urged Cohen to inform Tim Sullivan to “knock this shit off” when Ryan learned Schein 
was discounting to buying group Smile Source, and Cohen agreed to follow up with Sullivan.  CCFF ¶¶ 
978-993.  On September 16, 2013, Benco’s Ryan wrote to Cohen in response to concern that Burkhart 
was selling to buying groups:  “CHUCK --- maybe what you should do is make sure you tell Tim
[Sullivan] and Paul [Guggenheim] to hold their positions as we are[.]”  CCFF ¶¶ 1103-1105.  
1333 On March 26, 2013, Cohen informed Sullivan that Benco was not bidding on the buying group, 
Dental Alliance.  CCFF ¶ 997.  On March 27, 2013, Cohen informed Sullivan that Benco would bid on 
ADC because it was “not a buying group.”  CCFF ¶ 1069 (“Tim: Did some additional research on the 
Atlantic Care deal, seems like they have actually merged ownership of all the practices.  So it’s not a 
buying group, it’s a big group.  We’re going to bid.  Thanks.”).  
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conduct.1334  Schein cites In re Citric Acid Litigation,1335 but that case involved documented 

evidence that the defendant had immediately rejected the suggestion of any anticompetitive 

conduct.1336  Schein can point to no similar evidence in the record here.  This case is the opposite 

of In re Citric Acid Litigation—apart from Sullivan’s contradicted testimony, there is no 

evidence that Sullivan ever rebuffed Cohen.  Sullivan’s failure to document or keep records of 

his calls with a competitor involving antitrust violations belies any such claim.1337 

While Schein compares itself to Burkhart,1338 Sullivan’s conduct was starkly different 

from that of Burkhart’s Jeff Reece.  Burkhart’s Jeff Reece did not continue to reach out to or 

thank Benco in response to Benco’s communications about buying groups.1339  And, contrary to 

Sullivan, after being contacted by Benco, Burkhart continued pursuing and contracting with 

buying groups, and had no policy against them.1340  Reece viewed buying groups as an 

opportunity,1341 while Sullivan viewed buying groups as a threat. 

Benco’s (and Patterson’s) internal documents further confirm that Schein was a 

participant in the agreement, while Burkhart was not.1342  Benco’s contemporaneous documents 

1334 United States v. Capitol Serv., Inc., 568 F. Supp. 134, 142 (E.D. Wis. 1983) (Where defendants’ 
testimony offered at trial was inconsistent with admissions prior to trial, the court held that “[s]uch 
statements can lead the Court to no other conclusion but that [an agreement] was entered into by the 
defendants for the purpose of eliminating competition among themselves. The testimony offered at trial 
on behalf of the defendants regarding their reasons for entering into the [agreement] simply lacked 
credibility given the admissions made prior to trial.”); see also FTC v. Qualcomm, Inc., No. 17-CV-
00220, 2019 WL 2206013, at *9 (N.D. Cal. May 21, 2019) (“It is odd that [defendant’s executive] had 
better recall during the January 2019 trial than nearly a year earlier at his March 2018 deposition.”). 
1335 In re Citric Acid Litig., 191 F.3d 1090 (9th Cir. 1999). 
1336 191 F.3d 1090, 1098 (9th Cir. 1999) (discussion surrounding anticompetitive conduct “was quickly 
overviewed and it was decided not to pay attention to that message for most of the information contained 
in it [was] against the spirit of the anti-trust law.”) (quoting trade association meeting minutes) (alteration 
in original). 
1337 See Phillips v. Crown Cent. Petroleum Corp., 602 F.2d 616, 626 (4th Cir. 1979) (rejecting claim that 
competitor communications concerned legitimate inquires about Robinson-Patman Act violations, where 
defendant “failed to keep records of the calls which would be the natural object of anyone genuinely
concerned over Robinson-Patman violations”).  
1338 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 84, 89.  
1339 CCFF ¶ 1239; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 354.  
1340 CCFF ¶ 1240; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 354.  
1341 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 354.  
1342 CCFF ¶¶ 1183-1195. 
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show it was frustrated with Burkhart’s refusal to join the agreement.1343  In fact, when Benco was 

unsuccessful in getting Burkhart to join the agreement in 2013, Benco’s Pat Ryan asked Cohen 

to contact Tim Sullivan and Paul Guggenheim to shore up the agreement: “CHUCK --- maybe 

what you should do is make sure you tell Tim [Sullivan] and Paul [Guggenheim] to hold their 

positions as we are[.]”1344  Schein’s internal documents also reference a common understanding 

among the Big Three about buying groups—none mentions Burkhart.1345  Thus, Schein’s 

conduct is not comparable to that of Burkhart, an innocent invitee. 

2. Schein Entered an Unlawful Agreement Through Communications 
Between Sullivan and Cohen.  

As discussed at length in Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco, unambiguous evidence 

shows that Cohen and Sullivan exchanged assurances that neither would work with buying 

groups in 2011.1346  Schein argues that Sullivan’s communications with Cohen about buying 

groups do not evidence an agreement, because they purportedly were a “one-way” exchange of 

information from Cohen to Sullivan, and that Sullivan did not reciprocate with information about 

Schein’s policies on buying groups.1347  This cannot be squared with the contemporaneous 

documents, or Respondents’ conduct.   

The record shows that Cohen and Sullivan exchanged assurances about buying groups, 

and reached a common understanding that neither would deal with buying groups.1348  First, 

Cohen testified that on their March 25, 2013 phone call about ADC, Cohen and Sullivan 

exchanged information “about whether Atlantic Dental Care was a group buying or group 

1343 CCFF ¶ 1101. 
1344 CCFF ¶ 1183. 
1345 CCFF ¶ 1185. 
1346 See supra, See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. §§. I.A (“Direct and 
Unambiguous Evidence Establishes Respondents’ Unlawful Agreement”); I.C (“Inter-firm
Communications Establish That Benco Exchanged Assurances With Both Schein and Patterson That 
Respondents Would Not Discount to Buying Groups”).    
1347 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 84; Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 71. 
1348 In re Flat Glass Antitrust Litig., 385 F.3d 350, 361 (3d Cir. 2004) (“[E]vidence may involve . . . 
‘proof that the defendants got together and exchanged assurances of common action . . . .’”) (internal 
quotation omitted).  
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purchase organization or a DSO.”1349  An exchange of information is not a “one-way” 

communication.  Second, there is no question that Cohen understood Schein would maintain a no 

buying group policy during the conspiracy.1350  While Benco “had no doubt” that Schein was 

working with buying groups as of September 2011 based on market intelligence,1351 after that 

point, Benco gained the understanding that Schein had a policy against doing business with 

buying groups.1352  Benco communicated this understanding internally,1353 prompting Benco’s 

executives to ask Cohen to confront Sullivan about any perceived deviations.1354  Indeed, 

Benco’s internal documents referred to a common understanding among the Big Three not to 

deal with buying groups.1355  Absent prior assurances from Sullivan, Cohen and his colleagues 

could not have gained this concrete understanding of Schein’s 2011-2015 policies,1356 and would 

not have had any reason to disregard the clear market intelligence that Schein worked with 

buying groups prior to 2011.1357  Patterson executives had the same understanding that Schein 

1349 CCFF ¶ 1036. 
1350 CCFF ¶¶ 675-678.  During the conspiracy, Benco’s Cohen understood that “the policy that Henry
Schein had was that they do not recognize GPOs.”  CCFF ¶ 676. 
1351 CCFF ¶ 673. 
1352 CCFF ¶¶ 674-684. 
1353 See, e.g., CCFF ¶¶ 527-528, 1191-1193.   
1354 CCFF ¶¶ 955-972 (Cohen confronted Sullivan regarding Unified Smiles); 980-993 (After learning in
July 2012 that Schein might be selling to a buying group, Ryan told Cohen: “Better tell your buddy Tim
to knock this shit off.”  Cohen responded: “Please resend this e-mail without your comment on top so that 
I can print & send to Tim with a note.”).  
1355 CCFF ¶ 1183. 
1356 Sullivan acted in accordance with the common understanding by implementing and communicating a 
policy (beginning in 2011) of categorically rejecting buying groups.  CCFF ¶¶ 717-732. 
1357 CCFF ¶ 681.  Benco’s understanding that Schein did not work with buying groups during the 
conspiracy period was contrary to market intelligence Benco received.  CCFF ¶ 681. 
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would not deal with buying groups, and internally instructed Patterson’s sales force not to deal 

with buying groups based on this understanding, despite learning of rumors to the contrary.1358 

Even if all of this evidence were set aside, evidence shows that, at minimum, Cohen 

communicated Benco’s no buying group policy to Sullivan,1359 that Sullivan received assurances 

from Cohen about buying groups,1360 and that Sullivan acted in accordance with those 

assurances.1361  This is enough to establish an unlawful agreement.  As the Supreme Court held 

in Interstate Circuit v. United States, “[i]t was enough [to support a conspiracy] that, knowing 

that concerted action was contemplated and invited, the distributors gave their adherence to the 

scheme and participated in it.”1362 

This case is similar to Esco Corp. v. United States.  There, the Ninth Circuit affirmed a 

price fixing conviction where the defendant followed a course of conduct suggested by a 

competitor, even though the defendant never expressly gave an assurance of commitment to the 

competitor.1363   It held that an inference of conspiracy is supported where a course of conduct 

“once suggested or outlined by a competitor in the presence of other competitors, is followed by 

all—generally and customarily—and continuously for all practical purposes, even though there 

be slight variations.”1364  “An exchange of words is not required,”1365 and “any conformance to 

1358 In August 2013, when Patterson executive Tim Rogan received inaccurate market intelligence that 
Schein might be selling to a buying group, he nonetheless responded: “We don’t need GPO’s in the dental 
business.  Schein, Benco, and Patterson have always said no.  I believe it is our duty to uphold this and 
protect this great industry.”  CCFF ¶¶ 1273-1275 (quoting CX0106 at 001); CCRF (Schein) ¶ 133. 
Similarly, Patterson’s Vice President Dave Misiak instructed a Patterson Regional Manager to reject a 
buying group in February 2013, and understood that both Schein and Benco were rejecting buying groups 
as well.  He stated: “Confidential and not for discussion . . our 2 largest competitors stay out of these as 
well.  If you hear differently and have specific proof please send that to me.”  Misiak testified that he was 
referring to Schein and Benco.  CCFF ¶¶ 548-553 (quoting (CX0093 at 001).  Misiak could not explain 
why he wrote that this information was “Confidential and not for discussion.”  CCFF ¶ 554. 
1359 CCFF ¶¶ 661-664. 
1360 For example, Sullivan previously testified that Cohen informed him that Benco was not planning to 
bid on ADC.  CCFF ¶¶ 1038-1040.  
1361 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § II.A.1 (“Schein’s Contemporaneous 
Documents Show that During the Conspiracy Period Sullivan Began to Instruct Schein’s Salesforce to 
Categorically Reject Buying Groups”). 
1362 Interstate Circuit v. United States, 306 U.S. 208, 226 (1939). 
1363 Esco Corp. v. United States, 340 F.2d 1000, 1007-08 (9th Cir. 1965). 
1364 Esco, 340 F.2d at 1008 (9th Cir. 1965). 
1365 Id. 
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an agreed or contemplated pattern of conduct will warrant an inference of conspiracy.”1366 

Similarly, in United States v. Beaver, the Seventh Circuit affirmed a price fixing conviction 

where a competitor discussed a pricing proposal and “no one disagreed with the proposal or 

stated that he would not participate in the scheme.”1367  As the Beaver court noted: “Nobody 

objected, nobody disagreed, nobody walked away.”1368 

Here, as in Esco and Beaver, Sullivan received assurances from Cohen about buying 

groups, and acted in accordance with those assurances.  Cohen informed Sullivan of Benco’s no 

buying group policy on at least one occasion.1369  Schein followed suit and adopted the same 

policy in 2011, following inter-firm communications between Sullivan and Cohen.1370  In fact, 

although Schein’s President, Sullivan, was “very excited” about working with the buying group 

Smile Source in 2011,1371 after talking with Benco,1372 Schein took the exact opposite position: 

by early 2012, Sullivan told his team he wanted to “KILL the buying group model,” referring to 

Smile Source’s model.1373  And even though Schein had entered into a number of successful 

legacy buying group arrangements before 2011, by the second half of 2011, Sullivan informed 

other Schein executives, “I don’t think you will ever see a full service dealer get involved with 

GPOs.”1374  Indeed, Sullivan sent the clear message within Schein—understood by employees at 

all levels—that the company was to stay away from buying groups.1375 

1366 Id. 
1367 United States v. Beaver, 515 F.3d 730, 738 (7th Cir. 2008). 
1368 Beaver, 515 F.3d at 738. 
1369 CCFF ¶¶ 661-664.  Schein claims that Cohen testified that he did not share Benco’s no buying group 
policy with Sullivan.  Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 70.   This claim is wrong: Cohen clearly testified at trial, in 
deposition, and at his investigational hearing that he shared the policy with Sullivan.  CCFF ¶¶ 661-664. 
1370 CCFF ¶ 686. 
1371 CCFF ¶ 696. 
1372 In 2011, Cohen and Sullivan called each other at least 23 times, texted each other at least 89 times, 
and attended numerous industry events and meetings together.  CCFF ¶¶ 348-350, 358, 363, 366, 379, 
381, 383. 
1373 CCFF ¶¶ 729-732. 
1374 CCFF ¶¶ 705-706 (quoting CX0185 at 001).  Schein makes legal arguments about the meaning of 
Sullivan’s statement here, claiming that it merely reflects Sullivan’s “opinion about how full-service 
distributors would react when faced with a common stimuli.”  Sullivan never testified to this.  
1375 CCFF ¶¶ 734-737, 743-860. 
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Schein’s cited cases are not at odds with Esco or Beaver, and none of them concern direct 

and unambiguous evidence of agreement, including multiple communications evidencing a 

common understanding.  Schein cites In re Citric Acid Litigation,1376 where there was no 

evidence of the defendant’s participation in the conspiratorial communications at issue,1377 and 

the evidence only showed an opportunity collude.1378  Schein also erroneously relies on Reserve 

Supply Corp. v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.,1379 and City of Moundridge v. Exxon Mobil 

Corp.1380 Reserve Supply did not hold that a one-way exchange of information is not an 

agreement, as Schein suggests.1381  It merely held that a “single, isolated, and vague” statement 

by a competitor that they “foresaw ‘moderate growth ahead’ in the market, and that ‘they 

anticipate very little increase’ in industry capacity” was insufficient to infer an agreement to fix 

prices.1382 Reserve Supply involved no direct evidence of conspiracy or of other 

communications,1383 and the allegations were centered on consciously parallel price increases 

and “underdeveloped” plus factor evidence.1384 City of Moundridge is likewise distinguishable: it 

involved a theory of conscious parallelism, yet plaintiffs failed to produce evidence of parallel 

pricing, communications about pricing, or pricing decisions based on such communications.1385 

Here, the record includes evidence that the Big Three “discussed their refusal to deal with buying 

1376 In re Citric Acid Litig., 191 F.3d 1090 (9th Cir. 1999). 
1377 Citric Acid, 191 F.3d at 1097 (“[T]here is no evidence that illegal activities took place during [trade 
association] meetings attended by [defendant’s] representatives.  Nor is there evidence that [defendant] 
participated in any of the ‘unofficial’ meetings.”). 
1378 Citric Acid, 191 F.3d at 1103 (Plaintiff did not “offer any specific details with regard to illegal 
discussions, but instead merely asks us to infer participation in the conspiracy from the opportunity to do 
so.”). 
1379 Reserve Supply Corp. v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp., 971 F.2d 37 (7th Cir. 1992). 
1380 City of Moundridge v. Exxon Mobil Corp., 429 F. Supp. 2d 117 (D.D.C. 2006), aff’d, 409 F. App’x 
362 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (unpublished). 
1381 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 84. 
1382 Reserve Supply, 971 F.2d 37, 50 n.9 
1383 Reserve Supply, 971 F.2d 37, 50 (Plaintiff “produced no direct evidence of a price-fixing agreement,” 
and relied instead on evidence that “an agreement plausibly could exist” in an “interdependent” industry.). 
1384 Reserve Supply, 971 F.2d 37, 51 (finding contentions of price discrimination and actions against self-
interest “so underdeveloped that it cannot produce a genuine issue of triable fact”).   
1385 See 429 F. Supp. 2d at 132-33. 
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groups and made decisions based on these communications.”1386 Schein’s reliance on In re 

McWane1387 is also misplaced.  In this case, unlike McWane, there is unambiguous evidence 

establishing that the competitors directly communicated about the subject matter of the 

conspiracy, a refusal to do business with buying groups, on multiple occasions.1388 Absent an 

agreement, there was no reason for them to discuss buying groups.1389 

Schein also argues that this Court should ignore other evidence of inter-firm 

communications about buying groups, such as Cohen’s April 2014 email to both Sullivan and 

Guggenheim about the TDA’s buying group program, TDA Perks.1390  Schein tries to claim that 

the “the TDA is not a buying group.”1391  However, the TDA Perks Program was a buying group 

launched by the Texas Dental Association, and Schein, Patterson, and Benco viewed it as a 

buying group.1392  Cohen’s email to both Sullivan and Guggenheim is consistent with an 

agreement concerning buying groups, and the Big Three viewed the TDA Perks buying group as 

a threat.1393  Schein also argues that the Court should ignore the 18-minute call between Schein’s 

Foley and Benco’s Ryan in October 2013 about Smile Source, because the call did not involve 

Cohen or Sullivan.1394  The Foley-Ryan call, however, is evidence of Benco confronting Schein 

1386 See In re Benco Dental Supply Co., Docket No. 9379, 2018 WL 6338485, at *10 n.10 (FTC Nov. 26, 
2018). 
1387 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 84. 
1388 In re McWane, Inc., Docket No. 9351, 2013 WL 8364918, at *265 (FTC May 1, 2013) (Initial 
Decision). 
1389 CCFF ¶¶ 1167-1172; Gainesville Utils. Dep’t v. Fla. Power & Light Co., 573 F.2d 292, 301 (5th Cir. 
1978) (“Indeed, if solid economic reasons existed for refusing service to these cities, there was no reason 
for communicating with a competitor about the refusal, and certainly not for expressing such decisions in 
terms of hopeful, if not expected, reciprocity.”). 
1390 CCFF ¶ 1133.  On April 16, 2014, Cohen emailed Sullivan and Guggenheim on the same email chain 
about the TDA buying group; Cohen forwarded an article promoting the TDA Perks program.  (Cohen, 
Tr. 577; CX1062 at 001). Cohen wrote, “Tim & Paul. . . Thought you’d be interested in this ‘essay’ from
our friends at the TDA.”  CCFF ¶ 1133 (CX1062 at 001; Cohen, Tr. 577). 
1391 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 66 n.51. 
1392 CCFF ¶¶ 1109-1114. 
1393 CCFF ¶ 1116.  Moreover, following Cohen’s email, Sullivan and Cohen spoke on the telephone the 
same day.  CCFF ¶ 1135.  Guggenheim made himself a calendar entry task to call Cohen about the TDA 
Perks letter, and later marked the task 100% complete.  CCFF ¶ 1136. 
1394 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 66 n.51. 
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when it was concerned that Schein might be working with Smile Source,1395 and is consistent 

with the existence of an understanding between Benco and Schein about buying groups. 

a. Benco’s Internal Emails Evidencing an Agreement with 
Schein. 

In July 2012, Benco’s Ryan forwarded information to Cohen that Schein was discounting 

to a buying group, Smile Source, for the explicit purpose of communicating with Schein’s 

Sullivan:  “Better tell your buddy Tim to knock this shit off.”1396  Cohen again responded in 

agreement:  “Please resend this e-mail without your comment on top so that I can print & send to 

Tim with a note.”1397  Schein asks the Court to ignore this email,1398 claiming that the evidence 

does not support the allegation that Cohen sent a note to Sullivan about Smile Source in July 

2012 and that the record does not contain the “clean” email that Cohen requested.1399  The 

evidence, however, shows that Ryan did resend the email to Cohen immediately after Cohen 

asked him to do so.1400  Further, Cohen testified that he intended to send Sullivan the note at the 

time he wrote his email to Ryan,1401 and Cohen had a practice of sending notes to Sullivan in the 

1395 CCFF ¶¶ 1005-1018.  On the October 1, 2013 phone call, Ryan informed Foley that Benco would not 
bid on Smile Source, and Foley testified that Ryan wanted to know whether Schein would bid on Smile 
Source.  CCFF ¶¶ 1011-1013. 
1396 CCFF ¶ 982 (quoting CX0018 at 001) (emphasis added). 
1397 CCFF ¶ 990 (quoting CX0018 at 001) (emphasis added).  Cohen admitted he was planning to print the 
email with information about Schein’s involvement with a buying group and send it to Sullivan with a 
note.  CCFF ¶¶ 991-992. 
1398 Schein also asks this court to ignore the September 16, 2013 email, in which Ryan tells Cohen, after 
learning that Burkhart was discounting to buying groups: “CHUCK --- maybe what you should do is 
make sure you tell Tim [Sullivan] and Paul [Guggenheim] to hold their positions as we are[.]”  CCFF ¶¶ 
1101-1106.  Schein claims that there is no evidence that Cohen ever delivered this message to Schein or 
Patterson, and that Cohen denied having a follow-up discussion with Sullivan.  Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 72-
73, 84-85.  But Cohen only testified that he did not call Sullivan in response to this email.  CCRF 
(Schein) ¶ 1555.  Moreover, the record shows that Cohen, Sullivan, and Guggenheim were all present at 
the 2013 DTA Meeting one month later in October 2013 (CCFF ¶¶ 364-366), where Cohen approached 
Burkhart’s Reece to convince him not to discount to buying groups.  CCFF ¶¶ 1225-1245.  Thus, Cohen 
had the same opportunity to discuss the buying group agreement with Sullivan and Guggenheim at that 
meeting. 
1399 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 68-70, 83.  
1400 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1451 (CX1147 (reflecting that Ryan complied with Cohen’s request, and resent the 
email to Cohen one minute later)). 
1401 CCFF ¶ 991 (Cohen, Tr. 522 “Q. So is it fair to say that when you wrote that, you were planning to 
print and send it to Tim with a note. A. Yes.”).   

204 



 

 
 

 
 

  
   

 

PUBLIC 

mail at this time.1402  Sullivan similarly acknowledged that Cohen sent him notes in the mail,1403 

but testified that he did not keep the notes that Cohen sent to him.1404  Contrary to Schein’s 

argument, the lack of a note in the record is thus not probative of anything— if Sullivan’s 

practice was to throw away notes, obviously Complaint Counsel’s inability to find the note does 

not mean that it never existed.  While Schein points to Cohen’s testimony that he did not recall 

sending the note in the mail, Cohen did not testify that he did not do so.1405  It is not surprising 

that Cohen would not “recall” sending a note in the mail six and a half years after the fact.1406 

Schein also claims that Ryan’s statement was just a “flippant” remark.1407  Yet, if that were true, 

Cohen did not take it as such.  In fact, Cohen responded to Ryan’s remark by agreeing to 

communicate with Sullivan.1408  It also strains credulity to believe that Ryan’s remark was in 

jest; Ryan himself communicated with Foley the following year when he learned Schein might 

be bidding on buying group Smile Source.1409 

B. The Circumstantial Evidence Supports the Claim that Schein Agreed Not to 
Deal with Buying Groups. 

The circumstantial evidence in the record, viewed in light of the totality of the evidence, 

tends to exclude the possibility that Respondents acted independently and proves that 

Respondents’ conspiracy was more likely than not.  Schein, like Benco and Patterson, misstates 

the test for evaluating circumstantial evidence by arguing that Complaint Counsel can prevail 

only by satisfying the Williamson Oil test (first prove parallel conduct, then prove plus 

1402 CCFF ¶ 992.  Indeed, Cohen acknowledged that it would not surprise him if he did send Sullivan the 
note in the mail.  CCFF ¶ 992. 
1403 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1452; see also CCFF ¶ 353 (Sullivan exchanged additional communications with 
Cohen that are not reflected in CX6027 (Communications Log Summary).). 
1404 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1453.  
1405 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1452 (Cohen, Tr. 886 (“I don’t recall doing so.”)).   
1406 Cohen has testified that he did not think that his communications with Sullivan regarding a buying 
group policy were inappropriate so there is no reason to doubt that he would have followed through on his 
promise to send the note in the mail.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1452 (CX8015 (Cohen, Dep. at 243-244)).   
1407 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 68. 
1408 CCFF ¶ 990. 
1409 CCFF ¶¶ 1009-1021. 
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factors).1410   This is not the correct test: “Plaintiffs need not prove parallel pricing in order to 

prevail”1411 and need not prove plus factors in a case that is not premised on parallel conduct.1412 

Here, given the direct and unambiguous evidence of agreement, there is no need to resort to the 

Williamson Oil test, and whether Respondents engaged in parallel conduct is not “Step One” in 

the Court’s analysis.  Rather, “Step One” entails an analysis of Respondents’ inter-firm 

communications about a no-buying group policy and internal documents evidencing a conscious 

commitment to a common scheme.  In any event, the evidence also supports a finding of 

agreement from parallel conduct and plus factors. 

1. Schein’s Policy of Categorically Rejecting Buying Groups Shows Parallel 
Conduct. 

Schein claims that Schein, Benco, and Patterson did not act similarly1413 toward buying 

groups, and therefore deny the existence of “parallel conduct.”1414  This argument simply ignores 

mountains of evidence that Sullivan, Cohen, and Guggenheim all consistently instructed their 

salesforces not to deal with buying groups during the conspiracy. Further, Schein’s sporadic 

deviation from the agreement does not absolve it of liability for an unlawful agreement.1415 

a. Sullivan and Schein Executives Instructed Schein’s Sales Force 
against Working with Buying Groups Categorically.   

The evidence demonstrates parallel conduct unequivocally.  During the conspiracy, 

Sullivan, Cohen, and Guggenheim all instructed their salesforces not to deal with buying 

1410 See Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco Post-Tr. Br. § I.B.3. 
1411 Fleischman v. Albany Med. Ctr., 728 F. Supp. 2d 130, 158 (N.D.N.Y. 2010); see also Interstate 
Circuit, 306 U.S. at 227 (“It is elementary that an unlawful conspiracy may be and often is formed 
without simultaneous action or agreement on the part of the conspirators.”). 
1412 In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 324 n.23 (“Courts devised the requirement of ‘plus 
factors’ in the context of offers of proof of an agreement that rest on parallel conduct.”). 
1413 The weight of the law recognizes that the parallel conduct need only be similar.  See, e.g., Petruzzi’s 
IGA Supermkts. v. Darling-Del. Co., 998 F.2d 1224, 1243 (3d Cir. 1993); SD3, LLC v. Black & Decker 
(U.S.) Inc., 801 F.3d 412, 429 (4th Cir. 2015). 
1414 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 86-91. 
1415 See United States v. Foley, 598 F.2d 1323, 1333 (4th Cir. 1979). (“Since the agreement itself, not its 
performance, is the crime of conspiracy, the partial non-performance of [defendant] does not preclude a 
finding that it joined the conspiracy.”) (citations omitted); Beaver, 515 F.3d at 739 (“[E]vidence of 
cheating certainly does not, by itself, prevent the government from proving a conspiracy.”).  
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groups.1416  The Big Three rejected buying groups as a result between 2011 and 2015.1417 While 

before and after the conspiracy, Respondents may have reacted to buying groups differently, 

during the conspiracy, they enforced a categorical rejection.1418   Beginning in 2011, Sullivan 

instructed Schein’s sales force not to deal with buying groups; Schein’s sales force categorically 

rejected buying groups as a result, and terminated old buying groups.1419  Schein’s documents 

showing adherence to this policy are not mere outliers: at least dozens of Schein’s 

contemporaneous documents, written by executive after executive during the conspiracy, 

evidence the implementation of Sullivan’s policy.1420  All of this proves that Schein acted like 

Benco and Patterson.  Further dispelling any doubt, Schein’s own documents reference parallel 

conduct by the Big Three.  A Schein executive, Randy Foley, wrote “[t]he good thing here is 

that PDCO [Patterson], Benco and us are on the same page regarding these buying groups / 

consortiums,”1421 and “Schein, PDCO and Benco all refused to bid on [a buying group’s] 

business when they entered the GPO/Buying Group world.”1422  Benco and Patterson had the 

same understanding about Schein,1423 even though it was contrary to market intelligence they 

received.1424 

1416 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.A. Schein acknowledges that 
Benco had a “policy” against buying groups, and that Patterson followed a “practice” of declining buying 
groups.  Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 88.  Though Schein tries to argue it had neither a “policy” nor a “practice,” 
such semantics are irrelevant.  Sullivan and other executives uniformly and consistently instructed 
Schein’s sales force against working with buying groups throughout the conspiracy, and Schein’s sales 
force heeded those instructions.  This mirrors Cohen and Guggenheim’s conduct during the conspiracy. 
1417 CCFF ¶¶ 404-425, 631-653, 925-954; see also CCFF ¶¶ 733-860 (Schein instructed the salesforce to 
refuse to sell to buying groups.).  
1418 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.A. 
1419 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.A.1-2, II.B.2.a.-c.    
1420 See Attachment C to Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief for additional examples of documents 
evidencing Schein’s no buying group policy during the conspiracy. 
1421 CCFF ¶ 1138 (quoting CX2106 at 001) (emphasis added). 
1422 CCFF ¶¶ 947, 1185, 1195 (quoting CX2094 at 001) (emphasis added).  Schein argues that Foley had 
no personal knowledge of Benco and Patterson’s conduct toward buying groups, and that these statements 
were based on market intelligence.  But the record of evidence shows that Foley discussed Benco’s anti-
buying group policy in October 2013 with Benco’s Patrick Ryan, and Ryan told Foley that it would not 
bid for Smile Source.  CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1278.    
1423 CCFF ¶¶ 1186-1195. 
1424 CCFF ¶ 681; CCRF (Schein) ¶ 133 (CX0106 at 001). 
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Schein’s arguments in response are unpersuasive.  For instance, it cites testimony that its 

contemporaneous documents were simply “poorly worded.”1425  But after-the-fact explanations 

about “unfortunate language” and “ill-advised thinking” carry little weight where the record 

clearly discloses a “pattern as to policy.”1426  Schein’s contemporaneous documents, directly at 

odds with Schein’s arguments, are the best evidence of Schein’s policies and actions during the 

conspiracy, and carry the most weight.1427  Further, although Schein claims it has a “history” of 

dealing with buying groups,1428 that claim is fully consistent with Complaint Counsel’s 

allegations—Schein had no policy concerning buying groups prior to 2011, and openly worked 

with them.1429 

Schein’s cited cases have no application here—they concern competitors engaging in 

radically different conduct where parallel pricing activity was alleged.  None is factually similar.  

In Valspar Corporation v. E.I. Du Pont De Nemours and Company, where the evidence of 

conspiracy centered on parallel price increases, the court found that there was “aggressive” and 

“common” price competition, and that the alleged conspirators were frequently undercutting 

each other’s listed prices.1430  By contrast, there is no evidence of Schein, Patterson, and Benco 

competing with each other for buying groups during the conspiracy, let alone evidence that they 

were competing frequently or aggressively.  In Michelman v. Clark-Schwebel Fiber Glass Corp., 

1425 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 29. 
1426 See United States v. Am. Can Co., 87 F. Supp. 18, 26-27 (N.D. Cal. 1949) (finding that the written 
record disclosed a clear “pattern as to policy” and that the “general intent and purpose expressed are 
unmistakable,” despite witness explanations that written statements were “unfortunate language,” 
“general characterizations,” and “ill-advised thinking”). 
1427 See United States v. Gen. Elec. Co., 82 F. Supp. 753, 844-45 (D.N.J. 1949) (Contemporaneous 
documents have “the highest validity as evidence of intention” and “mirror well the contemporaneous 
thoughts and the policy considerations of [defendants’] officials, and the testimony at the trial failed to 
limit them.”) (internal quotation omitted), decision supplemented, 115 F. Supp. 835 (D.N.J. 1953); see 
also FTC v. Qualcomm, Inc., No. 17-CV-00220, 2019 WL 2206013, at *12-13 (N.D. Cal. May 21, 2019) 
(“The Court finds Qualcomm’s internal, contemporaneous documents more persuasive than Qualcomm’s 
trial testimony prepared specifically for this antitrust litigation.”). 
1428 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 65. 
1429 CCFF ¶¶ 440-453, 687-696. 
1430 Valspar Corp. v. E.I. Du Pont De Nemours & Co., 873 F.3d 185, 194-96 (3d Cir. 2017) 
(“‘[A]ggressive’ and ‘common’ price competition between firms is inconsistent with the idea that those 
same firms have conspired not to compete on price.”).  
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the court found defendants had engaged in “radical” and “wholly different policies.”1431  Not the 

case here—Respondents’ executives enforced the same policy.  Burtch v. Milberg Factors, Inc., 

decided on a motion to dismiss, simply held that a complaint’s allegations were facially deficient 

and had failed to allege similar conduct.1432 Burtch has no application to the facts at issue here.  

Moreover, Schein cites In re Beef Industry Antitrust Litigation,1433 for the proposition that 

plaintiff must start by proving parallel conduct.  But Beef Industry held that this was only true 

when plaintiff relies on “circumstantial evidence of conscious parallelism.”1434 

b. Schein’s Asserted Buying Groups do not Negate Evidence of 
Conspiracy. 

Preferring not to focus on its contemporaneous documents, Schein relies on a crafted list 

of twenty-five entities it claims are buying groups.1435  Just four are buying groups that 

originated during the conspiracy, none of which were approved by Sullivan.1436  The rest are (1) 

not buying groups, (2) legacy buying groups it began discounting to either before the conspiracy 

or (3) post-conspiracy buying groups it formed relationships with after the conspiracy began to 

fall apart in April 2015.1437  Evidence that Schein worked with buying groups before and after 

the agreement only supports Complaint Counsel’s allegations of a change in conduct.1438 

Out of its long list, Schein can point to just four buying groups on it that it began 

discounting to during the conspiracy: Dental Gator, Schulman Group, Merit Dent, and Dental 

Alliance.  Sullivan never approved these buying groups.1439  These four buying groups do not 

1431 Michelman v. Clark-Schwebel Fiber Glass Corp., 534 F.2d 1036, 1043-45 (2d Cir. 1976). 
1432 Burtch v. Milberg Factors, Inc., 662 F.3d 212, 228-29 (3d Cir. 2011). 
1433 In re Beef Indus. Antitrust Litig., 907 F.2d 510 (5th Cir. 1990). 
1434 Beef Indus., 907 F.2d 510, 514. 
1435 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at Page 87-88.  Schein asserts additional entities as “buying groups” in its 
Proposed Findings of Fact, but does not list them in its Post-Trial Brief.  Regardless, they too are not 
buying groups, or are buying groups that Schein discounted to before or after the alleged conspiracy.  
CCRF ¶¶ 375-1335. 
1436 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.B (see Chart of Schein’s Asserted 
Buying Groups).   
1437 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 376. 
1438 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.A. 
1439 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.B.2.d.1-4.  
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negate agreement—it merely shows Schein’s compliance was imperfect.  Moreover, Schein 

claims that Complaint Counsel has somehow gerrymandered the definition of buying group.1440 

Not so.  Complaint Counsel’s definition of buying group comes from Respondents’ own 

documents and testimony.1441  And Schein’s own documents, witness testimony, and discovery 

responses support Complaint Counsel’s arguments that these are not buying groups.1442 

Schein also contends that Complaint Counsel has to demonstrate that Respondents’ 

agreement was limited to new buying groups, since Schein did not terminate every one of its 

legacy buying groups.1443  Not so. “The government . . . is not required to prove a formal, 

express agreement with all the terms precisely set out and clearly understood by the conspirators. 

It is enough that the government shows that the defendants accepted an invitation to join in a 

conspiracy whose object was unlawfully restraining trade.”1444  Here, Complaint Counsel has 

met this standard, and has shown that Schein reached an agreement not to deal with buying 

groups—not just new ones.  Sullivan delivered on that agreement, and instructed his salesforce 

accordingly throughout the conspiracy.  Schein complied by terminating old ones and refusing to 

deal with new ones.1445  In addition, the record shows that some of Schein’s pre-conspiracy, 

legacy buying groups that were not terminated flew under the radar, and Schein executives were 

1440 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 89.  Schein, not Complaint Counsel, has played definitional games.  Schein has 
submitted ever-changing lists of “buying groups,” including four different lists during discovery.  In its 
final contention interrogatory responses, it asserted 46 groups, including entities that do not even touch 
the dental industry: medical group purchasing organizations, and groups comprised of hospitals, 
community health centers, dental schools, public facilities, and other healthcare institutions.  CCFF ¶¶ 
1751, 1753-54, 1757-58, 1760-62.  Moreover, Schein asserts groups for the first time in post-trial 
briefing, such as Floss Dental, for which there is no evidence of any agreement in the record.  Schein 
never identified Floss Dental in discovery, has produced no documents evidencing an agreement with 
Schein, and has elicited no testimony at trial or otherwise about a purported buying group relationship. 
CCRF (Schein) ¶ 757. 
1441 CCFF ¶¶ 67-78. 
1442 For instance, Schein takes issue with Complaint Counsel’s categorizations of Comfort Dental (a DSO) 
and Smile Source (a buying group).  This comes directly from Schein’s own documents and testimony.
Sullivan and Schein considered Comfort Dental to be a DSO (CCFF ¶¶ 1098-1099, 1759), and considered 
Smile Source a buying group.  CCFF ¶ 175.  Schein admitted in response to Request for Admission 32 
that is considered Smile Source to be a buying group.  CCFF ¶ 175.  
1443 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 90. 
1444 United States v. MMR Corp., 907 F.2d 489, 495 (5th Cir. 1990) (citations omitted). 
1445 CCFF ¶¶ 733-870, 871-897, 1750. 
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not aware of their existence during the conspiracy, calling them “inherited ‘messes’” when they 

were discovered post-conspiracy.1446 That Schein did not terminate all legacy groups does not 

undermine Complaint Counsel’s case.   

Moreover, Schein’s claim seeks to make Complaint Counsel prove more than it alleges.    

Complaint Counsel need not prove that Schein terminated every single legacy buying group to 

show that Schein, Benco, and Patterson acted similarly pursuant to a common understanding.1447 

Indeed, this would require Complaint Counsel to prove a perfectly executed conspiracy, which 

the law does not require.1448 

c. Schein’s Imperfect Compliance does not Negate Evidence of 
Conspiracy. 

Schein concedes that evidence of its imperfect compliance does not prevent Complaint 

Counsel from proving an agreement, since the Sherman Act prohibits the agreement, not its 

efficacy.1449  Once parties enter a price-fixing agreement, whether they perform the agreement 

perfectly or successfully is immaterial to the question of liability,1450 and it is well established 

that deviation from an unlawful agreement (i.e., cheating) does not prevent a plaintiff from 

1446 CCFF ¶ 1767 (quoting CX2287 at 001); CCRF (Schein) ¶ 380 (CX2312 at 001 (February 21, 2016 
email in which Hight discovers Advantage Dental’s buying group component: “The [Prime Vendor 
Agreement] I put in place for Advantage some years ago was only for the Advantage owned offices. At 
that time we were specifically avoiding Buying Groups and the [Prime Vendor Agreement] language 
made that clear. So the metamorphosis described below and in their marketing piece has happened since 
my relationship.”). 
1447 See United States v. Foley, 598 F.2d 1323, 1332-34 (4th Cir. 1979); see also SD3, LLC v. Black & 
Decker (U.S.) Inc., 801 F.3d 412, 429 (4th Cir. 2015) (“[P]arallel conduct need not be exactly 
simultaneous and identical in order to give rise to an inference of agreement.”) (internal quotation 
omitted). 
1448 Id. 
1449 Schein Post-Trial Brief, at 90 n.71. 
1450 See Foley, 598 F.2d at 1333 (“Since the agreement itself, not its performance, is the crime of 
conspiracy, the partial non-performance of [defendant] does not preclude a finding that it joined the 
conspiracy.”) (citations omitted); see also Plymouth Dealers’ Ass’n of N. Cal. v. United States, 279 F.2d 
128, 132 (9th Cir. 1960) (“[O]nce the agreement to fix a price is made, . . . it is ‘immaterial whether the 
agreements were ever actually carried out, whether the purpose of the conspiracy was accomplished in 
whole or in part, or whether an effort was made to carry the object of the conspiracy into effect.’”) 
(quoting United States v. Trenton Potteries Co., 273 U.S. 392, 402 (1927)); In re High Fructose Corn 
Syrup Antitrust Litigation, 295 F.3d 651, 656 (7th Cir. 2002) (“An agreement to fix list prices is . . . a per 
se violation of the Sherman Act even if most or for that matter all transactions occur at lower prices.”).     
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proving a conspiracy.1451   Indeed, courts have recognized that members of price-fixing 

conspiracies tend to cheat,1452 often have incentives to do so,1453 and thus “cartels tend to 

collapse of their own weight.”1454 

Courts have upheld unlawful agreements even where the non-compliance or cheating was 

significant.  In United States v. Foley, the Fourth Circuit upheld price fixing convictions where 

some defendants did not act to implement the commission-fixing agreement until months after it 

formed, and defendants only partially complied.1455  Similarly, in United States v. Beaver, the 

Seventh Circuit rejected the defendant’s claim that evidence of cheating meant there was no 

agreement.1456  Since perfect compliance was not required, the Beaver court held that cheating 

did not prevent the government from proving a price-fixing conspiracy.1457  And in In re Brand 

Name Prescription Drugs Antitrust Litigation, a case concerning buying groups of pharmacies, 

the court held that instances of non-compliance by working with buying groups did not “erase 

the factual question of whether the wholesalers joined the conspiracy” and noted the incentives 

for cheating in cartels. 1458 

Here, just a few buying groups fell through the cracks of Schein’s no buying group 

policy: it worked with four buying groups during the conspiracy, despite Sullivan’s instructions 

1451 United States v. Beaver, 515 F.3d 730, 739 (7th Cir. 2008) (Section 1 of the Sherman Antitrust Act 
“does not outlaw only perfect conspiracies to restrain trade. . . . [E]vidence of cheating certainly does not, 
by itself, prevent the government from proving a conspiracy.”).  
1452 Id. (“It is not uncommon for members of a price-fixing conspiracy to cheat on one another 
occasionally . . . .”). 
1453 In re Brand Name Prescription Drugs Antitrust Litig., 123 F.3d 599, 615 (7th Cir. 1997) (“There are 
inherent strains in a cartel.  A member can do better by undercutting the cartel slightly and obtaining 
enormously increased volume at a slight sacrifice of unit profit than by honoring the cartel price and 
suffering an erosion of sales because of cheating by less scrupulous members.”) (citing George J. Stigler, 
“A Theory of Oligopoly,” in Stigler, The Organization of Industry 39 (1968)). 
1454 Id. 
1455 Foley, 598 F.2d 1323, 1332-34 (4th Cir. 1979); see also SD3, LLC v. Black & Decker (U.S.) Inc., 801 
F.3d 412, 429 (4th Cir. 2015) (“[P]arallel conduct need not be exactly simultaneous and identical in order 
to give rise to an inference of agreement.”) (internal quotation omitted). 
1456 Beaver, 515 F.3d at 739. 
1457 Id. The court in Beaver analogized to contract law and noted that a breach of contract does not negate 
the existence of a contract in the first place.  
1458 In re Brand Name Prescription Drugs Antitrust Litig., 123 F.3d at 615. 
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against them.1459  This shows that Sullivan’s instruction on buying groups were not effective 

one-hundred percent of the time but does not disprove an agreement.1460  Indeed, the record 

shows that Sullivan was unaware of these deviations, in the case of Schulman Group, Merit 

Dent, and Dental Alliance.1461  Schein’s efforts to keep secret its deviation with Dental Gator 

supports that this was cheating on an agreement.1462  After Schein decided not to terminate the 

relationship in order to keep the parent DSO as a customer, Schein took steps to keep its 

relationship with Dental Gator a secret, and told Dental Gator it could not advertise itself 

publicly as a buying group.1463  Similarly, Schein’s 2014 proposal to Smile Source was an 

unsuccessful attempt at cheating.1464  Tellingly, Sullivan and Schein executives continued 

instructing Schein’s sales force against buying groups before and after the Smile Source proposal 

and Dental Gator.1465 

Benco and Patterson’s reactions to Schein’s deviations confirms that this was cheating on 

an illegal agreement.  When Cohen learned that Schein might have been working with the Dental 

Alliance in 2013, he confronted Sullivan about it.1466  Benco reached out to Schein when it 

suspected it of working with Unified Smiles and Smile Source on other occasions.1467 

Patterson’s executives also suspected and internally discussed Schein’s cheating on the 

1459 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.B.2.d (“The Four Buying Groups 
that Appear During the Conspiracy do not Negate Evidence of Agreement”); CCFF ¶¶ 700-954; CCRF 
(Schein) ¶ 376. 
1460 See Foley, 598 F.2d at 1333 (“Since the agreement itself, not its performance, is the crime of 
conspiracy, the partial non-performance of [defendant] does not preclude a finding that it joined the 
conspiracy.”) (citations omitted); Beaver, 515 F.3d at 739 (“[E]vidence of cheating certainly does not, by 
itself, prevent the government from proving a conspiracy.”).  
1461 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. at § II.B.2.d.2-4 (discussing Schulman 
Group, Merit Dent, and Universal Dental Alliance). 
1462 See CCFF ¶¶ 1812-1817. 
1463 CCFF ¶¶ 1812-1817. 
1464 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 1156. 
1465 CCFF ¶¶ 790-860. 
1466 CCFF ¶¶ 997, 999-1002. As Schein concedes, Sullivan thought that Cohen’s text messages to him
about Dental Alliance were about ADC. Schein Post-Trial Br. at n.58; SF ¶¶ 1328, 1546; CCRF (Schein) 
¶¶ 1322, 1326-1327, 1331-1335. 
1467 CCFF ¶¶ 955-993, 1005-1021. 
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agreement.1468  Absent a prior agreement, discussions of Schein’s cheating by its competitors, 

and confrontations about such cheating, would not exist. 

Schein argues that Complaint Counsel has improperly assumed a conspiracy by calling 

this cheating.  This argument only holds water if one ignores the record of evidence establishing 

Schein’s participation in and compliance with the agreement in all other instances.  Schein cites 

In re McWane in support of its arguments about cheating.  There, however, evidence of 

complaints about cheating were analyzed as a plus factor to support a finding of conspiracy.1469 

Here, by contrast, there is significant evidence of Respondents’ agreement, other than 

confrontations about cheating, and Complaint Counsel’s evidence that Schein sporadically 

deviated from the agreement requires no improper assumptions. 

2.  “Plus-Factor” Evidence Confirms the Existence of an Unlawful 
Agreement. 

As discussed above, Complaint Counsel’s evidence of agreement rests on direct and 

unambiguous evidence of agreement. “Plus factors” supporting an inference of concerted action 

are not necessary where, as here, direct competitor communications establish the existence of a 

conspiracy, and the case does not rest merely on parallel conduct.1470  Nonetheless, many of the 

typical plus factors that courts have relied upon to find a conspiracy further confirm the existence 

of an unlawful agreement among the Big Three.  

a. Schein’s Motive to Conspire. 

The Big Three had a common motive to conspire, corroborated in each of Respondents’ 

documents.  Schein denies there is evidence of any such motive, relying on inconsistent and 

1468 CCFF ¶¶ 540, 1188-1189. 
1469 In re McWane, Inc., Docket No. 9351, 2013 WL 8364918, at *260-61 (FTC May 1, 2013) (Initial 
Decision). 
1470 United States v. Apple Inc., 952 F. Supp. 2d 638, 690 (S.D.N.Y. 2013), aff’d, 791 F.3d 290 (2d Cir. 
2015) (explaining that plus factor evidence, including that of common motive, acts against economic self-
interest, inter-firm communications, and change in conduct, is necessary if alleging parallel conduct); In 
re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 323 (3d Cir. 2010) (“[P]lus factors need be pled only
when a plaintiff’s claims of conspiracy rest on parallel conduct.”). 
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unpersuasive arguments.  It argues that buying groups were not an imminent threat and could not 

shift share, so there was no need to conspire.1471  At the same time, it makes the directly contrary 

assertion that a conspiracy would been have unprofitable, negating a motive, because buying 

groups would shift share to small, regional distributors that worked with them instead of the Big 

Three.1472 

Schein’s assertion that its executives did not view buying groups as a threat is contrary to 

its contemporaneous documents.  Schein, like Benco and Patterson, feared that unfettered 

competition for buying groups would lead to “a huge price war,” driving margins down across 

the board.1473  Sullivan identified buying groups as one of the “Top 5 ‘Keeps Me Up at Night’” 

issues1474  and 

.1475  A Schein executive cautioned, “as soon as we start doing [GPOs], we will turn 

into medical” and “[m]argins will go down.”1476 

Moreover, the evidence shows that Schein believed that buying groups could shift share, 

and that each of the Big Three recognized that if one of them discounted to buying groups, the 

others would also need to lower prices to avoid losing business.1477   Sullivan testified at trial that 

if Schein rejected a buying group, the buying group might shift Schein’s customers to a 

competitor.1478 He testified that this would be a risk to Schein’s business and could lead to 

margin erosion.1479  And contemporaneous documents show that Schein, Benco, and Patterson 

1471 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 92. 
1472 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 93. 
1473 CCFF ¶¶ 196-198 (quoting CX2113 at 001); see also CCFF ¶¶ 241-245 (Schein was concerned about 
how it would compete if buying groups had relationships with other distributors.). 
1474 CCFF ¶ 224 (quoting CX0183 at 001). 
1475 CCFF ¶ 225. 
1476 CCFF ¶ 262 (quoting CX0165 at 001). 
1477 CCFF ¶¶ 196-247.  Sullivan further identified Patterson and Benco as key “players,” and identified 
their partnering with buying groups as one of the most important items in relation to buying group 
strategy.  CCFF ¶ 1166. 
1478 CCFF ¶ 240. 
1479 CCFF ¶ 240; see also CCFF ¶¶ 198, 200-201, 204, 217-218, 239 (relating to competitive concerns 
and risk to margins from working with buying groups). 
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were each concerned about its competitors working with buying groups.1480  Notably, executives 

from each of the Big Three used the same “slippery slope” analogy in reference to buying 

groups.1481 Similar motives have been instructive and compelling to courts finding an agreement, 

where absent one, cooperation would not occur for fear of losing business to a competitor.1482 

Schein likewise fails in its inconsistent argument that the alleged agreement among the 

Big Three would have been unprofitable, because small, regional distributors can step in to 

supply the buying group, leading to a loss of customers for the Big Three (Respondents concede 

that buying groups can shift share in making this argument).  As noted above, while 

Respondents’ conspiracy would certainly be more effective if every full-service distributor in the 

country participated, this does not negate motive evidence.1483  Respondents’ agreement 

accounted for “over 80%” of the market,1484 and involved every national, full-service distributor 

(the Big Three).  Moreover, evidence shows that buying groups prefer to work with national, 

full-service distributors, not regional ones.1485 

Finally, Schein suggests that the Big Three were merely acting as players in an 

oligopolistic, interdependent market, adopting a “follow-the-leader” or “wait-and-see” approach 

toward buying groups.1486  Of course, this argument contradicts Schein’s main defense that it is 

the industry “leader” in buying groups.1487  Regardless, it has no application here: Schein worked 

1480 CCFF ¶¶ 196-253. 
1481 CCFF ¶¶ 201-203; 709-711, 809, 950. 
1482 See Apple, 952 F. Supp. 2d at 691 (finding defendants’ common motivation of entering price-fixing 
conspiracy to challenge Amazon’s $9.99 price point in the “swiftly growing e-book market” and in order 
to “protect their then-existing business model” as compelling evidence of conspiracy); Toys “R” Us, Inc. 
v. FTC, 221 F.3d 928, 932, 935-36 (7th Cir. 2000) (affirming Commission’s findings of horizontal 
agreement where evidence of manufacturers’ common motive to join boycott of warehouse clubs was fear 
that “rivals who broke ranks and sold to the clubs might gain sales at their expense, given the widespread 
and increasing popularity of the club format”). 
1483 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § II.D.4.  
1484 CCFF ¶ 1458.  
1485 CCFF ¶ 1486.  For instance, in 2011 

.  CCFF ¶ 915. 
1486 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 92-93.  
1487 Kass, Tr. 89 (“In fact, we are the leader in dealing with buying groups.”). 
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with buying groups prior to 2011, while Benco did not.1488  It was Schein’s discounting to buying 

groups that precipitated the communications leading to an agreement.  Thus, there was no “wait-

and-see” for Schein.  Moreover, the fact that Respondents actually communicated with each 

other about buying groups on multiple occasions undermines claims of mere oligopoly 

behavior.1489 

b. Actions against Self-Interest. 

Evidence that Respondents acted contrary to their unilateral self-interest supports a 

finding of conspiracy.1490  Schein’s actions check all the boxes of behavior that courts have 

found to be indicative of actions against self-interest. 

The record shows that Schein’s sales force was interested in pursuing buying groups, and 

that Schein executives had to continually rein in the salesforce and instruct them not to deal.1491 

This is powerful evidence that Schein’s policy not to deal with buying groups was against 

Schein’s self-interest.  Moreover, Schein believed buying groups were an opportunity to win 

customers from its competitors and grow its profit margins, as evidenced by its buying group 

agreements before 2011,1492 but nonetheless instructed its sales force to reject buying groups 

from late 2011 through 2015.1493   As evidenced by Respondents’ own documents, Respondents’ 

refusal to deal led to lost customers and sales.1494  At the same time, distributors that discounted 

to buying groups during the conspiracy period, such as Burkhart, profited at the expense of the 

1488 CCFF ¶¶  395, 432-453.   
1489 In re Text Messaging Antitrust Litig., 782 F.3d 867, 875 (7th Cir. 2015) (“If any of these reflections 
[to follow the industry leader] persuaded the . . . firm[]—without any communication with the leader— 
to raise their prices, there would be no conspiracy, but merely tacit collusion [or ‘conscious 
parallelism’].”) (emphasis added); Gainesville Utils. Dep’t v. Fla. Power & Light Co., 573 F.2d 292, 300-
01 (5th Cir. 1978) (refuting the notion of conscious parallelism where the record consisted of numerous 
exchanges of letters between high executives noting “[t]he record, however, indicates much more than 
just parallel activity”).  
1490 See, e.g., Apple, 952 F. Supp. 2d at 690. 
1491 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.A.1, II.A.2; see also Attachment 
C to Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief.  
1492 CCFF ¶¶ 1256-1266. 
1493 CCFF ¶¶ 733-870, 925-954. 
1494 CCFF ¶¶ 1267, 1269, 1310, 1655, 1657-1658, 1660. 
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Big Three.1495 Schein’s refusal to bid on profitable buying group opportunities was against its 

economic self-interest, which is the type of evidence of acts against unilateral self-interest that 

courts find “consistently tend to exclude the likelihood of independent conduct.”1496 Second, 

Schein and Benco exchanged their internal policies against discounting to buying groups.1497 

Such an exchange of strategic, non-public information is an action contrary to self-interest that 

would not occur absent an agreement and is “persuasive evidence” of conspiracy.1498 

In response, Schein makes varying arguments that are easily disposed of.  First, it claims 

it based each buying group decision on reasonable business factors.  The evidence belies this 

claim.  Schein did not engage in a business analysis concerning each group—it rejected them 

categorically.1499  Executives’ contemporaneous statements confirm this: “Just for clarity, we are 

NOT participating in any GPOs regardless of what they promise to bring us.”1500  Schein also 

argues that Complaint Counsel has no evidence that Schein would have acted differently absent 

conspiracy.  Except Schein did act differently absent conspiracy: it worked with buying groups 

1495 CCFF ¶¶ 1301-1313, 1651-1654, 1664, 1666.   
1496 See Re/Max Int’l, Inc. v. Realty One, Inc., 173 F.3d 995, 1009 (6th Cir. 1999); see also In re Pool 
Prods. Distribution Mkt. Antitrust Litig., 988 F. Supp. 2d 696, 712-13 (E.D. La. 2013) (finding that 
evidence of acts that “risk a loss of market share to the other manufacturers” are acts against economic 
self-interest supporting claim of conspiracy); Toys “R” Us, 221 F.3d at 935 (noting that an act by a 
manufacturer that “deprive[s] itself of a profitable sales outlet” is evidence supporting a conspiracy). 
1497 CCFF ¶¶ 661-665, 674-680, 1036-1038, 1061-1100 . 
1498 See Fleischman v. Albany Med. Ctr., 728 F. Supp. 2d 130, 162 (N.D.N.Y. 2010); see also In re 
Currency Conversion Fee Antitrust Litig., No. 05-7116, 2012 WL 401113, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 8, 2012) 
(providing competitors with sensitive business information supports inference competitors are acting 
against unilateral interests); In re Polyurethane Foam Antitrust Litig., 152 F. Supp. 3d 968, 991 (N.D. 
Ohio 2015) (“A jury could reasonably conclude that Defendants shared [sensitive business] information 
with each other because there existed a common understanding of how the information would be used—
not to compete, but to collude.”); In re Coordinated Pretrial Proceedings in Petroleum Prods. Antitrust 
Litig., 906 F.2d 432, 450 (9th Cir. 1990) (Disclosure of “sensitive price information might be considered 
contrary to a firm’s self-interest,” and supports a finding of “common understanding” among firms 
sharing this information.). 
1499 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.A; CCFF ¶¶ 717-870, 925-954; 
see also Attachment C to Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief for additional examples of documents 
evidencing Schein’s no buying group policy during the conspiracy.   
1500 CCFF ¶ 816. 
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before and after the conspiracy.1501  Moreover, it is not Complaint Counsel’s burden to 

reconstruct the but-for world to show that Schein would have acted differently.1502 

As discussed above,1503 Schein also criticizes Dr. Marshall’s profitability analysis, but 

this critique fails because Dr. Marshall’s profitability analysis only confirms the direct and 

unambiguous evidence.  In any event, Dr. Marshall’s profitability analysis was reliable and valid, 

and based on natural experiments in the marketplace, which offer reliable and persuasive 

evidence in antitrust cases.1504  There was no need to do any “but-for” analysis.1505  Schein’s 

other complaints likewise fail to undermine Dr. Marshall’s profitability analysis.1506 

c. Communications Raise an Inference of Conspiracy. 

While the communications at issue constitute unambiguous evidence of an agreement, 

Schein mistakenly suggests that they should constitute “plus factors,” and asserts that an 

1501 CCFF ¶¶ 687-696, 1316-1319. 
1502 United States v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 79 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (“To require that Section 2 liability
turn on a plaintiff’s ability or inability to reconstruct the hypothetical marketplace absent a defendant’s 
anticompetitive conduct would only encourage monopolists to take more and earlier anticompetitive 
action. . . . [N]either plaintiff nor the court can confidently reconstruct a product’s hypothetical 
technological development in a world absent the defendant’s exclusionary conduct. To some degree, ‘the 
defendant is made to suffer the uncertain consequences of its own undesirable conduct.’”) (quoting 
Areeda & Hovenkamp ¶ 651c). 
1503 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § II.D.4. 
1504 In re NCAA Athletic Grant-in-Aid Cap Antitrust Litig., No. 14-md-02541 CW, 2019 WL 1747780, at 
*13 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 8, 2019) (finding expert analysis based on natural experiments “reliable and 
persuasive”); FTC v. ProMedica Health Sys., Inc., No. 3:11 CV 47, 2011 WL 1219281, at *14 (N.D. 
Ohio Mar. 29, 2011) (relying on “[r]eal-world natural experiments in the marketplace” to confirm that 
merging parties competed for significant number of patients); FTC v. Penn State Hershey Med. Ctr., 838 
F.3d 327, 345-46 (3d Cir. 2016) (relying on results of natural experiment); Merger Guidelines § 2.1.2 
(Antitrust enforcement agencies “look for . . . ‘natural experiments,’ that are informative regarding the 
competitive effects” of mergers); FTC v. Foster, No. CIV 07–352 JBACT, 2007 WL 1793441, at *38 
(D.N.M. May 29, 2007) (“Where available, the antitrust agencies rely extensively on natural market 
experiments . . . .”); CCRF ¶¶ 1715-1717. 
1505 By contrast, such analyses are typically necessary in private antitrust actions where a plaintiff must 
show injury-in-fact and damages.  In re Ethylene Propylene Diene Monomer Antitrust Litig., 256 F.R.D. 
82, 88 (D. Conn. 2009) (“[A]ntitrust injury-in-fact and damages are often determined by comparing the 
‘but-for’ price—the price a customer would have paid in the absence of the conspiracy—and the actual 
price paid.”). 
1506 Schein claims that Kois and Smile Source were not representative buying groups (Schein Post-Tr. Br. 
at 94), that Marshall unjustifiably assumed that Schein terminated Smile Source (Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 
94-95), that that there were “false positives” outside the conspiracy period (Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 95), and 
that Dr. Marshall’s analysis did not distinguish between oligopoly behavior and conspiracy (Schein Post-
Tr. Br. at 95).  These points are addressed supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein’s Post-Tr. Br. § 
II.D.4. 
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incorrect three-factor test should apply: evidence of a prior understanding, commitment to 

another to refrain from competing, and a restricted sense of action.  Schein misstates McWane by 

asserting that Complaint Counsel must meet all three of these factors.  Rather, as this Court 

recognized in McWane, this is a list of alternative ways to establish an agreement.1507  Thus, any 

one of those three factors suffices to prove an agreement, and Complaint Counsel need not show 

all three.1508  Regardless, Complaint Counsel’s direct and unambiguous evidence of agreement 

establishes that Benco, Patterson, and Schein entered into an unlawful agreement, and establishes 

a prior understanding or commitment, as discussed supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to 

Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.1. (“There is Direct and Unambiguous Evidence of Agreement”). 

Complaint Counsel’s evidence shows that Respondents reached a “unity of purpose or a common 

design and understanding, or a meeting of minds in an unlawful arrangement,”1509 and that 

Respondents “had a conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to achieve an 

unlawful objective.”1510 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.1. 

(“There is Direct and Unambiguous Evidence of Agreement”). 

Schein suggests that Benco and Schein’s inter-firm and intrafirm communications about 

buying groups suggest a mere opportunity to collude, but this cannot be taken seriously, as the 

communications simply make no sense absent a prior understanding.1511  Schein compares this 

1507 In re McWane, Inc., Docket No. 9351, 2013 WL 8364918, at *245 (FTC May 1, 2013) (Initial 
Decision) (“[A]n ‘agreement’ for purposes of Section 1 . . . is revealed by evidence of a prior 
understanding or commitment . . . or the sort of restricted freedom of action and sense of obligation that 
one generally associates with agreement.”) (internal citation and internal quotation omitted) (emphasis 
added).
1508 Id.  Schein also cites Valspar, a parallel pricing case. Valspar, 873 F.3d at 191-193.  But Valspar held 
that a plaintiff may have to show “proof that the defendants got together and exchanged assurances of 
common action or otherwise adopted a common plan even though no meetings, conversations, or 
exchanged documents are shown.”  873 F.3d at 193 (internal quotation omitted) (emphasis added).   
1509 Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp., 467 U.S. 752, 771 (1984) (quoting Am. Tobacco Co. 
v. United States, 328 U.S. 781, 810 (1946)).  
1510 Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Serv. Corp., 465 U.S. 752, 764 (1984) (quoting Edward J. Sweeney & 
Sons, Inc. v. Texaco, Inc., 637 F.2d 105, 111 (3d Cir. 1980)). 
1511 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Benco’s Post-Tr. Br. § I.A.1. (“There is Direct and 
Unambiguous Evidence of Agreement”). 
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case to In re Text Messaging Antitrust Litigation,1512 yet the facts there were very different. In re 

Text Messaging concerned just two intrafirm communications written by a non-senior 

executive.1513  There was no evidence that the defendants ever actually communicated with each 

other.1514   Moreover, the key internal email was not reflective of an agreement or understanding, 

and stated, “I know the other guys are doing it but that doesn’t mean we have to follow.”1515  The 

court held that if there had been an agreement, the defendants would have had to follow.1516 

Here, by contrast, the record shows that Respondents actually communicated with each other, 

had an understanding of and referred to each other’s policies, and referenced a common 

understanding pointing to a prior commitment.   

d. Schein’s Change in Conduct. 

While evidence of changed conduct is not required where, as here, the evidence goes 

beyond parallel conduct,1517 the evidence of Respondents’ changes in conduct also leads to the 

same conclusion that there was an unlawful agreement.  Schein claims that to show change in 

conduct, Complaint Counsel must prove a “radical” or “abrupt” shift, but again cites Valspar, 

where allegations of conspiracy were based on evidence of parallel conduct.  Thus, the plaintiff 

in Valspar relied on plus factors to prove its case.1518 Not so here. 

1512 In re Text Messaging Antitrust Litig., 782 F.3d 867 (7th Cir. 2015). 
1513 Text Messaging, 782 F.3d at 872. 
1514 Text Messaging, 782 F.3d at 873. 
1515 Text Messaging, 782 F.3d at 872. 
1516 Text Messaging, 782 F.3d at 872. 
1517 See United States v. N.D. Hosp. Ass’n, 640 F. Supp. 1028, 1036-37 (D.N.D. 1986) (Even though the 
defendants did not change their preexisting policies after entering into the agreement, the court 
nonetheless found the existence of an agreement and a meeting of the minds.); United States v. Champion 
Int’l Corp., 557 F.2d 1270, 1273 (9th Cir. 1977) (“[D]espite the innocent beginnings of the 
noncompetitive bidding, the trial court found collusion in its continuation.”); see also Bell Atl. Corp. v. 
Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 556 n.4 (2007); In re Graphics Processing Units Antitrust Litig., 540 F. Supp. 2d 
1085, 1092-95 (N.D. Cal. 2007) (finding that when allegations of parallel conduct are the basis of a 
Section 1 claim, plaintiff must allege facts to suggest preceding agreement, such as unprecedented change 
in behavior). 
1518 Valspar Corp. v. E.I. Du Pont De Nemours & Co., 873 F.3d 185, 194-202 (3d Cir. 2017) (analyzing 
parallel pricing activity and plus factors in finding no evidence of a price fixing conspiracy). 

221 



 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

PUBLIC 

Nonetheless, there is clear evidence of a change in Schein’s conduct.  Prior to 2011, 

Sullivan never instructed Schein’s sales force not to work with buying groups, and Schein did 

not have a no buying group policy.  In fact, Sullivan approved buying groups like Smile Source 

in 2010, even though he was concerned about it leading to a “huge price war,” because of the 

opportunity to gain incremental profits.1519  Schein analyzed buying groups on an individual 

basis, which led Schein to several buying group relationships before 2011.1520  Beginning in 

2011, Sullivan and other Schein executives began instructing Schein’s sales force to reject 

buying groups categorically.1521  In short, Schein’s change in conduct throughout 2011 and 

continuing throughout the conspiracy marked a departure from its prior course of action. 

Schein’s claims about Schein working with buying groups in 2011 are spurious.1522  In 

2011, Foley wrote “we no longer participate in Buying Groups,”1523 and the next day, Sullivan 

instructed Cavaretta not to work with a buying group: “I just met with Tim, Dave and John about 

the Merit Dent group.  As you can imagine they feel the same as we do that we don’t want to be 

the first company to open the floodgates to the dangerous world of GPOs.”1524  Schein 

erroneously claims that Foley put together a buying group agreement with Dental Partners of 

Georgia six months after these emails—but the evidence shows that Foley put together an 

agreement for a DSO that owned and managed practices, not a buying group.1525 

Schein changed its conduct again, after the conspiracy became difficult to maintain when 

Benco entered a settlement agreement with the Texas Attorney General in April 2015.  This 

change did not occur overnight, and Complaint Counsel does not contend that the agreement fell 

1519 CCFF ¶¶ 432-439 (quoting CX2113 at 001).  In September 2010, Sullivan explained to his boss, Jim
Breslawski, that the benefits of working with buying groups outweighed the risks.  CCFF ¶ 432. 
1520 CCFF ¶¶ 432-453. 
1521 See supra, Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Schein Post-Tr. Br. § II.A.1 (“Schein’s Contemporaneous 
Documents Show that During the Conspiracy Period Sullivan Began to Instruct Schein’s Salesforce to 
Categorically Reject Buying Groups.”). 
1522 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 101-102. 
1523 CCFF ¶ 719 (quoting CX2062 at 001), 720-727, 743-746. 
1524 CCFF ¶ 713 (quoting CX2458 at 001). 
1525 CCRF (Schein) ¶ 678. 
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apart immediately.  Nor does Complaint Counsel allege that Schein began working with all 

buying groups immediately.  However, after the agreement collapsed, Schein no longer enforced 

or had a policy against buying groups, and Schein began working with buying groups again: 

including Teeth Tomorrow in 2017, Mastermind Group in 2017, and Klear Impakt in 2015.1526  It 

also won back the valuable Smile Source account in 2017.1527 

C. Independent Business Justifications do not Negate Evidence of 
Conspiracy.1528 

Schein argues summarily that the existence of any independent business justification 

rebuts an inference of conspiracy and that these judgments should never be second-guessed.1529 

That is not the law.  Such justifications are no defense to an unlawful conspiracy, and cannot 

disprove substantial evidence of a conspiracy.1530  Courts have upheld findings of unlawful 

agreements, despite independent justifications for the underlying conduct, where the totality of 

the evidence established an agreement.1531 In United States v. General Motors Corp., the 

Supreme Court held that a trial court erred in finding no conspiracy based on evidence that the 

conspirators were acting to promote their own self-interest, given other evidence of coordinated 

conduct.1532  The Court held that, for purposes of determining the existence of an unlawful 

1526 CCFF ¶¶ 1317-1318, 1710-1712. 
1527 CCFF ¶¶ 1319-1320, 1681, 1722-1725.  
1528 Section II.C of Complaint Counsel’s Reply Brief responds to arguments in Section III.C of Schein’s 
Post-Trial Brief (“Schein’s Evidence Rebuts Any Inference of Conspiracy”); See Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 
103. 
1529 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 103. 
1530 See Standard Oil, 251 F.2d at 211 (finding conduct that may be explainable as a reasonable business 
decision is “not excusatory of liability” where there is sufficient evidence to support a finding of a 
conspiracy); Domestic Drywall, 163 F. Supp. 3d at 251. 
1531 Gen. Motors, 384 U.S. at 142 (“It is of no consequence, for purposes of determining whether there has 
been a combination or conspiracy under  [Section] 1 of the Sherman Act, that each party acted in its own 
lawful interest.”); Apple, 791 F.3d at 317-18 (“[T]he fact that Apple’s conduct was in its own economic 
interest in no way undermines the inference that it entered an agreement to raise ebook prices.”); 
Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 301; Bond Crown & Cork Co. v. FTC, 176 F.2d 974, 979 (4th Cir. 1949). 
(Innocent explanations must not be considered alone, and must be taken together with the entire record.). 
1532 384 U.S. at 141-43. 
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agreement, “[i]t is of no consequence . . . that each party acted in its own lawful interest.”1533 

Nor does it matter whether the conduct is economically desirable.1534 

Likewise, in United States v. Apple, Inc., the Second Circuit rejected Apple’s claim that 

there was insufficient evidence of conspiracy because its conduct was consistent with its own 

independent business interests.1535  The court endorsed the district court’s conclusion that the 

“context of the entire record” supported a finding that Apple participated in a conspiracy to fix 

prices, including evidence of its communications with co-conspirators about the agreement.1536 

It held that “the fact that Apple’s conduct was in its own economic interest in no way 

undermines the inference that it entered an agreement to raise e-book prices.”1537  Similarly, in 

Gainesville, the Fifth Circuit upheld a finding that defendants acted pursuant to a conspiracy, 

despite defendants’ claims that they based their conduct on valid economic considerations.1538 

The court held that the communications among competitors were inexplicable if defendants were 

acting independently.1539 Moreover, courts have found unlawful agreements where the conduct 

in question began independently based on unilateral business interests, but later morphed into 

collusion, confirming that independent justification does not preclude a finding of collusion.1540 

Thus, here, the assertion of independent business reasons for not discounting to buying 

groups is no obstacle to proving the existence of an agreement.  Additionally, the fact that 

Respondents’ executives communicated with each other about buying groups is fatal to their 

1533 Id. at 142.  
1534 Id. 
1535 United States v. Apple, Inc., 791 F.3d 290, 316 (2d Cir. 2015). 
1536 Id. at 318-19 (“[T]he emails and phone records demonstrate that Apple agreed with the Publisher 
Defendants, within the meaning of the Sherman Act, to raise consumer-facing ebook prices by 
eliminating retail price competition.”). 
1537 Id. at 317-18. 
1538 573 F.2d at 300-301. 
1539 Id. at 301 (“[I]f solid economic reasons existed for refusing service to these cities, there was no reason 
for communicating with a competitor about the refusal . . . .”). 
1540 Champion, 557 F.2d at 1273 (“[D]espite the innocent beginnings of the noncompetitive bidding, the 
trial court found collusion in its continuation.”); N.D. Hosp., 640 F. Supp. at 1036-37, 1039 (finding an 
agreement among hospitals “to adhere to their independently developed, preexisting policies against 
granting discounts” to Indian Health Services was nonetheless an unreasonable restraint where “[t]he
effect of defendants’ agreement was to foreclose any potential competition”). 
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claim of independent action.  Competitor communications about not discounting to buying 

groups, followed by a refusal to discount, is the antithesis of independent action.  Executives 

from each Respondent admitted that they had no business reason for these communications.1541 

If Respondents’ executives had been acting according to their own independent interests, there 

would have been no need to discuss with a competitor whether to discount to buying groups.1542 

IV. REMEDY. 

Schein, like Patterson, argues that even if Complaint Counsel establishes that 

Respondents entered into an unlawful agreement, injunctive relief is improper because there is 

no cognizable danger of reoccurrence.  Schein cites no case law in support of its position. 

Regardless, this argument is inconsistent with clear legal authority holding that termination of 

alleged infringing conduct does not warrant dismissal for mootness.1543  It is not a defense to 

liability.1544  Further, the Orders that led to the collapse of Respondents’ agreement are either no 

longer in effect or are reaching the end of its term.  Respondents’ conspiracy began to fall apart 

after Benco’s settlement with the Texas Attorney General, which required it to log 

communications with competitors about buying groups.1545  Patterson and Schein entered similar 

stipulated agreements in 2018 and 2017, respectively.1546  The orders have now expired for 

Benco and Patterson.1547  Moreover, Schein’s obligations under the order terminates in August 

2019.1548  Absent an injunction in this case, nothing would prevent Respondents from reverting 

1541 CCFF ¶¶ 1078, 1167-1172. 
1542 See Gainesville, 573 F.2d at 301 (“[I]f solid economic reasons existed for refusing service to these 
cities, there was no reason for communicating with a competitor about the refusal . . . .”). 
1543 See FTC v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 304 U.S. 257, 260 (1938) (“Discontinuance of the practice 
which the Commission found to constitute a violation of the Act did not render the controversy moot.”). 
1544 See In re Sears, Roebuck & Co., Docket No. 9104, 1980 WL 338970, at *86 (FTC Apr. 28, 1980) 
(Comm’n Op.) (“Courts have recognized that discontinuance of an offending practice is neither a defense 
to liability, nor grounds for omission of an order.”). 
1545 CCFF ¶¶ 1160-1161; see also CCFF ¶ 1162 (The 2015 Benco Final Judgment also permanently 
enjoined Benco from communicating with, or agreeing with, competitors about refusing to sell dental 
supplies to any third party.). 
1546 CCFF ¶¶ 1163-1164.  
1547 CCFF ¶¶ 1160-1161, 1164.  
1548 CCFF ¶ 1163. 
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to the very conduct that led to the unlawful agreement.  Thus, Complaint Counsel seeks a 

pragmatic but effective order necessitated by Respondents’ illegal conduct.1549 

Schein also claims that Complaint Counsel’s proposed relief is overly broad,1550  but as 

discussed in Complaint Counsel’s Post-Trial Brief, this Court is empowered to develop a remedy 

to prohibit Respondents from engaging in unlawful conduct upon a finding that Respondents 

violated Section 5 of the FTC Act.  The Remedy Complaint Counsel seeks is proper and 

warranted under the law.1551 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Lin W. Kahn 
Lin W. Kahn 
Federal Trade Commission  
Bureau of Competition – Western Region 
901 Market Street, Suite 570 
San Francisco, CA 94103 
Telephone: (415) 848-5100 
Facsimile: (415) 848-5184 
Electronic Mail: lkahn@ftc.gov 

1549 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. at 106-111. 
1550 Schein Post-Tr. Br. at 104.  
1551 See Complaint Counsel’s Post-Tr. Br. § VI.   
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Natural and Quasi-Experiments in Economics 

Bruce D. Meyer 

Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, Vol. 13, No. 2, JBES Symposium on Program and 
Policy Evaluation. (Apr., 1995), pp. 151-161. 

Stable URL: 
http://links.jstor.org/sici?sici=0735-0015%28199504%2913%3A2%3C151%3ANAQIE%3E2.0.CO%3B2-T 

Journal of Business & Economic Statistics is currently published by American Statistical Association. 

Your use of the JSTOR archive indicates your acceptance of JSTOR's Terms and Conditions of Use, available at 
http://www.jstor.org/about/terms.html. JSTOR's Terms and Conditions of Use provides, in part, that unless you have obtained 
prior permission, you may not download an entire issue of a journal or multiple copies of articles, and you may use content in 
the JSTOR archive only for your personal, non-commercial use. 

Please contact the publisher regarding any further use of this work. Publisher contact information may be obtained at 
http://www.jstor.org/journals/astata.html. 

Each copy of any part of a JSTOR transmission must contain the same copyright notice that appears on the screen or printed 
page of such transmission. 

The JSTOR Archive is a trusted digital repository providing for long-term preservation and access to leading academic 
journals and scholarly literature from around the world. The Archive is supported by libraries, scholarly societies, publishers, 
and foundations. It is an initiative of JSTOR, a not-for-profit organization with a mission to help the scholarly community take 
advantage of advances in technology. For more information regarding JSTOR, please contact support@jstor.org. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on June 13, 2019, I filed the foregoing document electronically using 
the FTC’s E-Filing System, which will send notification of such filing to: 

 April Tabor 
 Acting Secretary 

Federal Trade Commission 
600 Pennsylvania Ave., NW, Rm. H-113 
Washington, DC 20580 

The Honorable D. Michael Chappell 
Administrative Law Judge 
Federal Trade Commission 
600 Pennsylvania Ave., NW, Rm. H-110 
Washington, DC 20580 

I further certify that I delivered via electronic mail a copy of the foregoing document to: 

Geoffrey D. Oliver, Esq. Howard Scher, Esq. 
Jones Day Kenneth L. Racowski, Esq. 
51 Louisiana Avenue, N.W. Carrie Amezcua, Esq. 
Washington, D.C.  20001-2113 Thomas Manning, Esq. 
T: 202.879.3939 Buchanan Ingersoll & Rooney PC 
F: 202.626.1700 Two Liberty Place 
gdoliver@jonesday.com 50 S. 16th Street, Suite 3200 

Philadelphia, PA 19102-2555 
T: 215 665 8700 
F: 215 665 8760 
howard.scher@bipc.com; 
kenneth.racowski@bipc.com; 
carrie.amezcua@bipc.com; 
thomas.manning@bipc.com 

Counsel For Respondent Benco Dental Supply Company 

John P. McDonald, Esq. Lauren Fincher, Esq. 
Locke Lord LLP Sarah Lancaster 
2200 Ross Avenue Locke Lord LLP 
Suite 2800 600 Congress Ave. 
Dallas, TX 75201 Ste. 2200 
T: 214.740.8000 Austin, TX 78701 
F: 214.740.8800 T: 512.305.4700 
jpmcdonald@lockelord.com F: 512.305.4800 

lfincher@lockelord.com; 
RespondentScheinCounsel@lockelord.com slancaster@lockelord.com 
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Colin Kass, Esq. 
Owen Masters 
Stephen Chuck 
Proskauer Rose LLP 
1001 Pennsylvania Ave, N.W. 
Suite 600 South 
Washington, DC 20004-2533 
T: 202.416.6800 
F: 202.416.6899 
ckass@proskauer.com;  
omasters@proskauer.com; 
schuck@proskauer.com 

Counsel For Respondent Henry Schein, Inc. 

Joseph Ostoyich 
William Lavery 
Andrew George 
Jana Seidl 
Kristen Lloyd 
Baker Botts L.L.P. 
1299 Pennsylvania Ave NW 
Washington, DC 20004 
T: 202.639.7905 
joseph.ostoyich@bakerbotts.com; 
william.lavery@bakerbotts.com; 
andrew.george@bakerbotts.com; 
jana.seidl@bakerbotts.com; 
kristen.lloyd@bakerbotts.com 

Rucha Desai 
David Munkittrick 
David Heck 
Proskauer Rose LLP  
Eleven Times Square 
New York, NY 10036 
T: 212-969-3628 
rdesai@proskauer.com; 
dmunkittrick@proskauer.com; 
dheck@proskauer.com 

James J. Long, Esq. 
Jay Schlosser, Esq. 
Scott Flaherty, Esq. 
Ruvin Jayasuriya, Esq. 
William Fitzsimmons, Esq. 
Briggs and Morgan 
2200 IDS Center 
80 South Eighth Street 
Minneapolis, MN 55402 
T: 612.977.8400 
F: 612.977.8650 
jlong@briggs.com 
jschlosser@briggs.com 
sflaherty@briggs.com 
rjayasuriya@briggs.com 
wfitzsimmons@briggs.com 

Counsel For Respondent Patterson Companies, Inc. 

June 13, 2019 By:  /s/ Lin W. Kahn
Attorney 
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 

I certify that the electronic copy sent to the Secretary of the Commission is a true and 
correct copy of the paper original and that I possess a paper original of the signed documents that 
is available for review by the parties and the adjudicator. 

June 13, 2019 By:  /s/ Lin W. Kahn 
Attorney 
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